
 

 

Am bob ymholiad ynglŷn â’r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 4 Gorffennaf 2018 

 
 
 
 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam,  
 
Bydd cyfarfod Is-bwyllgor Cyswllt â’r Cynghorau Cymunedol yn cael ei gynnal yn Siambr y Cyngor, 
Tŷ Penallta, Tredomen, Ystrad Mynach ar Dydd Mercher, 11eg Gorffennaf, 2018 am 7.00 pm i 
ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol.  Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y 
cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod rhybudd o 3 diwrnod gwaith os ydych yn dymuno gwneud hynny.  Bydd 
cyfieithu ar y pryd yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais. 
 
Bydd cyngyfarfod yn cael ei gynnal am 6.30pm i bob Aelod Bwrdeistref Sirol yn yr Ystafell Ebwy a holl 
Aelodau Cynghorau Cymunedol yn Siambr y Cyngor. 
 

Atgoffir yr aelodau os oes ganddynt unrhyw faterion penodol y maent yn dymuno eu codi yn y cyfarfod, 
dylent roi gwybod i'r Clerc cyn y dyddiad hwnnw, i sicrhau bod ymateb ar gael 

 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR DROS DRO 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
  

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 
 
 

  
 
Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr 
a Swyddogion.  

 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
3  I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 

1 - 6  
 

4  Materion yn Codi. 
  

 
5  Adolygiad o'r Rhaglen Digwyddiadau Cyrchfannau.  Paul Hudson 

7 - 8  
 

6  Diweddariad ar Gynllun Lles Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Caerffili.  Kath Peters 
9 - 16  

 
I drafod y materion canlynol a godwyd gan y Pwyllgor Cyswllt Cyngor Tref a Chymuned: - 
 
7  Strategaeth Ddrafft Chwaraeon a Hamdden Egnïol 2019-29.  Jared Lougher 

17 - 76  
 

8  Dad-droseddu Parcio - Adroddiad Cam 2. 
77 - 86  

 
9  Deddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017. 

87 - 220  
 

 
Cylchrediad: 
Cynghorwyr A. Angel, C. Andrews, A. Farina-Childs, A. Gair, A.G. Higgs, M.P. James, V. James, 
L. Jeremiah, Ms P. Leonard, Mrs T. Parry, J. Ridgewell, Mrs M.E. Sargent, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, 
R. Whiting a B. Zaplatynski 
 
Aelod Cabinet:  C.J. Cuss (Cabinet Member for Social Care and Wellbeing) 
 
Cynghorydd Cymunedol/Cynghorwyr Tref 
Diblasi (Aber Valley Community Council), W. Williams (Argoed Community Council), H. Llewellyn 
(Bargoed Town Council), Mrs J. Winslade (Bedwas, Trethomas and Machen Community Council), 
D. Davies (Blackwood Town Council), Mrs J. Hibbert (Caerphilly Town Council), P. Roberts (Darran 
Valley Town Council), T. Hall (Draethen, Waterloo and Rudry Community Council), J. A. Pritchard 
(Gelligaer Community Council), S. Taviner (Llanbradach and Pwllypant Community Council), Ms J. Rao 
(Maesycwmmer Community Council), Mrs G. Davies (Nelson Community Council), D. Woodman (New 
Tredegar Community Council), B. Allen (Penyrheol, Trecenydd and Energlyn Community Council), 
D.T. Williams (Rhymney Community Council), J. Blackburn (Risca East Community Council), B. Hancock 
(Risca Town Council) a J. Leek (Van Community Council) 
 
Clerc i holl Gynghorau Cymunedol/Tref a Swyddogion Priodol 



 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD AT COUNCIL OFFICES, PENALLTA HOUSE, 
YSTRAD MYNACH ON 14TH MARCH 2018 AT 7.00PM 

 
 

 
PRESENT: 

  
Community Councillor Ms J. Rao - Chair   

Councillor J. Ridgewell - Vice Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

 C. Andrews, A. Gair, L. Jeremiah, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, R. Whiting, B. Zaplatynski  
 
 Cabinet Member for Social Care and Wellbeing - Councillor C. Cuss   

  
     

Community/Town Council Representatives 
 

Aber Valley    - T. Richards, Mrs. S. Hughes (Clerk) 
Argoed     - W. Williams 
Bargoed    - H. Llewellyn 
Bedwas, Trethomas and Machen -  
Blackwood    -  
Caerphilly    -  
Darran Valley    -  
Draethen, Waterloo and Rudry  -  
Gelligaer    - J.A. Pritchard, Ms. C. Mortimer (Clerk) 
Llanbradach    - Mrs. A. Reed, Mr. W.M. Thompson (Clerk) 
Maesycwmmer   - Ms. R. Kedward (Clerk) 
Nelson     - Mrs. G. Davies, Mr. T. White (Clerk) 
New Tredegar    -   
Penyrheol, Trecenydd and Energlyn - Mrs. H. Treherne (Clerk)  
Rhymney    - D.T. Williams 
Risca East     - J. Blackburn, Mr G. James (Clerk)  
Risca Town     - B. Hancock, B. Campbell (Clerk)  
Van     - J. Leek, Mr. J. Dilworth (Clerk) 

 
 

Together with:- 
 

L. Rawlings (Armed Forces Covenant Co-ordinator), J. Reynolds (Sport and Leisure Facilities 
Manager) and R. Hartshorn (Head of Public Protection) and Emma Sullivan (Senior 
Committee Services Officer). 
 

 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A. Angel, A. Farina-Childs, A.G. Higgs, 
P. Leonard, Mrs T Parry, J. Pritchard, Mrs M.E. Sargent, J. Taylor and B. Zaplatynski. 

 
Community Councillors D. Woodman (New Tredegar) and Mrs. S. Hughes, Mr. G. James, 
Mrs. L. Tams, Mrs. J. Dalton, Mr. P. Davy, Mr. G. Williams, Mrs. G. Thomas, D. Gronow, G. 
Williams and G. James (Clerks of Aber Valley, Argoed and Risca East, Bargoed, Bedwas, 
Trethomas and Machen, Blackwood, Caerphilly, Darran Valley and Rhymney, Draethen, 
Waterloo and Rudry and Penyrheol, Trecenydd and Energlyn, New Tredegar, Rhymney and 
Risca East Community/Town Councils respectively). 
 

 
2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 

Community Councillor J. A Pritchard declared a personal interest in relation to Agenda Item 
No. 9 details are minuted with the respective item. 

 
 
 3. MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15th November 2018 (a copy had been sent to each 
member) were received and noted. 

 
 
4. MATTERS ARISING  
  
 There were no matters arising. 
 
 

TOWN AND COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON COMMITTEE  
 

Consideration was given to the following items raised by the Town and Community 
Council Liaison Committee. 

 
5. WORLD WAR ONE COMMEMORATIONS 
 

Ms L. Rawlings (Armed Forces Covenant Co-ordinator) gave a presentation outlining her role 
and the work being done to support the Armed Forces in the County Borough and regionally. 
 
Awareness raising and remembrance events were outlined and possible funding streams for 
commemorative community projects were detailed.  It was noted that there would be a 
number of small and larger scale events scheduled for the forthcoming year. In terms of the 
ending of World War One commemorations Ms Rawlings confirmed that there were no 
specific plans as yet however Community Councils were encouraged to look at other 
remembrance options such as the ‘Silent Soldier’, which can be purchased for £250.00 or the 
‘There Not There’ translucent figures which Churches have taken on board. 
 
An update was provided with regard to Armed Forces Day and National Armed Forces Day 
which this year would be held in North Wales and reference was made to the ‘Thank You’ 
campaign. 
 
In relation to commemorative ideas and celebrations Ms Rawlings outlined various grant 
funding opportunities that would welcome applications from Community Councils.  Grant 
criteria and award amounts were discussed and the Officer confirmed that she would be 
happy to assist with any applications that come forward.  It was explained that the awards 

Page 2



 

 
 

come from the Ministry of Defence and as long as the proposals were robust and illustrated 
clearly that the money would be spent in the integration, recognition or commemoration of 
armed forces they would be considered favourably.  There was a rolling deadline for 
submissions so applications can be taken at various intervals throughout the year.   
 
Reference was made to the digitalising of historical data, such as enrolment lists, letters etc. 
and a current project in Risca was explained, it was noted that funding would be available for 
this type of project. 
 
Clarification was requested as to whether grant funding would be possible to commemorate 
those that served in the Korean War and it was confirmed that every proposal would be 
looked at on its own merits and it was always worth submitting a bid. 
 
Ms Rawlings agreed to circulate further information once the specifics of the grants were 
made available by the Ministry of Defence. 
 
The Chair thanked the Officer for her attendance and presentation. 

 
6. UPDATE ON COUNCIL’S LEISURE PLANS AT PONTLLANFRAITH 
 

Mr R. Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection provided an update on the present position of 
leisure provision at Pontllanfraith.  
 
Following the call-in of the Cabinet Decision and subsequent Regeneration and Environment 
Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet meetings further consultation in connection with the proposal 
to close Pontllanfraith Leisure Centre has been agreed and was being undertaken.  A further 
report would be considered at Cabinet on the 28th March 2018 in light of that consultation and 
the statement from the Leader of Council to take another look at the decision in relation to the 
10 Year Sport and Leisure Strategy. 
 
The Chair thanked the Officer for the update. 

 
7. PUBLIC HEALTH WALES BILL 
 

With the permission of the Chair and agreement of the Liaison Committee this item was 
brought forward on the agenda. 
 
Mr R. Hartshorn, Head of Public Protection provided an update on the present position of the 
Public Health Wales Act which had now received royal assent.  The act concentrates on 
various public health points including obesity, extending current smoking bans, registering 
tobacco retailers and new licensing legislation around body piercing, tattoos and body 
modification procedures. 
 
In terms of the Local Toilet Strategy there has still been no clarity from Welsh Government in 
terms of approach.  Although stating that toilets should be available for public use it does not 
compel local authorities to provide them.  WG are currently consulting on the statutory 
guidance to which Officers are preparing a response. 
 
Clarification was sought in relation to funding for local business such as pubs and shops that 
make their toilets available to the public.  The Officer confirmed that this scheme was no 
longer in operation due to poor take up. 
 
Reference was then made to the Local Toilet Strategy consultation and the Liaison Group 
Members were encouraged to access it and send a response.  With regard to the Nelson toilet 
block a Member confirmed that a petition of 480 signatures had been gathered demanding the 
reopening of the facility and emphasised the importance of this facility to the people of Nelson.  
Clarification was sought in relation to Welsh Government Funding and the possible use of 

Page 3



 

 
 

underspends and reserves. The Member then referred to a communication from CCBC 
Property Services to Nelson Community Council with regard to the public toilets as to whether 
there was still public interest in the toilet block and emphatically stated that there was and 
always would be interested from the community of Nelson in the reopening of its public toilets. 
 
Mr Hartshorn confirmed that CCBC would be responding to the consultation and reiterated 
that there was nothing within the legislation to compel local authorities to provide public 
conveniences.  In the midst of austerity measures the local authority has had to look hard at 
discretionary provision and prioritise its funding to its statutory services such as education and 
social services to ensure their sustainability.  In terms of broader provision he agreed that 
public houses would perhaps not be a good fit for all users, but there are other resources 
where toilets could be utilised e.g. public buildings, council offices, libraries etc. and this broad 
basket of provision must be taken into account within any strategy.  The Officer apologised for 
the insensitivity of the generic email sent to Nelson Community Council and explained that 
this was an automatically generated response in relation to non-operationally active buildings.  
Part of the process in relation to surplus land would be to contact stakeholders and this is 
what happened in this case.   
 
In terms of giving clarity to provision a common signage system would be looked at going 
forward so that toilets that are available to use by the public are clearly posted and easily 
recognisable across the board in order to prevent any embarrassment or discomfort to the 
public. 
 
The Chair thanked the Officer for the update. 

 
 
8. DATA PROTECTION REFORM (GDPR) BRIEFINGS 
 

Mrs Emma Sullivan, Senior Committee Services Officer confirmed that Town and Community 
Council Clerks and Members would be invited to attend the current series of briefings 
facilitated by the CCBC Information Governance Unit.  An email had been sent to all Clerks 
confirming dates and times and Mrs Joanne Jones, Information Governance Manager had 
agreed to spend additional time with Clerks following the meeting in order to take specific 
questions. 

 
9. A468/A469 PWLLYPANT ROUNDABOUT 
 

An updated briefing note on the progress of works had been circulated to all Clerks prior to 
the meeting, it was noted that the dedicated link on the CCBC website provided continuous 
updates as the scheme progressed and in addition to this the Council operated an email 
update service for those people who have registered. 

 
 
10. BUDGET PROPOSALS 2018/19 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2018/2023 
 

Community Councillor J.A. Pritchard declared a personal interest as she was a Member of the 
Intergenerational Luncheon Club provided at Lewis Boys School. 
 
A Member expressed a generally feeling of dissatisfaction that little consideration had been 
given to the objections and comments made by the Community Councils and made reference 
to the decommissioning of Nelson Luncheon Club, Stoke Association and AGE Cymru 
Hospital Discharge contracts.  The Members also referred to page 12 of the report in relation 
to PFI Review and savings in relation to catering and cleaning.  As a user of the 
Intergeneration Luncheon Club at Lewis Boys Schools the Member had first hand experience 
of the impact of a change in catering provider, and outlined the poor value and small portions 
that had resulted in a drop in numbers attending and requested clarification from the Cabinet 
Member for Social Care and Wellbeing. 

Page 4



 

 
 

 
Councillor Cuss confirmed that the comments from consultees had been very much taken into 
account in the preparation of this budget and some savings had been deferred.  Where 
luncheon club services had been decommissioned efforts would be made to ensure a good 
path to alternative provision before withdrawal, if possible.  With regard to the Stroke 
Association contract, the Health Board had since confirmed that they will pick up the shortfall 
and advised that all local authorities had decommissioned this contract. 
 
With regard to the Age Concern contract there had been a mixed bag of responses from 
partner authorities Blaenau Gwent, Monmouthshire and Newport along with CCBC have 
decommissioned however there were proposals to continue the service but introduce a 
charge, discussions in relation to this arrangement are on-going. 
 
The Member welcomed the news on those two contracts and queried why reserves could not 
be used to retrain more services.  Reference was also made to Social Services overspends 
and the possible use of general funds, the Community Councillor felt that there was a lack of 
public understanding as to why it isn’t possible to use these sums to offset savings. Councillor 
Cuss confirmed that these earmarked reserves would be used to fund improvements such as 
the 21st Century School Band B proposals allowing the Council to draw down match funding 
from Welsh Government.  As to Social Services overspends he confirmed that there were 
increased pressures within children services particularly in relation to court mandated out of 
county placements and that these areas required continued investment in order to safeguard 
our most vulnerable children.  Therefore they must and should be a budgetary priority.  The 
Cabinet agreed to forward on the comments made to the Interim Head of Corporate Finance. 
 
The meeting closed at 8.00pm 
 

   

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

 
 

 

 
COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON SUB-COMMITTEE –  

11TH JULY 2018 
 
 
 

BRIEFING NOTE: REVIEW OF DESTINATION EVENTS PROGRAMME 
 
 
In support of the Council’s ‘Unique Places’ model of town centre management, the 
destination events programme has focussed on delivering events in the heart of our principal 
town centres at Caerphilly, Blackwood, Bargoed, Ystrad Mynach and Risca.  
 
The Council has been running a varied and expanding events programme across different 
departments as a tool to help meet its regeneration, leisure and tourism objectives. The 
events programme varies in size, nature and net expenditure and has evolved over time in 
terms of the profile and scale of the programme.  
 
The 15 events listed in Table 1 are delivered and supported through the Destination and 
Events service budget of £125,902 and is supplemented by an additional £12,000 from 
central funds to deliver the Bargoed Ice Rink.  
 
Table 1 identifies the events organised and supported by the Destination & Events team and 
their main funding sources. 
 
The Council is reviewing its Destination Events programme as part of the MTFP process 
where targets are currently being set against a background of ongoing service pressures. 
The question of affordability of the destination events programme will be subject to 
discussion as part of this process and in order to assess the potential for generating further 
external funding the respective contributions of both the County Borough Council and local 
Town / Community Council contributions for each of the events listed for the financial period 
2017/18 is shown below.  
 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Table 1 
 

FUNDING SOURCES:  2017/2018 
EVENT 

CCBC 
LOCAL 

COUNCILS 

St David's Day – 5 town centres £3,512 £0 

TOTAL £3,512 £0 

BARGOED   

Bargoed Big Screen (* 2) £2,767 £2,000 

Bargoed Spring Fayre £2,830 £1,400 

Bargoed Ice Rink £14,347 £10,118 

Bargoed Christmas Market £3,968 £2,000 

TOTAL £23,912 £15,518 

BLACKWOOD   

Blackwood Summer Festival £11,227 £750 

Blackwood Christmas Market £8,982 £750 

TOTAL £20,209 £1,500 

CAERPHILLY   

Caerphilly Medieval Market £15,860 £1,500 

Caerphilly Lantern Parade £5,789 £0 

Caerphilly Food Festival  £8,213 £1,000 

Caerphilly Big Cheese £27,118 £0 

TOTAL £56,890 £2,500 

RISCA   

Risca Summer Music in the Park £7,964 £0 

Risca Christmas Market £5,570 £0 

TOTAL £13,534 £0 

YSTRAD MYNACH   

Ystrad Mynach Christmas Market £1,565 £2,000 

TOTAL £1,565 £2,000 

Page 8



 
 

 
 
 

 
COMMUNITY COUNCIL LIAISON SUB-COMMITTEE –  

11TH JULY 2018 
 
 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON CAERPHILLY PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD WELL-
BEING PLAN 

 

REPORT BY: PAUL COOKE SENIOR POLICY OFFICER,     
   CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 This report is to provide an update to the Committee on the Public Services Board (PSB) 

Well-being Plan – “The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023”, including information on the detailed 
action plans that will drive the delivery of the Well-being Objectives. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The Caerphilly Public Services Board (PSB) published its well-being plan, ‘The Caerphilly We 

Want 2018-2023’ on 3rd May 2018.  This was based on the Local Well-being Assessment, 
published in March 2017 and developed with extensive research, consultation and 
involvement to identify the key well-being issues to be addressed in partnership by the PSB. 

 
2.2 The Well-being Plan includes a high-level Delivery Plan.  Four Enablers and Five Action Areas 

have been established to drive forward the delivery of the well-being objectives set out in the 
Plan. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The aim of the PSB is to maximise its contribution to the Well-being Goals within the Well-

being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015. The PSB’s well-being plan, ‘The Caerphilly We 
Want 2018-2023’ sets out the PSB’s well-being objectives and how they contribute to a 
prosperous Wales, a resilient Wales, a healthier Wales, a more equal Wales, a Wales of 
cohesive communities, a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language, and a globally 
responsible Wales. 

 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 On the 3rd May 2018 the Caerphilly Public Services Board (PSB) published its well-being plan, 

‘The Caerphilly We Want 2018-2023’.  This marked the end of a 2 year long process of 
consultation and involvement to identify the key well-being issues to be addressed in 
partnership by the PSB. 

 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
4.2 Town and Community Council Liaison Committee will recall the workshop session that took 

place on the 27th July 2016 to explain the requirements of the legislation and the fact that the 
PSB wished to engage with Town and Community Councils’ on the views of the well-being of 
the area. These views were fed into the Local Assessment of Well-being, the report can be 
accessed from the hyperlink and ‘Background Documents’ below. 

 
 
Local Well-being Assessment 
 

4.3 The Plan was based on the Local Assessment of Well-being which was published in March 
2017.  The Well-being Assessment, which was prepared by the CCBC’s Corporate Policy Unit 
on behalf of the Public Services Board, was part of the requirements set out in the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The Assessment was developed by considering the 
known data for the area and consulting extensively on perceptions of well-being in the area, 
now and in the future.  
 

4.4 The Assessment of Well-being identified 37 issues for consideration and possible further work 
by the Board, in order to have a deeper understanding of the causes and factors influencing 
these issues and how they impact on well-being.  A series of prioritisation exercises were 
undertaken with a range of participants (including residents and communities) which identified 
six priority areas for the Board to consider.  A response analysis exercise was undertaken into 
each of these priority areas to identify why the issue is important, what work was ongoing, 
what good practice existed and what more could be done in the future. 

  
4.5 In formulating the Well-being Plan and Well-being Objectives, the Board was particularly 

conscious that a different approach and new ways of working were needed.  This requires a 
move away from the silo working that characterised some of the work under the former Single 
Integrated Plan.  Therefore, the Well-being Objectives were designed to be cross-cutting in 
nature and make the maximum contribution to the National Well-being Goals.  The Board 
were also keen to reflect that residents recognised the assets the area has, in particular the 
attractive local environment and strong sense of community, and that the plan should be 
positive and not focused on ‘need’. The Objectives have therefore been framed in a positive 
way. 

  
4.6 From the development of the Well-being Plan, four distinct themes emerged  – people, places, 

a focus on early years, and the need for fundamental change to the way we work to enable a 
more joined up approach in the future.  This has led to the development of the four Well-being 
Objectives that will drive the Well-being Plan: 

 

 Positive Change – A shared commitment to improving the way we work together 

 Positive Start – Giving our future generations the best start in life 

 Positive People – Empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own 
potential 

 Positive Places – Enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable 
  
 A 12-week statutory period of consultation period was undertaken which ended on 18th 

December 2017. 
 
4.7 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the PSB’s to set out the 

steps that will be taken to achieve the Well-being Objectives included in their plans.  
Therefore, the Well-being Plan also includes a high level delivery plan, which details how the 
PSB will collectively deliver against the Well-being Plan over the next five years.  It also 
identifies how these actions will be co-ordinated, and how they will be reported to the PSB. 

 
 
 
 

Page 10



 
Delivery Plan 
 

4.8 The Delivery Plan is deliberately not divided into the Objectives as the actions, projects and 
activities will often contribute to more than one Objective.  Instead it is made up of five Action 
Areas.  These are supported and underpinned by four Enablers. 
 

4.9 Enabler 1 – Working together  
1. Establishing the delivery framework for the Delivery Plan, including developing detailed 

action plans for each of the Enablers and Action Areas. 
2. Provide leadership to facilitate the change that needs to happen and enable new ways of 

working. 
3. Maximise the synergies with key local, regional and national strategies and plans to avoid 

duplication and provide a clear line of sight on how actions are directed and delivered.  
4. Establish the necessary methods to facilitate joint working and sharing of good practice. 
5. Identify and implement joint projects that provide benefits from partnership working and 

the sharing of resources. 

 
4.10 Enabler 2 – Communications and engagement 

1. Develop and implement a meaningful, long term engagement and communications 
strategy to involve and inform stakeholders. 

2. Jointly communicate the positive messages about the county borough to our residents, 
businesses and potential inward investors. 

 
4.11 Enabler 3 – Procurement and commissioning  

1. Ensure that when we spend our money we maximise the benefits to our communities 
wherever possible.   

2. Work together to maximise the value for money we gain by jointly purchasing goods and 
services.  

3. Ensure that where possible, the goods and services we purchase are sustainable, low 
carbon and ethically responsible. 

4. Work together to develop joint procurement and commissioning frameworks across the 
five local authorities and particularly with health including a focus on collaborative 
commissioning with the third sector.   

 
4.12 Enabler 4 – Asset management     

1. Maximise the use and value of all our assets.  
2. Work together to reduce our energy use and increase our generation and use of green 

energy. 
 
4.13 Action Area 1 – Best start in life 

1. Maximise investment in the early years of a child’s life to build resilience across the whole 
of their lives, thus helping to reduce the demand on services in the future. 

2. Raise awareness and understanding of the importance of early life experiences (including 
adverse childhood experiences), with professionals and residents working together to 
reduce inequalities across the county borough. 

3. Work with services and residents to reduce the impact of adverse childhood experiences 
for our current and future generations.  

 
4.14 Action Area 2 – Volunteering and apprenticeships 

1. Develop a co-ordinated programme of volunteering, maximising it as a route to personal 
well-being and employment, including promoting corporate volunteering.  

2. Establish an all age apprenticeship programme across PSB member organisations with a 
co-ordinated point of access. 

3. Maximise the opportunities for residents through the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal and 
the Valleys Task Force. 

 
 

Page 11



 
4.15 Action Area 3 – Good health and well-being  

1. Improve joint working with an emphasis on prevention to address current and future health 
challenges.  

2. Invest in the well-being of our staff. 
3. Provide an integrated system of health, social care and well-being closer to home through 

the Neighbourhood Care Network. 
4. Ensure front line staff have the necessary skills and expertise to provide joined up 

services that meet the needs of residents.  
5. Work in close collaboration with the Regional Partnership Board for health and social care 

to ensure our individual priorities are developed in tandem to achieve our shared well-
being goals. 

6. Create a supportive environment that enables residents to manage their physical, mental 
and well-being needs in partnership with services.  

  
4.16 Action Area 4 – Safer, resilient communities   

1. Support our most disadvantaged communities to be resilient and cohesive and enable 
them to help themselves. 

2. Support the ‘Coalition for Change’ geographical partnership working, so that it can be 
rolled out across the area and in other communities. 

3. Support housing partners to deliver appropriate, affordable and sustainable homes.  
4. Work with regional partners to create safe, confident communities and promote community 

cohesion. 
5. Work in partnership to tackle irresponsible use of green space. 
 

4.17 Action Area 5 – Protect and enhance the local natural environment 
1. Protect, enhance and promote our natural environment, including encouraging and 

supporting community involvement.  
2. Identify and remove the barriers to people accessing green spaces.  
3. Increase the contribution that the environment makes to the health and well-being of our 

residents.  
 
4.18 Each Action Area has a nominated Board Champion, who is a member of the PSB and will 

report at Board level on the progress of the work in their Action Area.    
 
4.19 Each Action Area also has an Action Area Lead Officer (or officers) who has been agreed by 

the Board.  The Action Area Lead Officer(s) will coordinate and drive forward projects and 
actions.  They will also be responsible for compiling reports on progress, and be a point of 
contact for their Action Area.  Work on each Action Area will be undertaken by the Action Area 
Delivery Group, made up of officers from PSB partner organisations and, where appropriate, 
local residents or community representatives.    

 

Enabler 
   
Ref. 

Topic Lead   Lead Officer(s)   Policy Support 

   1. Working Together All Member Organisations     Paul Cooke,    
CCBC 

   2. Communications PSB Communications and 
Engagement Group 

Kathryn Peters, 
CCBC 

Mandy Keenan, 
CCBC 

   3. Procurement Caerphilly County Borough 
Council 

 Liz Lucas, CCBC    Vicki Doyle, 
CCBC 

   4. Asset Management Caerphilly County Borough 
Council with Gwent Police 

 Mark Williams, 
CCBC           and 
Kieran McHugh, 
Gwent Police 

  Tracy Evans, 
CCBC    

 

 

Page 12



 

Action Area 
   
Ref. 

Topic PSB Champion    Lead Officer(s)   Policy Support 

   1. Best Start in Life  Public Health Wales: 
Meredith Bowley  

Sarah Mutch, 
 CCBC 

  Sian Wolfe-
Williams,   
CCBC 

    
    2. 

a) Volunteering  Gwent Association of 
Voluntary Organisations : 
Martin Featherstone  

Steven Tiley, 
GAVO 

  Alison Palmer,  
  GAVO/CCBC  

b) Apprenticeships Caerphilly County Borough 
Council Christina Harrhy 

Tina McMahon, 
CCBC 

  Vicki Doyle, 
CCBC  

    3. Good Health and 
Well-being  

Aneurin Bevan University 
Health Board : Bronagh Scott   

Ali Gough, 
ABUHB 

  Sian Wolfe-
Williams,     
CCBC 

    
    4. 
 

a) Safe Communities  Gwent Police : Nicholas 
McLain 

Chief Inspector 
Jason White 

  Natalie Kenny, 
CCBC 

b) Resilient 
Communities 

Caerphilly County Borough 
Council: 
Christina Harrhy 

Rhian Kyte, 
CCBC 

  Paul Cooke, 
CCBC 

    5. Protect and Enhance 
the Local Natural 
Environment  

Natural Resources Wales: 
Ceri Davies  

Helen Fletcher, 
NRW 

  Tracy Evans, 
CCBC 

 
4.20 The Action Area Delivery Groups will develop their own action plan setting out the short, 

medium and long-term actions to be taken.  The action plans will be approved by the Board.   
 
4.21 Action Area Lead Officer(s) will prepare reports every 6 months for their Action Area.  These 

will be presented to the Board by the Board Champion.  There will also be an opportunity for 
reporting on an ‘exception basis’ by the nominated Board Champion at each quarterly Board 
meeting.  Exception reporting will enable specific reports to be provided to the Board should 
issues need to be brought to their attention, for either positive or negative reasons.  Aside 
from Board reporting, should PSB members (or others) wish to be informed of progress on 
any of the Action Areas they should contact the Action Area Lead Officer(s).   

 
4.22 Action Area Lead Officers will meet on a quarterly basis to ensure that links are maximised 

and that good practice is shared.  Six-monthly events, based on the successful ‘Future 
Scenarios’ format, will be held for all Action Area Delivery Group members to hear about 
progress in other Action Areas and to maximise links. 

 
4.23 An overarching Annual Report will be produced, incorporating progress against agreed steps 

and actions across the whole Well-being Plan. 
 
4.24 Draft Action Plans were presented to the PSB and approved on the 5th June.  Lead Officers, 

Policy Support, and delivery Groups are currently developing more detailed action plans, 
including setting out how progress will be measured. These updated action plans will be 
presented to the PSB on the 4th September 2018. 

 
4.25 The PSB is keen to maintain the dialogue with Town and Community Councils and will ensure 

that a regular invitation is made for each Council to be part of delivery arrangements as the 
Action Plans develop. A standing ‘Future Scenarios’ group will meet on a six-monthly basis, 
one of these meetings will be part of the PSB’s Annual Conference in July each year.  The 
PSB annual conference will replace the current biannual Standing Conference. It is proposed 
that and invitation is sent via the clerk to each Council for each of these events. 

 
 
 

Page 13



5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 This report relates to the PSB Well-being Assessment, Plan and Delivery Framework which is 

a requirement of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  It is structured 
around the 7 Well-being Goals, and identifies issues that relate to each goal. 

 
It is consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act in that it is: 
 

 Long-term – It identifies issues that will affect the county borough over the next 25 
years. 

 Preventative – It sets out preventative action and how acting to prevent problems 
occurring or getting worse will improve local well-being. 

 Integrated – It considers how the issues may impact upon each of the well-being 
goals, and how these are interrelated.  

 Collaborative – The Assessment was prepared in collaboration with  PSB 
organisations, and other bodies and groups with an interest in the well-being of the 
area. It identifies how acting in collaboration could help improve local well-being. 

 Involvement – The Assessment was prepared involving people and organisations with 
an interest in achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no equalities implications in this report. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 

Screening has been conducted on the Well-being Plan in accordance with the Council’s 
Strategic Equality Plan and supplementary guidance. No potential for unlawful discrimination 
and/or low level minor impact was identified; therefore a full EIA was not carried out. 

 
6.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the PSB to consider a more 

equal Wales and a Wales of cohesive communities. The Plan and its Enablers and Action 
have been drafted to be mindful of groups with protected characteristics and people who may 
be disadvantaged for reasons of economy or health. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications in this report other than the commitment given by partners 

to work together collaboratively.  
 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications.  
 
 
9. CONSULTATIONS 
 
9.1 This report reflects the views of the consultees.  
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That the Liaison Committee note the contents of the report and that invitations will be sent to 

Future Scenarios events and the PSB’s Annual Conference. 
 
 

Page 14



11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
 
 
 
Author: Paul Cooke, Senior Policy Officer, CCBC 
 
Consultees: Cllr David Poole, Leader and Chair of the Caerphilly Public Services Board 
 Christina Harrhy, Interim Chief Executive 
 Kathryn Peters, Corporate Policy Manager, CCBC  
 
Back ground documents:  
 https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/sites/your.caerphilly.gov.uk.publicservicesb

oard/files/pdfs/assessmentlocalwellbeing/008.communitycouncilliaisonsubcommittee.pdf 
 

Page 15

https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/sites/your.caerphilly.gov.uk.publicservicesboard/files/pdfs/assessmentlocalwellbeing/008.communitycouncilliaisonsubcommittee.pdf
https://your.caerphilly.gov.uk/publicservicesboard/sites/your.caerphilly.gov.uk.publicservicesboard/files/pdfs/assessmentlocalwellbeing/008.communitycouncilliaisonsubcommittee.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 

 

 
REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  

26TH JUNE 2018 
 
SUBJECT: DRAFT SPORT & ACTIVE RECREATION STRATEGY 2019-29 
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To seek Scrutiny Committee views on a 10 year holistic vision and Strategy for the delivery of 

Sport and Active Recreation in Caerphilly county borough prior to presenting to Cabinet for 
approval to commence a ten week consultation exercise with a range of stakeholders. 

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 This report presents a draft strategy which set outs a future purpose and direction for the 

provision of sport and active recreation in Caerphilly County Borough - it establishes the key 
principles and vision which will inform future decisions and actions over the next 10 years.  
For the purposes of the draft Strategy (Appendix 1) and this report we define sport and active 
recreation as the range of sport and physical activity opportunities provided by Caerphilly 
County Borough Council in conjunction with our key partners. 

 
2.2 The benefits of leading a physically active lifestyle for our residents are well documented and 

acknowledging the current financial climate within which local authorities operate, a clear 
strategic direction is essential.  The draft Strategy recognises the multiple challenges of poor 
levels of health, particularly in certain areas of the County; reducing budgets; the large 
number of facilities across the County and the deteriorating quality of our older buildings; and 
increasing population and consumer demand. 

 
2.3 The draft Strategy is strongly aligned to the Wellbeing Objectives in the Council’s Corporate 

Plan and in doing so also acknowledges that in rising to the future challenges it is clear that 
we will need to do things differently.  The Authority currently provides a large number of 
opportunities to engage with physical activity which include a physical infrastructure of leisure 
centres, community centres and fixed play, further supported by a number of (country) parks, 
cycle paths, outdoor sports facilities and school sport provision.  The majority of the current 
leisure centre facility stock was built during the late 1960s / early 1970s and no longer meet 
modern day leisure centre requirements. 

 
2.4 The draft Strategy proposes adoption of Welsh Government’s blueprint for sport and active 

recreation in Wales, ‘Facilities for Future Generations’ together with a decision making matrix 
for determining the provision of strategic leisure facilities that are directly managed by the 
Sport and Leisure Service.  The significant role played by the outdoors in support of a holistic 
approach to sport and active recreation provision is recognised.  The county borough has a 
significant level of countryside and outdoor space that includes country parks, municipal 
parks, allotments, fixed play, sport pitches, nature reserves, cycle and walking routes.  The 
aim is also to maximise the use of 3G facilities for school, community and weekend 
competitive use alongside the grass pitch network, supporting the development of stronger, 
more sustainable, sports clubs. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



2.5 In terms of sport and active recreation outreach and intervention programmes the draft 
Strategy proposes that the Council will continue to: 

 
• Adopt a collaborative approach with schools to motivate children and young people to 

adopt and continue healthy active lifestyles through inspirational and inclusive physical 
activity experiences whilst they are in education. 

• Provide targeted support to help keep older people involved and active in  local 
communities helping local organisations to provide ways of supporting older/less 
independent people to lead healthy lives through low intensity, social and easy to access 
physical activities. 

• Encourage and support federations of clubs sharing resources, helping to build stronger, 
more sustainable, and successful sports clubs. 

• Provide essential support underpinning sporting success 
• Provide specialist interventions to reach targeted audiences where there is evidence of 

need and no other alternative provider. 
• Lead the regional Active Gwent collaboration programme to increase participation in sport 

and physical activity in a way that has the greatest impact in Caerphilly. 
 
2.6 A ten week consultation period is proposed to obtain the views of Caerphilly County Borough 

residents, existing users and a broad range of stakeholders to shape the future provision and 
delivery of sport and active recreation across the county borough. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 supports the following Wellbeing 

Objectives within the Council’s Corporate Plan 2018-23: 
 

• Improve education opportunities for all. 
• Creating a county borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in accordance with the 

sustainable development principle within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015. 

• Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-being. 
 
3.2 The draft Strategy also supports the Wellbeing Objectives within the Caerphilly Public 

Services Board’s Wellbeing Plan, ‘The Caerphilly We Want’: 
 

• Positive Change – A shared commitment to improving the way we work together. 
• Positive Start – Giving our future generations the best start in life. 
• Positive People – Empowering and enabling all our residents to achieve their own 

potential. 
• Positive Places – Enabling our communities to be resilient and sustainable. 

 
3.3 The draft Strategy will also contribute to the draft Regeneration Strategy for Caerphilly County 

Borough, ‘A Foundation for Success 2018-2023’. 
 
3.4 The Wellbeing of Future Generation (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the social, 

economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales.  It requires public bodies to think 
more about the long-term, working with people and communities, looking to prevent problems 
and take a more joined up approach.  This will create a Wales that we all want to live in, now 
and in the future.  The Act puts in place seven well-being goals:  

 
• A prosperous Wales. 
• A resilient Wales. 
• A healthier Wales. 
• A more equal Wales. 
• A Wales of cohesive communities. 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language. 
• A globally responsible Wales. 

Page 18



 
 The content of this report supports: A resilient Wales, A healthier Wales, A Wales of cohesive 

communities, A globally responsible Wales, A more equal Wales. 
 
3.5 Through this Strategy Caerphilly County Borough Council will also contribute to Sport Wales’ 

Community Sport outcomes namely: 
 

• Generating increased frequencies of regular participation. 
• Targeting inequalities and barriers to participation. 
• Providing high quality opportunities allowing our most talented athletes to realise their 

potential. 
 
 
4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 In October 2014 a paper was presented to Regeneration & Environment Scrutiny committee, 

titled Strategic Review of Leisure Facilities that set the scene in respect of a strategic 
approach to the provision of leisure facilities.  Public consultation was undertaken in June 
2015, however the scope of this review was considered too narrow.  In 2015 the council 
adopted an Outdoor Sports Strategy that included sports pitches, allotments, play provision 
and amenity green spaces.  In May 2016 a further review undertaken by the Wales Audit 
Office concluded that the Authority needed to develop and agree a vision and strategy for its 
Sport and Leisure Service. 

 
4.2 This report presents a draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 setting out a future 

purpose and direction for the provision of sport and active recreation in Caerphilly County 
Borough - it establishes the key principles and vision which will inform future decisions and 
actions over the next 10 years.  For the purposes of the draft Strategy (Appendix 1) and this 
report we define sport and active recreation as the range of sport and physical activity 
opportunities provided by Caerphilly County Borough Council in conjunction with our key 
partners. 

 
4.3 The benefits of leading a physically active lifestyle for our residents are well documented and, 

acknowledging the current financial climate within which local authorities operate, a clear 
strategic direction is essential.  The draft Strategy recognises the multiple challenges of poor 
levels of health, particularly in certain areas of the County; reducing budgets; the large 
number of facilities across the County and the deteriorating quality of our older buildings; and 
increasing population and consumer demand. 

 
4.4 The Council does not have a statutory responsibility to provide most of our current sport and 

active recreation services.  This discretionary provision, the maintenance of our facilities and 
services, has to be measured against their positive impact on our corporate priorities of 
health, regeneration, education, and future affordability.  The draft Strategy is strongly linked 
to the Wellbeing Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan and in doing so also 
acknowledges that in rising to the future challenges it is clear that we will need to do things 
differently – be innovative and willing to adapt and respond to change.  No longer can we do 
what we have always done - our future role will be less about directly delivering services and 
more about enabling the many other organisations who already provide excellent 
opportunities across our communities. 

 
4.5 Having regard to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act the draft Strategy reflects 

that we will need to be bold – not holding on to what we have done in the past, but looking 
forward to ensure that the decisions we make and opportunities we provide are fit for future 
generations, responding to the emerging needs of our young people - the adults of tomorrow - 
and of course looking after the different needs of a growing older population.  We must also 
make sure what we provide is going to be sustainable i.e. we can all afford to maintain it into 
the future. 

 

Page 19



 
4.6 The draft Strategy advocates a single, shared outcome of more young people becoming 

active adults through more inspirational learning experiences, whilst also ensuring the 
learning environments are maximised for community use out of school hours.  This will include 
a new fit for purpose, robust joint use agreement with schools with clear priorities and 
outcomes. 

 
4.7 Whilst the overarching aim of the strategy is to deliver sport and active recreation services on 

a holistic basis, it should be noted that the largest element of the authority’s investment is 
consumed by its physical infrastructure.  The Authority currently provides a large number of 
opportunities to engage with physical activity which include a physical infrastructure of leisure 
centres, community centres and fixed play, further supported by a number of (country) parks, 
cycle paths and outdoor sports areas.  The majority of the current leisure centre facility stock 
was built during the late 1960s / early 1970s and no longer meet modern day leisure centre 
requirements.  

 
4.8 The draft Strategy proposes adoption of Welsh Government’s blueprint for sport and active 

recreation in Wales, ‘Facilities for Future Generations’, with the aim of achieving a landscape 
of modern, fit for purpose and sustainable facilities aimed at providing improved opportunity 
for access and engagement.  Facilities for Future Generations suggests that sport and leisure 
facilities are classified within three distinct categories, namely:- 

 
• Level 1 – Very local, community facilities that are essential to deliver door step provision 

and facilitate daily active lifestyles.  An example in this regard is the community centre 
network  and local green infrastructure. 

• Level 2 – Described as ‘travel to’ community facilities.  It is suggested that these facilities 
are ideally located on school sites to maximise use and deliver value for money.  The 
primary purpose of these facilities is to inspire young people to engage in physical activity 
and serve communities through out of hours community use.  In this regard an example is 
the facilities currently delivered upon school campus. 

• Level 3 – These are identified as large strategically placed facilities that may be specialist 
sport and /or tourist attractions that have the ability to impact positively upon the local 
economy.  In this regard it is considered that the Centre of Sporting Excellence and the 
opportunities that exist within the south west of the county borough and the development 
of a new or refurbished Caerphilly Leisure Centre fit within this category.  Investment is 
proposed to deliver a commercially sustainable leisure attraction in in response to the 
significant growth in new housing and supporting our tourism aspirations in the south west 
of the county borough, although this is dependant on the availability of finance. 

 
4.9 A proposed decision making matrix for determining the provision of strategic Leisure facilities 

that are directly managed by the Sport and Leisure Service is set out within the draft Strategy. 
It is proposed that the criteria for strategic facilities in future would include that provide a range 
of facilities and services for sport and active recreation including “wetside” (e.g. pool, sauna, 
spa, etc.) and “dryside” (e.g. fitness suite, dance, classes, etc.) activities, they are shared with 
a day time user (standalone only in major population centres and/or are attractions of regional 
or national significance). Strategic facilities would also have over 250,000 visitors per annum, 
appropriate access, and the aim of reducing the subsidy per user to less than £1 to £1.20.  
Current visitor and subsidy levels of our existing facilities are detailed in the table below: 

 
FACILITY 2017/18 VISITS 2017/18 NET 

OPERATING 
COST (TOTAL) 

2017/18 NET 
COST PER 

VISIT £ 
Caerphilly 
(including pool) 

265,624 231,421 0.87 

Risca 
(including pool) 

223,687 217,969 0.97 

Newbridge 
(including pool) 

264,810 294,127 1.11 

Page 20



 
Heolddu 
(including pool) 

97,423 256,646 2.63 

Cefn Fforest 
(including pool) 

66,598 217,025 3.26 

Bedwas 
(including pool) 

27,412 124,775 4.55 

St Cenydd 45,868 81,169 1.77 
Pontllanfraith 74,347 104,797 1.41 
Sue Noake 33,261 51,348 1.54 
New Tredegar 17,834 82,211 4.78 

 
4.10 Application of the decision making matrix outlined in 4.9 above will result in a rationalisation of 

facilities over the next 10 years focussing on strategic, high quality, multi service leisure 
centres that are managed by the authority’s Sport and Leisure Service.  The 4 strategic 
centres will be located in Risca, Caerphilly, and Newbridge, and one in the 
Bargoed/Aberbargoed areas to serve the north of the county borough.  It is therefore 
anticipated that the other leisure centres would either transfer to school management (if they 
are joint use facilities located on a school site, subject to governing body approval) or could 
close completely.  Decisions on each will be the subject of separate reports and a specific 
decision making process. 

 
4.11 The draft strategy also aims to capture the significant role played by the outdoors in support of 

a holistic approach to sport and active recreation provision.  The county borough has a 
significant level of countryside and outdoor space that includes country parks, municipal 
parks, allotments, fixed play, sport pitches, nature reserves, cycle and walking routes.  The 
Council’s Outdoor Sports Strategy adopted in 2015 establishes a clear position that the 
delivery of activities aimed at improving physical health and wellbeing do not need to be 
exclusively delivered from a built physical structure.  The Council will maximise the use of 3G 
facilities for school, community and weekend competitive use alongside the grass pitch 
network, supporting the development of stronger sports clubs.  The Centre for Sporting 
Excellence offers a 3G football pitch and rugby pitch; it is used as a training facility by the 
Dragons Rugby and Coleg-y-Cymoedd, and is used by sports clubs from across the county 
borough 

 
4.12 In terms of sport and active recreation outreach and intervention programmes the draft 

Strategy proposes that the Council will continue to: 
 

• Collaborate with schools to motivate children and young people to adopt and continue 
healthy active lifestyles through inspirational and inclusive physical activity experiences 
whilst they are in education. 

• Provide targeted support to help keep older people involved and active in local 
communities helping local organisations to provide ways of supporting older/less 
independent people to lead healthy lives through low intensity, social and easy to access 
physical activities. 

• Encourage and support federations of clubs sharing resources, helping to build stronger, 
more sustainable, and successful sports clubs. 

• Provide essential support underpinning sporting success. 
• Provide specialist interventions to reach targeted audiences where there is evidence of 

need and no other alternative provider. 
• Lead the regional Active Gwent collaboration programme to increase participation in sport 

and physical activity in a way that has the greatest impact in Caerphilly. 
 

4.13 Obtaining the views of Caerphilly County Borough residents, existing users and a broad range 
of stakeholders will be essential is shaping the future provision and delivery of sport and 
active recreation across the county borough.  In support of this requirement, a ten week 
consultation period is proposed that includes the following:- 

Page 21



Draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy – Outline of Proposed Consultation 
 

TIMESCALES ACTIVITY 
9th July Pre consultation - Members Seminar  
Friday 16th July – 
21st September 
2018 

10 week public and stakeholder consultation period 

Mid June Newsline signposting to consultation 
At outset of 
consultation period 
and follow up 

NewsOnline Promotion 

At outset of 
consultation period 
and follow up 

Press activity + social media – Facebook and Twitter 

For 10 week 
consultation period 

Website – banner on front page 
Online survey (SNAP).   

For 10 week 
consultation period 

Posters in public facing Council venues and paper versions of survey 
available from leisure centres, main public facing council buildings and 
other venues impacted – community centres, country parks and 
schools 

TBC Surgery/drop in sessions to be held at key locations across the 
borough - promoted using above tools 

At outset of 10 week 
consultation period 
 

• Direct correspondence with groups as outlined in the Consultation 
and Monitoring Guidance document covering protected 
characteristics.  This may be via e-mail or letter or face to face with 
groups as appropriate 

• Age  
− Youth forum  
− 50+ forum  
− Age Cymru 

• Disability  
− Deafblind.org,  
− RNIB Cymru,  
− Action Hearing Loss Cymru,  
− BDA,  
− Disability Can Do,  
− Caerphilly County Borough Access Group,  
− Caerphilly People First,  
− Disability Sports Wales,  
− Caerphilly Borough Mind 

• Pregnancy and Maternity – will be covered by general consultation 
• Race 

− Gwent Education Multi-Ethnic Service (GEMS)   
− Race Equality Council,  
− SEWREC 

• Religion or Belief – will be covered by general consultation 
• Sex – will be covered by general consultation 
• Sexual orientation and gender reassignment 

− Umbrella Cymru  
− LGBTQ+ youth group,  
− Stonewall Cymru 

 

Page 22



• Language  
− Menter Iaith,  
− Welsh Language Forum including Meithrin etc 

Direct correspondence with: 
• All smart card users (for leisure centres) 
• Sports and clubs across the county borough 
• All groups who use leisure facilities for any other activities 
• Community centre secretaries and all groups who use 

community centres currently 
• All groups who use tourism venues for active recreation.  

Direct correspondence with: 
• All local Councillors 
• All town and community councils 
• WLGA 
• Dragons Rugby 
• Coleg-y-cymoedd  
• Future Generations Commissioner 
• Older People’s Commissioner 
• Children’s Commissioner 
• Welsh Language Commissioner 
• Equalities and Human Rights Commission 
• Local Assembly Members 
• Local Members of Parliament 
• Partner organisations through the Public Services Board and 

Standing Conference members 
• Voluntary sector through GAVO  
• All schools and parents via head teachers 
• Further and Higher Education Colleges 
• Business forum  
• All private sector leisure providers within the county borough 
• Neighbouring local authorities whose provision may be 

impacted 
• Welsh Athletics 
• Sport Wales 

 
 
5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 
5.1 The issues outlined in this report make a contribution across the seven well-being goals, but 

in particular to the following areas: 
 

1. A healthier Wales:  There is significant evidence to support the view that undertaking 
an active lifestyle has significant benefits in terms of reducing the risk of cardiovascular 
disease along with positive impacts upon mental health and body weight control.  The 
role of community centres is significant in terms of supporting the integration of 
physical activity into everyday lifestyles. 

 
2. A prosperous Wales: There is significant evidence of the essential role that sport and 

physical activity plays in regenerating communities, raising aspirations and making 
them a more attractive place to live, work and visit 

 
3. A Wales of cohesive communities: Caerphilly County Borough Council have 

communicated a vision to place its facilities at the heart of the community, ensuring it’s 
effectively placed to deliver a well-connected, socially inclusive hub. 

 
4. A globally responsible Wales: There is significant evidence to support the positive 

impact that leading a healthy, physically active lifestyle has upon the economic, social 
and cultural well-being of Welsh residents. 

 
Page 23



5. A more equal Wales: There is significant evidence to support the positive role that 
engaging in community activity can play in supporting people to fulfil their potential 
from both an educational and socio economic perspective. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 sets out the sustainable development 

principle against which all public bodies in Wales should assess their decision-making.  The 
aim of the legislation is to ensure the well-being of future generations through maximising the 
contribution public bodies make towards the well-being goals.  In using the sustainable 
development principle it is incumbent that the authority considers the whole of the population 
it serves and considers the effect of its actions on future generations.  The principle, also 
known as the five ways of working is assessed as follows: 

 
• LONG TERM - The Sport and Leisure Services estate across the whole of the authority is 

not sustainable in the long term due to cuts in the revenue available to the local authority.  
Securing the provision of sport and active recreation services now and in the future 
requires that difficult decisions have to be made that balance short term considerations 
against long term sustainability.  The financial climate means that it is not possible to 
continue subsidising all provision and so decisions must be taken now to secure a sports 
and leisure service for future generations.  
 

• INVOLVEMENT - An extensive consultation will take place with a broad range of 
stakeholders.  Inevitably residents will wish to see as many local authority services as 
close to their homes as possible, and this view would be held by all communities within the 
county borough.  
 

• PREVENTION - The promotion of health and well-being now prevents need in the future 
and reduces demand on public services.  In preparing the proposed vision and strategic 
direction we have sought to maintain sports and leisure services accessibility for the 
community as far as is practicable and affordable in the current challenging financial 
climate.  
 

• COLLABORATION - Sport and Leisure Services currently collaborates with a range of 
partners both locally and regionally to develop services that support increased opportunity 
and engagement.  
 

• INTEGRATION - Sport and Leisure Services have considered how the proposed vision 
and strategic direction may impact on the well-being goals and in so doing have been 
mindful of the requirement to provide a holistic sports and leisure offer that is still 
accessible across the county borough utilising all available resources. 

 
 
6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been prepared at this consultation stage in 

accordance with the Authority’s Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020 and is included at 
Appendix 2.  The potential for some negative impacts has been identified associated with 
mobility issues for some groups with protected characteristics should some leisure facilities 
close.  However, the proposal to focus on 4 strategic leisure facilities accessible by public 
transport and will ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, geographic coverage across the 
county borough.  There is no statutory requirement for the Council to provide these facilities 
and this represents a fair and just allocation of resources that will deliver continued sport and 
leisure provision into the future for the benefit of all. 

 
6.2 Actions are proposed to mitigate some potential negative impacts that have been identified 

and these potential impacts are outweighed by the overall benefits of ensuring sustainable 
sport and active recreation provision across the county borough.  The consultation exercise 
will be used to strengthen our understanding of any potential positive or negative impacts and 
the Equalities Impact Assessment will be kept under continuing review throughout the 
consultation process. 

 

Page 24



6.3 The proposal supports Strategic Equality Objective 3: Improving Physical Access, Strategic 
Equality Objective 5: Inclusive Engagement and Participation, Strategic Equality Objective 6: 
Compliance with the Welsh Language Standards, and Strategic Equality Objective 7: 
Supporting Age-friendly Communities. 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no direct financial implications at this initial consultation stage. Should the Strategy 

be formally adopted then proposed actions will be the subject of separate reports over the 10 
year course of the Strategy that will include detailed financial implications.  Any decisions will 
be dependent on the availability of funding and the approval of robust business cases. 

 
7.2 The cost of delivering the services identified within the draft Strategy are set out in greater 

detail in the document, however the table below provides an overview of the net cost of each: 
 

Service Area Net cost 
Leisure Centres 
 
Community Centres 

£1,928,047 (inc £213,300 Free Swim 
Initiative grant) 
£358,855 

Property Services – Statutory Maintenance at 
Leisure Centres 

£20,000 in 2017/18 

Sports Development 
• Caerphilly Adventures 
• National Exercise Referral 
• Sports Development Officers 

 
£143,091 
£174,677 (Grant Funded) 
£430,200 (Grant Funded) 

Central Leisure Costs £666,034 
Outdoor and Green Spaces £4,458,662 

 
7.3 It should be noted that the above reflects current budgets which will need to reduce as a 

consequence of the ongoing public sector austerity programme.  The updated Medium-Term 
Financial Plan presented to Council on the 22nd February 2018 showed a potential Authority-
wide savings requirement of circa £34m for the four-year period 2019/20 to 2022/23.  This is 
clearly extremely challenging and it is inevitable that some very difficult decisions will need to 
be made.  In looking to develop proposals to address the financial challenges moving forward 
it is widely accepted that the Council cannot continue as it is.  There is therefore a need to 
examine the ways in which we deliver services to make the best use of available resources in 
the context of the reduced funding available.  

 
7.4 It is noted that the largest investment by the authority is the built infrastructure, in particular 

the network of leisure centres.  The majority of facilities as stated earlier were built in the late 
1960s, early 1970s.  Buildings of this age are traditionally not energy efficient, despite 
investments in various Local Authority Energy Finance projects and are also subject to a 
significant maintenance liability. 

 
7.5 The last service wide condition surveys undertaken on the leisure centre portfolio was in 2012 

which identified circa £3 million of category 1, 2 and 3 requirements.  Whilst there has been 
investment in addressing, particularly category 1 aspects, it should be noted that it is likely this 
cost pressure will increase upon completion of updated condition surveys.  There is currently 
no budget or capital set aside for the £3 million backlog.  In 2013/2014, £395,000 of Leisure 
Centre revenue budget was transferred to Property Services for building maintenance and 
there is a potential saving if the condition of the stock could be improved.  There is the 
potential for capital receipts if rationalisation of facilities is adopted, which would generate 
funds that could be reinvested subject to the approval of business cases. 

 
7.6 A key aspiration of the draft Strategy is the requirement to address the position in respect of 

Caerphilly Leisure Centre. It has been clearly identified that the south west of the county 
borough will experience a significant population growth over the strategy timeline.  This 
growth provides an opportunity to develop a Level 3 style facility that supports the authority’s 
aim of Caerphilly as a tourist destination. 

Page 25



7.7 Proposals developed by Sport and Leisure Services in partnership with Alliance Leisure in 
2017 identified four options to address Caerphilly Leisure Centre, namely:- 

 
1. Do nothing and continue to subsidise at present values 
2. Refurbishment Option 1 – Circa £5.188m 
3. Refurbishment Option 2 – Circa £8.915m 
4. New Build Option           – Circa £13-15m 

 
However, it should be noted these costs would be subject to construction industry inflation 
given that they are some 12 months old. Any decision to progress refurbishment would be 
dependent on the availability of funding and the approval of a robust business case. 

 
 
8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There are no personnel implications at this stage; however should the strategy be formally 

adopted then due consideration will be required to establish future resource requirements. 
 
 
9. CONSULTATION 
 
9.1 This report has been sent to the consultees listed below and all comments received are 

reflected in this report. 
 
 
10. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 That Scrutiny Committee consider the proposal to undertake a public consultation on the draft 

Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 and make any Recommendations prior to 
presentation to Cabinet.  

 
 
11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 To set out to all stakeholders the proposed strategic vision for the delivery of sport and active 

recreation services within the county borough 
 
11.2 To obtain feedback from all stakeholders to assist in informing the next stages of strategy 

development and implementation 
 
 
12. STATUTORY POWER  
 
12.1 Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
Author: Rob Hartshorn, Head of Policy and Public Protection  
Consultees: Mark S. Williams, Interim Corporate Director, Communities 

Cllr Nigel George, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
Jeff Reynolds, Sport & Leisure Services Facilities Manager 
Jared Lougher, Sport & Leisure Services Development Manager 
Mike Headington, Green Spaces and Transport Services Manager 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer (Equalities & Welsh Language) 
Mike Eedy, Finance Manager 

 Shaun Watkins, HR Manager 
Sue Richards, Head of Service, Education, Planning and Strategy 

 Nicole Scammell, Section 151 Officer 
 Lisa Lane, Interim Monitoring Officer 
                    Stephen Harris, Interim Head of Corporate Finance 

Page 26



 
Background Papers:  
‘Strategic Review of Leisure Facilities’ report to Regeneration & Environment Scrutiny Committee 
28th October 2014. 
‘Review of Existing Formal Recreation and Leisure Facilities’ report to Cabinet 17th June 2015 
Wales Audit Office Report ‘Review of the development of a sport and leisure strategy – Caerphilly 
County Borough Council’ May 2016. 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-2029 
Appendix 2:  Equality Impact Assessment 
 

Page 27



Man gwyrddach ar gyfer chwaraeon a dull byw gweithredol
A greener place for sport and active lifestyles

Sport and active recreation 
Strategy 2019-202920

19-
20
29

Caerphilly County Borough Council
APPENDIX 1

P
age 28



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

1

Introduction	 2

Strategy Purpose, Principles and Priorities	 5

A Review of What We Know - Informing Future Decisions	 15

Major Challenges to be Overcome	 23

What Needs to be Done	 31

CONTENTS

P
age 29



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

2

INTRODUCTION
Introducing this strategy and its intended purpose

●● This strategy sets outs a future purpose and direction for the provision of sport and active recreation in Caerphilly 
County Borough - it establishes the key principles and vision which will inform future decisions and actions.

●● Where necessary, as and when required, the strategy implementation will be supported by more detailed 
communications, consultation, and business cases for action to support reports to the relevant Scrutiny 
Committee, Cabinet and/or Full Council.

What is Sport and Active Recreation?

The definition of Sport and Active Recreation in relation to this strategy is based on the range of sport and physical 
activity opportunities provided by Caerphilly County Borough Council in conjunction with our key partners: 

The rationale for the strategy

●● ‘Caerphilly County Borough Council has embarked on an exciting and challenging journey of improvement and 
change’ The Corporate Plan (2018-2023).

●● ‘Rising to the future challenges it is clear that we will need to do things differently - be innovative and willing to 
adapt and respond to change’.

●● To be successful, the Council must fundamentally redefine its unique role i.e. what we do, the services we provide, 
and how we provide them.

●● No longer can we do what we have always done - our future role will be less about directly delivering services 
and more about enabling the many other organisations who already provide excellent opportunities across our 
communities.

To be successful, 
the Council must 
fundamentally 
redefine its unique 
role i.e. what we 
do, the services we 
provide, and how 
we provide them.

P
age 30



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

3

Implementing the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

●● We will need to be bold - not holding on to what we have done in the past, but looking forward to ensure that the 
decisions we make and opportunities we provide are fit for future generations - responding to the emerging needs 
of our young people, the adults of tomorrow, and of course looking after the different needs of a growing older 
population. 

●● We must also make sure what we provide is going to be sustainable i.e. we can all afford to maintain service 
provision into the future.

●● Future approaches will demand that people take greater responsibility for their own health and levels of physical 
activity. It is the role of the Council to support them to do this for themselves.

●● To deliver a ‘change agenda’ the Council will also have to make a number of critical decisions. It is vital therefore, 
that this strategy provides a clear rationale and priorities for action. It must provide a vision for where we are going 
and how we are going to get there, so that everyone understands what we can achieve, what to expect of us, as 
well as the roles that others have to play. 

●● Finally, the strategy is not focused just on buildings but the activity that can take place in a wide variety of different 
places found throughout our County Borough and as a result of many different opportunities provided by a range 
of organisations. 

Future approaches 
will demand that 
people take greater 
responsibility for 
their own health 
and levels of 
physical activity.

P
age 31



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

4

The format

In developing this strategy we have set out:

1.	 What we have to achieve, our core purpose i.e. the better health and wellbeing priorities set out in our Corporate Plan (2018-2023). 

2.	 A review of:

a.	 Our communities and their needs - what we know about our population, the place we live, current provision;

b.	 Lessons learnt from our achievements, building on what we do well, taking account of the views of others;

c.	 What we know about future needs and emerging trends. 

3.	 The major challenges:

a.	 Poor levels of health particularly in certain areas of the county; 

b.	 Reducing budgets; 

c.	 The large number of facilities across the County and the deteriorating quality of our older 
buildings; 

d.	 Increasing population and consumer demand.

4.	 The actions - what needs to be done. 

P
age 32



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

5

STRATEGY PURPOSE, 
PRINCIPLES, AND PRIORITIES 
Our vision and how we will deliver it

●● ‘Our vision for sport and active recreation is to encourage healthy lifestyles and support our residents to be more 
active, more often’.

●● We will do this by encouraging a collective responsibility and approach to provide and promote appropriate 
opportunities across a wide range of organisations. 

●● We will support others and only directly provide where the need is great and no others have the expertise or 
capacity to:

••Promote positive messages about health and physical activity; 

••Encourage physical activity through the provision of varied, attractive and accessible opportunities;

••Achieve raised standards of performance and celebrate local success in sport. 

‘Our vision for 
sport and active 
recreation is 
to encourage 
healthy lifestyles 
and support our 
residents to be 
more active, more 
often’.

P
age 33



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

6

Our Community & Leisure Service’s role

●● Within Caerphilly County Borough Council our Community & Leisure Service is responsible for leading the 
promotion of sport and active recreation. Currently the Service looks after a wide range of active recreation 
activities and places including children’s play areas; country parks and open spaces; sports pitches; and 
leisure centres - usually on Secondary School sites. It also manages Outdoor Adventure Activities and Sports 
Development - including services ranging from GP exercise referrals to support for sport. 

●● The Service will ensure it is able to focus on leading and coordinating the future delivery of this Strategy.

The Service will 
ensure it is able to 
focus on leading 
and coordinating 
the future delivery 
of this Strategy.

P
age 34



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

7

Helping deliver Sport Wales’ goals 

●● Through this Strategy, Caerphilly County Borough Council will also contribute to Sport Wales’s 
Community Sport outcomes namely:

••Generating increased frequencies of regular participation;

••Targeting inequalities and barriers to participation;

••Providing high quality opportunities allowing our most talented athletes to realise their potential. 

P
age 35



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

8

Ensuring the Wellbeing of Future Generations 

●● This strategy is designed to help deliver the goals and principles set out in the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. The Act has put into law 7 Wellbeing Goals for a prosperous; resilient; healthier; more equal 
and globally responsible Wales; with cohesive communities; a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language. 

●● Fundamentally, the Act requires ‘responsible and sustainable decision making’ - that Caerphilly County 
Borough Council considers the longer-term impact of the decisions it makes.

●● Future decisions made by the Council will need to ensure sustainable developments to deliver wellbeing by:

••Focussing on securing the sustainability of provision to meet the longer term needs of future generations - 
not based upon the past;

••Understanding the root cause of issues to prevent problems from occurring;

•• Involving/considering the diversity of our population and communities in decisions that affect them; 

••Working more with others to secure future provision and sustainable solutions. 

Future decisions 
made by the 
Council will need to 
ensure sustainable 
developments to 
deliver wellbeing...

P
age 36



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

9

Sport and Active Recreation is not a statutory ‘requirement’

●● Caerphilly County Borough Council does not have to provide most of our current sport and active recreation 
services - it is not a statutory responsibility. So the case for this discretionary provision - the maintenance of our 
facilities and services, has to be measured against their positive impact on our corporate priorities of health, 
regeneration, education, and future affordability.

●● This strategy is therefore designed to provide a vision and rationale for the future that is directly linked to the 
Council’s Wellbeing Objectives, its strategic priorities, as set out in the Corporate Plan (2018-2023). 

This strategy 
is designed to 
provide a vision 
and rationale for 
the future.

P
age 37



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

10

The corporate priorities for Sport and Active Recreation

●● The main Wellbeing Objectives in the Corporate Plan that sport and active recreation contributes to are:

••Objective 1: Improving education opportunities for all and improving the learning environment;

••Objective 5: Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle and reduces inequalities in health 
across the County Borough in accordance with the Sustainable Development Principle within the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015;

••Objective 6: Supporting citizens to remain independent and improve their wellbeing - helping keep older people 
involved and active in their local communities. 

Corporate Objective 1: Improved learning attainment and environments

●● Not only does health and wellbeing positively contribute to higher educational attainment, healthier young people 
are more likely to become healthier adults.

●● We will work with our schools to support the provision of an inspirational sport and physical activity offer, fit for 
future generations and to encourage a commitment to active lifestyle habits leading to our young people growing 
up to become more active adults.

●● In the first phase of our 21st Century Schools Programme (2014-2019) over £56m has been invested in schools 
to improve facilities, (including the new Islwyn High School to replace Pontllanfraith and Oakdale Comprehensive 
Schools and Y Gwindy Welsh Medium School) - this includes new sport and physical activity spaces which are 
available for community use. 

●● We will support and develop successful approaches to maximise community use of all school facilities. Whether 
our secondary school facilities are part of a Leisure Centre or not, we will expect and support them to ensure they 
are available for community use out of school hours. We will expect an equitable standard of service regardless of 
whether the community use is managed by the Community and Leisure Service or School.

Not only does 
health and 
wellbeing positively 
contribute to 
educational 
attainment, 
healthier young 
people are more 
likely to become 
healthier adults.

P
age 38



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

11

Corporate Objective 5: Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle

●● To create a place that supports a healthy lifestyle, helping encourage people to become more physically active, 
reducing overweight and obesity rates in children.

●● To reduce inequalities in health across the County Borough:

••We will establish a supportive partnership with our schools, securing a commitment from the top (Head 
Teachers and Governors) and throughout the school, to engage and motivate all children to be physically active 
by choice;

••We will encourage physical activity within our communities in the most appropriate and effective ways through 
support that reaches out and works with others or through specific intervention programmes targeting 
communities - to create supportive, welcoming, attractive, easy to access activity opportunities;

••We will aim to increase the number of visits to all sport and active recreation places across the County Borough 
- whether they are community centres; primary/secondary schools; parks; the countryside; sports pitches or our 
strategic leisure centres. This will include targeted investment where there is a clear business case to improve 
the activity offer such that we respond to the greatest areas of need and demand and reach out to the largest 
numbers of new participants i.e. targeting known popular activities such as fitness, 5 a-side football, cycling, 
walking, jogging, dance activities etc.

Corporate Objective 6: Supporting citizens to remain independent and improve their wellbeing

●● Helping local community clubs and groups to engage ‘older adults’ in volunteering and supporting 
older people to lead independent, physically active and healthy lives - stimulating both mental 
wellbeing as well as maintaining appropriate levels of physical activity, bodily strength and mobility.

●● We will work with communities and local groups to support interventions that help keep older people 
active and involved in their local communities. 

We will work 
with communities 
and local groups 
to support 
interventions that 
help keep older 
people active and 
involved in their 
local communities.

P
age 39



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

12

Summary Strategy Purpose 

Our First Key Outcome: Better Health 

●● We must achieve a healthier county - recognising that today’s unhealthy residents might be tomorrow’s customers 
for our health and social care services. Our long-term plan is to achieve healthier residents and communities 
although we recognise this will take more than a generation of change - over 20 years.

However due to serious financial constraints, we must also achieve a healthier Borough with less resources - so we 
will have to be ‘smart’ in the way we work. 

●● We will achieve our better health outcomes by:

•• Inspiring our future generations of children and young people to willingly choose to adopt healthy active lifestyles - this will 
be the biggest contribution to generational change;

••Supporting and encouraging the provision of more opportunities for more daily active recreation in our communities and 
work places - by working with a wide range of other providers including encouraging increased use of the great outdoors; 

••Specialist interventions e.g. exercise referral, outreach work using physical activity to improve the lives of priority groups 
enabling people to lead healthier lifestyles on a daily basis in their local communities. However, these will only be targeted 
interventions where there is evidence of need and no other alternative solution.

Our Second Key Outcome - Healthier and Prosperous Communities

●● This means stronger, safer and improved places to live, work and visit for all - communities with a sense of pride and identity. 

●● This vision includes:

••Strong successful local sports clubs at the heart of every community: maintaining local facilities and the environment; 
providing sport and physical activity; managing events; attracting young people; engaging volunteers; creating safer 
and socially cohesive places to live and work, helping to keep older people involved and active locally; supporting and 
promoting sporting success which in turn creates role models, community pride and a feeling of wellbeing and positivity.

P
age 40



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

13

●● In major conurbations and visitor destinations, commercial leisure attractions can also be a dynamic for regeneration 
- creating a better place to live and work, attracting employers and businesses and creating jobs, e.g. in North 
Wales - a new water park and leisure attraction in the Rhyl coastal resort will attract over 350,000 visitors as well as 
servicing over 40,000 local residents; or in Swansea - LC2 attracting over 750,000 footfalls a year - Wales’s most 
visited paid for attraction for the last 7 years. Our Centre of Sporting Excellence used by Coleg y Cymoedd, Welsh 
Rugby Union and Dragons Rugby provides a prestigious, specialist regional sports facility attracting visitors to the 
area, supporting sporting success and stimulating local pride.

●● We will promote Healthier and Prosperous Communities by: 

••Working with community sports clubs and their governing bodies to help our clubs become bigger and stronger; 
assisting them to improve their facilities, encouraging more volunteers and creating more sporting opportunities 
for participation and success;

••Reviewing the commercial business case and options for a new or improved leisure attraction in the Caerphilly 
Basin to take account of a growth in new homes and to support our economic regeneration objectives for the area.

Our Third Key Outcome: securing a more efficient and financially sustainable future offer 

●● As well as our aspirations for a healthier, more physically active and successful sporting County Borough and to 
close the north/south gap that exists in the average life expectancy between our residents, we also have to secure 
financial savings and achieve these positive outcomes with increasingly less resources. This will demand that we are 
smart and focussed in our future actions.

●● We will secure a more efficient and financially sustainable offer by:

••Maximising the use of all our community amenities and the local environment, encouraging people to take 
responsibility for their own health and wellbeing in a sustainable way. Our approach to communities will focus on 
building on strengths recognising each community is different and it is neither affordable or sustainable for the 
Council to be expected to provide the same for all and in every area;

Our Centre 
of Sporting 
Excellence used by 
Coleg y Cymoedd, 
Welsh Rugby 
Union and Dragons 
Rugby provides 
a prestigious, 
specialist regional 
sports facility...

P
age 41



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

14

••Maximising use of assets through co-locations, invest to save models and aim to reduce subsidy levels at our 
strategic leisure centres to below a range of £1 to £1.20 per user;

••Creating more sustainable facilities by improving schools use agreements; investment in more attractive 
strategic facilities leading to a growth in visitor numbers and rationalisation reducing overall running costs; 

••Focussing our unique and essential role on providing specialist interventions in communities and with groups 
where it is most needed whilst recognising and supporting the role of others in providing opportunities;

••Motivating young people will be a key priority as we work collaboratively with others to inspire activity for 
life - generating more active adults - commissioning and supporting our schools to provide the right learning 
environment that is also available for community activity at appropriate times;

••Where there is a business case, we will invest in key, strategic facilities to ensure they are appropriate, attractive, 
inspirational and lifestyle convenient alongside working to maximise the impact of all community amenities; 

••Finally, we will ensure that strategic facilities directly operated by us receive the level of regular investment 

required to ensure that equipment and facilities are safe, functional, modern and inspirational.

Motivating young 
people will be 
a key priority 
as we work 
collaboratively with 
others to inspire 
activity for life

P
age 42



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

15

A REVIEW OF WHAT WE KNOW - 
INFORMING FUTURE DECISIONS 
Celebrating Our Achievements 

●● Customer satisfaction

•• In our bi-annual consultation over 85% of residents said they were satisfied with sport and leisure, recreation and sports 
ground services, with over 90% satisfied with country parks;

••Our customer satisfaction score is 98% which is 8% above the UK national average.

●● The performance of our leisure centres

••We have been able to invest in some of our facilities to improve provision e.g. new fitness suites and 3G pitches. This has 
generated an increase in visitor numbers and we now also have over 150,000 registered Smart Card users;

••We have also continued to achieve the nationally recognised Quest quality assurance accreditation;

••However, despite our leisure centre subsidy having reduced by over £500,000 over the last 5 years, it still demands over 70% 
of the sport and leisure budget so the future performance and affordability of our leisure centres needs to be addressed.

●● Our parks and great outdoors

••We have been successful in achieving a Green Flag status at 5 of our outdoor parks where we provide a range of activities 
and create a place people can enjoy;

•• It is important to build on these strengths and the significant amount of green space that is available to promote wellbeing;

••Caerphilly Adventures successfully uses our great outdoors to support the Education Service and Families First initiatives 
and work with young people and their families improving family relations, parenting, confidence and self-esteem and 
delivering Duke of Edinburgh Awards.

P
age 43



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

16

●● Our children and young people

••47% of primary and secondary school children aged 7-16 engage in sport and physical activity 3 times a week 
and overall, there have been year on year increases in participation;

••Over 57% of 16 year olds are also members of a sports club in Caerphilly County Borough.

●● Sports development initiatives and partnerships

••Free Swimming initiatives take place at all leisure centres and participation rates have increased year on year;

••Caerphilly 10K is now in its 6th year attracting circa 3,000 runners and is part of the Welsh athletics annual race 
calendar;

••The National Exercise Referral Scheme targeting clients who are at risk of developing, or have, a chronic disease 
has benefited over 1,000 people a year helping improve those participants’ quality of life and life expectancy;

••The Council is playing a lead role in the Active Gwent regional collaboration for community sport and promoting 
Positive Futures and Tackling Inequalities initiatives - benefiting children and young people from deprived 
communities who are living in poverty and being supported through an inclusion programme using sport to 
engage young people - attendances have grown by over 1,200 to 9,000 in 2017;

••The Daily Mile Initiative is embedded across our Primary Schools and is helping children get fit by walking or 
running for 15 minutes each school day;

••We have contributed to the “large scale change” collaborative programme with Sport Wales, Public Health Wales, 
Aneurin Bevan Health Board and Blaenau Gwent/Torfaen County Borough Councils aimed at getting females 
more active to improve health outcomes in the Heads of Valleys area. This has been a successful collaboration 
leading to a number of success stories and lifestyle changes;

•• Increasing women and girls participation is particularly important for health benefits and the Lets Go Girls 
Initiative encourages activity providers and females interested in taking part in activity to connect. 

●● Building on these significant achievements, this strategy sets out the direction for the future of sport and active 
recreation in Caerphilly County Borough to ensure the continued provision of a wide range of opportunities to 
benefit the health and wellbeing of our residents.

Free Swimming 
initiatives take 
place at all leisure 
centres and 
participation rates 
have increased 
year on year.

P
age 44



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

17

Caerphilly County Borough - the place we live in

●● The County Borough is spread across a wide geographical area and made up of very different urban, rural, more 
affluent and some very deprived local communities.

●● The 5 principle town centres are: Caerphilly; Blackwood; Risca; Bargoed; and Ystrad Mynach.

●● Approximately 80% of the County Borough is classed as rural with a variety of attractive outdoor activity spaces i.e. 
uplands, lakes and rivers, public rights of way, country parks, nature reserves and many other areas that can be 
used for healthy active lifestyles.

●● Spread across the County Borough there are over 500 different sport and physical activity places, many are old 
and have become ‘tired’, are not cost-effective to run with inefficient heating, lighting and insulation services and 
no longer attractive to new participants or fit for future purposes.

●● Looking to the Future

••More emphasis needs to be placed on the promotion of the wide variety of opportunities across the borough as 
well as in neighbouring areas;

••Different approaches are needed to respond to the highly varied and different local community needs with 
priority given to addressing the greatest health and activity challenges in the most deprived Heads of the Valley 
communities;

••The 5 town centres and population hubs should be the future focus of strategic provision - travel to destinations 
with good transport links. Furthermore, any future strategic sport and active recreation provision should be 
shared use on education sites. They are an essential requirement for Curricular and Extra Curricular activity and 
a cost effective way of providing expensive facilities that also serve community needs;

••The Council must address the whole facilities infrastructure as any investment to create fit for future generations 
facilities will first demand rationalisation and savings in order to finance better quality, more sustainable, fit for 
purpose facilities in strategic locations. 

Different approaches 
are needed to 
respond to the 
highly varied and 
different local 
community needs...

P
age 45



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

18

➜

people within 
the next 20 
years and 
alongside this 

significant additional housing is planned 
particularly in the south of the County 
Borough in the Caerphilly basin area.

The population is expected to grow by over

2,155

Caerphilly County Borough... About the People 

180,000

2050

Caerphilly County 
Borough has some of 
the most deprived areas 
in Wales. It has the 5th 
highest percentage of 
people claiming benefits 
and the joint 5th lowest 
employment rate of 16 to 
64 year olds compared 
to the rest of Wales. 

of adults in the County Borough do not 
meet national physical activity guidelines. 

The percentage of adults who are overweight or 
obese within Caerphilly County Borough is 4% 
higher than the Wales average of 59%, and by 
2050 it is predicted that 60% of adult men, 50%  
of adult women and 25% of children will be obese.

It is anticipated that 
numbers of people 
between 16 and 64 
will decrease over the 
next 20 years, but the 
numbers of people aged 
over 65 will increase 
by nearly 42.2% in the 
same period.

Population size

economic profile

health

people live in Caerphilly County Borough.

It is the 5th largest local authority 
in Wales by population.

People living in areas of higher 
deprivation also have higher levels of 
ill health with life expectancy varying 
greatly depending on where you 
live. Between the least and most 
deprived areas there is a healthy life 
expectancy gap of 13 years for men 
and nearly 14.6 years for women.

60% 50% 25% P45

age profile

13 14.6

➜

➜

5th5th

74% 16

64

65+

P
age 46



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

19

●● Looking to the Future

••There is a need to give priority to help increase activity levels to reduce the health inequalities and levels of 
obesity with a focus on local community solutions and engaging young people - our future generations;

••A growing and changing population will require appropriate levels of provision to meet demand and with new 
housing developments comes opportunities to negotiate planning gains to support future community needs - 
this sport and active recreation strategy should be used to support the business case for these plans;

••There will be a growing need to focus on helping maintain active and independent lifestyles amongst an ever 
increasing ageing population with more diverse needs.

There will be a 
growing need to 
focus on helping 
maintain active 
and independent 
lifestyles...

P
age 47



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

20

Which of the Sport and Active Recreation Activities Are the Most Popular 

●● People leading healthy active lives do so through a wide variety of mediums ranging from allotment gardening and 
domestic activities to work place activities, cycling to work, walking to a bus stop, swimming, walking the dog etc. 

●● As well as this, there are over 87 recognised sport and physical activities to choose from ranging from dance, 
yoga, netball, fencing, a wide range of martial arts, weight training, gymnastics, angling, golf to team sports like 
netball, rugby and football.

●● However, the most significant numbers of adult participation figures are achieved through individual exercise and 
informal activities which are easy to access and fit into busy lifestyles - walking, cycling and jogging or using the 
great outdoors with few activities dependent on our built facilities. The most popular activities amongst adults are:

••walking - 47% of adults participating;

•• indoor exercise activities - 21% of adults participating.

●● The great outdoors - our natural resources are also important for encouraging healthier and more active lifestyles 
- 35% of adults have identified they would like to visit the outdoors to be more active more often with the range of 
activities becoming more diverse. An example of this is Parkrun:

••Junior Parkrun - 44 Juniors (age 4-14 years) are participating each week, from 15 clubs;

••Parkrun (Age 14+) 166 Adults are participating each week from over 203 clubs.

Future Sport and Active Recreation

●● Adults - into the future

•• ‘Acting today for an Active Tomorrow’ identifies trends which will transform sport in Wales, in a report produced 
in 2014 by A Sport Wales’s Advisory Group. This identified a number of themes that should be considered by 
providers in making future plans i.e. the need to be more responsive to:

•• People leading more demanding lifestyles and having less time therefore requiring easier access to doorstep 
activities;

The most 
significant 
numbers of adult 
participation 
figures are 
achieved through 
individual exercise 
and informal 
activities.

P
age 48



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

21

•• Customers having higher expectations needing a more ‘commercial standard’ of opportunity i.e. more 
customer orientated services as well as higher quality facilities;

•• The need for greater use of technology to engage people i.e. through mobile devices; 

•• A more mixed economy of facility providers as a result of emerging not for profit operators, social and 
community interest companies alongside an ever-changing commercial sector;

••Future sport and active recreation opportunities need to be ever more “lifestyle convenient”, for example:

•• Easy to Play Sport e.g. Futsal and 5 a-side leagues; Back to Netball and Hockey - social participation for 
adults; Parks Tag Rugby and other easy to organise and access small-sided team games;

•• Easy to access outdoor fitness activities when it is most suitable to the individual i.e. in safe walking, jogging 
and cycling settings (Caerphilly County Borough Council already supports many events that help respond to 
these demands i.e. parkruns, cycling events etc.).

●● Young People - into the future 

••Sport England’s Youth Insights Pack (August 2014) highlights how it is important to look at ways of more 
effectively reaching out to young people - they have grown up in an environment that is totally different to that 
of previous generations - this demands change just to maintain levels of interest amongst each new age 
group i.e.:

•• Technology is an integral part of young people’s lives;

•• Reasons for young people to take part need to be relevant to their lives - what matters to them, not what 
matters to adults and decision makers. Teenagers are also increasingly looking towards the benefits of 
active lifestyles for reasons of looking and feeling good as well as health and fitness;

•• Participation by children is influenced by what they get offered at school, as well as by the views of 
parents and friends. Once these influences are removed and lifestyles change, activity levels start to decline;

Future sport and 
active recreation 
opportunities 
need to be ever 
more “lifestyle 
convenient.”

P
age 49



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

22

●● Looking to the Future 

••Caerphilly County Borough Council will need to review and adjust its unique role in response to the many 
competing and alternative offers that are available;

••To significantly increase activity levels there is a need to give priority to the opportunities that are attractive to 
the biggest audiences. Where possible this will include investment in better quality facilities for the biggest and 
fastest growing participation activities - those that have become more popular due to changing lifestyles and 
people choosing to be active for health and social reasons i.e. exercise, fitness, dance, walking, jogging, cycling, 
5 a-side football etc;

••Sport and physical activity facilities in schools, particularly our secondary schools, need to be designed to 
inspire a nation of young people committed to becoming active adults - currently many school facilities do not 
meet these expectations;

••Alongside activity venues in local communities, strategically located specialist sports facilities are important to 
provide for training and competition at the higher levels and to deliver the vision for a ‘nation of champions’, 
however whilst specialist facilities are needed they are not necessarily required in all Local Authority areas;

••To embrace these recommendations we will adopt the ‘Facilities for Future Generations - blueprint for sport and 
active recreation in Wales’. (Welsh Government and Sport Wales [March 2016]).

To significantly 
increase activity 
levels there is 
a need to give 
priority to the 
opportunities that 
are attractive 
to the biggest 
audiences.

P
age 50



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

23

MAJOR challenges  
to be overcome
Better Health Challenges

●● Since the Welsh Health Survey started, obesity levels have increased and there has been little evidence of change in physical activity 
levels. Survey reports have shown that:

••58% of adults are overweight and 22% obese;

••33%of adults are limited in their day to day activities because of health problems or disability;

••Only 29% of adults are reported as physically active but there are more men than women active although this decreases with age;

••Around 1/3 of adults are not physically active at all.

●● Low levels of physical activity along with unhealthy eating are leading to significant increases in levels of obesity. 

●● There are particularly higher incidents of poor health and low levels of physical activity in areas of multiple deprivation. 

●● Overall it is estimated that the total cost of physical inactivity to Wales is in the regional of £650,000,000 per annum.

●● Despite these trends ‘Creating an Active Wales’ reports how physical activity has many mental as well as physical health and 
wellbeing benefits i.e. 

••Up to 50% reduced risk of developing major chronic diseases such as heart diseases/ diabetes and some cancers;

••A 20-30% reduced risk of premature death.

●● Looking to the Future:

••Targeted community interventions and low cost, accessible/local, indoor and outdoor health and fitness activity centres are more 
likely to be attractive to women and disengaged participants who it is difficult to encourage to adopt more active lifestyles.

P
age 51



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

24

Major Financial Challenges

●● Caerphilly County Borough Council has already made considerable savings in recent years - over £82,000,000 but 
further savings of over £34,000,000 are still needed in the next 3 years.

●● For the most part, sport and active recreation provision is not a statutory requirement of local government and 
although Caerphilly County Borough Council is committed to maintaining front line services, it does recognise 

things need to change.

••The Community & Leisure Services budget must achieve reductions over the course of this Strategy.

●● Looking to the Future 

••The more effective use of our many different community facilities will need to be part of the future offer to 
increase activity levels;

••This strategy also makes the case for rationalisation enabling some savings to be used to enable investment 
alongside innovation and transformation. 

The more effective 
use of our 
many different 
community 
facilities will need 
to be part of the 
future offer to 
increase activity 
levels.

P
age 52



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

25

Built Facility Challenges

●● The Council has too many different facilities 
including leisure centres, many of which are 
old and vary in quality with high levels of 
maintenance required - there is a need for fewer 
but better quality provision. A summary schedule 
of the 500+ different sport and physical 
activity spaces across the County Borough is 

summarised in the adjacent table.

●● Caerphilly County Borough Council’s 
independent review of Leisure Centres in 2014 
also reported the need for a rationalisation of the 

separately managed leisure centres.

●● 8 of the 10 leisure centres are on Secondary 
School sites and used by schools during the 
day. This use is heavily subsidised through 
the Sport & Leisure budget. Four Secondary 
Schools have strategic leisure facilities of which 
any community use is not managed by Sport & 
Leisure Services. 

●● The provision of appropriate sport and physical 
activity facilities on secondary school sites that 
are accessible for Curricular and Extra Curricular 
activities is a requirement - wherever possible 
these should be managed to be available for 
community use out of school hours. 

Table 1: Summary Schedule of Sport and Active Recreation 

Facilities Where Physical Activity Can Occur Total Number of 
Activity Spaces

Indoor

Sports Halls 15

Community Centres 50

Youth Centres 20

Swimming Pools 8

Primary Schools i.e. halls 80

Outdoor

Artificial Turf Pitches (ATPs)
Type 1: Sand based shorter pile more suitable for hockey
Type 2: �‘3G’ pitches longer pile with rubber infill more suitable for 

football and rugby

16
Type 1: 7

Type 2: 9 (2@COSE)

Country Parks 6

Youth Shelters 21

Playgrounds (excluding primary school playgrounds) 104

Multi-use Games Areas 25

Skate Parks 9

Kick Walls 10

Football and Rugby Grass Pitches (excluding school pitches) 116

Bowling Greens 20

Cricket Wickets 9

Tennis Courts 18

500+

P
age 53



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

26

●● The majority of the Council’s investment (approximately 70%) in ‘Sport & Leisure Services’ - is taken up by the cost of running 
traditional leisure facilities - with Caerphilly County Borough Council operating more Leisure Centres than any other Local Authority in 

Wales.

●● The cost of maintaining the Leisure Centres in the County Borough is the highest in Wales - over £1m per annum: 

••The subsidy per person is over £1.50 - to bring this subsidy closer to other areas, this figure should be less than £1 to £1.20 - this 
cannot be achieved without rationalisation and modernisation;

••There is a significant capital investment liability due to the age of the leisure centres - currently estimated at over £3m; 

••There is also a need for a capital budget to invest in upgraded equipment such as modernised fitness suites, spin bikes and new 
3G pitches which increase levels of use following investment.

●● Customer comment reports have also identified the need for improvement i.e. ‘changing rooms need upgrading’, ‘the centre is 

looking dated now’ and the need for change given the current financial climate is also recognised.

●● Generally across Wales less than 30% of the adult population visit a leisure centre and many of the County Borough Leisure Centres 
are not generating more users - in half these numbers are declining. Only 3 key strategically located centres in Caerphilly County 
Borough are attracting over 250,000 visits a year with the majority servicing less than 100,000 visits per year.

●● Looking to the Future 

••Facilities for Future Generations - the blueprint for sport and active recreation in Wales’. Welsh Government and Sport Wales 
(March 2016) will be adopted by Caerphilly County Borough Council providing the framework for future sport and active recreation 
facilities. This will take into consideration:

•• The needs of future generations; 

•• The need for inspirational learning environments for children and young people on school sites; 

•• The need to invest in better quality, more fit for purpose and future facilities that are strategically located;

•• The need to rationalise the existing number of different facilities that are no longer fit for purpose or sustainable into the future 
set in context with all other active space facilities such as community centres, primary schools, youth centres, outdoor parks etc.;

•• Defining future expectations for and delivery of aquatic provision linked to facility rationalisation.

P
age 54



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

27

Other Facility Challenges - Maximising the Impact of All Sport and Active 
Recreation Amenities and Opportunities 

Outdoor sports pitches

●● Grass sports pitches across the County Borough also present a future challenge. Changing climates and reducing budgets 
provide an increasing challenge for the maintenance of these facilities alongside which capital investment in improved or new 
drainage is important to help overcome pitch quality issues. Increasingly long spells of wet weather, has resulted in these 
important facilities which serve the biggest sports becoming a threat to future levels of activity.

●● Furthermore, less than 30% of the cost of maintaining the grass pitches is recovered through income due to the low levels of 
use that is possible to sustain on the grass pitches.

●● In total, there are over 120 sports pitches, 20 bowling greens, 9 cricket wickets and a number of tennis courts, more than any 
other Local Authority in Wales. There are also a large number of football and rugby clubs - over 130 relying on these facilities. 
However, many of these clubs are small and ‘nomadic’ relying on access to different and often poor quality grass pitches. On 
the other hand, Clubs with owned or leased facilities are able to invest more time and resources into maintaining their pitches 
to a higher standard and can more easily attract members, generate income and become a stronger community clubs. 

●● In addition to the natural turf pitches, there are 16 artificial turf pitches - again more than any other area in Wales. Nine of these 
pitches are 3G football/rugby surfaces - a full sized floodlit 3G pitch can provide the same level of use as 5 grass pitches.

••Looking to the Future Artificial turf ‘3G’ pitches are an important part of future outdoor pitch provision - they provide a 
consistent quality of service that can be used in all weathers;

••There is a case to be made for more strategically located 3G pitches to support grass-pitch provision - also taking account of 
the potential to maximise the beneficial use of school facilities;

••Future approaches should include support for clubs to play a greater role in the future management and maintenance 
of sports pitches and pavilions. This would help and lead towards better facilities as well as stronger, more sustainable 
community clubs;

••At least one 3G pitch should be available on all secondary school sites with a community sports partnership that guarantees 
the out of hours use and the formation of sports clubs hubs.

P
age 55



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

28

Maximising Community Use of School Facilities

●● The Welsh Government and Local Authority 21st Century Schools programme is intended to help create ‘fit for the 
future’ sport and active lifestyle facilities for Wales. Investment is expected to deliver:

••Learning environments supporting improvement and better education outcomes including health and wellbeing; 

••Greater economies and efficiencies through better use of resources including community use;

••Sustainable facilities that help to reduce costs and carbon footprints;

••Finally, this is more than a building programme - 21st Century Schools are intended to impact on both public 
and community learning, health and wellbeing outcomes.

●● This strategy recognises the importance of schools as an essential part of the future community sport and active 
recreation offer. Currently there is an inconsistent approach to access to school facilities for the wider community.

●● Looking to the Future

••The Community & Leisure and Education Services will establish a joint vision to deliver the healthy physical 
activity outcomes in this strategy as well as serving school and wider community needs. This will inform a robust 
joint use agreement with clear priorities and outcomes supported by appropriate sustainable funding models.

This strategy 
recognises the 
importance of 
schools as an 
essential part 
of the future 
community 
sport and active 
recreation offer.

P
age 56



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

29

Play Amenities

●● Caerphilly County Borough has 178 different “play” facilities including fixed play provision, kick walls, Multi Use 
Games Areas (MUGAs) skate parks etc. Such provision is governed by Welsh Government Play Sufficiency duties 
and is separately covered by bespoke strategies and plans.

P
age 57



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

30

Outdoor Parks and the Natural Outdoor Environment

●● Of the 42% of the adult population reported by Sport Wales to be ‘hooked on sport’ in Caerphilly, the majority do 
so through activities taking place in facilities that don’t demand a strategic sports hall or swimming pool.

●● High levels of physical activity are enjoyed in a wide range of environments stretching from the countryside to 
highways, paths and bridal ways used for walking, cycling and jogging.

●● The council’s active travel integrated network map was approved in February 2018.

●● The natural resources in Caerphilly County Borough provide significant opportunities to increase activity levels.

●● It has a large number of high quality countryside as well as more traditional formal parks - 5 of which have a green 
flag accreditation.

●● There is a significant level of countryside and open space - the Countryside Service manages parks, rights of 
way, nature reserves/managed biodiversity sites and a canal network. In addition there is a substantial amount of 
unmanaged countryside and open space.

●● The Council also provides an Outdoor Adventure Service which supports a range of outdoor activities as well as 
the Duke of Edinburgh award scheme.

●● Whilst important to this strategy, these areas of provision are separately covered by bespoke, formally adopted 
plans and strategies.

The natural 
resources in 
Caerphilly County 
Borough provide 
significant 
opportunities to 
increase activity 
levels.

P
age 58



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

31

WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE
1.	 Corporate Policy

a.	 In adopting this strategy Caerphilly County Borough Council recognises that sport and active recreation makes 
a significant contribution to achieve healthy lifestyles, education, economy and regeneration across the County 
Borough.

b.	 Recognising that it is no longer feasible to provide the ‘same service for all’, the Council’s unique role will focus 
on:

i.	 Working with others to make the best use of all available opportunities, facilities, funding and people;

ii.	 Making better and more innovative use of the widest possible range of indoor and outdoor physical activity 
spaces across all communities;

iii.	 Specialist interventions in approaches and places that will have the greatest long term health impact on 
priority target audiences and where no others are in a position to provide such assistance.

c.	 A joint sport and active recreation and schools strategy will be pursued to achieve a single, shared outcome 
of more young people becoming active adults through more inspirational learning experiences, whilst also 
ensuring the learning environments are maximised for community use out of school hours. This will include a 
new fit for purpose, robust joint use agreement with schools with clear priorities and outcomes.

2.	 Facilities

a.	 To inform future decision making, the Council will adopt:

i.	 The Welsh Government and Sport Wales Facilities Blueprint for Sport and Active Recreation (See Table 2) 
informing all physical activity spaces and their use across the County Borough;

ii.	 A decision making matrix for determining the provision of strategic Leisure facilities that are directly 
managed by the Sport & Leisure Service (See Table 3);

A joint sport and 
active recreation 
and schools 
strategy will be 
pursued to achieve 
a single, shared 
outcome of more 
young people 
becoming active 
adults through 
more inspirational 
learning 
experiences.

P
age 59



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

32

iii.	  An “invest to save” strategy enabling the future rationalisation of some facilities, to help achieve a more 
sustainable future service alongside investment of some savings secured to enhance the quality and 
customer offer at strategic sites as well as in local communities.

Table 2: Blueprint for Future Generations - Sport and Active Recreation Facilities

Facilities Framework Action

Facilities Framework Level 1
Local community assets and club facilities essential to 
serve the needs of sport and doorstep activity - enabling 
daily active lifestyles i.e. the outdoors for green exercise, 
multipurpose community halls, sports clubs, primary 
schools, community parks, community centres, health 
centres, libraries, church and village halls.

Any future sport and active recreation facility delivery 
should consider all of these assets and their potential to 
provide locally accessible physical activity hubs particularly 
targeting deprived communities. Delivery should include 
opportunities for potential co-location and shared 
management to maximise sustainability of future community 
amenities.

Facilities Framework Level 2
Strategic, ‘travel to’ wider community facilities located on 
education/secondary school or college sites to maximise 
use, ensure value for money and because the provision of 
good quality inspirational physical activity facilities is an 
obligatory requirement for all schools.

The strategic policy should establish a clear expectation 
that future school facilities (buildings and pitches) deliver 
appropriate and fit for purpose physical activity, teaching 
and recreational spaces as well as contributing to the 
community sport and active recreation offer including 
the development of school/community sports club hub 
management models.

Facilities Framework Level 3
Large strategic “commercial” sport or leisure tourist 
attractions of regional or national significance. This would 
include leisure centre provision in the south west of the 
county borough and the Centre of Sporting Excellence.

Adopt a future sport and active recreation investment 
strategy that delivers a commercially sustainable leisure 
attraction in the south west of the county borough, in 
response to the significant  growth in new housing.

The strategic policy 
should establish a 
clear expectation 
that future school 
facilities deliver 
appropriate and 
fit for purpose 
physical activity...

P
age 60



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

33

Table 3: Strategic Leisure Centre Needs Assessment Matrix

Assessment Criteria Measurement Factors

Impact analysis
Number of visitors

1. Over 250k visits pa

2. Shared daytime use with education provider

Need
Centre of population
Access - travel to location; public transport routes; car parking
No competing facilities

1. Easy to access car park, major public routes
2. �No other local competing with school/community/

commercial offers

Fitness for purpose
Fit for future generations
21st Century design
Inspirational school

1. �Range of 21st century amenities - fitness, dance, 
activity studio, 3G, spa

2. �Strategic standalone facility only in major 
population centre/visitor destination

Running cost
Subsidy per user/sustainability

1. Subsidy per user under £1 to £1.20

b.	 A rationalisation of facilities will result in 4 strategic, high quality, multi service leisure centres that are managed 
by the authority’s Sport and Leisure Service. The 4 strategic centres will be located in Risca, Caerphilly, 
and Newbridge, and one in the Bargoed/Aberbargoed areas to serve the north of the county borough. It is 
therefore anticipated that the other leisure centres would either transfer to school management (if they are joint 
use facilities located on a school site, subject to governing body approval) or could close completely.

c.	 The Council will clarify the future swimming entitlement along with supporting the rationale for a sustainable 
programme of aquatic delivery also informing the need for future aquatic facilities.

d.	 In terms of Outdoor Facilities, the Council will:

i.	 develop a plan to enhance and maximise the impact of outdoor spaces, playing fields, parks and informal 
recreational spaces, where possible utilising investment resulting from planning gain;

ii.	 maximise the use of 3G facilities for school, community and weekend competitive use alongside the grass 
pitch network, supporting the development of stronger sports clubs. 

P
age 61



Caerphilly County Borough Council SPORT AND active Recreation STRATEGY 2019-2029

34

3.	 Sport and active recreation outreach and intervention programmes

	T he Council will continue to:

a.	 Collaborate with schools to motivate children and young people to adopt and continue healthy active lifestyles 
through inspirational physical activity experiences whilst they are in education;

b.	 Provide targeted support to help keep older people involved and active in local communities helping local 
organisations to provide ways of supporting older people/less independent people lead healthy lives through 
low intensity, social and easy to access physical activities;

c.	 Encourage and support federations of clubs sharing resources, helping to build stronger, more sustainable, 
and successful sports clubs;

d.	 Provide essential support underpinning sporting success;

e.	 Provide specialist interventions to reach targeted audiences where there is evidence of need and no other 
alternative provider;

f.	 Lead the regional Active Gwent collaboration programme to increase participation in sport and physical activity 
in a way that has the greatest impact in Caerphilly.

The Council 
will adopt a 
collaborative 
approach with 
schools to motivate 
children and young 
people to adopt and 
continue healthy 
active lifestyles...

P
age 62



Caerphilly County Borough Council

Sport and active recreation 
Strategy 2019-2029

P
age 63



APPENDIX 2 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM 
 

 
THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITIES STATEMENT 
 
This Council recognises that people have different needs, requirements and goals and we 
will work actively against all forms of discrimination by promoting good relations and 
mutual respect within and between our communities, residents, elected members, job 
applicants and workforce. 
 
We will also work to create equal access for everyone to our services, irrespective of 
ethnic origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, gender reassignment, 
religious beliefs or non-belief, use of Welsh language, BSL or other languages, nationality, 
responsibility for any dependents or any other reason which cannot be shown to be 
justified. 
 
NAME OF NEW OR 
REVISED PROPOSAL* 

 
Caerphilly County Borough Sport & Active Recreation 
Strategy 2018-2028 
 

DIRECTORATE Communities 
 
 

SERVICE AREA Communities & Leisure 
 
 

CONTACT OFFICER  
Rob Hartshorn 
 

 
*Throughout this Equalities Impact Assessment Form, ‘proposal’ is 
used to refer to what is being assessed, and therefore includes policies, 
strategies, functions, procedures, practices, initiatives, projects and 
savings proposals.  

Page 64



 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The aim of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is to ensure that Equalities and Welsh Language 
issues have been proactively considered throughout the decision making processes governing 
work undertaken by every service area in the Council as well as work done at a corporate level. 
 
It also helps the Council to meet its legal responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 
Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011, the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and supports the 
wider aims of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. There is also a requirement 
under Human Rights legislation for Local Authorities to consider Human Rights in developing 
proposals. 
 
Specifically, Section 147 of the Equality Act 2010 is the provision that requires decision-makers to 
have ‘due regard’ to the equality implications of their decisions and Welsh Language Standards 88-
97 require specific consideration of Welsh speakers under the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) 
Regulations 2015. 
 
The Council’s work across Equalities, Welsh Language and Human Rights is covered in more 
detail through the Equalities and Welsh Language Objectives and Action Plan 2016-2020. 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
1 What is the proposal intended to achieve? 

(Please give a brief description of the purpose of the new or updated proposal by way 
of introduction.) 
 
The Council has identified the need and opportunity to develop a strategic approach 
to shape the future of its sport and active recreation services.  
 
The draft Strategy aims to establish a joined up vision for future provision, setting 
clear outcomes recognising the contribution that sport and active recreation makes to 
economic, social, environmental & cultural well-being. 
 

  
2 Who are the service users affected by the proposal? 

(Who will be affected by the delivery of this proposal? e.g. staff members, the public 
generally, or specific sections of the public i.e. youth groups, carers, road users, 
people using country parks, people on benefits etc.) 
 
The draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy affects the public generally and in 
particular current, potential and future users of the following: 
 

• Outdoor and Indoor Sport and Leisure Facilities; 
• Sports Development programmes; 
• Staff 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 65



IMPACT ON THE PUBLIC AND STAFF 
 
3 Does the proposal ensure that everyone has an equal access to all the 

services available or proposed, or benefits equally from the proposed 
changes, or does not lose out in greater or more severe ways due to the 
proposals? 
(What has been done to examine whether or not these groups have equal access to 
the service, or whether they need to receive the service in a different way from other 
people?) 
 
Sport and active recreation provision is not a statutory requirement of Local 
Government in Wales.  The Council heavily subsidises Sport and Leisure Services 
provision in Caerphilly.  This subsidy is not necessarily strategically directed nor 
applied consistently which results in operational anomalies.  Reducing revenue and 
capital resources need to be balanced against crucial health and well-being priorities 
and focus on making the most impact possible on health and well-being inequalities, 
which will facilitate continued provision of a range of opportunities to benefit our 
residents. 
 
The draft Strategy proposes a rationalisation of facilities to achieve a sustainable 
future service alongside investment of some savings to enhance the quality and 
customer offer at strategic sites.  
 
Whilst some existing facilities might close which may result in some users having 
longer travel time to facilities, all of the proposed strategic facilities are fully 
accessible, have ample disabled parking, and are accessible by public transport. All 
future provision will so far as reasonably practicable ensure geographic coverage 
across the county borough. Implementation ensures a fair and just allocation of 
resources that will provide for continued sport and active recreation provision into the 
future for the benefit of all.  
 
New and refurbished facilities will be more attractive and accessible to families and 
people with carers. An ongoing investment strategy will ensure that our leisure 
facilities are maintained and that equipment is replaced, making them more attractive 
to all users and improving access equally. 
 
A collaborative approach aims to motivate children and young people to adopt and 
continue healthy active lifestyles through inspirational physical activity experiences 
whilst they are in education, whilst also ensuring the learning environments are 
maximised for community use out of school hours.  
 
There is a coordinated approach between schools & Caerphilly Adventures in the 
engagement of the Duke of Edinburgh Awards helping young people to gain skills for 
life delivering better educational, employment, and social outcomes for the benefit of 
all of our communities. 
 
The Council’s sport and active recreation outreach and intervention provides 
targeted support to help keep older people involved and active in local communities 
helping local organisations to provide ways of supporting older people/less 
independent people lead healthy lives through low intensity, social, and easy to 
access physical activities.  
 

Page 66



The draft Strategy aims to sustainable sport and active recreation provision that can 
be maintained at a level of service which is comparable with other Local Authorities. 
Facilities will be improved and the Council will take steps to mitigate any negative 
impacts and will work to address access for older people, younger people, and 
disabled people who rely on forms of transport other than private cars.  
 

 Actions required:  
1. Undertake consultation on the draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy. 
2. Review this consultation stage Equality Impact Assessment following 
consideration of consultation responses received. 
3. Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts due to longer travel distances and 
work to address access for people who rely on forms of transport other than private 
cars. 
 
 

  

Page 67



APPENDIX 2 

 

4. What are the impacts of the proposals? 
Protected Group Positive 

Impact? 
Negative 
Impact? 

No 
Specific 
Impact 

What will the impact be? If the impact is negative how can it be 
mitigated? (action) 

Gender Male   X  
Female   X We provide female only activities as part of our routine service 

delivery. 
Action: Sustain female only activities at existing service 
levels.  

Transgender   X The Council is sensitive to issues around changing, but has not 
had any representations’ or engagement on this issue to date. 

Religion    X  
Race    X There is no evidence available to the Council to suggest a 

negative impact due to race. 
Disability  X X  Where leisure facilities are closed people with disabilities may be 

more greatly affected if this results in longer travel times to 
alternative facilities. However, all of the proposed strategic 
facilities are fully accessible, have ample disabled parking, and 
are accessible by public transport.  
 
The draft Strategy aims to sustain sport and active recreation 
provision in the county borough alongside investment of some 
savings to enhance the quality and customer offer at strategic 
sites. It provides the opportunity to promote and increase 
participation in sport and active recreation. 
 
New and refurbished facilities will be more attractive and 
accessible to families and people with carers. An ongoing 
investment strategy will ensure that our leisure facilities are 
maintained and that equipment is replaced, making them more 
attractive to all users and improving access equally. 
 
In promoting a sustainable vision for sport and leisure provision it 
is recognised that participation in physical activity can have a 

P
age 68



positive effect on both mental and physical health. In particular 
levels of cardio vascular disease and type 2 diabetes are 
particularly high in the county. Participation in a physical activity 
can significantly reduce the risks for both existing sufferers and 
those most vulnerable. 
Action: Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts and 
work to address access for disabled people who rely on 
forms of transport other than private cars. 
Action: Use the consultation process to seek views and 
information from individuals and from groups representing 
disabled people. 
 

Sexual 
Orientation 

   X  

Age Older People X X  The draft Strategy aims to sustain sport and active recreation 
provision in the county borough alongside investment of some 
savings to enhance the quality and customer offer at strategic 
sites. It provides the opportunity to promote and increase 
participation in sport and active recreation. However there may 
be some negative impact where there are increased travel 
distances following any rationalisation of facilities. 
 
The Council’s sport and active recreation outreach and 
intervention provides targeted support to help keep older people 
involved and active in local communities helping local 
organisations to provide ways of supporting older people/less 
independent people lead healthy lives through low intensity, 
social and easy to access physical activities.   
 
We will also support individuals by providing specialist 
interventions to reach targeted audiences in our communities 
where there is evidence of need and no other alternative 
provider. 
 

P
age 69



Action: Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts and 
work to address access for older people who rely on forms 
of transport other than private cars. 
Action: Use the consultation process to seek views and 
information from individuals and from groups representing 
older people. 

Children and 
Younger People 
(Under 25) 

X X  The draft Strategy aims to sustain sport and active recreation 
provision in the county borough for future generations alongside 
investment of some savings to enhance the quality and customer 
offer at strategic sites. It provides the opportunity to promote and 
increase participation in sport and active recreation. However 
there may be some negative impact where there are increased 
travel distances following any rationalisation of facilities. 
 
Young people attending schools where there was joint use would 
benefit from access to enhanced sport and leisure facilities 
during the school day. A joint sport and active recreation and 
schools strategy will be pursued to achieve a single, shared 
outcome of more young people becoming active adults through 
more inspirational learning experiences. 
 
A collaborative approach with schools to motivate children and 
young people to adopt and continue healthy active lifestyles 
through inspirational physical activity experiences whilst they are 
in education. 
 
Action: Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts and 
work to address access for younger people who rely on 
forms of transport other than private cars. 
Action: Action: Use the consultation process to seek views 
and information from individuals and from groups 
representing younger people. 

Marriage & 
Civil 
Partnership 

   X  

P
age 70



Pregnancy & 
Maternity 

   X We have identified no adverse impact as long as pre and post 
natal classes are sustained at existing service levels. 

Socio-
economic 
Background 

 X   All future provision will be accessible by public transport and will 
ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, geographic coverage 
across the county borough. Implementation ensures a fair and 
just allocation of resources that will provide for continued sport 
and leisure provision into the future for the benefit of all. 
 
The draft Strategy proposes a financially sustainable vision to 
secure sport and active recreation provision in the county 
borough into the future. In doing so any financial pressure to 
increase prices for customers is reduced thereby promoting 
accessibility across socio-economic groups. 
 
The Strategy proposes the redevelopment of Caerphilly Leisure 
Centre which is in the vicinity of the most deprived locality (St 
James 3) in the whole of Wales as defined within the Wales 
Index of Multiple Deprivation. 
 
The Council’s unique role will focus on: 

I. Working with others to make the best use of all available 
opportunities, facilities,  funding and people; 

II. Making better and more innovative use of the widest 
possible range of indoor and outdoor physical activity 
spaces across all communities; 

III. Specialist interventions in approaches and places that will 
have the greatest long term health impact on priority 
target audiences in our communities and where no others 
are in a position to provide such assistance. 

 

P
age 71



APPENDIX 2 

 

 
5 In line with the requirements of the Welsh Language Standards. (No.1) 

Regulations 2015, please note below what effects, if any (whether positive or 
adverse), the proposal would have on opportunities for persons to use the 
Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the 
English language. 
(The specific Policy Making Standards requirements are Standard numbers 88, 89, 
90, 91, 92 and 93. The full detail of each Standard is available on the Equalities and 
Welsh Language Portal) 
 
 
The draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy will not have any effects on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the Welsh 
language no less favourably than the English language. 
 
 
 

 Actions required: None 
 
 

 
INFORMATION COLLECTION 
 
6 Is full information and analysis of users of the service available? 

(Is this service effectively engaging with all its potential users or is there higher or 
lower participation of uptake by one or more groups? If so, what has been done to 
address any difference in take up of the service? Does any savings proposals include 
an analysis of those affected?) 
 
 
In 2016 26.9% of people in the county borough aged 16-64 were disabled as defined 
by the Equalities Act. 
In the 2011 Census 97.6% of the population are identified as 
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British. 
50.7 are identified as being of Christian religion with 48.32% identified as having no 
religion or religion not stated. 
50.95% of the population of the county borough were female and 49.05% male.  
 
There are limitations in the data that we hold, but information analysis of 152,000 
Sport and Leisure service users who hold Smartcards is as follows: 
43% male, 52% female, 5% unspecified; 
1.3% disabled;  
3 different ages groups comprising of 50.9% aged 25-64, 35.9% under 25 and 13.2% 
over 64. 
95.1% of Smartcard holders identified as English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 
 
We do not hold data regarding other services users or other protected characteristics. 
 
 

Page 72



 Actions required: We have highlighted above limitations in the information that we 
hold, but will use the consultation process to strengthen this position and will be 
engaging directly with:  
Youth forum 
50+ forum 
Age Cymru 
Deafblind.org 
RNIB Cymru 
Action Hearing Loss Cymru 
BDA 
Disability Can Do 
Caerphilly County Borough Access Group 
Caerphilly People First 
Disability Sports Wales 
Caerphilly Borough Mind 
Gwent Education Multi-Ethnic Service (GEMS) 
Race Equality Council 
SEWREC 
Umbrella Cymru 
LGBTQ+ youth group 
Stonewall Cymru 
Menter Iaith 
Welsh Language Forum including Meithrin etc. 
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
7 What consultation has taken place? 

(What steps have been taken to ensure that people from various groups have been 
consulted during the development of this proposal? Have the Council’s Equalities 
staff been consulted? Have you referred to the Equalities Consultation and 
Monitoring Guidance?) 
 
Full public consultation is proposed. Organisations representing those with protected 
characteristics will be consulted directly.  
 
 
 

 Actions required: 1. Full consultation. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 
8 How will the proposal be monitored? 

(What monitoring process has been set up to assess the extent that the service is 
being used by all sections of the community, or that the savings proposals are 
achieving the intended outcomes with no adverse impact? Are comments or 
complaints systems set up to record issues by Equalities category to be able analyse 
responses from particular groups?)  
 
There are limitations in the data that we hold and the intention is to use this 
consultation process to strengthen our understanding. 
 

 Actions required:  
1. Continue to review customer feedback via established Sport & Leisure Service 
systems. 
2. Review this consultation stage EIA following consideration of consultation 
responses. 
 

 
9 How will the monitoring be evaluated? 

(What methods will be used to ensure that the needs of all sections of the community 
are being met?) 
 
 Sport and Leisure Services operate a robust, systematic Customer Comments 
process that is regularly reviewed for trend data. 
 
Regular engagement with groups, clubs and organisations  
 
Customer Satisfaction survey and Net Promotor Score process 
 

 Actions required: 1. Consideration given to all observations and responses 
submitted as part of consultation process 
 

 
10 Have any support / guidance / training requirements been identified? 

(Has the EIA or consultation process shown a need for awareness raising amongst 
staff, or identified the need for Equalities or Welsh Language training of some sort?) 
 
No 
 

 Actions required: None 
 

 
11 Where you have identified mitigating factors in previous answers that lessen 

the impact on any particular group in the community, or have identified any 
elsewhere, please summarise them here.  
 
The proposal will ensure future sport and active recreation provision in the county 
borough alongside investment of some savings to enhance the quality and customer 
offer at strategic sites. It provides the opportunity to promote and increase 
participation in sport and active recreation. 

Page 74



 
Disability 
 
All of the proposed strategic facilities are fully accessible and accessible by public 
transport.  
 
New and refurbished facilities will be more attractive and accessible to families and 
people with carers. 
 
In promoting a sustainable vision for sport and active recreation provision it is 
recognised that participation in physical activity can have a positive effect on both 
mental and physical health. In particular levels of cardio vascular disease and type 2 
diabetes are particularly high in the county. Participation in a physical activity can 
significantly reduce the risks for both existing sufferers and those most vulnerable. 
 
Gender 
 
We provide female only activities as part of our routine service delivery. 
 
 
Age 
 
As identified in Section 3 above young people will positive benefit from the enhanced 
collaboration between the Sport and Leisure service and schools as well as from the 
strengthening of the Duke of Edinburgh Award scheme. 
 
New and refurbished facilities with modern equipment will be particularly attractive to 
young people and therefore enhance accessibility. 
 
 
 
Summary of Proposed Actions: 
 
1. Undertake full consultation on the draft Sport and Active Recreation 
Strategy including direct consultation with organisations representing groups 
with protected characteristics. 
2. Use the consultation process to seek views and information from individuals 
and from groups representing those with protected characteristics.. 
3. Review this consultation stage Equality Impact Assessment following 
consideration of consultation responses received. 
4. Take steps to mitigate any negative impacts due to longer travel distances 
and work to address access for people who rely on forms of transport other 
than private cars. 
5. Sustain female only activities at existing service levels. 
6. Continue to review customer feedback via established Sport & Leisure 
Service systems. 
 
 
 

 

Page 75



 
12 What outcome does this Equality Impact Assessment suggest you take? You 

might find that more than one applies. Please explain why you have come to this 
decision. 
 
Outcome 1  No major change needed – the EIA hasn’t 

identified any potential for discrimination or 
negative impact and all opportunities to 
advance equality have been taken 

Outcome 2  Adjust the policy to remove barriers 
identified by the EIA or better advance 
equality. Are you satisfied that the proposed 
adjustments will remove the barriers you 
identified? 

Outcome 3 X Continue the policy despite potential for 
negative impact. 

Outcome 4  Stop and rethink the policy when the EIA 
shows actual or potential unlawful 
discrimination. 

 
 

 Our Assessment is Outcome 3 – Continue the Policy 
 
We have reached this conclusion because although the potential for some negative 
impacts have been identified actions are proposed to mitigate these and the impacts 
are outweighed by the overall benefits of ensuring sustainable sport and active 
recreation provision across the county borough. This assessment will be kept under 
continuing review throughout the consultation process. 
 

 
Completed by: Rob Hartshorn 
Date: 4th June 2018 
Position: Head of Policy and Public Protection 
 
 

Page 76



 

 

 

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –  
26TH JUNE 2018 

 

SUBJECT: DECRIMINALISATION OF PARKING – STAGE 2 REPORT  
 
REPORT BY: INTERIM CORPORATE DIRECTOR – COMMUNITIES 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 To update Members on the progress with pursuing Civil Parking Enforcement Powers, and to 

seek the views of Members on the proposals for implementation and issues to be considered 
prior to presenting recommendations to Cabinet.    

 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 In light of the feasibility study of creating a Civil Enforcement Area and Special Enforcement 

Area across the Council’s administrative area, Cabinet resolved on 28 February 2018 to adopt 
an implementation model for Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) where on street enforcement is 
undertaken in house and to collaborate with another, or other, local authorities for the back 
office notice processing and administration. 

 
2.2 The decision also included an instruction to undertake the Traffic Regulation Order review 

necessary to prepare the application to Welsh Government to secure the CPE powers.  The 
current planned ‘Go live’ date for CPE is April 2019.  This report sets out the proposals and 
recommendations to be undertaken to implement the decision and the issues requiring further 
consideration that will assist in achieving this implementation date. 

 
 
3. LINKS TO STRATEGY 
 
3.1 Road safety delivery which includes CPE contributes to the following Well-being Goals within 

the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015: 
 

• A prosperous Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 
3.2 Engineering Services Division Objective: To work towards a safer environment though 

positive measures to reduce road accidents and particularly by protecting and providing for 
vulnerable road users. 

 
3.3 CPE will contribute to the Authority’s Well Being Objective 4: Promote a modern, integrated 

and sustainable transport system that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and 
minimises the adverse impacts on the environment. 

 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



4. THE REPORT 
 
4.1 The findings of the feasibility study of creating a Civil Enforcement Area and Special 

Enforcement Area (CEA/SEA) across the Council’s administrative area was presented to the 
Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee on the 17 December 2017.  Subsequently 
Cabinet resolved on 28 February 2018 to adopt an implementation model for Civil Parking 
Enforcement (CPE) where on street enforcement is undertaken in house and to collaborate 
with another, or other, local authorities for the back office notice processing and administration 
(Model B2 as referenced in the Stage 1 report).  The decision also included an instruction to 
undertake the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) review necessary to prepare the application to 
Welsh Government (WG) to secure the CPE powers. 

 
4.2 CPE Implementation Timescale 
 
4.2.1 Following discussions with Gwent Police their latest position is to withdraw from parking 

enforcement duties at the end of December 2018.  The current planned ‘Go live’ date for CPE 
is April 2019.  This will be extremely challenging to meet given the statutory process to be 
followed and the preparation necessary for successful implementation.  Further discussions 
will be held with Gwent Police to try and negotiate an extension to their withdrawal that allows 
the Council to have everything in place before the actual go live date and to ensure there is a 
smooth transition of responsibilities. 

 
4.2.2 The situation is common to all five local authorities in the Gwent Police service area, all of 

whom have now decided to pursue CPE powers. 
 
4.3 Key Actions for CPE Implementation 
 
4.3.1 The following key actions are in hand or planned in order to prepare for implementation by the 

go live date: 
 

 Undertake the TRO review and identify what remedial actions are necessary for CPE 
implementation (May – October 2018) 

 Prepare and submit CPE application to WG including statutory consultation -  as per the 
Stage 1 report section 4.6 (May 2018 – December 2018) 

 Undertake remedial works to TRO lining and signing (September – December 2018) 

 Prepare and process TRO consolidation order (September – December 2018) 

 Negotiate back office and set up in house service (April 2018 – January 2019) 

 ‘Go live’ ( April 2019) 
 
4.4 Issues 
 
4.4.1 TRO review & CPE application: following a competitive tendering process the services of RTA 

Associates have been commissioned to undertake the work and provide specialist technical 
advice.  As RTA undertook the initial feasibility study, there will be an element of continuity 
that assists with meeting the challenging delivery timescale. 

 
4.4.2 TRO lining and signing remedial works: this will be the subject of a separate commissioning 

exercise the extent and scope of which will be determined by the findings and outcome of the 
TRO review.  All TRO lines and signs must be in an acceptable condition for enforcement to 
enable CPE powers to be secured and implemented.  This work can be phased if necessary 
with the main towns and settlements given priority. 

 
4.4.3 TRO consolidation order: this is necessary to ensure that the current TRO and the lines and 

signs on the ground match.  This is to avoid any ambiguity for road users, have confidence 
that Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) issued are correct and valid and minimise the number of 
appeals received with valid grounds.  Whilst this exercise is ongoing Officers will be unable to 
process any changes to parking restriction related TROs during 2018/19.  Consideration of all 
outstanding, and any new, requests for changes to parking restrictions will be deferred until 
2019/20 after CPE is implemented. 

Page 78



 
4.4.4 Notice processing and administration: Cabinet agreed that the functions necessary for notice 

processing and administration (including the appeals process) be managed by an external 
back office.  Within Wales the main existing back offices that service the 17 local authorities 
that currently enforce CPE are Cardiff, Neath Port Talbot and Rhondda Cynon Taff (RCT) 
councils and the Wales Penalty Processing Partnership (WPPP).  The largest and most 
established, WPPP, is operated by Denbighshire County Council on behalf of 10 Welsh local 
authorities.  Whichever back office is eventually secured, there will be a need to invest in new 
IT equipment to ensure compatibility of systems and provision of an effective service. 

 
4.4.5 Each back office charges a fixed fee per PCN for their services which range from £4.90 to 

over £10.00 with £5.25 considered to be a reasonable average.  Initial discussions have been 
held with RCT who provide a service for Merthyr County Borough Council as well as 
themselves under the guise of the South Wales Parking Group (SWPG).  They have indicated 
that they have sufficient capacity to accommodate CCBC’s anticipated level of PCNs 
(approximately 11,200 per annum) at a fixed cost of around £4.90 - £5.20 per PCN.  This 
represents good value for money when compared to the average for Wales and it is proposed 
that Caerphilly reaches a formal agreement with RCT for them to manage the back office on 
CCBC’s behalf.  Should an acceptable agreement not be achievable then alternative 
arrangements would be negotiated and approved under the delegations sought (see 5.1).  

 
4.4.6 Uniformity – Highway owned, Countryside and Tourism car parks: the CEA/SEA must include 

any off-street car parks currently enforced by CCBC under the 1984 Road Traffic Regulation 
Act, in order to provide a uniform enforcement capability in all CCBC parking areas.  This 
would include the pay and display car parks in the Council’s country parks and Cwmcarn 
visitor centre that are currently managed and enforced by the Countryside and Tourism 
sections.  This means that the countryside car parks (at Parc Cwm Darren, Penyfan, Sirhowy 
Valley, Parc Penallta and Bargoed) and tourism car park at Cwmcarn visitor centre will need 
to be included in the CPE application.  At present enforcement is undertaken by Countryside 
and Tourism staff however, it is proposed for consistency that responsibility for enforcement of 
these car parks be transferred to the Civil Enforcement Team.  The current level of 
enforcement undertaken by the Countryside and Tourism staff in these car parks is minimal 
and limited by the availability of staff resources.  This transfer of enforcement responsibility 
would strengthen the monitoring and provide a consistent approach across the authority. 

 
4.4.7 Parking Enforcement Operational Policy: it will be necessary for CCBC’s enforcement protocol 

to be revised such that it aligns with national operational guidance for CPE, in order to 
maintain a consistent approach and compliance with this national framework, and also to 
ensure that the lowest number of PCNs are raised and cancelled.  This will not only affect the 
way in which PCNs are issued, but also the way in which appeals are considered and 
determined.  Examples of how this could affect the current service are provided below: 

 

 At present no period of grace is allowed for vehicles parked in a free limited waiting car 
park, however under CPE national guidance it is recommended that 10 minutes be given. 

 At present all ECNs (Excess Charge Notices) issued for failure to display a ticket or blue 
badge in the Council’s Highway owned off street car parks are waived/cancelled if a valid 
ticket / blue badge is subsequently produced.   This would need to change such that, for 
example, PCNs are only cancelled for first time offenders. 

 
4.4.8 The formation of an SEA would grant CCBC the powers to enforce on road parking such as 

double yellow lines, double parking, and parking over dropped footways (driveways), however 
careful consideration needs to be given as to how these powers would be enacted because of 
the range of localised sensitivities that exist e.g. a neighbouring authority has taken the 
decision to enforce dropped kerbs in town centres but not driveways in residential areas as 
they have found that this is too contentious/difficult to resolve in a consistent manner.  As 
such, obstructions of this nature are referred to the police for them to deal with using their 
existing powers of enforcement.  It should also be noted that the formation of a CEA/SEA 
would not grant CCBC the powers to deal with obstructive parking on footways and this 
responsibility would remain with Gwent Police. 

Page 79



 
4.4.9 Displacement: unless enforcement is applied in a uniform manner across a geographic area, 

there is a risk of displacement of parked vehicles, causing other, more serious problems. 
 
4.4.10 Resident Permit Parking Policy: the Policy has been in existence since the beginning of this 

Authority in 1996 but was last reviewed in 2012 via a report to the Regeneration and 
Environment Scrutiny (on the 17th July 2012) (see background papers).  The 
recommendations were endorsed by the Committee and subsequently approved by the 
Council’s Cabinet on the 31st July 2012.  The existing schemes in Abercarn, Blackwood, 
Cwmcarn, Risca, Newbridge, and Rhymney operate within the agreed limits. Amendments to 
the times of operation and number of permits issued would be needed in Caerphilly, Bargoed, 
Ystrad Mynach and Nelson.  The agreed policy requires a £30 charge be made for the issue 
of permits to cover administration and maintenance costs.  No charges are payable by 
residents at present for any existing schemes within the borough because the TROs predate 
the introduction of the current resident permit parking policy.  It is proposed that all existing 
resident permit parking schemes within the borough will be consolidated (as part of the TRO 
consolidation order) to bring them in line with the policy and ensure consistency across the 
borough. 

 
4.4.11 Clamping and Removals: it is not envisaged that measures for clamping and removals will be 

necessary for parking contraventions.  However, it is proposed that the powers to undertake 
clamping and removals be sought in the CPE application to WG, so they can be brought into 
use at any time in the future should a policy on the use of clamping and removals be 
developed. 

 
4.4.12 Bus Lane Enforcement: At present there is very little bus lane provision within the county 

borough so compliance and enforcement has not been a concern.  However, it is possible that 
additional bus lanes may be considered as part of future public transport infrastructure 
improvements.  Therefore it is proposed to seek the powers for bus lane enforcement to retain 
the option for the Council to undertake such enforcement in the future if deemed necessary. 

 
4.4.13 Cashless payment: With the procurement of a new or upgrading of the existing IT system or 

back office service provider, it is proposed that CCBC should adopt the introduction of 
cashless parking and virtual permits in relation to CPE.  Cashless parking is most commonly 
thought of as pay by phone but there are an increased number of methods to pay for parking 
electronically within the parking industry.  Virtual permits that can be applied for and paid for 
on line also have an impact on staff input and help to eliminate human error when processing 
applications.  It is normal for the cashless pay by phone system to stand alone from any CPE 
IT system and simply interface with the CEOs handhelds in real time via the IT system.  This 
also allows flexibility when wishing to re tender the cashless parking contract as new 
technology comes on line in the future.  It is recommended that any cashless parking system 
be procured remote and separate to a CPE IT service provider.  Real time information for the 
CEOs to link into while on patrol is the way forward. 

 
4.4.14 PCN targets: It is illegal to set targets for the issue of parking tickets, and the resulting 

enforcement would have a significant adverse impact on the Council’s reputation.  This will be 
made clear in the formal publicity and public information. 

 
4.4.15 Event management: The issue of special events in the County is of particular significance for 

discussion with Gwent Police.  On such occasions, the nature of the responsibilities of both 
Gwent Police and CCBC as the Highway Authority would change, with Gwent Police losing 
aspects of their powers to enforce parking, yet the Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) having 
no powers to get involved in the direction of traffic.  This new relationship will be discussed, 
and the need for parking enforcement understood between the organisations, with agreement 
reached as to how the resources would be best deployed in future, after CPE. 

 
4.4.16 Community Safety Wardens: various Members have expressed a clear wish that the CEOs 

have a dual role in that they enforce other aspects of street management such as litter 
dropping and dog fouling.  Whilst the legislation governing the CEO does not preclude this 

Page 80



dual enforcement role, the reality of achieving this is not straight forward because the Public 
Protection Environmental Health Enforcement Officer and Community Safety Warden roles 
are covered by both criminal and civil legislation, whereas the CEO role is only covered by 
civil legislation.  

 
4.4.17 The financial forecasts in the feasibility study are based on CEOs spending 100% of their time 

on enforcement.  Should their time be split undertaking other enforcement duties, this would 
have a direct adverse impact on the level of PCNs issued and income received, and possibly 
result in an annual operating deficit.  Officers will look to maximise the use of dual roles where 
practical but it is proposed to implement the CEO role initially under CPE to avoid any delays 
to its implementation.  In parallel work on combining the roles will be progressed and 
implemented at the earliest opportunity, and this will require the existing scheme of 
delegations under the Council’s constitution to be reviewed and amended accordingly.  It is 
proposed that a six month trial period is undertaken to evaluate the effectiveness of utilising a 
dual role for CSW/CEO.  The outcomes will be considered by officers to conclude whether a 
combined role is viable for future service delivery. 

 
4.4.18 Public expectation/demand: it is anticipated that CPE will generate a significant level of public 

interest and demand which is currently being received and managed by Gwent Police.  In 
order to be able to deal with this increased number of service requests it will be necessary to 
develop new customer relation protocols and/or systems via the Customer Services team.   

 
4.4.19 Publicity: it is proposed to widely publicise the change in enforcement regime and introduction 

of CPE powers via a variety of media in advance of the ‘Go live’ date to give road users plenty 
of forewarning before enforcement begins.  A communications strategy will be developed and 
implemented to ensure a clear and concise message is conveyed to the public on the 
approach that will be implemented and the timeframes involved,  

 
4.4.20 Collaboration: is proposed to utilise RCT (or other local authority provider if agreement is not 

reached with RCT) for the notice processing and administration of the back office, however, 
the possibility of future collaboration with other local authorities for CEO enforcement has not 
been discounted.  Should any opportunities for further collaboration in the future be given 
serious consideration, the proposals would be put before Members for discussion. 

 
4.4.21 Officers will be progressing all of the above issues between now and the ‘Go live’ date as part 

of the actions and implementation plan, not all of which may be fully resolved given the 
challenging timescale.  This requires formal resolutions and delegations to enable officers to 
successfully take this forward as set out below. 

 
 
5. FORMAL RESOLUTIONS / DELEGATIONS 
 
5.1 In order to submit the formal application for Civil Parking Enforcement (CPE) powers to Welsh 

Government (WG) and progress the actions necessary for implementation, Cabinet will be 
asked to endorse the following recommendations: 

 
1) To resolve to undertake CPE within the administrative boundary of CCBC and to support 

an application to the WG for a Civil Enforcement Area (CEA), Special Enforcement Area 
(SEA), and Bus Lane Enforcement powers under the provisions of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 (the 2004 Act). 

 
2) To nominate and resolve that the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, 

Infrastructure, Sustainability and Well-being of Future Generations be the Representative 
and Substitute Representative appointed to stand on the Joint Committee of England and 
Wales for the Civil Enforcement of Parking and Traffic Regulations outside London, which 
oversees the adjudication service known as the Traffic Penalty Tribunal (TPT). 

 

Page 81



3) To nominate and resolve that the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Infrastructure, Sustainability and Well-being of Future Generations be the Representative 
and Substitute Representative appointed to stand on the Joint Committee.  

 

4) To adopt, for the purposes of consultation (see 4.3.1), penalty charge band Level 2 - 
£70/£50 in accordance with the national framework (and as used for the financial 
assessment in the feasibility study model B2). 

 

5) To resolve that the powers to clamp and remove vehicles, parked in contravention of 
restrictions, be obtained as part of the application for CPE to the WG. 

 

6) To approve the appointment of ‘enforcement agents’ to collect parking debts, should this 
approval be necessary. 

 

7) To approve that the financial model for CPE is submitted to the WG (model B2 as 
referenced to in the Stage 1 report), as the required business case. 

 

8) To delegate to the Corporate Director - Communities, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member, the powers to: 

 

a. Agree the details of the final CPE application and submit it to the WG for the 
adoption of CPE powers. 

 

b. Agree, after appropriate consultation on the formal CPE application, the penalty 
charge band level. 

 

c. Agree the terms, in conjunction with the Council’s Head of Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer, of any legal agreements that need to be entered into between the 
Council and the TPT, the Traffic Enforcement Centre and the DVLA in order to 
implement CPE. 

 

d. Make any changes considered necessary in order to meet the requirements of the 
Traffic Management Act 2004, in light of current and future Statutory Guidance. 

 

e. Take all steps necessary to introduce appropriate ‘Civil Enforcement Off-Street 
Parking Places Orders’ in order to implement CPE in the Council’s off street car 
parks and to meet the requirements of the 2004 Act. 

 

f. Take all steps necessary to introduce appropriate ‘Civil Enforcement On-street 
Traffic Regulation Orders’ in order to implement CPE on the Council’s highways and 
to meet the requirements of the 2004 Act. 

 

g. Agree the extent and terms of the implementation of CPE, including the adoption of 
such further powers as may be expected by the WG and to take such other steps as 
are considered appropriate for the application and implementation of CPE to be 
successful. 

 

h. Approve a communications strategy that will clearly set out when and how CPE will 
be introduced along with the enforcement approach that will be taken. 

 
 

6. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 

6.1 This proposal contributes to the Well-being Goals as set out in Links to Strategy above.  It is 
consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable development 
principle in the Act in that: 

 

6.1.1 Long term resourcing of operation and management solutions of this specialised service 
provision allows for more effective and predictable resource/ financial commitments going 
forward. 

 

Page 82



6.1.2 Taking direct control of CPE enables CCBC to increase prevention of parking disruption and 
congestion in conurbations contributing to well-being of its communities. 

 

6.1.3 It forms part of an overall strategy integrating the traffic management of local roads to regional 
transport systems on which public transport, private users, cyclists and walking networks can 
operate. 

 

6.1.4 Collaboration with other organisations and local authorities enables a more effective and 
efficient service delivery. 

 
 

7. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 An EIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council's Strategic Equality 
Plan and supplementary guidance.  No potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low level or 
minor negative impact has been identified therefore a full EIA has not been carried out. 

 
 

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 As set out in the Stage 1 report, the estimated cost for implementing the model approved 
under the Cabinet resolution (Model B2) is £487,000.  This includes the TRO review 
(£115,000 – updated tender figure), signs and lines remedial works of £300,000 and set up 
costs of £72,000.  There is also an additional £24,000 for the purchase of the specialist 
Parkmap mapping software for managing TROs and the notice processing.  This brings the 
overall estimated total for implementation to £511,000. 

 

8.2 Funding of £80,000 has previously been approved from Sirhowy Enterprise Way (SEW) 
reserves for the TRO review.  It is proposed that the additional funding required totalling 
£431k should be provided from a further call on the SEW reserve (£291k) with the remaining 
balance of £140k being funded from Communities Directorate reserves.  The Scrutiny 
Committee is asked to support this proposal prior to consideration by Cabinet. 

 

8.3 The feasibility study (Stage 1 report) identified that the estimated income from ECNs would 
result in an operational deficit of approximately £17,000 for the first year and an annual 
operational surplus from year two that would cover all operational costs for CPE.  After five 
years the cumulative operational surplus generated would be approximately £58,000.  This 
assessment calculates the annual operational costs over the first five years of operation to 
vary between £215-245k with the number of PCNs issued annually varying between 10,000 
and 11,250.  Any surpluses are to be ring fenced to reinvest in CPE activities and other 
provisions in accordance with the requirements detailed within Section 55 (as amended) of 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

 

8.4 Note this is based on the CEOs undertaking enforcement for 100% of their time.  Should this 
be reduced because of other enforcement duties being undertaken (e.g. dog fouling), then it 
would probably result in a direct adverse impact on the level of PCNs issued and income 
received, and possibly result in an annual operating deficit. 

 
 

9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1 With CCBC directly managing enforcement, a slightly enlarged parking management structure 
will be required, including an additional 5.5 full time equivalent (FTE) CEOs.  The job 
descriptions of the CEOs and management staff would need to be reviewed but all staff costs 
have been built in to the operating costs identified above.  The existing scheme of delegations 
under the Council’s constitution will also need to be reviewed and amended accordingly. 

 

9.2 There is the potential for TUPE of Gwent Police staff to CCBC however, from initial 
discussions with Gwent Police this is not considered likely, especially since the role of Police 
Community Support Officers was expanded following the withdrawal of Traffic Wardens.  This 
will be confirmed with Gwent Police as part of the future discussions. 

Page 83



10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 All responses from consultations have been incorporated in the report. 
 
10.2 A Member’s seminar was held on the 6th June 2018 and a verbal summary of the issues 

discussed /raised will be given at the Scrutiny Committee meeting. 
 
 
11. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
11.1 Members are asked to consider the report and give their views, particularly in respect of the 

issues identified in paras 4.4.1 – 4.4.21 and on the following recommendations proposed to 
be presented to Cabinet for approval: 

 
11.1.1 It is proposed that CCBC reaches a formal agreement with RCTCBC for them to manage the 

back office on CCBC’s behalf. 
 
11.1.2 It is proposed, for consistency, that responsibility for enforcement of all Countryside and 

Tourism car parks be transferred to the Civil Enforcement team. 
 
11.1.3 It is proposed that all existing resident permit parking schemes within the borough need to be 

consolidated (as part of the TRO consolidation order) to bring them in line with the policy and 
ensure consistency across the borough. 

 
11.1.4 It will be necessary to develop new customer relation protocols and/or systems via the 

Customer Services team. 
 
11.1.5 It is recommended that any cashless parking system be procured remotely and separate to a 

CPE IT service provider. 
 
11.1.6 It is proposed to implement the CEO role initially under CPE to avoid any delays to its 

implementation.  In parallel work on combining the role with CSWs will be progressed and 
implemented at the earliest possibility, if viable. 

 
11.1.7 Any financial surpluses from the operation are to be ring fenced to CPE activities and 

provisions in accordance with the requirements detailed within Section 55 (as amended) of 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

 
11.1.8 Seek the recommendations and delegations in 5.1 to facilitate the CPE application to WG and 

subsequent implementation. 
 
11.1.9 It is proposed to fund the additional costs of £431k for the TRO review and CPE set up costs 

from SEW and Communities Directorate reserves (i.e. £291k from SEW reserve and £140k 
from Communities Directorate reserve). 

 
 
12. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
12.1 To allow Officers to progress the transfer of powers for CPE and to ensure its implementation 

at the earliest opportunity in 2019. 
 
 
13. STATUTORY POWER  
 
13.1 The following enabling statutory powers apply for the decision under consideration.  
 
13.1.1 Traffic Management Act 2004. 
 

Page 84

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/18/contents


13.1.2 The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (General Provisions) (Wales) 
Regulations 2013. 

 
13.1.3 The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals) (Wales) 

Regulations 2013. 
 
13.1.4 The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Representations and Appeals) 

Removed Vehicles (Wales) Regulations 2013. 
 
13.1.5 The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Approved Devices) (Wales) Order 

2013. 
 
13.1.6 The Civil Enforcement of Road Traffic Contraventions (Guidelines on Levels of Charges) 

(Wales) Order 2013. 
 
 
 
Author:  Clive Campbell – Transportation Engineering Manager: campbc@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Consultees: Cllr. Sean Morgan – Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Economy, Infrastructure, 

Sustainability and Well-being of Future Generations 
 Cllr. Tudor Davies – Chair of Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr. Christine Forehead – Vice Chair of Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny 

Committee 
Cllr. Eluned Stenner – Cabinet Member for Environment and Public Protection 
Cllr. Nigel George – Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Services 
Christina Harrhy – Interim Chief Executive 
Mark S Williams – Interim Corporate Director of Communities 
Nicole Scammell – Head of Corporate Finance and S151 Officer 
Stephen Harris – Interim Head of Corporate Finance 
Marcus Lloyd – Head of Infrastructure 
Rhian Kyte – Head of Planning and Regeneration 
Robert Hartshorn – Head of Public Protection 
Lisa Lane – Interim Monitoring Officer 
Richard Crane – Principal Solicitor 
Dean Smith – Principal Engineer (Traffic Management) 
Phil Griffiths – Green Space Strategy and Cemeteries Manager  
Paul Hudson – Marketing and Events Manager 
Mike Eedy – Finance Manager  
Shaun Watkins – Principal Personnel Officer 
Anwen Cullinane – Senior Policy Officer – Equalities and Welsh Language 
Kathryn Peters - Corporate Policy Manager 
Ceri Edwards – Environmental Health Manager 
Mike Headington - Green Spaces & Transport Services Manager 

 
Background Papers: 
Decriminalisation of Parking – Stage 1 report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny committee – 
12 December 2017 
Scoping of the countywide review of the operation and management of Highway owned Council car 
parks report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny committee – 29 March 2016 
Management and enforcement of Highway owned public car parks report to Regeneration and 
Environment Scrutiny committee – 17 September 2013  
Review of the resident permit parking policy report to Regeneration and Environment Scrutiny 
committee – 17 July 2012 

Page 85

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/362/pdfs/uksi_20130362_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/362/pdfs/uksi_20130362_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/359/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/359/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/361/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/361/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/360/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/360/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/wsi/2013/1969/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/wsi/2013/1969/made


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



The Provision of Toilets in Wales: 
Local Toilets Strategies
Statutory Guidance
June 2018

Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017: 
Provision of Toilets

    © Crown copyright 2018     WG32533

Digital ISBN: 978 1 78937 506 0

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

GUIDANCE ON PROVISION OF TOILETS IN WALES:  
LOCAL TOILETS STRATEGIES 
 
Audience:  Local authorities; community councils; premises owned, occupied or funded 

by public authorities which maintain toilet facilities; highways authorities; 
privately owned premises which maintain toilet facilities; and local and 
national bodies in Wales with an interest in the provision of toilets for public 
use. 

 
Overview: This document provides guidance for local authorities on duties and powers 

introduced under Part 8 of the Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 which places 
a duty on local authorities (as defined in section 124 of the Public Health 
(Wales) Act 2017) to prepare and publish a local toilets strategy for its area.   

 
Action  
required:  Local authorities must have regard to this statutory guidance. 
 
Further 
information: Enquires about this document should be directed to: 

Health Protection Policy and Legislation Branch, 
Public Health Division, 
Health and Social Services Group, 
Welsh Government, 
Cathays Park, 
Cardiff, 
CF10 3NQ 
e-mail: LocalToiletsStrategy@gov.wales 

 
Additional  
copies: This document and further information can be accessed from the Welsh 

Government website at:  
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/local-toilets-strategies-statutory-
guidance-local-authorities 

Related  
documents: Technical Guidance: National Map of Toilets Identified in Local Toilets 

Strategies 
https://consultations.gov.wales/consultations/local-toilets-strategies-statutory-
guidance-local-authorities 
 
Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2017/2/contents/enacted 

 

Permission to reproduce extracts from British Standards is granted by BSI Standards Limited (BSI). No 
other use of this material is permitted.  British Standards can be obtained in PDF or hard copy formats 
from the BSI online shop: www.bsigroup.com/Shop  

  

Page 88



3 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 
Ministerial foreword         Page 4 
 
A Note on Terminology         Page 6 

 
Introduction          Page 7 

 
The Local Toilets Strategy flowchart       Page 11 
 
Ways of working  differently        Page 12 
 
Dos and Don’ts          Page 13 
 
Prevention          Page 14 
 
Long-term thinking         Page 20 
 
Policy integration          Page 23 

 
Involvement          Page 31 
 
Collaboration          Page 38 

 
Publication and Dissemination        Page 45 
 
 
Annex A – Legal provisions        Page 48 
 
Annex B –National Toilet Logo        Page 51 
 
Annex C – Useful references        Page 52 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 89



4 
 

MINISTERIAL FOREWORD 
 
 
The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Social Services: 
 
The Welsh Government’s cross-cutting strategy, Prosperity for All: the national 
strategy1 was published on 19 September 2017. Prosperity is not just about material 
wealth, it is about everyone having a good quality of life and living in strong, safe 
communities. This can only be delivered if all parts of the government and public sector 
combine their forces and work together, with a focus on the areas where a difference 
can be made.  
 
Whilst the strategy establishes the government’s priorities it is far more than a list of 
actions. It represents a new way of working, one that recognises the challenges faced 
today, the Wales we want for the future and the steps that need to be taken to make it a 
reality. At the heart of the strategy is a recognition that public services and voluntary 
sector partners want to work together towards common objectives, to focus on the 
needs of people, at all stages of their lives and in all parts of Wales. 
 
To deliver Prosperity for All, the whole public service must therefore work more 
effectively and better direct their energy and resources. Local government is an 
important partner in delivering this agenda and every opportunity to remove barriers 
between different services and organisations must be taken. Achieving the ambitions 
for Wales will require a different relationship not just between the Welsh Government 
and local government, but also between organisations themselves. It is only through 
closer working, on a consistent regional basis, that the resilience and responsiveness of 
services can be maintained in the future. This is particularly important if we are to 
realise the full potential of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 and focus 
public services. 
 
Provision of, and access to, toilets is an issue that affects public health. Accessible, 
clean toilets that are well located in places such as town centres, parks, promenades, 
cycle trails and walking routes can help encourage people to take exercise and stay 
more physically active. This has clear health and economic benefits. Conversely, toilets 
that are poorly designed, inadequately maintained and inappropriately located can 
create an atmosphere of neglect that discourages use. A lack of adequate toilet 
facilities can impact on a person’s physical and mental health, as well as affecting the 
wider environmental health of the population.  
 
Toilets for public use matter to everybody and remain a high-profile issue. They are, 
however, even more important to certain groups within society, including older people, 
people with disabilities, people with particular needs (including certain medical 
problems), women, children and young people and their families. These groups can be 
disproportionately affected by poor provision, for example, poor provision is understood 
to have particular negative impacts on older people, as some may be less likely to leave 
their homes without having confidence that adequate facilities will be available to them. 

                                                             
1 https://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
 

Page 90



5 
 

This can contribute to increased social isolation and inactivity, as well as affecting 
people’s ability to maintain independence and dignity in later life.  
 
To deliver a strategic approach to the provision of toilets across Wales, the Public 
Health (Wales) Act 2017 requires local authorities to publish a local toilets strategy for 
its area.  
 
Strategies will be built around the principles of co-production, with local authorities 
required to engage with a broad range of potential providers and users. Upon review of 
their strategies, local authorities are required to publish a statement of progress. A self 
policing approach will provide transparency to council members and the communities 
they represent, on the actions taken to progress the provision of toilets across Wales. 
 
This guidance aims to support local authorities to lay a solid foundation for the provision 
of toilet facilities for public use in Wales, one that is sustainable, both in the short term 
and for future generations. 
 
I would like to extend my thanks to everyone who assisted in the drafting of this 
guidance. 
 
 
 
  

Page 91



6 
 

A NOTE ON TERMINOLOGY 

In this guidance we use the following terms for different types of toilet facility: 

Toilet(s): we use this to mean a toilet facility that the general public can use that may 
be in public or private ownership, within a variety of premises and which does not 
require the user to be a customer or make a purchase.  
 
Traditional public toilet(s): by this we mean a purpose-built toilet facility in local 
authority ownership or control provided for use by the public. Some quotes in the text 
from legislation etc. use the term ‘public toilet’, and in these cases we have not included 
the word ‘traditional’. 
 
Gender neutral toilet(s): we use this expression in this document to mean a toilet that 
is not designated for exclusively male or female use, but can be used by anyone.  This 
type of toilet may previously have been termed ‘unisex’. 
 
Changing Place(s): these are fully accessible toilets with a height adjustable changing 
bench, a hoisting system, a peninsular toilet, and enough space for a person with a 
disability, his/her wheelchair and two carers.   
 
Standard accessible toilet(s): these are specially designed cubicles in separate-sex 
toilets or a self-contained gender neutral toilet. These may also be known as ‘disabled 
toilets’. 
  

Page 92



7 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 (‘the Act’) received Royal Assent on the 3 July 
2017. The Act brings together a range of practical actions for improving and protecting 
health. Part 8 of the Act introduces provision of toilets and specifically local toilets 
strategies.  
 
 
INTENDED EFFECT 
 
The aim of Part 8 is to ensure each local authority (LA) in Wales assesses the needs of 
its community in relation to toilets, and then takes a strategic and transparent approach 
to best meet that need. This process will enable a broader consideration of options 
available for providing toilets for use by the public, ranging from traditional stand-alone 
public toilets through to toilets in private ownership. This is intended to help address the 
current challenges regarding the provision of public toilet facilities within communities, 
which have often relied upon traditional stand-alone facilities that have been in decline 
in recent years due to LA financial pressures. 
 
The intended effect of Part 8 is not to prevent local authorities from taking decisions 
which they need to take during the course of their activities, which may include 
decisions to close a traditional public toilet or building when appropriate to do so. 
Instead, the intended effect is to improve the planning of provision so that any such 
decisions are taken within the overall context of meeting their communities’ identified 
needs.  A strategic approach will also help to mitigate any negative impacts of changes 
to provision.  
 
 
REQUIREMENTS 
 
To achieve this, the Act places a duty on each LA in Wales to prepare and publish a 
local toilets strategy for its area. The Act provides that a strategy must include an 
assessment of the community’s need for toilets, including changing facilities for babies 
and changing places facilities for people with disabilities. The strategy must also 
provide details of how the LA proposes to meet the identified need. There is no 
requirement for the strategies to be presented to the Welsh Government for approval, 
as the strategies should be subject to LAs’ existing scrutiny structures and public 
scrutiny.  
 
The duty to prepare a strategy does not in itself require LAs to provide and maintain 
public toilets themselves, but they are required to take a strategic view across their area 
on how these facilities can be provided and accessed by their local population. In doing 
so it is envisaged that LAs will consider a full range of options for making facilities 
available to the public.  By way of example, if a toilet is not available at a park but a LA 
identifies a need for one, then the LA should consider different ways of meeting that 
need. This could be by the LA directly providing the facility, or by the LA working with a 
private business within or near to the park to make their facilities freely available to the 
public.  
 

Page 93



8 
 

The Act’s provisions on local toilets strategies are ultimately intended to benefit all 
those living in and visiting Wales. Accordingly, the provisions seek to ensure that 
appropriate engagement with local communities takes place as part of the development 
of the strategies, and that the process takes place, as well as with visitors and 
commuters, in a manner which is both transparent and supports local accountability.  
 
LAs are therefore required to consult with a wide range of interested parties on their 
draft strategies and to publish their final strategies so that they are available to all.  In 
order to further support local accountability, the Act provides a clear framework to 
govern the timescales for the production of strategies. The Act requires, within six 
months of a strategy or strategy review, the preparation and publication of interim 
progress statements.  These statements will review the period of two years since the 
publication of the strategy or two years since the last review of the strategy, and will 
report on the steps the LA has taken since the strategy’s publication.  
 
In order to provide LAs with the flexibility to respond to changing circumstances, LAs 
are able to review the strategies at any time. The Act also provides for a mandatory 
review period, which is intended to align with the cycle for LA elections and local plans 
provided for in other legislation, in order to both reduce unnecessary bureaucracy and 
ensure a coherent approach to planning at local level. The importance of ongoing 
engagement with local communities is upheld within these provisions, through a 
requirement for any revised strategy to be published.  
 
In recognition of the importance of ensuring that the needs of different groups of people 
across their communities are considered through local toilet strategies, the Act explicitly 
provides that the term ‘toilets’ includes changing facilities for babies and changing 
places facilities for persons with disabilities.  
 
For clarity, the Act also repeals and restates existing LA powers to provide public 
toilets.  
 
 
PURPOSE OF GUIDANCE 
 
There are numerous considerations relevant to LAs in preparing, reviewing, consulting 
and publishing their strategies and so the Act requires Welsh Ministers to issue 
guidance on this matter.  
 
LAs are required to have regard to this guidance and to read it in conjunction with the 
Act. 
 
This guidance is not intended to replace other good practice guidance on the provision 
of toilet facilities. 
 
 
STATUS OF GUIDANCE 
 
This is statutory guidance issued under section 113(7) of the Act.  All LAs in Wales 
must have regard to the guidance pursuant to section 113(11).  
 

Page 94



9 
 

 
THE DUTY ON LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
 
This guidance should be read in conjunction with the Act. 
 
Part 8 of the Act deals with strategies and places the following duties on a LA:  
 
• to prepare and publish a strategy before the end of the period of one year beginning 

with 31 May 2018 (section 113(1)); 
 

• to include an assessment of need and steps to be taken to meet that need (section 
113(2)); 

 
• to review the strategy which includes a requirement to publish a statement of what 

steps have been taken following the last published strategy and to revise and 
publish any revisions considered necessary (section 113(3), (5) and (7)); 

 
• to publish interim progress statements (section 114); 
 
• to consult any person they consider to be interested in the provision of toilets in 

their area before publishing the strategy (section 115); and 
 
• to provide those persons with a draft copy of the strategy (section 115(2)). 

 

REVIEW AND REVISION OF THIS GUIDANCE 
 
The Welsh Government will keep this guidance under review and will revise and update 
it as necessary and appropriate.  
 

TIMETABLE 
 
The Act provides specific timescales that must be followed in relation to the preparation 
and review of LA strategies. The statutory timetable must be followed, even if an LA 
decides, for operational reasons, to voluntarily publish a review or update the strategy 
document between key reporting points in the statutory timetable.  
 
• The latest date for publication of the LA toilet strategy is 31 May 2019.  

 
• The LA must prepare an interim progress report setting out the steps taken in line 

with their strategy every two year period commencing from the date of the last 
published strategy. The interim progress report must be published within six 
months of the end date of the two year period. 

 
EXAMPLE:  If a LA published its first toilet strategy on the 4 February 2019 then it 
will need to undertake a review of the strategy covering the period 4 February 
2019 -  4 February 2021 (two year period from date of publication) and publish the 
interim progress statement before 4 August 2021 (six months from the last date of 
the period). 

Page 95



10 
 

 
• A LA must also review the local toilet strategy within a year of each ordinary 

election for its area. The next election date in Wales is Thursday 5 May 2022 so 
the latest date for review is 4 May 2023. If no changes are made to the strategy 
following the post election review then the LA must publish an interim progress 
statement covering a two year period commencing from the date of the last 
election.  

 
EXAMPLE: Following the 2022 election a LA completes review of the strategy on 
the 5 November 2022 and makes no changes to the strategy. The LA must 
prepare an interim progress report for the period of 22 November 2022 – 22 
November 2024 (two years period from the date of the last review) and publish the 
statement before 22 May 2025 (six months after end of period)  

 
• A LA may review its strategy at any time following which it must publish a 

statement of the steps which it has taken in accordance with the strategy. If 
following a review a LA decides to revise the strategy it must publish the revised 
strategy and then prepare an interim progress report covering the two year period 
commencing from the date of publication.  

 
 
 

  

Page 96



11 
 

THE LOCAL TOILETS STRATEGY PROCESS 
 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ASSESSMENT OF NEED 
LA carries out an assessment of the need for toilets in its area by mapping existing toilets available for 

public use, identifying gaps through engagement with communities and working with partners to identify 
solutions.  

INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENT 
LA prepares and publishes an ‘interim progress statement’ setting out steps taken in accordance with its 
strategy 2 years from when the LA last published or 2 years from the date of the last post election 

review of its strategy. The Interim Progress Statement has to be published within 6 months 
following the end of the interim statement period. 

CONSULTATION 
LA consults any person it considers is likely to be interested in the provision of toilets in its area. As part of 

the consultation it makes available a draft of its new or revised local toilets strategy. 
Consultation should be a minimum of 12 weeks. 

PUBLICATION 
LA publishes its new or revised strategy setting out its assessment of need, the steps it proposes to take to 

meet that need and any other information it considers appropriate. 

REVIEW AND END OF PERIOD PROGRESS STATEMENT 
LA reviews its strategy and produces end of period progress statement within 

one year of every ordinary local government election  

Change to local toilets strategy needed? 

No 

LA prepares to produce local toilets strategy. 

Yes 

LA publishes progress statement of 
actions taken during the period 

Page 97



12 

WAYS OF WORKING DIFFERENTLY 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘WFG Act’) aims to improve 
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. It makes those 
public bodies, such as LAs, Local Health Boards, Public Health Wales NHS Trust 
and the Welsh Government think more about the long term, work better with people 
and communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-
up approach.  It means these public bodies must do what they do in a sustainable 
way.  
 
Public bodies need to make sure that when making their decisions they take into 
account the impact they could have on people living their lives in Wales in the future. 
 
To make sure we are all working towards the same vision, the WFG Act puts in place 
seven well-being goals2. Together they provide a shared vision for the public bodies 
listed in the WFG Act to work towards. 
 
The WFG Act puts in place a ‘sustainable development principle’ which tells public 
bodies how to go about meeting their duty under that Act. The principle is made up 
of five ways of working that public bodies should follow when carrying out 
sustainable development. These are: 
 
• looking to the long term so we do not compromise the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs; 
 

• taking an integrated approach; 
 
• working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable solutions;  
 
• involving a diversity of the population in the decisions affecting them; and 

 
• acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse. 

 
Following these five ways of working will help us work together better, avoid 
repeating past mistakes and tackle some of the long-term challenges we are facing. 
 
 
Local Authorities in Wales must apply the five ways of working when 
preparing, reviewing, consulting on and publishing their strategies. 
 
 

 

 

 

                                                             
2 A prosperous Wales, a resilient Wales, a healthier Wales, a more equal Wales, a Wales of cohesive 
communities, a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language, a globally responsible Wales. 

Page 98



13 

 

DOS AND DON’TS 

 
LAs in Wales should undertake the development of their strategies by: 
 
• keeping in mind provision of appropriate toilet facilities to address the current 

and future needs of the whole of the population, looking out in particular for 
areas where the existing toilet provision might be at risk of being lost or 
reduced at some point in the future,  acting pre-emptively to prevent this 
occurring and actively looking for opportunities to increase provision; 

 
• taking every opportunity to talk to the public and representative groups about 

the challenges they face in accessing local toilet facilities, listening to their 
concerns and seeking their views and involvement in identifying, and delivering 
potential solutions;  

 
• working actively with internal and external delivery partners including public and 

private sector partners in order to benefit the delivery of desired outcomes; 
 
• pursuing long-term, enduring solutions to any gaps in toilet provision; and 

 
• seeking to manage toilet provision at the same time as achieving other, related 

outcomes; 
 

 
LAs in Wales should not undertake the development of their strategies by: 
 
• seeking only short-term solutions to gaps in toilet provision (other than for 

temporary events); 
 

• seeking to manage provision of toilet facilities separately from the pursuit of 
other, related outcomes such as better infrastructure planning, active travel 
routes, safer roads, healthier lifestyles and more resilient communities; 

 
• deciding what’s best, and informing the public only after it’s all been settled; 

 
• trying to do it all on their own; or 

 
• waiting for the loss or breakdown of provision before starting to do something 

about it. 
 
  

Page 99



14 

1. PREVENTION 
 
WFG: acting to prevent problems from occurring or getting worse 
 
Access to public toilets:  
 
• 80 % of respondents do not find it easy to find a public toilet 
• 78 % of respondents found that their local public toilets are not open when 

they need them 
 

Age UK – Nowhere To Go 20063 
 
1.1 Undertaking the full process for strategies set out in this guidance is intended 

as a prevention scheme to address the challenges facing LAs in providing 
traditional public toilets. A strategy needs to be more than a piece of paper.  It 
needs to set out the issues and identify creative solutions to improve the 
provision of toilets for public use.  Strategies need to be scrutinised, reviewed 
and updated to ensure they are making a difference.  

 
1.2 The key prevention aims of a local toilets strategy are to: 
 

• identify key toilet facilities in a location; 
• identify facilities at risk of being lost to a location, and ways to preserve their 

use; 
• identify alternative provisions if facilities must close; 
• identify additional facilities that can be brought into wider use to supplement 

existing facilities or as a replacement for those that have been lost; and 
• identify opportunities for creating new facilities to modern, inclusive 

specifications. 
 

 
 
 
RATIONALE FOR CHANGE 
 
1.3 The necessity for LA strategies has come about because the current system 

governing provision and access to toilets for has not met the public’s need.  
There are a number of factors that have contributed to this:  

 

                                                             
3 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-
professionals/research/nowhere%20to%20go%20public%20toilet%20provision%20(2007)_pro.pdf?dtrk=true 
 

Your long-term goal for strategies should be twofold – to achieve an 
increase in public access to toilets, both in specific hotspots and more 
widely outside of main centres of population, so as to achieve the greatest 
public health benefit across Wales. 
 

Page 100



15 

• the provision and maintenance of traditional public toilets in Wales is at the 
discretion of LAs with no national guidance or co-ordination, meaning 
provision in Wales varies considerably from one LA area to another4;  

 
• the provision and maintenance of traditional public toilets in Wales is a 

considerable cost to LAs and is not always sustainable, as a consequence, 
provision is declining and toilets are under threat of closure across Wales; 

  
• access to information at street level on  toilets available for public use is poor 

across Wales and opportunities to provide information online are not being 
maximised; 

 
• best use is not being made of toilets within private buildings (for example by 

way of public facilities grants) and public buildings, for example those in 
public libraries, community and town halls, sports centres and museums; 

 
• poor planning around opening hours and signposting is limiting access and 

use; 
 
• many traditional public toilets are old and often poorly designed, 

inadequately maintained and poorly located, which can create an 
atmosphere which attracts vandalism, criminal damage and anti-social 
behaviour; and 

 
• community toilet schemes have declined despite the funding from the former 

Public Facilities Grant Scheme having been transferred to LAs via the 
Revenue Support Grant.  

 
 
DRAFTING THE STRATEGY 
 

 
 
1.4 These three components should be included by a LA when publishing their 

strategy. The assessment of need, when completed, will form a key part of a LA 
strategy.  

 
1.5 The strategy should include the findings of the assessment of need activities 

that have taken place. This includes:  
 

• the considerations given to the requirements of the general population;  
                                                             
4 legal provisions are set out in Annex A of this guidance. 

When drafting the strategy, LAs are required to include (as set out in 
section 113 of the Act): 
o a completed assessment of need for toilets available for use by the public 

in their area; 
o a statement setting out the steps which the LA proposes to take to meet 

this need; and  
o any other information which the LA consider appropriate. 

Page 101



16 

• the needs identified for particular user groups; 
• the condition and  usage of existing facilities; 
• the considerations given to identifying facilities not currently in general public 

use; and  
• the identification of any gaps in current provision. 

 
 
PROPOSALS FOR EXISTING FACILITIES 
 
1.6 This includes those facilities in LA ownership, previously identified under 

community toilet schemes, and those facilities that have previously been 
subject to asset transfers.  LAs should explain the opportunities they have 
identified as part of the assessment of need process, to meet the demand for 
toilet provision within their area and should set out any need they have 
identified for the upgrading, refurbishment or closure of existing facilities.   

 
 
PROPOSALS FOR ADDITIONAL FACILITIES 
 
1.7 Where a gap in provision has been identified, LAs should explain the gap and 

set out proposals for addressing it. This could include, for example, the creation 
of facilities at new locations, additional facilities within high usage areas, or 
specialised facilities for particular user groups. LAs should also explain what 
future opportunities they may have identified to include provision for toilets for 
public use within planning proposals and leasing arrangements. 

 
1.8 Any proposals should be informed by the findings of the assessment process.  
 
1.9 A sum of £9,000 per LA was transferred to LAs by the Welsh Government into 

the Revenue Support Grant with the intention that they would continue to run 
community toilet schemes that were previously grant funded under the 
Community Facilities Scheme.   

 
1.10 To facilitate transparency for the public and elected members, it is considered 

good practice that funding allocated to any proposals should be clearly set out 
within the strategy. 

 
 
A NOTE ON TYPES OF FACILITY AVAILABLE IN AN AREA 
 
1.11 When seeking out and engaging participation from owners of different types of 

premises, LAs should endeavour to secure a mix of toilet types and 
accessibility within the same area wherever possible, to allow for the equality of 
access to toilets if all types cannot be provided in one premise.  It is 
acknowledged, however, that this may not always be possible, depending on 
what premises are in an area and fully accessible toilets and baby changing 
facilities particularly are not always readily available.  A toilet with limited 
access or facilities is better than no toilet at all if there is no other option.  The 
LA should then identify gaps in provision in their local toilet strategy that can be 

Page 102



17 

addressed over time.   Existing toilets should not be closed or taken out of 
existing toilet schemes because they cannot provide a full range of facilities.   

 
 
REQUIREMENTS OF THE EQUALITY ACT 2010 
 
1.12 The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies when providing services or 

facilities to make reasonable adjustments to allow a person with a disability to 
overcome any disadvantage of access.  In the case of access to toilets, this 
may involve providing an auxiliary aid (such as information on opening times or 
charges in large print or Braille), or making adjustments to the physical features 
of a building (for example by providing a ramp at the entrance to a building 
where steps exist, wider doorways and larger cubicles for access by wheelchair 
users).  The Equality Act requires service providers to do what is “reasonable” 
in all the circumstances, which could depend on a range of issues: 

• how practicable the changes are; 

• if the change would overcome the disadvantage people with disabilities 
experience; 

• the size of the organisation; 

• how much money and resources are available; 

• the cost of making the changes; and 

• if any changes have already been made. 

1.13 It may not be possible to make physical changes such as those outlined above 
to older buildings, in which case it would be unreasonable to close them to all 
the population because they could not be adapted.  In these circumstances, 
consideration could be given to providing an accessible alternative close by. 

 
1.14 If LAs are in any doubt about the application of the requirements of the Equality 

Act to any of their proposals, they should consult their own legal departments 
for advice. 

 
1.15 It should also be remembered that certain premises may effectively be off limits 

for some members of the community, for example, toilets in premises that have 
an age restriction would exclude children and young people.  

  
 
CONSULTATION 
 

 
 
 

LAs are required to undertake a consultation on their proposed strategy, 
with any person that it considers is likely to be interested in the provision of 
toilets available for public use in its area before it publishes its strategy -  
section 115(1)(a) of the Act. 

Page 103



18 

1.16 LAs must consult any person they consider likely to be interested in the 
provision of toilets in its area when it reviews its strategy.  

 
1.17 LAs must make available the draft strategy which it proposes to publish to each 

person it proposes to consult. 
 
1.18 LAs should refer to the Involvement section of this guidance for ways in which 

to consult on their proposed strategy. 
 
1.19 LAs are encouraged to issue their proposed strategies for a 12 week public 

consultation to allow sufficient time for information to be disseminated in the 
community and respondents to discuss and formulate their responses. 

 
 
SCRUTINY 
 
1.20 Before the strategy is considered finalised for publication and to ensure that it is 

adopted, LAs should arrange for the proposed strategy to be scrutinised and 
adopted according to their internal processes.  LAs should include in their 
strategies information for the public on how the strategy will be scrutinised in 
future and progress measured. 

 
 
INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENTS 
 
1.21 A LA must publish an interim progress statement, which provides an update on 

the actions being taken since the publication of their strategy.  The interim 
progress statement must cover: 

 
• the time period that the progress statement is covering;  
• a reiteration of the action points in the strategy that is being reported upon; 
• an update on the progress which the LA has taken in addressing the actions 

identified in their strategy, to include actions completed; actions in progress 
and actions yet to be progressed;  

• an explanation of any outstanding or ongoing actions;  
• a review of the timescale within which the LA intends to meet any 

outstanding actions;  
• any issues identified that need in-depth consideration at the next formal 

review point;  
• a statement of the next date the strategy will be formally reviewed; and 
• any other information which the LA consider appropriate. 

 
1.22 The interim progress statement must cover a two year period beginning on the 

last published strategy date (“the statement period”), and must be published 
within six months from the last day of the two year period. 

 
1.23 A LA must also review the local toilet strategy within a year of each ordinary 

election for its area.  If no changes are made to the strategy following the post 
election review then the LA must prepare an interim progress statement 

Page 104



19 

covering a two year  period commencing from the date of the last election and 
publish this within six months of the end of the statement period.  

 
 
REVIEW PROCESS 
 
1.24 It is important that LAs provide a mechanism by which feedback from the public 

on the strategy and on toilet facilities can be encouraged, monitored and 
collated.  Complaints and compliments received can be utilised to monitor the 
effectiveness of the strategy and to inform the review process.    The feedback 
received should be summarised within the review document, and any 
commentary by the LA noted. 

 
1.25 When a LA reviews its strategy and considers that a change is needed it should 

revise and consult on proposed changes before publishing an updated version. 
The statutory review and updating process set out in the Act intends to ensure 
that strategies are regularly revisited to ensure they always meet the need of 
their local population, but it is not envisaged that they will be completely 
rewritten each time.  Page 11 sets out the process for LAs to develop and 
review their LA strategies.  

 
 
REVIEW PROCESS:  
 
Following publication of a strategy, the LA may review the content at any time, 
but it must review the content after each ordinary local government election.  
This review must be published no later than one year from the date of the 
election. 
 
INTERIM PROGRESS STATEMENTS: 
 
An LA must prepare an interim progress statement covering the two year 
period from the date of the last published strategy or from the date of the last 
post election review.  The progress statement must be published within six 
months of the end of the two year period under review. 
 
 

Page 105



20 

2. LONG-TERM THINKING 
 
WFG: looking to the long term so we do not compromise the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs 
 

 
 
 
2.1 In all aspects of long term planning, careful consideration should be given to 

Future Trends reporting5 and population projections6.  
 
 
STRATEGIC THINKING 
 
2.2 LAs need to take a strategic/longer-term view about: 

• funding the provision of toilets, including exploring the possibilities of 
advertising and sponsorship from private companies, charging for use and 
grant schemes to encourage appropriately located private businesses to 
make their toilets available for public use; 

 
• planning the provision of toilets, including securing provision of toilets 

through the planning process – particularly new developments; 
 
• working with adjoining LAs on the provision of toilets, looking at a wider 

geographical area including travel routes and sites of significance; 
 
• working with community and town councils and local communities around 

the maintenance and provision of traditional public toilets, including 
community asset transfers; and 

 
• the design and location of toilets, including considering existing provision 

within public buildings across Wales and how best these could be made 
more accessible to the public.  

 
WIDER BENEFITS 
 
2.3 The lack of toilets use in places where people may otherwise take exercise, 

such as parks and promenades, can contribute to physical inactivity. Physical 
activity is essential for the health of all members of society but particularly for 
older people as it can help to maintain independence.   

                                                             
5http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/future-trends 
6 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority  

Strategies drawn up to pursue compliance with Part 8 of the Act should look 
for permanent, long-term solutions wherever possible, not just for quick fixes 
resulting in provision for the short term. When prioritising measures, long-
term demand forecasting is just as important as understanding the current 
level of public usage. 

Page 106



21 

 
2.4 In addition, the absence of toilets can exclude people who need regular access 

to toilet facilities from economic activities, such as shopping, which they would 
otherwise be undertaking, preventing them from engaging in the local economy. 
This can increase social isolation and lead to loneliness (especially amongst 
older people or people with disabilities). Poor provision can also impact on 
tourism, the economy and use of public amenities.  

 
 
POPULATION NEED 
 
96% of respondents to a survey conducted by Crohn’s and Colitis UK stated 
that each local authority in Wales should have a duty to create and publish a 
local toilets strategy. Of these: 
• 40% said they supported this due to their need for urgent and frequent 

access to toilets; 
• 38% cited the significant health benefits and peace of mind that would come 

from better access to toilets; 
• 16% felt it was necessary due to the increasing incidence of local traditional 

public toilets being closed.7 
 
 
2.5 In Wales we have a higher percentage of older people than anywhere in the 

UK. Conditions such as incontinence, urgency and prostate problems tend to 
be more common as we get older which can lead to a need for more regular 
access to toilet facilities. Older people rely on toilets and many older people feel 
unable to take advantage of local amenities without having confidence that 
toilets are available. The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales has 
highlighted the need for access to toilets by older people, and the impact a lack 
of provision can have on their health8. 

 
2.6 There are over eleven million people with a limiting long term illness, 

impairment or disability in Great Britain9 and the prevalence of disability rises 
with age.  

 
2.7 Standard accessible toilets meet the needs of some people with disabilities but 

not all. The Changing Places Consortium10 campaigns on behalf of those 
people who cannot use standard accessible toilets. This includes people with 
profound or multiple disabilities and their carers, as well as many other people 
with disabilities and people with long term serious health conditions. They need 
Changing Places toilets which are publically accessible with enough space and 
appropriate equipment, including a height adjustable adult changing bench and 
a hoist.  Changing Places are currently not mandated in planning requirements, 

                                                             
7 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s57528/PHB%2038%20Crohns%20and%20Colitis%20UK.pdf 
8 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/14-03-
31/Commissioner_strongly_welcomes_proposals_to_improve_access_to_public_toilets_in_Wales.aspx 
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-facts-and-figures#fn:1 
10 http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 

Page 107



22 

but provision of these specialised facilities must not be overlooked, as the 
definition of a toilet in the Act includes ‘changing places for disabled persons’.  

 
2.8 Many of the units surveyed each year by the British Toilet Association fall well 

below the current Equality Act 2010 standards. Ostomy users, persons with 
restricted mobility issues and wheelchair users often struggle with incorrect 
fittings in accessible toilets and the lack of specified provision. 

 
2.9 Children, young people and families need access to suitable facilities, including 

baby changing facilities.  Traditionally, these may have been provided only in 
women’s toilets, which would present a problem for men who care for children.   

 
2.10 Gender is also an issue in terms of toilet provision; despite women making up 

more than half of the UK population, and with a higher proportion of older 
people being women, there is more provision for men, primarily because of the 
smaller space that urinals take up.  Historically, the ideal ratio of 1 male facility 
to 2 female facilities has not been delivered, which results in insufficient 
provision for women. In addition, during the consultation for the Welsh 
Government Action Plan to Advance Equality for Transgender People, 
consultees identified that the issue of toilet provision is of concern to the 
Transgender community.11 

 
2.11 The expansion of the night-time economy, and changes in working patterns, 

has led to a requirement for toilets to be available on a 24 hour basis every day.  
The needs of transport workers, delivery workers, emergency service 
representatives and others who work outdoors or travel from place to place or 
at irregular times are also often overlooked in the provision of toilets. 

 
2.12 Whilst certain groups may have specific needs, access to toilets is a cross 

cutting issue as all groups in society rely on adequate toilet provision to go 
about their daily lives.    

 
2.13 LAs must be careful to strike a balance between all the requirements of their 

communities, to ensure that by addressing the needs of one group, an 
unintended detrimental consequence is not created for other groups. 

 
 

                                                             
11 http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-en.pdf 

LAs should consider their populations need in detail in order to allow their 
local toilets strategies to best meet the need for accessible toilets in their 
area. 
 

Page 108



23 

3. POLICY INTEGRATION 
 
WFG: taking an integrated approach 
 

 
12 
 
3.1 Prosperity for All, the National Strategy13, sets out how the Welsh 

Government will deliver for Wales during the current Fifth Assembly term, and 
sets out long-term foundations for the future.  This strategy makes a number of 
key commitments, (including those relating to health and well-being), places 
those commitments in a long-term context, and sets out how they fit with the 
work of the wider Welsh public service to lay the foundations for achieving 
prosperity for all. It acknowledges that how we deliver is just as important as 
what we deliver, and in order to make a real difference to people’s lives, we 
need to do things differently and involve people in shaping the services they 
use every day.   

 
3.2 Decisions about toilet provision should form part of each LA’s strategic 

planning, taking into account varying needs at regional, district and local level. 
Development plans should ensure consideration is given to opportunities for 
the long-term provision of public facilities within proposed developments and 
the demand for toilets available for public use associated with them. They 
should also ensure consideration is given to the long-term benefits that toilet 
provision may have on people using and visiting proposed developments. 

 
3.3 City centres, transport hubs, recreation and tourist hot spots will often be 

priority areas for toilets.  Consideration should also be given to requirements for 
toilets in areas identified as Business Improvement Districts14. 

 
3.4 LAs must follow the requirements of the Welsh Language Measure 2011 and 

related regulations, their Welsh Language policies and their compliance 
notices, ensuring that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the 
English language when pursuing the engagement, communication, publicity 
and dissemination activities set out in this guidance.  If LAs are in any doubt as 
to whether any aspect of the Measure and Regulations apply to any proposed 
activity, they must seek advice from their legal department and consult the 
guidances issued by the Welsh Language Commissioner’s Office15.  

 
3.5 There are a range of Welsh Government policies that require strategies and 

plans at a local level. The challenge is to build on and add value to these rather 
                                                             
12 www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toilets_in_Britain 
13 http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
14 http://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-improvement-
districts/?lang=en 

15 http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/English/Organisations/Pages/InformationForOrganisations.aspx 

“Toilet provision needs to be mainstreamed into strategic urban policy, 
transportation policy and urban design considerations”. 
 
Dr Clara Greed, Code of Practice for Toilets, 2015 

Page 109



24 

than to undermine or duplicate them. In some cases, explicit cross references 
will be appropriate. The local toilets strategies should acknowledge this. 

 
3.6 Key policies are as follows: 

• Health and Equality Impact Assessments; 
• Local Wellbeing Plans; 
• Population  Needs Assessments; 
• Local Development Plans; 
• Local Transport Plans; 
• Active Travel routes and maps; and 
• Partnership for Growth. 

 
3.7 Health Impact Assessments (HIA) offer a systematic yet flexible means of 

taking health into account as part of decision-making and planning processes. 
When developing a strategy, LAs should use the HIA process as an integral 
part of the needs assessment process to promote broad consideration of how a 
range of factors associated with a proposed action or decision in relation to 
local toilet provision will impact on population health at a local level. The 
assessment will provide a view to maximising positive impacts and help to 
eliminate or mitigate negative effects. Further information, screening tools and 
resources on HIA are available on the Wales Health Impact Assessment 
Support Unit’s (WHIASU) website16.  

 
3.8 Updated guidance will also be available to reflect new regulations about the use 

of HIA by public bodies in Wales, which will be made under the Act. 
  

                                                             
16 http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522 
 

Page 110



25 

 
 

 
 
 
3.9 Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) enable an organisation to consider the 

effects of its decisions, policies or services on different communities, individuals 
or groups, particularly in relation to those most vulnerable in society.  

 
3.10 EqIAs provide a systematic way of ensuring that legal obligations are met and 

are a practical means of examining new and existing policies and practices to 
determine what impact they may have on equality for those affected by the 
outcomes. 

 
 

Case Study 

In response to Welsh Government’s proposals that LAs should prepare local toilet 
strategies, the Isle of Anglesey County Council undertook a prospective Comprehensive 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA). The intention was to trial this by examining the specific 
circumstances found on Anglesey using the WHIASU Practical Guide (2012) 
(www.whiasu.wales.nhs.uk ).     
 

The HIA considered the views of various Public Health experts and stakeholders through 
both direct communication and a half-day rapid HIA participatory workshop (which 
engaged older people, parents with young children, tourists, the provider service and 
community representatives). This resulted in a number of negative and positive health 
effects being identified and various issues scoped-in for further assessment, including: 
 
• vulnerable Groups such as older people, individuals on low incomes, homeless 

people, people with certain medical conditions and tourists; 
• lifestyles impacts such as dehydration in individuals, (particularly amongst older 

people and drivers) who reduce fluid intake in order to avoid toilet stops; 
• social and community issues such as isolation and loneliness amongst older people 

including those with disabilities, who are reluctant to go out because of a lack of 
public toilets to meet their needs; 

• environmental issues such as street fouling, particularly along A55(T); 
• economic issues such as impacts on tourists and peripatetic workers; and 
• impacts on services such as reduction in amenities, alternative provision by private 

businesses and use of IT. 
 

These issues were refined by further discussions with three separate focus groups: postal 
workers, haulage and a coach/bus company (all of which employed a peripatetic 
workforce), as well as telephone interviews with organisations responsible for maintaining 
the A55(T) and another that works on behalf of homeless people.  The outcome of these 
assessments, when considered in terms of the community profile and literary evidence, 
resulted in a number of recommendations. 
 
The HIA identified that there may be unintended consequences when a LA closes public 
toilets. These can range from impacts on the tourism economy (e.g. retaining Seaside 
Awards) to the provision of services for the homeless. HIA enables a LA to ensure that 
decisions on public toilet closures are not taken in isolation and when closures are 
approved, suggests methods of mitigating or even negating the impacts. 

Page 111



26 

3.11 EqIAs involve:  
 

• anticipating or identifying the consequences of this work on individuals or 
groups of service users/employees;  

• making sure that any negative impact is eliminated or minimised, and  
• maximising opportunities for promoting positive impact.  

 
3.12 A Toolkit17 has been developed to help organisations consider the effects that 

decisions, policies or services have on people with a protected characteristic. 
Assessing impact across a broad range of characteristics (not just those 
required by law), helps organisations to embed equality and human rights and 
assist them in the delivery of their services.  It is therefore suggested that an 
assessment is made at the start of the assessment of need process. 

 
3.13 Local Well-being Plans (LWP): Each Public Services Board (PSB) must 

assess the state of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in 
their areas. The assessment must consider the state of well-being of the people 
in the area as well as the communities which comprise the area.  

 
3.14 Welsh Government guidance18 on the preparation of an assessment of local well-

being and a LWP states:  
 

Relevant Welsh Government policy frameworks such as the revised Child 
Poverty Strategy19 and the Tackling Poverty Action Plan20 can help Boards 
assess the needs of children in poverty. Similarly, the Welsh Language 
Strategy21 may help boards assess the needs of Welsh-speakers and Welsh-
speaking communities, and wellbeing indicators for older people22 can assist 
the boards in identifying the needs of older people in the community.  

 
3.15 The assessment of the well-being of people in each area may be useful in 

preparing the assessment of need for the provision of toilets. The LA 
assessments of the community’s need for toilets could then itself prove useful 
in the preparation of future assessments of local well-being.  

3.16 PSBs are then required to prepare and publish a LWP, informed by their 
assessment of local well-being. The LWPs will set out how the PSB intends to 
work together to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-
being of its area by setting local objectives  which will maximise the contribution 
made by the board to achieving the well-being goals. 

 
3.17 Population Needs Assessments: Population Needs Assessments are 

required under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  LAs and 
Local Health Boards must jointly carry out an assessment of the population to 

                                                             
17 http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
18 http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf 
19 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?lang=en 
20 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-action-plan/?lang=en   
21 http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217en.pdf    
22 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs  – Published by the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales.  This is an advisory document that PSBs may find useful.    

Page 112



27 

find out the care and support needs in an area.  The assessments must also 
set out the range and level of services required to meet those needs23.  The 
information in these assessments may be useful in preparing the assessment 
of need for the provision of toilets. 

 
3.18 Local Development Plan (LDP): Informed by the Wales Spatial Plan24, every 

local planning authority in Wales must prepare a LDP for its area. The LDP is 
the development plan for each county or county borough council and each 
National Park, superseding the Unitary Development Plan or any other existing 
development plan. LDPs provide the proposals and policies to control 
development of the local area for the next 15 years.  Planning Policy Wales 
stresses the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  LDPs should 
be based on prudent use of resources, a clear understanding of the economic, 
social and environmental needs of the area and any constraints on meeting 
those needs. The process of developing the LDP may well provide insight, 
evidence and solutions that can be used by LAs in the development of their 
strategies. 

 
3.19 Place Plans: The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 enables Local Planning 

Authorities in Wales to work with communities to create Place Plans25. These 
are planning documents prepared and led by communities to assist residents to 
shape the finer detail on developments within their local area.  Place Plans will 
need to be in conformity with the LA’s Local Development Plan, and will 
become a non-statutory document to be adopted by the Council as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 
3.20 Local Transport Plan: The Transport Act 2000, as amended by the Transport 

(Wales) Act 2006, introduced a statutory requirement for local transport 
authorities to produce a Local Transport Plan every five years and to keep it 
under review. The most recent plans describe the key transport issues relevant 
to the LA and set out specific priorities for the LA to deliver in the five year 
period 2015 to 2020, and medium and longer term aspirations up to 2030.  The 
LA strategies should take the key transport issues identified and priorities for 
delivery into consideration.  

 
3.21 Information on current and future transport trends is regularly updated and 

provided by Welsh Government Statistics and Research, available at:  

http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=en.  

3.22 LAs should also have regard to section 114 of the Highways Act 1980, which 
gives LAs the power to provide public conveniences for users of their roads in 
proper and convenient situations on or under land adjoining, or in the vicinity of, 
the highway or proposed highway26.  

 

                                                             
23 http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/population/?lang=en 
24 http://gov.wales/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial-plan/?lang=en 
25 http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ - sponsored by WG Planning 
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/114 

Page 113



28 

3.23 The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 (2013 Act): The 2013 Act is considered 
to be a world first - and makes it a legal requirement for LAs in Wales to map 
and plan for suitable routes for active travel, and to build and improve their 
infrastructure for walking and cycling every year. It creates new duties for 
highways authorities to consider the needs of walkers and cyclists and make 
better provision for them. It requires both the Welsh Government and LAs to 
promote walking and cycling as a mode of transport. Section 2(8) of the 2013 
Act defines a range of features as related facilities for the purposes of the Act, 
including public toilets.  Section 8 of the statutory Design Guidance provides 
more detail and includes guidance on toilets at 8.4.27 This guidance provides: 

 
‘The Act requires two maps to be produced, the existing routes map and the 
integrated network map. The existing routes maps will show the routes within 
the designated areas that are suitable and appropriate for making active travel 
journeys. These routes could be on road, shared, segregated, or traffic-free. 
They can be for walkers or cyclists, or both. They will also show crossing points 
and the facilities that exist to support active travel on these routes, including 
cycle shelters/parking/storage and public toilets. 

Any facilities shown on the existing routes map must be publicly available, but 
they do not necessarily have to be “free” to use (e.g. coin operated toilets). 
Facilities only available to selected groups, such as toilet facilities in a 
members-only gym, should not be included.’ 

3.24 The statutory guidance is available on the Welsh Government website28. 

3.25 The work already undertaken by LAs in relation to the 2013 Act will be valuable 
in supporting the development of the LA strategies.  

 
3.26 Partnership for Growth is the Welsh Government strategy for tourism up to 

2020.  One of the key focuses of this document is ‘place building’ as it 
recognises that successful tourism destinations are those that provide a high 
quality environment for the visitor.  It also recognises that facilities provided for 
visitors can also be used by the communities in which they are located and can 
help to generate local income and jobs. Partnership for Growth states: 

 
‘It will be important to improve the visitor appeal of tourism destinations 
throughout Wales. Destination Management is a simple concept which involves 
a partnership approach to managing places. Tourism infrastructure such as 
way-marking, signposting, car parking, beach management, toilets, tourist 
information and litter collection are often only noticed when they are sub-
standard but they can often be the difference between a satisfied and an 
alienated visitor.’ 

 
3.27 LAs may wish to note that information on tourist experience (day visitors, UK 

visitors and overseas visitors) is regularly updated and provided by Welsh 
Government Statistics and Research.29 

                                                             
27https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-design-guidance 
28 https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-statutory-guidance-local-authorities 
29 available at: http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/?topic=Tourism&lang=en  

Page 114



29 

 
3.28 An extract from the Welsh Government Day Visitors Survey 2016 demonstrates 

how important the availability of public toilets is to this area: 
 

‘While Wales scores very highly overall among day visitors as a place to visit, 
the study does highlight some areas where the experience could be enhanced 
and differences in opinion across visitors to different areas of the country. The 
quality and availability of public transport, the cleanliness and availability of 
public toilets, shopping and Wales’ accessibility for people with a disability all 
scored lower than 8 in 10, suggesting there is room for improvement on all 
these dimensions. ‘ 

 
3.29 Destination Management Plans30 can be used by LAs to look strategically at 

how they attract visitors to destinations and ensure they enjoy their visit.  Not all 
LAs have Destination Management Plans at present, but LAs preparing their 
local toilet strategy should make contact with their local tourism team to 
discuss.  

 
3.30 Guidance on a collaborative approach to destination management is in 

preparation and can be accessed on the Business Wales website31.  
 
3.31 Tourism Amenity Investment Support is funding targeting amenity projects in 

the tourism sector in Wales.  Funding is available to public, third sector and not 
for profit organisations32 with the aims of developing quality sustainable 
tourism facilities; adding value to visitor experience and delivering quality, 
innovation and a sense of place. 

 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                             
 
30 https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/ 
31 https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/working-together 
32  https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/finance#guides-tabs--4 

Page 115



30 

 

Case Study: Tourism Amenity Investment Support 

Vale of Glamorgan Council – refurbishment of car park and toilets at 
Dunraven Bay 

 
The Vale of Glamorgan Council’s Destination Plan objectives for Dunraven Bay 
include developing a prosperous visitor economy. With the main beach car park 
and the car park to the Heritage Coast Centre in a poor state of repair, the local 
authority proposed a range of works to upgrade the basic infrastructure of the 
area to help improve the visitor appeal.  
    
The works include resurfacing the car parks for the main beach and at the side of 
the Heritage centre and the resurfacing of the public forecourt to the front of the 
Heritage Coast Centre, and refurbishment works to the external toilet block and 
shower/wet room. 
  
The works will ensure that parking space is maximised with adequate areas for 
disabled access/ parking; improved traffic flow and safe pedestrian walkways, and 
improved access and a direct route onto the Wales Coastal Path. 
  
The refurbishment of the external toilet block at the Heritage Coast Centre; will 
include the fitting of energy efficient hand dryers and energy efficient light 
systems.  The works to the shower/wet room will ensure that it complies with 
disability access regulations and that it is fit for use by all. 
 
This new wet changing area will enable community groups and third party 
commercial organisations the opportunity to develop their product offer and help 
develop the site as a focal point for outdoor water based activities.  
 
 

Page 116



31 

4.	 INVOLVEMENT	

 
WFG: involving a diversity of the population in the decisions affecting them 
 
4.1 The local population and key stakeholders are more likely to feel their needs 

have been considered sufficiently if they have been part of the process, 
increasing their value of ownership of the strategy. This is particularly important 
when LAs consider the assessment of need.    

 
 
MANAGING EXPECTATIONS 
 
4.2 LAs will need to manage messaging about what they are setting out to achieve 

from the start of the process.  LAs will need to emphasise that this is the start of 
a long term process, and will need to be clear about what they can and cannot 
do in respect of directly providing toilets.  It should be emphasised that the 
primary purpose of the strategy is to improve everyone‘s access to toilets in 
their day to day lives through better use of existing resources.  

 
4.3 It should be emphasised that not all existing toilet facilities need to remain, 

especially if there are better alternatives and not all potential facilities within 
buildings can be made accessible to the public. Using existing resources will 
also mean that not every toilet brought into public use is likely to be fully 
accessible to everyone due to building limitations and what is proportionate to 
change to make the toilet fully accessible but a much wider range of available 
toilets will benefit all. 

 
Local communities should be involved from the outset in the development of 
strategies. LAs should not wait until the strategies exist in draft form before 
seeking their input.  
 
4.4 LAs should produce their strategies by engaging with: 
 

• key delivery partners such as Town and Community Councils;  
 
• third sector and community volunteer councils and fora, social enterprises 

and housing associations;   
 
• local businesses and private landowners; 
 
• individuals who are dependent on the provision of toilet facilities for public 

use, including children and their parents, older people, people with 
disabilities, carers and care workers, rough sleepers, outdoor and travelling 
workers and those who commute to the area; 

 
• representative groups, including for example, the British Toilet Association, 

Age Cymru, Crohn’s and Colitis UK, Alzheimer’s Society and Disability 
Wales amongst others; 

Page 117



32 

 
• the Children’s Commissioner and Older People’s Commissioner for Wales; 
 
• public sector partners, including the police and ambulance service; NHS 

providers and bodies such as Community Health Councils, patient groups 
and Social Care providers;  

 
• the National Trust and National Parks Authorities;  
 
• Visit Wales and local tourism bodies; and 

 
• local Trade Unions. 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF NEED – ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
 
4.5 A key part of the development of a LA strategy is the ‘assessment of need’ that 

each LA must make. This involves undertaking a review of the existing 
provision, identifying gaps and finding opportunities to increase the toilet 
provision within their local area.  

 
4.6 LAs should not undertake this assessment of need in isolation. Early 

involvement of the local community and key stakeholders (as identified above) 
in this assessment is pivotal to the ultimate success of each strategy. This is 
particularly true where LAs are seeking to involve business owners in opening 
up their toilet facilities for wider public use. 

 
4.7 LAs should engage with their communities to ensure the assessment of need 

accurately reflects the behaviours and requirements of the local and visiting 
population. This should be achieved via a range of approaches and a number 
of possibilities are set out below: 

 
• Steering/ Focus groups; 
• Feedback received from the public; 
• Workshops; 
• Events; 
• Exhibitions; 
• Public meetings; 
• Social media; 
• Online content and e-mails; 
• Newsletters; 
• Local newspapers; and 
• Surveys and questionnaires. 

 
4.8 The above examples are not an exhaustive list: LAs should use the method(s) 

of engagement which will best obtain the views of their population, and bear in 
mind that different groups may need different methods, e.g. online surveys may 
not be accessible to all population groups, and different times of day and 
locations may yield different results.  LAs should, however, make every effort to 

Page 118



33 

engage with those within their population who are more likely to rely on access 
to toilets, such as rough sleepers, people living with long-term health 
conditions, those attending local support groups (such as people with 
disabilities or those people with specific medical conditions), older people, 
parents and carers for young children and carers for people with additional 
needs.  Third sector groups can be particularly helpful in this regard. 

 
4.9 LAs should also consider engaging social groups and clubs who may require 

access to toilets.  
 

ASSESSMENT OF NEED – WHAT TO CONSIDER 
 

 
 
4.10 When producing the assessment of need, LAs should consider a range of 

factors, including: 
 

• an assessment of the local population, including age, gender  and additional 
health  needs; 

• an assessment of the gender balance of the current provision; 
• an assessment of locations, including popular destinations and distance 

between facilities; 
• an assessment of availability and accessibility, opening hours, usage 

charges, access for people with disabilities, Changing Places and baby 
changing facilities; 

• an assessment of the condition of existing facilities; 
• consideration of seasonal variations, including local events and seasonal 

population growth; 
• consideration of social factors such as, whether facilities are a target for 

abuse and anti-social behaviours or perceived to be in a dangerous location; 
• consideration of future requirements, including local development plans; 
• consideration of statistics in relation to population statistics33; deprivation 

measures34 and projections for demographics35 such as older people, 
children, benefit claimants36 etc. 

• analysis of current usage, including popular times, population assessment, 
transient visitors, such as van and lorry drivers, or those on coaches and 
buses, 

                                                             
33 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population 
34 http://wimd.wales.gov.uk/ 
35 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections 
36 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-Indicator-

Analysis 
 

Section 113(8)(a) of the Act requires that this guidance makes provision 
about the assessment of need for toilets available for use in the vicinity of 
sites and in connection with events that are of particular significance or of 
cultural, sporting, historic, popular or national interest. 
 

Page 119



34 

• analysis of the reasoning behind usage or lack of use, including 
consideration of any feedback received; 

• analysis of running costs of facilities; including management and 
maintenance;  

• analysis of limitations, including opening hours and cost; and 
• regional/national infrastructure and trunk roads, working with other LA’s to 

ensure suitable toilet provision along these routes. 
 
4.11 The above examples are not an exhaustive list: LAs should consider any 

additional factors they feel relevant to their assessment of their community’s 
needs. LAs should also take into account plans and strategies they have 
already produced, such as Ageing Well Plans. 

 
4.12 Additionally, LAs should consider any relevant legislation and standards such 

as the Equality Act 201037 and the BSI business standards BS 6465 (BS 6465-
4:2010 Sanitary installations. Code of practice for the provision of public toilets) 
which provides recommendations and guidance intended for those responsible 
for the surveying, assessing, planning, commissioning, designing, managing 
and use of public toilets38 and BS 8300 Standard for the provision of accessible 
toilets. 

 
 
CRITERIA FOR DETERMINING TRANSPORT ROUTES AND SITES OF 
PARTICULAR SIGNIFICANCE 
 

 
 
4.13 These could be places that a lot of people use, visit or pass through on a 

regular basis, for special events or on a seasonal basis.  It may also cover the 
whole range of places from internationally recognised tourist destinations 
through to small places of importance within their localities.  The following 
places are suggested examples of routes and sites of significance, but this is 
not an exhaustive list: 

 
• Bus, rail stations, active travel routes, airports and other termini; 
• Coach stops, car and bike parks and other stopping places on cross-country 

routes; 
• Shopping destinations, both urban and rural; 
• Significant buildings and other structures, for example, those  of historical 

significance; 
• Towns or landscapes; 

                                                             
37 www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents 
38 http://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030177389 

‘Particular significance’ is defined for this guidance as follows: significant 
transport routes such as trunk roads and motorways and other places that 
have high levels of footfall such as cultural and sporting events, as well as 
sites of a historic or national importance. 

 

Page 120



35 

• National Parks, Country Parks, National Trust properties; gardens and other 
open spaces; 

• Places of cultural significance – such as Eisteddfodau, agricultural show-
grounds, museums and places associated with historical and cultural figures; 

• Music, art and other annual festivals and sporting events; 
• Sports stadia and grounds, locations associated with outdoor and indoor 

sports; 
• Theme parks, animal parks and other recreational destinations; 
• Beaches, coastal towns and areas such as coastal paths. 

 
4.14 If a LA strategy proposes the provision of toilets sited on or under land 

adjoining, or in the vicinity of, a highway or proposed highway (including 
bridges and tunnels), the relevant highway authority must consent to the 
provision of the toilets. If the LA is also the relevant highway authority no 
consent is required.  

 
4.15 LAs are best placed to judge what routes and areas are considered significant 

within their own areas both on a permanent and seasonal basis and during 
short term events.  The Local Authority Events Safety Advisory Group of each 
LA can also make recommendations to event organisers on the provision of 
toilets. 

 
4.16 When determining the need, location and numbers for toilets that may be 

required at the different types of sites listed previously, the following criteria 
should be taken into consideration:   

 
The location of the destination 

  
• Is it in an urban or rural setting? 
• Are there existing toilet facilities at the location? 
• Are they adequate to meet anticipated demand? 
• Are visitors likely to have travelled long distances (therefore needing toilet 

facilities on arrival)? 
 

 
The type of venue/destination 

 
• Are there existing toilet facilities at the destination? 
• Are they adequate to meet anticipated demand? 
• Are additional facilities required for particular events? 
• Where are toilets sited at the destination in relation to parking and the venue 

itself? 
• Are toilets needed in more than one place at the destination if it is a large 

site and visitors will be moving around? 
 
 

The duration of the event/demand at the location 
 

• Is it a one-off event, or is there constant demand? 

Page 121



36 

• How many people visit the destination on average per day in the season/off 
season (if different)? 

• What are the times people are likely to visit?  Does demand change over 24 
hours or over the course of the week – or both? 

 
 

The demographic of the visitors 
 

• Are visitors generally of mixed population (i.e. a mix of gender, age, etc.)? 
• Are particular demographics likely to be attracted to the destination (e.g. 

people with babies/small children; older children; older people, people with 
disabilities)? 

 
 

The types of toilet facilities that will be required 
 

• Permanent or temporary? 
• Appropriate ratio of male/female (1 male: 2 female is recommended) or 

gender neutral toilets? 
• Baby changing facilities (needed in both male and female toilets if gender 

neutral toilets not provided)?  
• Accessible for use by people with disabilities? 
• Changing Places facilities required? 

 
 

Whether food and/or drink is provided at the location 
 

• What is the anticipated consumption of food and/or drink based on 
anticipated peak numbers? 

 
 

Access to services 
 

• Can the sewage and water systems cope with peak times of usage? 
• What level of servicing/cleaning of toilet facilities is required based on 

anticipated usage? 
• Distance of parking places from toilets? 

 
 

Whether visitors are able to stay for extended periods 
 

• Will visitors stay for extended periods (i.e. more than a few hours)? 
• Will visitors be able to camp or park caravans and stay overnight? 

 
 
4.17 One-off events may need different requirements to those usually provided in 

particular destinations, according to all of the criteria above. 
 
4.18 ‘Events’ should also be interpreted as ‘destinations’. 

Page 122



37 

 

DETERMINING NUMBERS OF TOILETS REQUIRED 

4.19  Tables of ratios for providing toilet facilities in a range of settings can be found 
in guidances such as the Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music 
and Other Events39 and BS6465: Parts 1-4 Codes of Practice for Sanitary 
Installations. 

 
4.20 BS6465- Part 4:2010 – the Code of Practice for the Installation of Public Toilets 

is intended to guide LAs in respect of the provision of traditional public toilets.  
However, the document contains valuable information in making assessments 
of need of the population for toilet provision, assessing where toilets should be 
located, and sets out how a toilets strategy should be prepared.  The document 
also contains useful technical information that can be applied in relation to 
assessing footfall, mileage and numbers of toilets to be provided, and 
information on the design and technical specification of facilities of all types. 

 
4.21 There are no specific ratios in respect of the number of toilets that should be 

provided for people with disabilities.  The British Standards document BS6465-
4:2010 “Code of Practice for the Installation of Public Toilets”40 suggests that 
around 18% of the population have disabilities.  This document also suggests 
that for new toilets: 

 
• If only one toilet is provided, it should be a gender neutral enlarged 

accessible cubicle; 
• In toilet blocks, at least one gender neutral enlarged accessible cubicle 

should be provided and in addition to this, at least one enlarged toilet cubicle 
should be provided within separate-sex provision;  

• Where there are four or more cubicles in separate-sex toilet provision, at 
least one enlarged cubicle should be provided; and 

• In areas with heavy use, an additional Changing Place should be provided. 
 

4.22 It should be noted that enlarged cubicles intended for use by people with 
disabilities can be preferred by people without disabilities for a number of 
reasons, the increased space allowing adults to assist children or to allow ease 
of movement not available in the standard cubicles. The increased privacy can 
also be required by members of the Transgender community.  Consideration 
should therefore be given to providing additional enlarged cubicles if 
practicable. 

 
4.23 The Changing Places Consortium provides guidance on where Changing 

Places should be situated and the facilities required.41 
  

                                                             
39 https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 
40 https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030177389 
41 http://www.changing-places.org//install_a_toilet.aspx 
 

Page 123



38 

5. COLLABORATION 

 
WFG: working with others in a collaborative way to find shared sustainable 
solutions 
 
5.1 For strategies to be effective, LAs must undertake their planning collaboratively 

with both internal and external partners. If all departments within LAs do not 
take part-ownership of the strategy process, it is less likely to be successful.  

 
5.2 LAs should work with Community and Town Councils, other LAs, public bodies, 

third sector organisations commercial and private entities, when making the 
assessment of need, to identify toilet facilities that could be brought into general 
public use.  

 
5.3 The collaborative involvement of others is also applicable when considering 

toilet provision along routes that cross boundaries such as coastal paths, 
walking trails, active travel routes and large areas of countryside that attract 
visitors.  

 
 
REGIONAL WORKING 
 
5.4 Whilst each LA is required to develop and adopt its own strategy, it may be 

desirable in some circumstances for LAs to work together on a regional rather 
than an individual LA basis wherever it makes sense to do so. Regional 
working should enable a greater focus on preventing declining provision and 
improving standards of toilets, and help bring about better outcomes for people 
and communities in both the short and the long term. It offers practical benefits 
in terms of economies of scale, removing duplication, reducing complexity, 
simplifying activity, ensuring consistency, and building workforce resilience in a 
policy area which is often too dependent for delivery on small numbers of staff. 
It should also help to identify, at an early stage, situations where provision in a 
LA may be adversely affected by land use or transport decisions made in a 
neighbouring LA, and to pursue cross-border solutions to shared problems, 
including sustainability. 

 
5.5 It may be desirable in some circumstances for LAs to work with a National Park 

Authority where there is a common interest in toilet provision related to 
particular attractions or infrastructure within their area or that cross from one LA 
area to another (for example, active travel routes). However, it should be noted 
that the requirements of the Act only apply to Wales, and do not extend to 
England. 

 
 
WORKING WTH COMMUNITY AND TOWN COUNCILS 
 
5.6 Community and town councils should be considered as key delivery partners as 

they are uniquely placed to help build resilience and renewal in areas through 
understanding communities’ strengths and assets, and actively engaging local 

Page 124



39 

people and local business to help identify and meet local ambitions and needs. 
They may already be managing toilets on behalf of LAs, or have undertaken 
asset transfers.  LAs should work with community and town councils to utilise 
their knowledge of their communities’ needs, as well as in respect of the 
consideration of community-based assets such as public conveniences.  

 
5.7 Where funding has been applied for in relation to the refurbishment of 

community buildings, such as under the Lottery or other grants, LAs should 
consider at the planning stage whether it is appropriate to make provision for 
toilets within a new planning application.  Additionally, community groups and 
others when applying for such funding should be encouraged to consider 
including accessible toilets for public use within their proposals. 

 
5.8 Community asset transfers of existing buildings (either purpose built traditional 

public toilets or other buildings that have toilets that can be brought into wider 
use) may be an appropriate mechanism for some communities, and this should 
be considered carefully with any community council, community group or third 
sector organisation that expresses an interest.  The Welsh Government 
provides guidance on its website on how transfers may be achieved, which 
includes the document ‘Community Asset Transfers in Wales – A Best Practice 
Guide’.42   

 
5.9 When considering transfers of this type, however, future proofing must be built 

into arrangements to ensure that the new owners cannot close the toilets, 
change the use of the building or otherwise terminate the agreed access to 
toilets.  This is particularly important if the asset in question is a purpose-built 
traditional public toilet block.  

  

                                                             
42 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/?lang=en 
 

Page 125



40 

 
 

 
 
 
 
WORKING WITH OTHER LA DEPARTMENTS PUBLIC AND THIRD SECTOR 
BODIES  
 
5.10 LAs should include toilets which are within publicly owned, occupied, or funded 

premises; for example this may include museums, historic sights, leisure 
centres, transport stations, national parks and low level security government 
buildings. LAs should also consider making links with hospitals, health centres 
and GP surgeries.  LAs should first consider the buildings they own and occupy 
themselves or lease out to others as to whether there are toilets that can be 
brought into wider public use, for example in council offices (particularly those 
the public visit for council transactions),  leisure centres, libraries and other 

 
Case Study - Village Toilets Llansannan, North Wales 

 
In 2009 the community council in the village of Llansannan held a community 
wide appraisal to understand the needs, wants and aspirations of residents. It 
transpired that the issue many people were concerned about was the threatened 
closure of the village’s public toilets.  
 
To try to stop this action, the village began negotiations with Conwy County 
Borough Council to take over the ownership of the toilet facilities. However, there 
were a number of overheads that the community council would need to take on 
– chiefly raising the funds to pay the annual rates (£1800). So the village 
decided to register as a limited company with charitable status, ‘Menter Bro 
Aled’, which would make them eligible for grants and for discounts on the rates. 
They successfully applied for a 100% rate rebate and negotiated £4000 from the 
local authority towards restoring the toilet facilities to a working standard, a sign 
of Conwy Council’s support for this local initiative.  
 
Village activists who were involved in the building trade provided many of the 
necessary skills for the restoration of the building, and work was carried out on a 
voluntary basis. Cleaning of the toilets is also voluntary by the landlady of the 
local pub.  
 
The toilets have been in local ownership for a year now and there has been no 
anti-social behaviour, despite concerns about graffiti.  The toilets are used 
extensively especially by delivery and service drivers, as well as walkers and 
other tourists passing through. Word has spread of the toilets to other areas and 
it has become a ‘toilet to be seen’. It is considered an important element in 
attracting visitors to the village shops and services.  
 
In light of this experience of taking over the toilets, Menter Bro Aled are now 
looking at other community-based initiatives.  

Page 126



41 

such premises.  Where councils own buildings but intend to lease them out, 
consideration should be given to including access to toilets by the public as a 
condition of the lease wherever appropriate. 

 
EXAMPLE: the LA owns a disused gate house building in a park.  It is planned 
to refurbish and lease it as a café.  A clause is added to the lease that the 
lessees must allow members of the public other than customers to use the 
toilets inside the café without restriction when the café is open.  This 
arrangement returns toilet facilities to the park, and allows for the toilets to be 
effectively ‘supervised’ during opening hours.   

 
 

 
 
5.11 Where publicly accessible premises are owned by persons other than LAs (for 

example government offices, commercial complexes, universities and colleges, 
premises run by third sector organisations), LAs are required to consult with, 
and gain the consent of, the owners/occupiers of the relevant premises before it 
can include toilets in those buildings within their strategy. 

 
5.12 It should also be borne in mind that third sector organisations, although willing 

to help, may be reliant on voluntary workers or have other limitations on what 
they can provide.  LAs are encouraged to work with the owners of these 
premises to seek their agreement to making their toilet facilities available to the 
wider public.  

 
 
COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS 
 
5.13 We know that traditional services such as public buses, toilets, libraries and 

community/ day centres are being increasingly challenged due to the 
reductions in frontline services budgets. However, good practice already exists 
across Wales, where new approaches such as community asset transfer, 
empowering town/community councils and social enterprises to take on 
responsibilities for managing buildings/facilities are being embraced.  

 

Case Study: Refashioning toilet blocks in Pembrokeshire 
 
In Pembrokeshire the council identified a number of facilities where a reduced 
provision would provide adequate facilities and not have a detrimental impact on 
members of the public.  In these instances certain toilet blocks were ‘down-
sized’ by closing the separate ladies and gents and retaining a single, gender 
neutral facility with disabled access.  The cost of running these facilities was 
passed to community councils with an initial parachute payment.  The space 
created by downsizing has been offered to the community councils for them to 
generate an income, such as through renting as a store.  This has happened at 
a number of locations and contributes to the running costs for the remaining 
gender neutral toilet.  This model ensures a sustainable service and generates 
more local involvement and responsibility. 
 

Page 127



42 

5.14 Welsh Government guidance43 has been produced to support a step-change in 
enabling communities to play a more active role in service design and delivery. 
It helps organisations to be better equipped to undertake community asset 
transfers and so develop a thriving and sustainable long-term use for property 
assets and services in communities across Wales.  However, such transfers 
must be considered carefully to ensure that any proposal is sustainable in the 
long term. 

 
5.15 It is crucial that good practice is shared and that smart, innovative and cost-

effective models are adopted. A range of good practice, including in relation to 
public toilets, can be found on the good practice website44. 

 
 
WORKING WITH THE PRIVATE SECTOR 
 
5.16 LAs should consider extending community toilet schemes where they are still 

running, or reviving such schemes where they have been discontinued.  
Guidance on management of a community toilet scheme can be found in a later 
section of this guidance under the heading ‘Good Practice and Guidance’.  

 
5.17 LAs should consider the limitations placed on the use of toilets in the private 

sector, which could include restricted access as a result of limitations of the 
building structure and the business opening hours.   

 
5.18 LAs in Wales have the freedom to utilise monies set aside in the Revenue 

Support Grant, following the transfer of the Public Facilities Grant Scheme 
funding.  Many privately owned premises and businesses may be amenable to 
allowing wider public use of their toilet facilities and this should be investigated 
by the LA.  LAs can be assured that to name and publicise the opening times of 
the premises identified (and therefore the toilets therein) as part of the scheme 
as a whole is good practice.  This has the sole purpose of informing the public 
of facilities available to them, and therefore should not be interpreted as 
“advertising” or “showing favouritism”.  Businesses cannot expect, however, 
that LAs will promote their facilities in any other context or ahead of non-
commercial premises as a “reward” for participating in the scheme or as a 
condition of securing their participation. 

 

Community Toilets Schemes – Good Practice Guidance 

5.19 In England, the Department of Communities and Local Government published 
its strategic guide, Improving Public Access to Better Quality Toilets45, on 6 
March 2008. Amongst other things, the guide highlighted some innovative 
approaches taken by local authorities to public toilet provision, although it did 

                                                             
43 http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/best-
practice-guide/?lang=en 
44 http://www.goodpractice.wales/home 
45http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919231747/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/loca
lgovernment/guidancetoiletschemes 
 

Page 128



43 

not prescribe what approaches they should take. Local authorities are best 
placed to determine the mix of approaches most suitable to their area, and this 
guidance is intended to support them in making that decision. 

5.20 This guidance is primarily intended for local authorities and partnerships 
wishing to explore the feasibility of setting up a Community Toilet Scheme. It 
provides an overview of the Community Toilet Scheme developed by the 
London Borough of Richmond-upon-Thames, as well as a step-by-step guide 
on how to set up a similar scheme. 

5.21 The toolkit includes a case study of the SatLav text messaging service 
operated by Westminster City Council, which makes use of mobile phone 
technology to help the public locate their closest accessible toilets.   

5.22 LAs are recommended to consider this guidance when seeking delivery 
partners in local businesses and other organisations, as it contains practical 
information on establishing and maintaining a successful Community Toilet 
Scheme.   

5.23 Any discussions with potential delivery partners must cover all aspects of the 
management of toilets, including dealing with anti-social behaviour, and the 
health and safety aspects of management of waste from drug use or sexual 
behaviour.  A problem reduction guide is available from the British Toilets 
Association on dealing with these types of issues46. Any agreements should 
include consideration of future maintenance. 

5.24. It is good practice (though not a requirement under the wider proposals in this 
document) for LAs to inspect the facilities of any potential community toilet 
scheme delivery partners, and to undertake spot checks on those that have 
signed up. The latter is particularly important if a payment has been made for 
participation, to ensure that they are continuing to allow access to the facilities 
they have agreed to provide. 

 
ALL PREMISES TYPES 
 
5.25 There are no specific types of premises exempt from consideration on the face 

of the Act. However, local circumstances and sensitivities presented by 
particular premises may necessitate exceptions from inclusion in the strategy. 
Participating owners of buildings should not be expected to allow access to 
toilets on their premises outside their usual opening hours unless a specific 
agreement is made. 

 
 
 

                                                             
46 http://www.btaloos.co.uk/?page_id=307 

Page 129



44 

 
 
 
RADAR NATIONAL KEY SCHEME 
 
5.26 The Royal Association for Disability and Rehabilitation (RADAR) operates a 

National Key Scheme47 whereby toilets designed for people with disabilities can 
be locked to prevent damage and misuse and keys provided to people with 
disabilities to allow them access to the facilities.  The scheme is operated on a 
UK national basis, and toilet owners are asked to join the National Key Scheme 
to provide the standard locks and the keys for users. 

 
5.27 A range of LAs, other public and third sector organisations and commercial 

companies are members of the scheme, and toilet facilities can be found in a 
range of premises of all types.  RADAR has published a scheme guidance 
document, which can be purchased from them. A list of RADAR key toilets is 
also published by region.48 

 
5.28 LAs should consider this provision when developing their local toilet strategies. 
 
5.29 The solutions put forward in this guidance are suggestions to increase public 

access to toilets.  It should be noted that the options set out here for increasing 
availability of toilet facilities are suggestions of avenues that LAs could and 
should explore. Those that can ultimately be taken up will differ between LAs 
according to local circumstances.  It is not suggested that it is feasible to 
provide all of these solutions in each LA, only that they should be considered. 

  

                                                             
47 https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/page.aspx?pageid=10&tab=National+Key+Scheme&level=2 
48https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/search.aspx?st=nks&tab=RADAR+Accessible+Toilets&where=wales&lev
el=1 
 

Security: LAs are not required to consider referring to toilets in buildings 
which, in their opinion, should not be made available for public use on 
security grounds. For example, LAs are not required to consider public 
access to toilets in prisons, or those buildings which require a high level of 
security, such as government buildings. 
 
Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults: LAs are not required to 
consider public access to toilets in schools or other buildings such as 
residential premises for children or vulnerable adults. However, local 
circumstances may permit the use of toilets in these types of premises. For 
example, a school building that is also open for wider community activities, 
or can be opened during school holidays.  
 
Any such proposed use should be given consideration on a case by case 
basis. 

Page 130



45 

6. PUBLICATION AND DISSEMINATION 

 
6.1 One of the purposes of the strategy is to help prevent the kinds of health and 

well-being issues as discussed elsewhere in this document. To help achieve 
this and for a strategy to be successful, and its preventative intention to be 
effective, it is essential that it is publicised and the provision of toilets for public 
use is made known to as wide a public as possible. The success of the strategy 
is dependent on members of the public and owners of facilities fully 
understanding the principles of the scheme and recognition of any signage or 
publicity materials. 

 
6.2 LAs should publish and publicise their first strategy no later than 31 May 2019.   

LAs are not required to submit their published strategies to the Welsh 
Government.  LAs are accountable to their councillors and residents for the 
publication of their strategy, completion of identified actions and subsequent 
interim statements. 

 
6.3 On publication, LAs should consider engaging again with the people they 

worked with in developing the assessment of need to disseminate the strategy. 
This could be done with the request that it be shared further with any networks 
individuals or groups may have access to. Third sector organisations and 
others should be encouraged to promote the message of the availability of 
toilets and to address any reluctance to access toilets that are not traditional 
public toilets.  All participants in the process of the assessment of need and 
delivery plans can play a part in this process of culture change. 

 
6.4 LAs should also consider how the wider public could be made aware of the 

strategy, and similar methods to those used for engagement with communities 
should be used. As a minimum, the strategy should be published in a prominent 
place on the website of each individual LA and publicised in any relevant LA 
maintained newsletters. Additional publicity approaches to ensure the 
information reaches as many people as possible, both residents and visitors, 
should also be considered.   

 
6.5 The Dewis Cymru (www.dewis.wales) website is a resource that brings 

together local information on social services, health and wellbeing services in 
one place.  A number of LAs already post their information to this site.  These 
are Isle of Anglesey, Gwynedd, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Wrexham, 
Bridgend, the Vale of Glamorgan, Cardiff, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, Torfaen, Monmouthshire and Newport. It is being 
rolled out across other parts of Wales. LAs should post information about their 
toilets on this website as well as on their own. 

 
 
PUBLICITY MATERIALS 
 
6.6 Any publicity materials should be available in both downloadable and printed 

formats to ensure the information reaches as many people as possible, both 
residents and visitors. Any materials produced should be published in both 

Page 131



46 

Welsh and English, and should also be made available in other formats (such 
as Braille) on request.  Information should be published in a prominent location 
on the LA website. Printed versions could be distributed via visitor centres, 
libraries and other well attended venues. Consideration should also be given to 
the need for necessary street signage. 

 
6.7 To assist LAs with the publicising of information on the location of toilets, and 

help the general public identify the provision of toilets for public use, both locally 
and nationally, the following tools have been developed.  

 
 
TOILET MAP DEVELOPMENT 
 
6.8 The development of a national toilet map for Wales will provide the public both 

locally and nationally with a resource that they can use to see the availability of 
toilets in an area they intend to visit.  This will be developed by utilising data 
provided by LAs, in existing mapping tools, to Welsh Government. The map, 
utilising the data, will be presented in Welsh and English on the Welsh 
Government’s Lle data mapping website49.  The data collected will also be 
made available to third parties who will be able to use it to develop their own 
maps and apps.  The Welsh Government does not intend to develop its own 
app as it is considered that third party developers are better placed to do this 
utilising the Welsh Government data and there are already apps of this kind in 
use. 

 
6.9 To deliver this, under section 141 of the Local Government Act 1972, LAs 

should make an open dataset available to the Welsh Government, containing 
information consisting of the location and specified characteristics of the toilets 
they identify under their local toilets strategies. Full details on the data required 
and how it will be collected are provided in a separate technical guidance 
document.   

 
6.10 LAs are asked to post details about their toilets to the Dewis Cymru website, 

and it is hoped that eventually the data collected for the Lle mapping can be 
cross referenced with the Dewis website. This is still being developed and 
further advice will be given once the mapping process is underway. 

 
 
NATIONAL LOGO 
 
6.11 We know that a national recognised scheme has many benefits, therefore it is 

considered desirable to advertise provision of toilets for public use in a 
consistent way. A logo can be used as signage, for example displayed in 
windows of premises that have consented to allow their toilet facilities to be 
used by the public. It can also be contained within printed materials to identify 
those premises.  

 

                                                             
49 http://lle.gov.wales/home 
 

Page 132



47 

6.12 A logo has been designed for this purpose and will be released for use at a 
later date.  When released, it would be helpful if LAs adopt and publicise it, so 
that residents and visitors will readily recognise it wherever they are in Wales. 
Although its use is not mandated within the Act, we recommend that LAs 
incorporate the logo as part of their awareness raising of toilets for public use.  

 
6.13 Full details on the logo and its suggested use will be provided at Annex B. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 133



48 

ANNEX A 
LEGAL PROVISIONS 

 
Sections 113 to 115 of the Act have been covered in the main body of this guidance.   
 
This annex covers sections 116 to 118 of the Act which restate or replace various 
legal powers that LAs already have.  This annex also covers other legislation of 
relevance to the provision of toilets for public use.   
 
Section 116(1) provides that a LA may provide toilets in their area for use by the 
public.  This section restates the power that LAs previously had under section 87 of 
the Public Health Act 1936. Section 116(1) essentially means that the provision and 
maintenance of toilets in public places is at the discretion of LAs who have power to 
provide public conveniences, but are under no duty to do so. 
 
Section 116(2) provides that LAs must have regard to their own strategy when 
deciding to exercise their discretionary power to provide toilets, and of what type. 
Section 116(3) provides definitions relevant to section 116(2). 
 
Section 116(4) provides that a LA may not provide toilets on or under land adjoining, 
or in the vicinity of a highway or proposed highway unless the LA is the highway 
authority or has the consent of the highway authority.  Section 116(6) provides 
definitions relevant to section 116(4). 
 
Section 116(5) provides that a LA may charge for the use of any toilets they may 
provide. 
 
Section 117(1) provides LAs that provide toilets with the power to make byelaws as 
to the conduct of people using or entering those toilets. 
 
Section 117(2) reserves the right of a community council to make byelaws in relation 
to toilets provided by them, in which case their byelaws take precedence over any 
byelaws made by the county or county borough council under section 2 of the Local 
Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012.  
 
Section 118 and Schedule 4 of the Act deals with consequential amendments to the 
Public Health Act 1936; Highways Act 1980 and the Local Government Byelaws 
(Wales) Act 2012. 
 
The following legislation is also of relevance when considering the development of 
the local toilets strategies. 
 
 
Local Government Act 1972, section 123 
 
A LA may dispose of its property however it wishes to do.  In circumstances where 
LA property is being leased to a private party for the property’s use as, for example, 
a café, the LA may exercise its section 123 power to insert a condition into the lease 
agreement to the effect that the new occupier/s of the premise would be required to 
make the toilet facilities available for use by the public. 

Page 134



49 

 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, section 20 
 
A LA has power under section 20 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 to require toilets to be provided and maintained for public use in 
any place providing entertainment, exhibitions, sporting events and places serving 
food and drink for consumption on the premises. 
 
Highways Act 1980, section 114 
 
Where the LA is the authority for a highway they may provide public sanitary 
conveniences (including toilets) in proper and convenient situations and may 
manage such conveniences. 
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 106 
 
In limited circumstances, a LA, in their capacity as local planning authorities, may 
use powers under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to make an 
agreement with a developer for the provision of toilets for public use as part of an 
approved development. 
 
Local Government Act 2000, section 2 
 
A LA may do anything which it considers is likely to achieve the promotion or 
improvement of the well-being of its area. This may include entering into grant 
agreements with the operators of commercial premises in order to require such 
operators to allow public access to the toilet facilities at the premises. 
 
Equality Act 2010 
 
The Equality Act 2010 covers a wide range of duties and responsibilities that LAs 
should have regard to in relation to people with protected characteristics and the 
provision of services and facilities.   
 
 
Other powers 
 
LA Environmental Health Officers can review plans and licence applications and 
object that an application does not meet the requirements of relevant British 
Standards relating to sanitary facilities. 
 
 

Other tools 

The British Standard BS6465-1:2006 Code of Practice for the design of sanitary 
installations and scales of provision of sanitary and associated appliances can be 
used to secure an appropriate level of provision, design quality and accessibility for 
toilets in new buildings and those undergoing major refurbishment. 
 

Page 135



50 

The British Standard BS 8300:2009+A1:2010 Code of Practice for the design of 
buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of people with disabilities. 
 
Leasing conditions can also be useful for providing access to additional toilets for 
public use.  When letting council properties, LAs could consider including clauses 
within the lease to allow the public access to toilets on the premises when 
appropriate. 
  

Page 136



51 

 

ANNEX B 

NATIONAL TOILET LOGO 

 
To be provided. 
 
  

Page 137



52 

ANNEX C 
 

USEFUL REFERENCES 
 
 
Assessment Tools 
 
 
Assessments of Local Wellbeing – Common data set 
 
http://www.dataunitwales.gov.uk/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=30&mid=64&fileid=95 
 
 
Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation/?lang=en 
 
Wales Census Data 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/census-population/?lang=en 
 
Future Trends Data 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/future-trends 
 
Population projections 
 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-
Authority 
 
Transport Trends 
 
http://wales.gov.uk/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=en 
 
Disability Figures 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-facts-and-
figures#fn:1 
 
Tourism Statistics 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/?topic=Tourism&lang=en 
 
Welsh Language Commissioner - Guidance for Organisations 
 
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/English/Organisations/Pages/InformationForOrganisations.a
spx 
 
Welsh Health Impact Assessment Support Unit 
 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/home.cfm?orgid=522 
 
 

Page 138



53 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit 
 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
 
Population Needs Assessment 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/population/?lang=en 
 
Wales Spatial Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial-plan/?lang=en 
 
Place Plans 
 
http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ 
 
Destination Management Plans 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/ 
 
Business Wales Tourism Pages 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/working-together 
 
Tourism Amenity Investment Support 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/finance#guides-tabs--4 
 
 
Policy Guidance 
 
Prosperity for All 
 
https://gov.wales/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-en.pdf 
 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and Toolkit 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en 
 
Older People’s Strategy for Wales 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130521olderpeoplestrategyen.pdf 
 
The Importance and Impact of Community Services in Wales – Older People’s 
Commissioner Report 2014 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-02-
25/The_Importance_and_Impact_of_Community_Services_within_Wales.aspx 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



54 

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments Guidance – Older People’s 
Commissioner  
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-02-
16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Impact_Assessments_Scrutiny.aspx 
 
 
Preparing Local Wellbeing Plans for Public Services Boards – Older People’s 
Commissioner 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/16-10-
05/Preparing_Local_Wellbeing_Plans_Guidance_for_Public_Services_Boards.aspx 
 
Engagement and consultation with older people – Older People’s 
Commissioner Guidance 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/Publications/pub-story/14-07-
01/Best_Practice_Guidance_for_Engagement_and_Consultation_with_Older_People_on_Changes_t
o_Community_Services_in_Wales.aspx 
 
 
Wellbeing Indicators for Older People 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs 
 
Transgender Action Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-en.pdf 
 
Local Wellbeing Plans 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-en.pdf 
 
Child Poverty Strategy 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-
poverty/?lang=en 
 
Tackling Poverty Action Plan 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-
action-plan/?lang=en   
 
Welsh Language Strategy 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217en.pdf    
 
Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013, Statutory and Design Guidance 
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/114 
 
https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-design-guidance 
 

Page 140



55 

https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-statutory-guidance-local-authorities 
 
 
Practical Guidance 
 
Changing Places information and guidance 
 
http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 
Blue Flag Scheme (includes criteria for toilet provision) 
 
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/blue-flag 
 
Welsh Health Impact Assessment Support Unit 
 
https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/en/ 
 
 
Community Asset Transfer guidance and resources 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/?lang=en 
 
Community Toilets Scheme Guidance  
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919231747/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publicatio
ns/localgovernment/guidancetoiletschemes 
 
 
The Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and Other Events 
 
https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 
 
The Green Guide (Safety at Sports Grounds) 
 
http://www.safetyatsportsgrounds.org.uk/publications/green-guide 
 
 
HSE Resources – Event Safety 
 
http://www.hse.gov.uk/event-safety/index.htm 
 
 
Miscellaneous Information 
 
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/1794/overcoming-barriers-and-identifying-opportunities-for-
everyday-walking-for-disabled-people.pdf 
 
The London Plan: Social Infrastructure Section S6 on Public Toilets 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



56 

Business Improvement Districts 
 
http://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-improvement-
districts/?lang=en 
 
Code of Practice for Public Toilets in Britain 
 
www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toilets_in_Britain 
 
 
Just Can’t Wait card scheme 
 
https://www.bladderandbowel.org/help-information/just-cant-wait-card/ 
 
Mobile toilet facilities for people with disabilities 
 
https://www.mobiloo.org.uk/ 
 
 

Page 142



TECHNICAL GUIDANCE 

National Map of Toilets Identified in Local Toilets Strategies 

Mapping Data Required from Local Authorities 

 

Background 

One of the commitments made during the passage of the Public Health 

(Wales) Act 2017 through the National Assembly for Wales in respect of local 

toilets strategies was to work to produce a national map of toilets.  This map 

will be produced within existing Welsh Government mapping infrastructure, 

via the Lle website.  This provides a geo-portal which was developed in 

partnership between Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales. Lle 

serves as a hub for data and information covering a wide spectrum of topics, 

but primarily around the environment.  Examples of data displayed on the 

online maps include Active Travel designated routes; air quality management 

areas; environment noise mapping; National Park and local authority 

boundaries; flood alert areas; habitat survey data and a range of other 

environmental information. 

The website will generate all-Wales maps based on the datasets provided by 

local authorities which can be configured to focus on either the national 

picture, or on more local areas. The data included in the Lle map will be 

available as an open data service accessible to everyone.   The link to the Lle 

portal is below. 

http://lle.gov.wales/home 

The Welsh Government has not developed an app, as many people are 

unable to use a smartphone for a number of reasons. It is more appropriate to 

focus on ensuring the information is available online through a wide range of 

websites and via traditional offline methods.  We believe that app 

development is best done by professional developers who will be able to 

access the data from the Lle website.   

 

Requirements 

Once local authorities have identified the toilets that will be publicised as 

available for use by the general public, local authorities are required to 

prepare a dataset to a given specification (see later), and make it available as 

open data on their website.  The dataset will consist of the location and 

specified characteristics of the identified toilets, and this data will be 

Page 143

http://lle.gov.wales/home


consumed by the Welsh Government system and joined to other LA datasets 

to produce the national dataset for the Lle map.   

For data to be classed as open data it needs to be made available under an 

open licence. Within the Public Sector this can be achieved by publishing data 

under the Open Government Licence (OGL).  

As the data provided by local authorities is to be made available as open data, 

it will be available for reuse by third parties, either directly from the local 

authority’s own website, or via the joined dataset behind the Lle map.  This 

might include other online map services, app developers or commercial 

interests, as well as being available for reuse by other public sector 

organisations.   

The dataset will be available in Welsh and English.  The public will be able to 

see and search the data as it appears on the Lle website, to see the whole of 

Wales or to look at particular areas.   

Local authorities will be able to generate their own maps from these open 

data feeds, or they can choose to configure the national map published on Lle 

to focus on their own area, with the potential to embed the locally configured 

map into their own website. Local Authorities are requested to also show a 

link to the Lle map as a whole to assist people in searching the data for other 

areas they may be visiting. 

The Welsh Government will also endeavour to encourage other public sector 

websites to link to the maps. 

 

Legal Basis  

Section141 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides the basis for the 

required data collection. This is reproduced below:- 

“(1)[F1The council of a non-metropolitan county] may conduct, or assist in the 

conducting of, investigations into, and the collection of information relating to, 

any matters concerning the county or any part of the county and may make, 

or assist in the making of, arrangements whereby any such information and 

the results of any such investigation are made available to any other local 

authority in the county, any government department or the public. 

(2)The appropriate Minister with respect to any matter may require the council 

of a county to provide him with any information with respect to that matter 

which is in the possession of, or available to, that council or any other local 

authority in the county in consequence of the exercise of any power conferred 

Page 144

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/141#commentary-c15110211


by or under any enactment; and where such requirement is made in respect 

of any information which is in the possession of, or available to, any other 

local authority in the county, but not the county council, the county council 

may require that other authority to furnish them with that information. 

[F2(3)This section shall have effect in relation to Wales— 

(a)as if any reference to a council were a reference to a principal council; and 

(b)as if any reference to a county were a reference to a principal area.]” 

 

PLEASE NOTE: all owners of toilets should be made aware the data 

gathered under this strategy will be made openly available. This is in 

line with the Welsh Government’s commitment to open data which is 

outlined within the Welsh Government Open Data Plan. 

 
 
 
Technical Requirements 
 
For this process to work, it is imperative that a consistent data structure is 
observed by all local authorities when making their data available as open 
data.  The dataset that is to be collected for each toilet facility identified is 
specified in the table below.   Please note that the comments do not form part 
of the dataset, but are there for explanatory purposes.  
 
Please note that all text description fields MUST be supplied in Welsh and 
English as separate fields.  This is because the Lle mapping generates a 
Welsh version and an English version of the maps separately.   
 
The completed dataset must be published as a minimum in the CSV format, 
although other formats such as KML or JSON may also be used alongside the 
CSV.  The CSV (and any other formats) should be made available on the 
local authority website behind a separate URL link to be publicised by the 
authority.  This will enable the Welsh Government mapping systems to 
automatically consume the dataset from each local authority.  The datasets 
behind these URL links should be kept up to date by each local authority so 
that regular refreshes by the Welsh Government system will pick up any 
updates.  The URLs should ideally not change once data are placed behind 
them but if this proves necessary, the Welsh Government should be informed 
immediately. 
 
Notes on the dataset  
 

 Where rows are shaded in grey, supply of the data is not mandatory. 
 

Page 145

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/141#commentary-c15110231
http://gov.wales/docs/decisions/General/160331OpenDataPlan.pdf


 One record should be completed per location reference number.  
Completion of all fields correctly will ensure that all the types of facilities 
available under each location reference will be recorded.    

 

 The following table is indicative of the data required.  The data should 
not be mapped using this table as a template, but to be put into a CSV or 

Excel format, utilising the data field names as the column headings.  Data 
for each location should therefore be entered as one line per premises 
(see example section below). 

 

 The CSV template populated with the headings will be available from the 
Welsh Government data mappers on request. 

 
LocalToiletsStrategy@gov.wales 

  

Local 
authority ID 

Name of 
location – 
English 

Name of 
Location - 
Welsh 

UPRN 
reference 

British National 
Grid location – 
x co-ordinate 

W060000XX High Street, 
Town 

Y Stryd Fawr, Y 
Dre 

xxx xxx 

Page 146



Dataset to be collected for each identified toilet location 
 
 
 

Data field name Required format Comment 

Local authority ID W060000XX See separate list 

Name of location – 

English 

 If the facility is located inside a 

shop, for example. 

Name of Location – 

Welsh 

 

UPRN reference  This is a unique reference number 

that is allotted to each premises.  It 

will be available from your LA’s 

Local Land and Property Gazetter 

Custodian. 

British National Grid 

location – x co-

ordinate 

 To nearest metre 

This can be found via internal GIS 

systems or via OS paper maps. This 

is only required if the UPRN cannot 

be provided.   

British National Grid 

location – y co-

ordinate 

 To nearest metre 

This is only required if the UPRN 

cannot be provided.   

Postcode  To be provided to assist the public 

in locating toilet site. 

Access notes – 

English  

Text:  255 character 

limit 

This should provide any access 

information a user may need to 

know – e.g. “on first floor”; 

“underground facilities, access via 

steps, disabled facility above 

ground, ask for key at café” 

Both languages must be provided, 

in separate fields 

Access notes – Welsh Text:  255 character 

limit 

Charge to access  If there is a charge to enter, put the 

amount only in the cell. 

Opening times Format to be used 

is 24 hr clock –  

00.00 

If opening times are the same 

Monday-Friday, only Monday needs 

to be completed. 

 

 

 

 

Monday – open 00.00 

Monday – close 00.00 

Tuesday – open 00.00 

Tuesday – close 00.00 

Page 147



Wednesday - open 00.00  

Wednesday - close 00.00 

Thursday – open 00.00 

Thursday – close 00.00 

Friday – open 00.00 

Friday – close 00.00 

Saturday – open 00.00 

Saturday – close 00.00 

Sunday – open 00.00 

Sunday – close 00.00 

Off peak and public 

holiday closure 

Y = 1 

N = 0 

The off-peak questions allow for the 

recording of seasonal opening 

variations.  The minimum of text 

should be recorded to define the off-

peak season, such as  “September-

May’; “closed during school term 

time” 

 

Both languages must be provided 

for all text fields completed. 

 

All the public holidays are listed 

separately on a yes/no basis, to 

allow for seasonal variations and 

the opening pattern of different 

types of premises.  For consistency 

purposes between Welsh and 

English versions of the Lle map, yes 

should be recorded as 1, no as 0.  

 

Each field must be completed with 1 

or 0.  Do not leave any fields blank. 

Are services reduced 

during off-peak 

seasons? 

1/0 

What is off peak 

(English) 

Text - 255 

characters 

What is off peak 

(Welsh)  

Text - 255 

characters 

Closed Christmas Day 1/0 

Closed Boxing Day 1/0 

Closed New Year’s 

Day 

1/0 

Closed May Bank 

Holiday 

1/0 

Closed Good Friday 1/0 

Closed Easter Sunday 1/0 

Closed Easter 

Monday 

1/0 

Closed Spring Bank 

Holiday 

1/0 

Closed August Bank 

Holiday 

1/0 

Facilities available Y = 1 

N = 0 

Y/N answers as before. Each field 

must be completed with 1 or  0.  Do 

not leave any fields blank. 

Male only 1/0 i.e. for the sole use of the 

designated sex.  A traditional 

male/female pairing of facilities 

Page 148



 
  

Female only 1/0 would therefore be recorded as 

male only and female only under the 

same reference number. 

Unisex toilet 1/0 i.e. not marked for the sole use of 

male or female. 

Baby change - in male 

only toilet 

1/0 Denotes where the baby change 

facility is located – i.e. in women’s 

toilet; separate room; within the 

disabled toilet facility 
Baby change -  in 

female only toilet 

1/0 

Baby change - in 

unisex toilet 

1/0 

Baby change -  in 

separate room to 

toilets 

1/0 

Baby change – in 

disabled toilet 

1/0 

Disabled – open 

access – male only 

1/0 i.e. not reliant on user having a 

RADAR key 

Disabled – open 

access – female only 

1/0 

Disabled – open 

access – unisex 

1/0 

Disabled  RADAR – 

male only 

1/0 i.e. RADAR key holders only 

Disabled – RADAR – 

female only 

1/0 

Disabled – RADAR – 

unisex 

1/0 

Changing Place 1/0 These are toilets incorporating adult 

change facilities, hoists etc. for the 

use of people with profound 

disabilities and their carers  

Page 149



List of Local Authority ID codes 
 

Code English Welsh 

W06000001 Isle of Anglesey Ynys Môn 

W06000002 Gwynedd Gwynedd 

W06000003 Conwy Conwy 

W06000004 Denbighshire Sir Ddinbych 

W06000005 Flintshire Sir y Fflint 

W06000006 Wrexham Wrecsam 

W06000008 Ceredigion Ceredigion 

W06000009 Pembrokeshire Sir Benfro 

W06000010 Carmarthenshire Sir Gaerfyrddin 

W06000011 Swansea Abertawe 

W06000012 Neath Port Talbot Castell-nedd Port Talbot 

W06000013 Bridgend Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 

W06000014 Vale of Glamorgan Bro Morgannwg 

W06000015 Cardiff Caerdydd 

W06000016 Rhondda Cynon Taf Rhondda Cynon Taf 

W06000018 Caerphilly Caerffili 

W06000019 Blaenau Gwent Blaenau Gwent 

W06000020 Torfaen Tor-faen 

W06000021 Monmouthshire Sir Fynwy 

W06000022 Newport Casnewydd 

W06000023 Powys Powys 

W06000024 Merthyr Tydfil Merthyr Tudful 

 

Page 150



Darparu Toiledau yng Nghymru: 
Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol
Canllawiau Statudol
Mehefin 2018

Rhan 8 o Ddeddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017:
Darparu Toiledau

    © Hawlfraint y Goron 2018     WG32533

ISBN Digidol: 978 1 78937 507 7

Page 151



2 
 

CANLLAWIAU YNGHYLCH DARPARU TOILEDAU YNG NGHYMRU:  
STRATEGAETH TOILEDAU LLEOL 
 
Cynulleidfa:     Awdurdodau lleol; cynghorau cymuned; mangreoedd y mae 

awdurdodau cyhoeddus yn berchen arnynt, yn eu meddiannu neu’n eu 
cyllido sy’n cynnal cyfleusterau toiledau; awdurdodau priffyrdd; 
mangreoedd preifat sy’n cynnal cyfleusterau toiledau; a chyrff lleol a 
chenedlaethol yng Nghymru sydd â buddiant yn y ddarpariaeth o 
doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd. 

 
Trosolwg: Mae’r ddogfen hon yn darparu canllawiau i awdurdodau lleol ynghylch y 

dyletswyddau a’r pwerau a gyflwynwyd dan Ran 8 o Ddeddf Iechyd y 
Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017, sy’n gosod dyletswydd ar awdurdodau lleol (fel 
y diffinnir yn adran 124 o Ddeddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017) i 
lunio a chyhoeddi strategaeth toiledau lleol ar gyfer eu hardal.   

 
Camau  
gweithredu: Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol ystyried y canllawiau statudol hyn. 
 
Rhagor o 
wybodaeth:     Dylid cyfeirio ymholiadau am y ddogfen hon at: 

Y Gangen Polisi a Deddfwriaeth Diogelu Iechyd 
Is-adran Iechyd y Cyhoedd 
Y Grŵp Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol 
Llywodraeth Cymru 
Parc Cathays 
Caerdydd 
CF10 3NQ 
e-bost: StrategaethToiledauLleol@llyw.cymru 

 
Copïau  
ychwanegol: Gellir gweld y ddogfen hon a rhagor o wybodaeth ar wefan Llywodraeth 

Cymru, yn:  
https://beta.llyw.cymru/strategaethau-toiledau-lleol-canllawiau-statudol-
ar-gyfer-awdurdodau-lleol  

Dogfennau 
cysylltiedig:    Dogfennau Canllawiau Technegol: Map Cenedlaethol o Doiledau fel y'u 

Nodwyd mewn Strategaethau Toiledau Lleol 
https://ymgyngoriadau.llyw.cymru/ymgyngoriadau/strategaethau-toiledau-lleol-
canllawiau-statudol-ar-gyfer-awdurdodau-lleol 

 
Deddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2017/2/contents/enacted/welsh 

 

Caiff caniatâd i atgynhyrchu rhannau o’r Safonau Prydeinig ei roi gan BSI Standards Limited (BSI). Ni 
chaniateir gwneud unrhyw ddefnydd arall o’r deunydd hwn.  Gellir cael gafael ar y Safonau Prydeinig ar 
ffurf dogfennau PDF neu ddogfennau papur o siop BSI ar-lein: www.bsigroup.com/Shop  

  

Page 152



3 
 

CYNNWYS  
 
 
Rhagair gan y Gweinidog        Tudalen 4 
 
Nodyn ar derminoleg          Tudalen 6 

 
Cyflwyniad          Tudalen 7 

 
Siart lif ar gyfer y broses o lunio Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol   Tudalen 11 
 
Ffyrdd o weithio’n wahanol        Tudalen 12 
 
Pethau y dylid ac na ddylid eu gwneud      Tudalen 13 
 
Atal           Tudalen 14  
 
Ystyried yr hirdymor         Tudalen 21 
 
Integreiddio polisïau         Tudalen 25 
 
Cynnwys pobl          Tudalen 33 
 
Cydweithio          Tudalen 41 

 
Cyhoeddi a dosbarthu         Tudalen 49 
 
 
Atodiad A – Darpariaethau cyfreithiol       Tudalen 52 
 
Atodiad B – Logo cenedlaethol ar gyfer toiledau     Tudalen 55 
 
Atodiad C - Cyfeiriadau defnyddiol       Tudalen 56 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 153



4 
 

RHAGAIR GAN Y GWEINIDOG 
 
 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Iechyd a Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol: 
 
Cyhoeddwyd strategaeth drawsbynciol Llywodraeth Cymru, Ffyniant i Bawb: y 
strategaeth genedlaethol1, ar 19 Medi 2017. Mae ffyniant yn golygu mwy na chyfoeth 
materol. Mae’n golygu bod pawb yn cael bywyd o ansawdd da ac yn byw mewn 
cymunedau cryf a diogel. Ni ellir cyflawni hynny oni bai bod pob rhan o’r llywodraeth a’r 
sector cyhoeddus yn dod ynghyd ac yn cydweithio â’i gilydd, gan ganolbwyntio ar y 
meysydd lle mae modd gwneud gwahaniaeth.  
 
Er bod y strategaeth yn sefydlu blaenoriaethau’r llywodraeth, mae’n llawer mwy na 
rhestr o gamau gweithredu. Mae’n cynrychioli ffordd newydd o weithio – un sy’n 
cydnabod yr heriau yr ydym yn eu hwynebu heddiw, y Gymru a garem yn y dyfodol a’r 
camau y mae angen eu cymryd i wireddu hynny. Wrth wraidd y strategaeth y mae 
cydnabyddiaeth bod gwasanaethau cyhoeddus a phartneriaid yn y sector gwirfoddol am 
gydweithio â’i gilydd i geisio cyflawni amcanion cyffredin, er mwyn canolbwyntio ar 
anghenion pobl yn ystod pob cyfnod o’u bywyd ac ym mhob rhan o Gymru. 
 
Felly, er mwyn sicrhau Ffyniant i Bawb, rhaid i’r sector cyhoeddus cyfan weithio’n fwy 
effeithiol a chyfeirio ei egni a’i adnoddau’n well. Mae llywodraeth leol yn bartner pwysig 
yn y broses o gyflawni’r agenda hon, a rhaid achub ar bob cyfle i ddileu rhwystrau 
rhwng gwahanol wasanaethau a sefydliadau. Er mwyn cyflawni’r uchelgeisiau ar gyfer 
Cymru, bydd angen perthynas wahanol nid yn unig rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a 
llywodraeth leol ond hefyd rhwng y sefydliadau eu hunain. Dim ond drwy gydweithio’n 
agosach, ar sail ranbarthol gyson, y gellir cynnal cydnerthedd ac ymatebolrwydd 
gwasanaethau yn y dyfodol. Mae hynny’n arbennig o bwysig os ydym am wireddu 
potensial llawn Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol 2015 a sicrhau ffocws ar gyfer 
gwasanaethau cyhoeddus. 
 
Mae darparu toiledau a sicrhau mynediad iddynt yn fater sy’n effeithio ar iechyd y 
cyhoedd. Gall toiledau hygyrch a glân sydd mewn mannau da mewn lleoedd megis 
canol trefi, parciau, promenadau, llwybrau beicio a llwybrau cerdded helpu i annog y 
cyhoedd i wneud ymarfer corff a pharhau i wneud mwy o weithgarwch corfforol. Mae 
hynny’n esgor ar fanteision clir i iechyd a’r economi. Ar y llaw arall, gall toiledau sydd 
wedi’u dylunio yn wael, nad ydynt yn cael eu cynnal a’u cadw’n ddigonol ac sydd mewn 
mannau amhriodol greu awyrgylch o esgeulustod, nad yw’n annog y cyhoedd i’w 
defnyddio. Gall diffyg cyfleusterau toiledau digonol effeithio hefyd ar iechyd corfforol ac 
iechyd meddwl unigolion, ac effeithio ar iechyd amgylcheddol ehangach y boblogaeth.  
 
Mae toiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd yn bwysig i bawb ac yn parhau’n fater sydd â 
phroffil uchel. Fodd bynnag, maent yn bwysicach fyth i rai grwpiau yn y gymdeithas, 
megis pobl hŷn, pobl ag anableddau a phobl ag anghenion penodol (sy’n cynnwys rhai 
problemau meddygol), menywod, plant a phobl ifanc a’u teuluoedd. Mae darpariaeth 
wael yn gallu cael effaith anghymesur ar y grwpiau hyn, er enghraifft, mae'n gallu cael 
effaith negyddol neilltuol ar bobl hŷn, oherwydd mae’n bosibl y bydd rhai yn llai tebygol 

                                                             
1 https://llyw.cymru/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-cy.pdf 
 

Page 154



5 
 

o adael eu cartref os na allant fod yn hyderus bod cyfleusterau digonol ar gael iddynt. 
Gall hynny gyfrannu at ymdeimlad cynyddol o arwahanrwydd cymdeithasol ac 
anweithgarwch, a gall effeithio hefyd ar allu pobl i barhau’n annibynnol a chynnal eu 
hurddas yn nes ymlaen mewn bywyd.  
 
Er mwyn sicrhau dull strategol o ddarparu toiledau ar draws Cymru, yn unol â Deddf 
Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017 mae’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol gyhoeddi strategaeth 
doiledau ar gyfer eu hardal.   
 
Caiff y strategaethau eu datblygu ar sail egwyddorion cydgynhyrchu, a bydd yn ofynnol 
i awdurdodau lleol ymgysylltu ag ystod eang o ddarparwyr posibl a defnyddwyr. Wrth 
adolygu eu strategaethau, mae’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol gyhoeddi datganiad 
cynnydd. Bydd hunanblismona’n sicrhau tryloywder i aelodau’r cyngor, a’r cymunedau y 
maen nhw'n eu cynrychioli, ynghylch y camau a gymerwyd i hybu’r gwaith o ddarparu 
toiledau ar draws Cymru. 
 
Nod y canllawiau hyn yw cefnogi awdurdodau lleol i osod sylfaen gadarn ar gyfer 
darparu cyfleusterau toiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd yng Nghymru – dull a fydd yn 
gynaliadwy yn y tymor byr ac ar gyfer cenedlaethau’r dyfodol. 
 
Hoffwn ddiolch i bawb a gynorthwyodd i ddrafftio’r canllawiau hyn. 
 
 
 

Page 155



6 
 

Nodyn ar derminoleg  
 
Yn y canllawiau hyn, rydym yn defnyddio'r termau a ganlyn ar gyfer gwahanol fathau o 
gyfleusterau toiled: 
 
Toiled(au): rydym yn defnyddio'r term hwn i gyfeirio at gyfleuster toiledau y gall y 
cyhoedd ei ddefnyddio a all fod yn eiddo cyhoeddus neu’n eiddo preifat, mewn 
amrywiaeth o fangreoedd a lle nad oes yn rhaid i’r defnyddiwr fod yn gwsmer neu brynu 
rhywbeth.   
 
Toiled(au) cyhoeddus traddodiadol: rydym yn defnyddio'r term hwn i gyfeirio at 
gyfleuster toiledau pwrpasol y mae awdurdod lleol yn berchen arno neu’n ei reoli a 
ddarperir at ddefnydd y cyhoedd. Mae rhai dyfyniadau yn y testun o ddeddfwriaeth ac 
ati yn defnyddio’r term ‘toiled cyhoeddus’, ac mewn achosion o’r fath nid ydym wedi 
cynnwys y gair ‘traddodiadol’. 
 
Toiled(au) niwtral o ran rhywedd: rydym yn defnyddio'r ymadrodd hwn yn y ddogfen 
hon i gyfeirio at doiled nad yw wedi'i neilltuo'n benodol at ddefnydd gwrywod na 
benywod, ond sydd ar gael i unrhyw un ei ddefnyddio. Gallai'r math hwn o doiled fod 
wedi'i alw yn doiled 'neillryw' yn flaenorol. 
 
Changing Places: toiledau cwbl hygyrch yw'r rhain gyda mainc newid y mae modd 
addasu ei huchder, teclyn codi, toiled penrhyn, a digon o le i unigolyn anabl, ei gadair/ei 
chadair olwyn a dau ofalwr.  
 
Toiled(au) hygyrch safonol: ciwbiclau wedi'u cynllunio'n arbennig yw'r rhain mewn 
toiledau ar wahân sy’n benodol i rywedd neu doiled niwtral o ran rhywedd. Gall y rhain 
gael eu galw hefyd yn 'doiledau anabl'. 
  

Page 156



7 
 

CYFLWYNIAD 
 
Cafodd Deddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017 ('y Ddeddf') Gydsyniad Brenhinol ar 3 
Gorffennaf 2017. Mae’r Ddeddf yn dod ag ystod o gamau gweithredu ymarferol ynghyd 
ar gyfer gwella a diogelu iechyd. Mae Rhan 8 o’r Ddeddf yn cyflwyno gwaith darparu 
toiledau, a strategaethau toiledau lleol yn benodol.  
 
 
YR EFFAITH ARFAETHEDIG 
 
Nod Rhan 8 yw sicrhau bod pob awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru yn asesu anghenion ei 
gymuned mewn perthynas â thoiledau, ac mae’n defnyddio dull strategol a thryloyw o 
ddiwallu’r angen hwnnw yn y modd gorau posibl. Bydd y broses hon yn golygu ei bod 
hi'n bosibl rhoi ystyriaeth ehangach i’r opsiynau sydd ar gael o ran darparu toiledau at 
ddefnydd y cyhoedd, sy’n amrywio o doiledau cyhoeddus annibynnol traddodiadol i 
doiledau sy'n eiddo preifat. Y bwriad yw helpu i fynd i'r afael â'r heriau presennol wrth 
ddarparu cyfleusterau toiled cyhoeddus mewn cymunedau, sydd yn aml wedi dibynnu 
ar gyfleusterau annibynnol traddodiadol sydd wedi bod yn dirywio dros y blynyddoedd 
diwethaf yn sgil y pwysau ariannol ar awdurdodau lleol. 
 
Ni fwriedir i Ran 8 o’r Ddeddf atal awdurdodau lleol rhag gwneud penderfyniadau y mae 
angen iddynt eu gwneud yn ystod eu gweithgarwch, a allai gynnwys penderfyniadau i 
gau adeilad neu gyfleuster toiledau traddodiadol pan fo hynny’n briodol. Yn hytrach, ei 
bwriad yw gwella’r modd y caiff darpariaeth ei chynllunio er mwyn sicrhau bod unrhyw 
benderfyniadau o’r fath yn cael eu gwneud yng nghyd-destun cyffredinol y gwaith o 
ddiwallu’r anghenion y mae awdurdodau lleol wedi’u nodi mewn cymunedau. Bydd dull 
strategol hefyd yn helpu i liniaru unrhyw effeithiau negyddol yn sgil newid y 
ddarpariaeth.  
 
 
GOFYNION 
 
Er mwyn cyflawni hyn, mae’r Ddeddf yn gosod dyletswydd ar bob awdurdod lleol yng 
Nghymru i lunio a chyhoeddi strategaeth toiledau lleol ar gyfer ei ardal. Mae’r Ddeddf yn 
nodi bod yn rhaid i’r strategaeth honno gynnwys asesiad o angen y gymuned am 
doiledau, gan gynnwys cyfleusterau newid babanod a mannau newid ar gyfer pobl ag 
anableddau. Yn ogystal â hynny, rhaid i’r strategaeth gynnwys manylion sut y mae’r 
awdurdod lleol yn bwriadu diwallu’r angen a nodwyd. Nid yw’n ofynnol cyflwyno’r 
strategaethau i Lywodraeth Cymru er mwyn iddynt gael eu cymeradwyo. Yn hytrach, 
disgwylir i’r strategaethau fod yn destun strwythurau craffu presennol awdurdodau lleol 
a threfniadau craffu cyhoeddus.  
 
Nid yw’r ddyletswydd i lunio strategaeth toiledau lleol yn golygu ynddi ei hun bod yn 
rhaid i awdurdodau lleol ddarparu a chynnal toiledau cyhoeddus yn uniongyrchol, ond 
mae’n ofynnol iddynt ystyried yn strategol sut y gellir darparu’r cyfleusterau hyn ar 
draws eu hardal a sut y gall eu poblogaeth leol gael mynediad iddynt. Wrth iddynt 
wneud hynny, rhagwelir y bydd awdurdodau lleol yn ystyried ystod lawn o opsiynau ar 
gyfer sicrhau bod cyfleusterau ar gael i’r cyhoedd. Er enghraifft, os nad oes toiled 
cyhoeddus ar gael mewn parc ond bod awdurdod lleol yn nodi bod angen un, dylai’r 
awdurdod lleol ystyried gwahanol ffyrdd o sicrhau y caiff yr angen ei ddiwallu. Un ffordd 

Page 157



8 
 

bosibl o ddiwallu’r angen yw bod yr awdurdod lleol yn darparu’r cyfleuster yn 
uniongyrchol, neu gallai awdurdod lleol gydweithio â busnes preifat yn y parc neu wrth 
ei ymyl i sicrhau bod cyfleusterau’r busnes ar gael i’r cyhoedd.  
 
Bwriad sylfaenol darpariaethau’r Ddeddf ynghylch strategaethau toiledau lleol yw 
sicrhau budd i bob un sy'n byw yng Nghymru a phob un sy'n ymweld â hi. Felly, mae’r 
darpariaethau yn ceisio sicrhau yr ymgysylltir yn briodol â chymunedau lleol, yn ogystal 
ag ymwelwyr a'r rheini sy'n teithio i'w gwaith, fel rhan o’r broses o ddatblygu’r 
strategaethau, a bod y broses yn mynd rhagddi mewn modd sy’n dryloyw ac sy’n hybu 
atebolrwydd lleol.  
 
Felly, mae’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol ymgynghori ynghylch eu strategaethau drafft ag 
ystod eang o bartïon sydd â buddiant yn y ddarpariaeth o doiledau, a chyhoeddi eu 
strategaethau terfynol fel eu bod ar gael i bawb eu gweld.  
Er mwyn hybu atebolrwydd lleol ymhellach, mae’r Ddeddf yn darparu fframwaith clir i 
lywodraethu’r amserlenni ar gyfer llunio’r strategaethau toiledau lleol. Yn ôl y Ddeddf, 
mae'n ofynnol llunio a chyhoeddi datganiadau cynnydd interim, a hynny cyn pen chwe 
mis o gyhoeddi strategaeth neu adolygiad o strategaeth. Bydd y datganiadau hyn yn 
adolygu'r cyfnod o ddwy flynedd ers cyhoeddi'r strategaeth neu’r ddwy flynedd ers i'r 
strategaeth gael ei hadolygu ddiwethaf a bydd yn adrodd ar y camau y mae'r awdurdod 
lleol wedi eu cymryd ers i'r strategaeth gael ei chyhoeddi.  
 
Er mwyn rhoi hyblygrwydd i awdurdodau lleol ymateb i amgylchiadau sy’n newid, 
gallant adolygu’r strategaethau unrhyw bryd. Mae’r Ddeddf hefyd yn darparu ar gyfer 
cyfnod adolygu gorfodol, y bwriedir iddo gyd-daro â’r cylch ar gyfer etholiadau 
awdurdodau lleol a chynlluniau lleol y darperir ar eu cyfer mewn deddfwriaeth arall, er 
mwyn lleihau biwrocratiaeth ddiangen a sicrhau dull cydlynol o gynllunio ar lefel leol. 
Mae’r darpariaethau hyn yn ategu pwysigrwydd ymgysylltu’n barhaus â chymunedau 
lleol, drwy ofyniad bod unrhyw strategaeth ddiwygiedig yn cael ei chyhoeddi.  
 
Er mwyn cydnabod pwysigrwydd sicrhau bod anghenion gwahanol grwpiau o bobl ar 
draws cymunedau’n cael eu hystyried drwy strategaethau toiledau lleol, mae’r Ddeddf 
yn nodi’n glir bod y term ‘toiledau’ yn cynnwys cyfleusterau newid ar gyfer babanod a 
mannau newid ar gyfer pobl anabl.  
 
Er eglurder, mae’r Ddeddf hefyd yn diddymu ac yn ailddatgan pwerau presennol 
awdurdodau lleol i ddarparu toiledau cyhoeddus.  
 
 
DIBEN Y CANLLAWIAU 
 
Cydnabyddir bod ystyriaethau niferus yn berthnasol i awdurdodau lleol wrth iddynt lunio 
ac adolygu eu strategaethau, ymgynghori yn eu cylch a’u cyhoeddi, ac oherwydd hynny 
mae’n ofynnol yn ôl y Ddeddf i Weinidogion Cymru roi canllawiau ynghylch y mater 
hwn.  
 
Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol ystyried y canllawiau hyn a'u darllen ochr yn ochr â'r Ddeddf. 
 
Ni fwriedir i’r canllawiau hyn ddisodli unrhyw ganllawiau arferion da eraill ynghylch 
darparu cyfleusterau toiledau. 

Page 158



9 
 

 
 
STATWS Y CANLLAWIAU 
 
Mae’r rhain yn ganllawiau statudol a roddir dan adran 113(7) y Ddeddf. Rhaid i bob 
awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru ystyried y canllawiau yn unol ag adran 113(11).  
 
 
Y DDYLETSWYDD AR AWDURDODAU LLEOL  
 
Dylid darllen y canllawiau hyn ochr yn ochr â’r Ddeddf. 
 
Mae Rhan 8 o’r Ddeddf yn ymdrin â strategaethau ac yn gosod y dyletswyddau a 
ganlyn ar awdurdod lleol:  
 
• rhaid iddo lunio a chyhoeddi strategaeth cyn diwedd y cyfnod o flwyddyn sy’n 

dechrau ar 31 Mai 2018 (adran 113(1)); 
 

• rhaid iddo gynnwys asesiad o angen a nodi’r camau y mae’r awdurdod lleol yn 
bwriadu eu cymryd i ddiwallu’r angen hwnnw (adran 113(2)); 

 
• rhaid iddo adolygu’r strategaeth, sy’n cynnwys gofyniad i gyhoeddi datganiad o’r 

camau y mae wedi eu cymryd ers y dyddiad y cyhoeddwyd y strategaeth ddiwethaf, 
a gwneud a chyhoeddi unrhyw ddiwygiadau y bernir eu bod yn angenrheidiol (adran 
113(3), (5) a (7)); 

 
• rhaid iddo gyhoeddi datganiadau cynnydd interim (adran 114); 
 
• rhaid iddo ymgynghori ag unrhyw berson y mae’n ystyried bod ganddo fuddiant yn y 

ddarpariaeth o doiledau yn ei ardal, cyn cyhoeddi’r strategaeth (adran 115); 
 
• rhaid iddo ddarparu copi o’r strategaeth ddrafft i’r personau hynny (adran 115(2)). 

 

ADOLYGU A STRWYTHUR Y CANLLAWIAU HYN 
 
Bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn adolygu'r canllawiau hyn yn barhaus ac yn eu diwygio a'u 
diweddaru yn ôl yr angen ac fel sy'n briodol.  
 

AMSERLEN 
 
Mae’r Ddeddf yn darparu amserlenni penodol y mae’n rhaid eu dilyn wrth lunio ac 
adolygu strategaethau awdurdodau lleol. Rhaid dilyn yr amserlen statudol, hyd yn oed 
os bydd awdurdod lleol yn penderfynu, am resymau gweithredol, mynd ati o’i wirfodd i 
gyhoeddi adolygiad neu ddiweddaru’r ddogfen strategaeth rhwng pwyntiau adrodd 
allweddol yn yr amserlen statudol.  
 
 

Page 159



10 
 

• 31 Mai 2019 yw'r dyddiad terfynol ar gyfer cyhoeddi strategaeth doiledau 
awdurdod lleol.  
 

• Rhaid i'r awdurdod lleol baratoi adroddiad cynnydd interim yn nodi'r camau a 
gymerwyd yn unol â'i strategaeth yn ystod pob cyfnod o ddwy flynedd, gan 
ddechrau ar y dyddiad y cyhoeddwyd y strategaeth ddiwethaf. Rhaid i'r adroddiad 
interim gael ei gyhoeddi cyn pen chwe mis o'r dyddiad y daw y cyfnod o ddwy 
flynedd i ben. 

 
ENGHRAIFFT: Os cyhoeddwyd strategaeth toiledau gyntaf awdurdod lleol ar 4 
Chwefror 2019, bydd rhaid iddo gynnal adolygiad o'r strategaeth ar gyfer y cyfnod 
o 4 Chwefror 2019 - 4 Chwefror 2021 (cyfnod o ddwy flynedd o'r dyddiad 
cyhoeddi) a chyhoeddi'r datganiad cynnydd interim cyn 4 Awst 2021 (chwe mis o 
ddyddiad olaf y cyfnod). 

 
• Rhaid i awdurdod lleol adolygu'r strategaeth toiledau lleol cyn pen blwyddyn o bob 

etholiad cyffredin yn ei ardal. Y dyddiad nesaf ar gyfer etholiad yng Nghymru yw 
ddydd Iau 5 Mai 2022, felly'r dyddiad olaf ar gyfer adolygu yw 4 Mai 2023. Os na 
fydd unrhyw newidiadau'n cael eu gwneud i'r strategaeth yn dilyn yr adolygiad ôl-
etholiad bydd rhaid i'r awdurdod lleol gyhoeddi datganiad cynnydd interim yn 
cwmpasu cyfnod o ddwy flynedd o ddyddiad yr etholiad diwethaf.  

 
ENGHRAIFFT: Yn dilyn etholiad 2022 bydd awdurdod lleol yn gwneud adolygiad 
o'r strategaeth ar 5 Tachwedd 2022 ac ni fydd yn newid y strategaeth. Rhaid i'r 
awdurdod lleol baratoi adroddiad cynnydd interim ar gyfer y cyfnod o 22 
Tachwedd 2022 – 22 Tachwedd 2024 (cyfnod o ddwy flynedd o ddyddiad yr 
adolygiad diwethaf) a chyhoeddi'r datganiad cyn 22 Mai 2025 (chwe mis ar ôl 
diwedd y cyfnod hwnnw).  
 

• Gall awdurdod lleol adolygu ei strategaeth ar unrhyw adeg, a rhaid iddo wedi 
hynny gyhoeddi datganiad o'r camau a gymerwyd ganddo yn unol â'r strategaeth. 
Os bydd awdurdod lleol yn dewis adolygu'r strategaeth rhaid iddo gyhoeddi'r 
strategaeth ddiwygiedig cyn paratoi adroddiad cynnydd interim yn cwmpasu'r 
cyfnod o ddwy flynedd sy'n dechrau ar y dyddiad cyhoeddi.  

 

 

  

Page 160



11 
 

Y BROSES O LUNIO STRATEGAETH TOILEDAU LLEOL 
 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CYNNAL ASESIAD O ANGEN 
Mae'r awdurdod lleol yn cynnal asesiad o angen am doiledau yn ei ardal drwy fapio'r toiledau sydd i'w cael 

ar hyn o bryd i’r cyhoedd eu defnyddio, nodi bylchau drwy ymgysylltu â chymunedau a gweithio gyda 
phartneriaid i ddod o hyd i atebion.  

DATGANIAD CYNNYDD INTERIM 
Mae’r awdurdod lleol yn llunio ac yn cyhoeddi ‘datganiad cynnydd interim’ sy’n egluro’r camau y mae wedi 
eu cymryd yn unol â’i strategaeth ddwy flynedd ers y cyhoeddwyd y strategaeth honno ddiwethaf gan 

yr awdurdod lleol neu ddwy flynedd ers yr adolygiad ôl-etholiad diwethaf o'i strategaeth. Rhaid 
cyhoeddi’r Datganiad Cynnydd Interim cyn pen 6 mis ar ôl diwedd cyfnod y datganiad interim. 

YMGYNGHORI 
Mae’r awdurdod lleol yn ymgynghori ag unrhyw berson y mae’n ystyried ei fod yn debygol o fod â buddiant 
yn y ddarpariaeth o doiledau yn ei ardal. Fel rhan o’r ymgynghoriad, mae’n sicrhau bod drafft o’i strategaeth 

toiledau lleol newydd neu ddiwygiedig ar gael. 
Dylid ymgynghori am gyfnod o 12 o wythnosau o leiaf. 

CYHOEDDI 
Mae’r awdurdod lleol yn cyhoeddi ei strategaeth newydd neu ddiwygiedig, sy’n egluro ei asesiad o angen, y 
camau y mae’n bwriadu eu cymryd i ddiwallu’r angen hwnnw, ac unrhyw wybodaeth arall y mae o’r farn ei 

bod yn briodol. 

ADOLYGU A DATGANIAD CYNNYDD DIWEDD CYFNOD 
Mae’r awdurdod lleol yn adolygu ei strategaeth ac yn llunio datganiad cynnydd 
diwedd cyfnod cyn pen blwyddyn o bob etholiad llywodraeth leol cyffredin. 

A oes angen newid y strategaeth 
toiledau lleol? 

Nac 
oes 

Mae’r awdurdod lleol yn paratoi i lunio strategaeth toiledau 
lleol. 

 Oes 

Mae'r awdurdod lleol yn cyhoeddi 
datganiad cynnydd ynghylch y camau 

a gymerwyd yn ystod y cyfnod. 

Page 161



12 
 

FFYRDD O WEITHIO’N WAHANOL  
 
Nod Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yw gwella llesiant 
cymdeithasol, economaidd, amgylcheddol a diwylliannol Cymru. Mae’n gwneud i 
gyrff cyhoeddus, megis awdurdodau lleol, byrddau iechyd lleol, Ymddiriedolaeth GIG 
Iechyd Cyhoeddus Cymru a Llywodraeth Cymru feddwl mwy am yr hirdymor, 
cydweithio’n well â phobl a chymunedau ac â’i gilydd, ceisio atal problemau, a 
gweithredu mewn modd mwy cydgysylltiedig. Mae’n golygu bod yn rhaid i’r cyrff 
cyhoeddus hynny weithredu mewn modd cynaliadwy.  
 
Mae angen i gyrff cyhoeddus sicrhau eu bod, wrth wneud eu penderfyniadau, yn 
ystyried yr effaith y gallai’r penderfyniadau hynny ei chael ar y bobl a fydd yn byw 
yng Nghymru yn y dyfodol. 
 
Er mwyn sicrhau ein bod i gyd yn gweithio tuag at wireddu’r un weledigaeth, mae 
Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yn cyflwyno saith nod llesiant2.  
Gyda'i gilydd, mae'r nodau hyn yn cynnig gweledigaeth a rennir i gyrff cyhoeddus 
sydd wedi'u rhestru yn y Ddeddf weithio tuag at ei gwireddu. 
 
Mae Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yn cyflwyno ‘egwyddor 
datblygu cynaliadwy’ sy’n dweud wrth gyrff cyhoeddus sut y dylent fynd ati i gyflawni 
eu dyletswydd dan y Ddeddf. Mae’r egwyddor yn cynnwys pum ffordd o weithio y 
dylai cyrff cyhoeddus eu dilyn i wireddu’r egwyddor datblygu cynaliadwy. Dyma'r 
nodau hynny: 
 
• ystyried yr hirdymor er mwyn sicrhau nad ydym yn peryglu gallu 

cenedlaethau’r dyfodol i ddiwallu eu hanghenion eu hunain; 
 

• gweithredu mewn modd integredig; 
 
• cydlafurio ag eraill er mwyn dod o hyd i atebion cynaliadwy cyffredin;  
 
• cynnwys amrywiaeth o’r boblogaeth yn y penderfyniadau sy’n effeithio arnynt; 

 
• gweithredu i atal problemau rhag digwydd neu waethygu. 

 
Bydd dilyn y pum ffordd hyn o weithio yn ein helpu i gydweithio’n well â’n gilydd, 
osgoi ailadrodd camgymeriadau’r gorffennol, a mynd i’r afael â rhai o’r heriau 
hirdymor yr ydym yn eu hwynebu. 
 
 
Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru roi’r pum ffordd o weithio ar waith wrth 
lunio ac adolygu eu strategaethau, ymgynghori yn eu cylch a’u cyhoeddi. 
 

 

                                                             
2 Cymru lewyrchus, Cymru gydnerth, Cymru iachach, Cymru sy’n fwy cyfartal, Cymru o gymunedau 
cydlynus, Cymru â diwylliant bywiog lle mae’r Gymraeg yn ffynnu, Cymru sy’n gyfrifol ar lefel fyd-
eang. 

Page 162



13 
 

PETHAU Y DYLID AC NA DDYLID EU GWNEUD 

 
Dylai awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru ddatblygu eu strategaethau drwy: 
 
• gadw mewn cof y ddarpariaeth o gyfleusterau toiledau priodol sy’n ofynnol i 

ddiwallu anghenion y boblogaeth gyfan yn awr ac yn y dyfodol, gan roi sylw 
penodol i ardaloedd lle gallai’r ddarpariaeth bresennol o doiledau fod mewn 
perygl o gael ei cholli neu ei lleihau rywbryd yn y dyfodol, achub y blaen er 
mwyn atal hynny rhag digwydd, a mynd ati’n weithredol i chwilio am gyfleoedd i 
gynyddu’r ddarpariaeth; 

 
• achub ar bob cyfle i siarad â’r cyhoedd a grwpiau cynrychiadol ynghylch yr 

heriau y maent yn eu hwynebu o safbwynt cael mynediad i gyfleusterau 
toiledau lleol, gwrando ar eu pryderon, gofyn am eu barn a’u cynnwys yn y 
broses o ddod o hyd i atebion posibl a’u cyflawni;  

 
• gweithio’n weithredol gyda phartneriaid cyflawni mewnol ac allanol, gan 

gynnwys partneriaid yn y sector cyhoeddus a’r sector preifat, er mwyn hybu’r 
gwaith o gyflawni’r canlyniadau a ddymunir; 

 
• chwilio am atebion hirdymor, parhaol er mwyn llenwi unrhyw fylchau yn y 

ddarpariaeth o doiledau; 
 

• ceisio rheoli’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau a chyflawni canlyniadau cysylltiedig eraill 
ar yr un pryd. 

 
 

Ni ddylai awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru ddatblygu eu strategaethau drwy: 
 
• chwilio am atebion byrdymor yn unig i lenwi’r bylchau yn y ddarpariaeth o 

doiledau (heblaw ar gyfer digwyddiadau dros dro); 
 

• ceisio rheoli’r ddarpariaeth o gyfleusterau toiledau ar wahân i’r gwaith o geisio 
cyflawni canlyniadau cysylltiedig eraill, megis seilwaith a gynllunnir yn well, 
llwybrau teithio llesol, ffyrdd mwy diogel, ffyrdd iachach o fyw a chymunedau 
mwy cydnerth; 

 
• penderfynu beth sydd orau, a rhoi gwybod i’r cyhoedd ar ôl i’r cyfan gael ei 

benderfynu; 
 

• ceisio gwneud y cyfan ar eu pen eu hunain; 
 

• aros nes bod darpariaeth wedi’i cholli neu wedi methu cyn dechrau gwneud 
rhywbeth am y peth. 

 
  

Page 163



14 
 

1. ATAL 
 

DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL: gweithredu i atal problemau 
rhag digwydd neu waethygu 

 
Mynediad i doiledau cyhoeddus:  
 
• nid yw 80% o’r ymatebwyr yn ei chael yn hawdd dod o hyd i doiled 

cyhoeddus 
• canfu 78% o’r ymatebwyr nad oedd eu toiledau cyhoeddus lleol ar agor pan 

oedd arnynt eu hangen 
 

Age UK – Nowhere To Go 20063 
 

1.1   Y bwriad wrth fynd ati i gynnal y broses lawn a amlinellir yn y canllawiau hyn yw 
gweithredu cynllun atal i fynd i'r afael â'r heriau a wynebir gan awdurdodau lleol 
wrth ddarparu toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol. Mae angen i strategaeth fod yn 
fwy na darn o bapur yn unig. Mae angen iddi egluro’r materion a nodi atebion 
creadigol er mwyn gwella’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd.  
Mae angen craffu ar strategaethau, eu hadolygu a’u diweddaru er mwyn 
sicrhau eu bod yn gwneud gwahaniaeth.  

 
1.2 Prif nodau atal strategaeth toiledau lleol yw:  
 

• nodi cyfleusterau toiled allweddol mewn lleoliad; 
• nodi'r cyfleusterau y mae perygl y gallai lleoliad eu colli, a ffyrdd o gadw eu 

defnydd; 
• nodi darpariaethau amgen os bydd rhaid i gyfleusterau gau; 
• nodi cyfleusterau ychwanegol y gellid dod â hwy i ddefnydd ehangach er 

mwyn ategu cyfleusterau sy'n bodoli eisoes neu gymryd lle y rheini a 
gollwyd; 

• nodi cyfleoedd ar gyfer creu cyfleusterau newydd i fodloni gofynion modern, 
sy'n gynhwysol. 

 

 
 
 
SAIL RESYMEGOL DROS NEWID 
 
1.3 Nid yw’r system bresennol sy’n llywodraethu’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau at 

ddefnydd y cyhoedd a mynediad i’r ddarpariaeth honno wedi diwallu angen y 
                                                             
3 http://www.ageuk.org.uk/documents/en-gb/for-
professionals/research/nowhere%20to%20go%20public%20toilet%20provision%20(2007)_pro.pdf?dtrk=true 
 

Dylai eich nod hirdymor ar gyfer strategaethau fod yn ddeublyg, sef gwella 
mynediad y cyhoedd i doiledau – mewn mannau poblogaidd penodol ac yn 
ehangach y tu allan i brif ganolfannau poblogaeth – er mwyn sicrhau’r budd 
mwyaf posibl i iechyd y cyhoedd ar draws Cymru. 
 

Page 164



15 
 

cyhoedd, a dyna pam y mae ar awdurdodau lleol angen strategaethau. Mae 
nifer o ffactorau’n gyfrifol am hynny:  

 
• mae toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol yng Nghymru yn cael eu darparu a’u 

cynnal yn ôl disgresiwn yr awdurdodau lleol, heb unrhyw ganllawiau na 
threfniadau cydgysylltu cenedlaethol. Mae hynny’n golygu bod y 
ddarpariaeth yng Nghymru yn amrywio’n sylweddol o’r naill awdurdod lleol i’r 
llall4.  

 
• mae’r gwaith o ddarparu a chynnal toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol yng 

Nghymru yn gost sylweddol i awdurdodau lleol, ac nid yw’n gynaliadwy bob 
amser. O ganlyniad, mae’r ddarpariaeth yn lleihau ac mae toiledau mewn 
perygl o gau ar draws Cymru; 

  
• mae mynediad at wybodaeth ar y stryd am doiledau sydd ar gael at 

ddefnydd y cyhoedd yn wael ar draws Cymru, ac ni fanteisir i'r eithaf ar 
gyfleoedd i ddarparu gwybodaeth ar-lein; 

 
• nid yw’r defnydd gorau’n cael ei wneud o doiledau mewn adeiladau preifat 

(er enghraifft, drwy grantiau cyfleusterau cyhoeddus) ac adeiladau 
cyhoeddus (er enghraifft, toiledau mewn llyfrgelloedd cyhoeddus, neuaddau 
cymunedol, neuaddau trefi, canolfannau chwaraeon ac amgueddfeydd); 

 
• mae cynllunio gwael o ran oriau agor ac arwyddion yn cyfyngu ar fynediad a 

defnydd; 
 
• mae llawer o doiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol yn hen, ac yn aml maent 

wedi’u dylunio yn wael, nid ydynt yn cael eu cynnal a’u cadw’n ddigonol ac 
maent mewn mannau amhriodol. Gall hynny greu awyrgylch sy’n denu 
fandaliaeth, difrod troseddol ac ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol; 

 
• mae cynlluniau toiledau cymunedol wedi lleihau yn eu nifer er gwaetha'r 

ffaith bod cyllid gan yr hen Gynllun Grant Cyfleusterau Cyhoeddus wedi cael 
ei drosglwyddo i awdurdodau lleol drwy’r Grant Cynnal Refeniw.  

 
 
DRAFFTIO’R STRATEGAETH 
 

 
 

                                                             
4 Mae'r darpariaethau cyfreithiol i'r perwyl hwn i'w gweld yn Atodiad A y canllawiau hyn. 

Wrth ddrafftio’r strategaeth, mae’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol gynnwys (fel 
y nodir yn adran 113 o'r Ddeddf): 
o asesiad wedi’i gwblhau o’r angen i doiledau fod ar gael i’w defnyddio gan 

y cyhoedd yn eu hardal; 
o datganiad sy’n nodi’r camau y mae’r awdurdod lleol yn bwriadu eu 

cymryd i ddiwallu’r angen hwnnw;  
o unrhyw wybodaeth arall sy’n briodol ym marn yr awdurdod lleol. 

Page 165



16 
 

1.4   Dylai’r tair elfen hon gael eu cynnwys gan awdurdod lleol pan fydd yn cyhoeddi 
ei strategaeth. Bydd yr asesiad o angen, pan gaiff ei gwblhau, yn rhan 
allweddol o strategaeth awdurdod lleol.  

 
1.5   Dylai’r strategaeth gynnwys canfyddiadau’r gweithgareddau sydd wedi digwydd 

ar gyfer yr asesiad o angen. Mae hyn yn cynnwys:  
 

• yr ystyriaeth a roddwyd i anghenion y boblogaeth gyffredinol;  
• yr anghenion a nodwyd ar gyfer grwpiau penodol o ddefnyddwyr; 
• cyflwr y cyfleusterau presennol a’r defnydd a wneir ohonynt; 
• yr ystyriaeth a roddwyd i’r gwaith o nodi cyfleusterau nad ydynt ar gael i’r 

cyhoedd eu defnyddio ar hyn o bryd;  
• camau i nodi unrhyw fylchau yn y ddarpariaeth bresennol. 

 
 
CYNIGION YNGHYLCH CYFLEUSTERAU PRESENNOL 
 
1.6 Mae hyn yn cynnwys y cyfleusterau hynny sy'n eiddo i awdurdodau lleol, y'u 

nodwyd cyn hynny o dan gynlluniau toiledau cymunedol, a'r cyfleusterau hynny 
sydd wedi bod yn destun trosglwyddo asedau yn y gorffennol. Dylai 
awdurdodau lleol esbonio’r cyfleoedd y maent wedi’u clustnodi fel rhan o 
broses yr asesiad o angen, er mwyn bodloni’r galw am ddarpariaeth o doiledau 
yn eu hardal, a dylent egluro unrhyw angen y maent wedi’i nodi i ddiweddaru, 
adnewyddu neu gau cyfleusterau presennol.   

 
 
CYNIGION YNGHYLCH CYFLEUSTERAU YCHWANEGOL 
 
1.7   Os nodwyd bod bwlch yn y ddarpariaeth, dylai awdurdodau lleol esbonio’r 

bwlch a nodi cynigion ar gyfer mynd i’r afael ag ef. Er enghraifft, gallai hynny 
gynnwys creu cyfleusterau mewn lleoliadau newydd, creu cyfleusterau 
ychwanegol mewn ardaloedd lle gwneir llawer o ddefnydd o’r toiledau, neu greu 
cyfleusterau arbenigol ar gyfer grwpiau penodol o ddefnyddwyr. Dylai 
awdurdodau lleol hefyd esbonio pa gyfleoedd y maent efallai wedi’u clustnodi 
ar gyfer y dyfodol o ran cynnwys darpariaeth ar gyfer toiledau at ddefnydd y 
cyhoedd mewn cynigion cynllunio a threfniadau prydlesu. 

 
1.8    Dylai unrhyw gynigion fod yn seiliedig ar ganfyddiadau’r broses asesu.  
 
1.9 Trosglwyddwyd £9,000 fesul awdurdod lleol gan Lywodraeth Cymru i'r Grant 

Cynnal Refeniw ar gyfer awdurdodau lleol gyda'r bwriad y byddent yn parhau i 
redeg cynlluniau toiledau cymunedol a dderbyniai cymorth grant cyn hynny dan 
y Cynllun Cyfleusterau Cymunedol.   

 
1.10 I hwyluso tryloywder ar gyfer y cyhoedd a'r aelodau etholedig, ystyrir ei bod yn 

ymarfer da nodi'n glir y cyllid sydd wedi'i ddyrannu i unrhyw gynnig yn y 
strategaeth ei hun.  

 
 
 

Page 166



17 
 

NODYN AR FATHAU O GYFLEUSTERAU SYDD AR GAEL MEWN ARDAL 
 
1.11 Wrth geisio cyfranogiad perchnogion gwahanol fathau o fangreoedd, a'i 

sicrhau, dylai awdurdodau lleol ymdrechu i gael amrywiaeth o fathau o doiledau 
a hygyrchedd yn yr un ardal lle y bo hynny'n bosibl, er mwyn rhoi mynediad 
cyfartal i doiledau os na ellir darparu pob math mewn un mangre.   
Cydnabyddir, fodd bynnag, y gall na fydd hyn yn bosibl bob tro, gan ddibynnu 
ar y mangreoedd sydd i'w cael mewn ardal ac nid yw toiledau sy'n gwbl 
hygyrch a chyfleusterau newid babanod yn arbennig ar gael bob amser. Mae 
toiled lle mae'r mynediad neu'r cyfleusterau yn gyfyngedig yn well na dim toiled 
o gwbl os nad oes unrhyw opsiwn arall. Dylai'r awdurdod lleol nodi bylchau 
mewn darpariaeth yn eu strategaeth toiledau lleol y gellir mynd i'r afael â hwy 
ymhen amser. Ni ddylid cau toiledau presennol na'u tynnu o gynlluniau toiledau 
presennol oherwydd nad ydynt yn darparu'r ystod gyfan o gyfleusterau.   

 
 
GOFYNION DEDDF CYDRADDOLDEB 2010 
 
1.12 Mae Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i gyrff cyhoeddus neu 

gyfleusterau i wneud addasiadau rhesymol i ganiatáu i berson ag anableddau 
oresgyn unrhyw anfantais o safbwynt mynediad. Yn achos mynediad at 
doiledau, gallai hyn gynnwys cymhorthion (fel gwybodaeth am amseroedd agor 
neu ffioedd mewn print bras neu Braille), neu wneud addasiadau i nodweddion 
ffisegol adeilad (er enghraifft drwy ddarparu ramp ym mynediad adeilad lle ceir 
grisiau, drysau lletach a ciwbiclau mwy o faint i ddefnyddwyr cadeiriau olwyn 
gael mynediad atynt).  Mae'r Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i 
ddarparwyr wneud yr hyn sy'n "rhesymol" yn yr holl amgylchiadau, a gallai hyn 
ddibynnu ar amrywiaeth o faterion: 

• pa mor ymarferol yw'r newidiadau; 
• a fyddai'r newid yn goresgyn yr anfantais y mae pobl ag anableddau yn ei 

brofi;  
• maint y sefydliad; 
• faint o arian ac adnoddau sydd ar gael; 
• costau gwneud y newidiadau;  
• a oes unrhyw newidiadau wedi cael eu gwneud eisoes. 
 

1.13 Efallai na fydd hi'n bosibl gwneud newidiadau ffisegol fel y rhai a amlinellir 
uchod i adeiladau hŷn, ac yn yr achos hwn byddai'n afresymol eu cau i'r holl 
boblogaeth oherwydd nad oedd modd eu haddasu. Yn yr amgylchiadau hyn, 
dylid ystyried darparu cyfleuster hygyrch arall gerllaw. 

 
1.14 Os oes unrhyw amheuaeth gan awdurdodau lleol ynghylch cymhwyso'r Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb i unrhyw un o'u cynigion, dylent ymgynghori â'u hadrannau 
cyfreithiol eu hunain i gael cyngor.  

 
1.15 Dylid cadw mewn cof hefyd y gallai fod yn waharddedig, i bob pwrpas, i rai 

aelodau o'r gymuned gael mynediad i rai mangreoedd, er enghraifft ni fyddai 

Page 167



18 
 

plant a phobl ifanc yn gallu defnyddio toiledau mewn mangreoedd lle ceir 
gwaharddiad oedran ar fynediad.  

  
 
YMGYNGHORI 
 

 
 
 
1.16 Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol ymgynghori â'r person sy'n debygol o fod â buddiant 

yn y ddarpariaeth o doiledau yn eu hardal pan fyddant yn adolygu eu 
strategaeth.  

 
1.17 Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol sicrhau bod y strategaeth ddrafft y maent yn bwriadu 

ei chyhoeddi ar gael ar gyfer pob person y mae'n bwriadu ymgynghori ag ef 
(adran 115(2) o’r Ddeddf). 

 
1.18 Dylai awdurdodau lleol gyfeirio at yr adran Cynnwys Pobl yn y canllawiau hyn 

er mwyn cael gwybodaeth am ffyrdd o ymgynghori ynghylch eu strategaeth 
arfaethedig. 

 
1.19 Anogir awdurdodau lleol i gyhoeddi eu strategaethau arfaethedig ar gyfer 

proses ymgynghori â'r cyhoedd 12 wythnos er mwyn caniatáu digon o amser i 
ddosbarthu gwybodaeth â'r gymuned ac i'r ymatebwyr drafod a llunio eu 
hymatebion.  

 
 
CRAFFU 
 
1.20 Cyn y gellir ystyried bod fersiwn derfynol o’r strategaeth ar gael i’w chyhoeddi, 

ac er mwyn sicrhau bod y strategaeth yn cael ei mabwysiadu, dylai 
awdurdodau lleol drefnu bod y strategaeth arfaethedig yn rhwym wrth broses 
graffu a’i bod yn cael ei mabwysiadu yn unol â’u prosesau mewnol. Dylai 
awdurdodau lleol gynnwys yn eu strategaethau wybodaeth i'r cyhoedd am sut y 
craffir ar y strategaeth yn y dyfodol a sut y caiff y cynnydd ei fesur.  

 
 
DATGANIADAU CYNNYDD INTERIM 
 
1.21 Rhaid i awdurdod lleol gyhoeddi datganiad cynnydd interim sy’n rhoi 

diweddariad ynghylch y camau gweithredu sydd wedi’u cymryd ers i’w 
strategaeth gael ei chyhoeddi.  Rhaid i’r datganiad cynnydd interim ymdrin â’r 
canlynol: 

 
• y cyfnod amser y mae’r datganiad cynnydd yn ymdrin ag ef;  

Mae’n ofynnol i awdurdod lleol ymgynghori ynghylch ei strategaeth 
arfaethedig ag unrhyw berson y mae’n ystyried ei fod yn debygol o fod â 
buddiant yn y ddarpariaeth o doiledau sydd ar gael i’r cyhoedd eu defnyddio 
yn ei ardal cyn iddo gyhoeddi ei strategaeth – adran 115(1)(a) y Ddeddf.  

Page 168



19 
 

• yr angen i ailnodi’r camau gweithredu sydd yn y strategaeth yr adroddir yn ei 
chylch; 

• diweddariad ynghylch y cynnydd y mae’r awdurdod lleol wedi’i wneud o 
safbwynt rhoi sylw i’r camau gweithredu a nodwyd yn y strategaeth, gan 
gynnwys y camau gweithredu sydd wedi’u cwblhau, y rhai sydd ar y gweill, 
a’r rhai sydd heb eu cymryd eto;  

• esboniad o’r camau gweithredu sy’n weddill i’w cyflawni neu’r camau 
gweithredu sy’n parhau;  

• adolygiad o’r amserlen ar gyfer cwblhau unrhyw gamau gweithredu sy’n 
weddill i’w cyflawni;  

• unrhyw broblemau a nodwyd y mae angen eu hystyried yn fanwl adeg yr 
adolygiad ffurfiol nesaf;  

• datganiad o’r dyddiad nesaf y caiff y strategaeth ei hadolygu’n ffurfiol; 
• unrhyw wybodaeth arall sy’n briodol ym marn yr awdurdod lleol. 

 
1.22 Dylid llunio datganiad cynnydd interim cyn pen dwy flynedd o'r dyddiad diwethaf 

y cyhoeddwyd strategaeth ("cyfnod y datganiad"), a rhaid ei gyhoeddi cyn pen 
chwe mis o’r dyddiad y daw y cyfnod o ddwy flynedd i ben. 

 
1.23 Rhaid i awdurdod lleol hefyd adolygu'r strategaeth toiledau lleol cyn pen 

blwyddyn o bob etholiad cyffredin ar gyfer ei ardal. Os na newidir y strategaeth 
yn dilyn yr adolygiad ôl-etholiad, rhaid i'r awdurdod lleol baratoi datganiad 
cynnydd interim yn cwmpasu cyfnod o ddwy flynedd sy'n dechrau o ddyddiad yr 
etholiad diwethaf a'i gyhoeddi cyn pen chwe mis o’r dyddiad y daw cyfnod y 
datganiad o ddwy flynedd i ben.  

 
 
Y BROSES ADOLYGU 
 
1.24 Mae'n bwysig bod awdurdodau lleol yn darparu mecanwaith ar gyfer annog, 

monitro a chasglu adborth gan y cyhoedd ar y strategaeth ac ar gyfleusterau 
toiled. Gellir defnyddio'r cwynion a'r canmoliaeth a dderbynnir i fonitro 
effeithiolrwydd y strategaeth ac i lywio'r broses adolygu. Dylid crynhoi'r adborth 
a dderbynnir yn nogfen yr adolygiad, a dylid nodi unrhyw sylwebaeth gan yr 
awdurdod lleol. 

 
1.25 Pan fydd awdurdod lleol yn adolygu ei strategaeth ac yn ystyried bod angen ei 

newid, dylai ddiwygio’r strategaeth ac ymgynghori ar unrhyw newidiadau 
arfaethedig cyn cyhoeddi fersiwn ddiwygiedig ohoni. Diben y broses adolygu a 
diweddaru statudol a nodir yn y Ddeddf yw sicrhau bod awdurdodau’n 
ailymweld â strategaethau’n rheolaidd er mwyn gwneud yn siŵr eu bod bob 
amser yn diwallu angen eu poblogaeth leol, ond nis rhagwelir y byddant yn cael 
eu hailysgrifennu'n gyfan gwbl bob tro. Mae tudalen 11 yn egluro’r broses y 
dylai awdurdodau lleol ei dilyn er mwyn datblygu ac adolygu eu strategaethau. 

 

Page 169



20 
 

 
Y BROSES ADOLYGU:  
 
Ar ôl cyhoeddi’r strategaeth, gall yr awdurdod lleol adolygu ei chynnwys 
unrhyw bryd, ond rhaid iddo adolygu'r cynnwys ar ôl pob etholiad llywodraeth 
leol cyffredin. Rhaid cyhoeddi'r adolygiad cyn pen blwyddyn o ddyddiad yr 
etholiad. 
 
DATGANIADAU CYNNYDD INTERIM: 
 
Rhaid i awdurdod lleol baratoi datganiad cynnydd interim sy'n cwmpasu'r 
cyfnod o ddwy flynedd o ddyddiad cyhoeddi'r strategaeth ddiwethaf neu o 
ddyddiad yr adolygiad ôl-etholiad diwethaf.  Rhaid cyhoeddi'r datganiad 
cynnydd cyn pen chwe mis o ddiwedd y cyfnod o ddwy flynedd a adolygir. 
 
 
 

Page 170



21 
 

2. YSTYRIED YR HIRDYMOR 
 

DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL: ystyried yr hirdymor er mwyn 
sicrhau nad ydym yn peryglu gallu cenedlaethau’r dyfodol i ddiwallu eu hanghenion 
eu hunain 
 

 
 
 
2.1   Ym mhob agwedd ar gynllunio hirdymor, dylid rhoi ystyriaeth ofalus i’r 

adroddiad Tueddiadau’r Dyfodol5 ac amcanestyniadau poblogaeth6.  
 
 
MEDDWL STRATEGOL 
 
2.2 Mae angen i awdurdodau lleol ystyried yr hyn a ganlyn o safbwynt strategol/y 

tymor hwy: 
 

• ariannu’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau, gan gynnwys ymchwilio i'r posibiliadau o 
ran denu hysbysebion a nawdd gan gwmnïau preifat, codi ffi am ddefnyddio 
toiledau, a defnyddio cynlluniau grant i annog busnesau preifat mewn 
mannau priodol i ganiatáu i'r cyhoedd ddefnyddio eu toiledau; 

 
• cynllunio’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau, gan gynnwys sicrhau darpariaeth o 

doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd drwy’r broses gynllunio – yn enwedig mewn 
perthynas â datblygiadau newydd; 

 
• gweithio gydag awdurdodau lleol cyfagos i ddarparu toiledau, gan ystyried 

ardal ddaearyddol ehangach sy’n cynnwys llwybrau teithio a safleoedd sydd 
o bwys; 

 
• gweithio gyda chynghorau cymuned a thref a chymunedau lleol ynghylch 

darparu a chynnal toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol, gan gynnwys 
trosglwyddo asedau cymunedol; 

 
• y modd y caiff toiledau eu dylunio a’r mannau lle cânt eu lleoli, gan gynnwys 

ystyried y ddarpariaeth bresennol sydd mewn adeiladau cyhoeddus ar draws 
Cymru a’r ffordd orau o sicrhau bod y rhain yn fwy hygyrch i’r cyhoedd.  

 
 
 
                                                             
5https://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/future-trends/?lang=cy 
6 https://statscymru.llyw.cymru/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority  

Dylai strategaethau a gaiff eu llunio er mwyn cydymffurfio â Rhan 8 y Ddeddf 
chwilio am atebion parhaol, hirdymor ble bynnag y bo hynny’n bosibl, yn 
hytrach na chwilio am atebion cyflym yn unig sy’n arwain at ddarpariaeth ar 
gyfer y tymor byr. Wrth flaenoriaethu mesurau, mae rhagweld y galw 
hirdymor yr un mor bwysig â deall lefel bresennol defnydd y cyhoedd. 

Page 171



22 
 

MANTEISION EHANGACH 
 
2.3    Gall diffyg toiledau mewn mannau lle byddai pobl efallai’n gwneud ymarfer corff 

fel arall, megis mewn parciau ac ar bromenadau, gyfrannu at anweithgarwch 
corfforol. Mae gweithgarwch corfforol yn hanfodol i iechyd pob aelod o’r 
gymdeithas, ond mae’n arbennig o bwysig i bobl hŷn oherwydd ei fod yn gallu 
eu helpu i gynnal eu hannibyniaeth.   

 
2.4   At hynny, gall diffyg toiledau olygu nad yw pobl, y mae angen iddynt gael 

mynediad rheolaidd i gyfleusterau toiledau, yn cymryd rhan mewn 
gweithgareddau economaidd y byddent fel arall yn ymgymryd â nhw, megis 
siopa, sy’n golygu eu bod yn cael eu hatal rhag bod yn rhan o’r economi leol. 
Gall hynny gynyddu arwahanrwydd cymdeithasol ac arwain at unigrwydd (yn 
enwedig ymysg pobl hŷn neu bobl ag anableddau). Gall darpariaeth wael hefyd 
gael effaith ar dwristiaeth, yr economi a’r defnydd a wneir o amwynderau 
cyhoeddus.  

 
 
ANGEN Y BOBLOGAETH 
 
Dywedodd 96% o’r sawl a ymatebodd i arolwg gan Crohn’s & Colitis UK y dylai 
fod dyletswydd ar bob awdurdod lleol yng Nghymru i greu a chyhoeddi 
strategaeth toiledau lleol. O blith y rheini: 
• dywedodd 40% eu bod yn cefnogi hynny oherwydd eu hangen am fynediad 

ar frys ac yn rheolaidd i doiledau; 
• soniodd 38% am y manteision sylweddol i iechyd a’r tawelwch meddwl a 

fyddai’n deillio o fynediad gwell i doiledau; 
• roedd 16% o’r farn bod hynny’n angenrheidiol oherwydd bod toiledau 

cyhoeddus traddodiadol lleol yn cael eu cau yn fwyfwy mynych.7 
 
2.5  Mae canran y boblogaeth yng Nghymru sy’n bobl hŷn yn uwch na’r ganran 

mewn mannau eraill yn y DU. Mae cyflyrau megis anymataliaeth, brys i fynd i’r 
toiled a phroblemau prostad yn tueddu i fod yn fwy cyffredin wrth i ni heneiddio, 
a gall hynny olygu bod angen cael mynediad i gyfleusterau toiledau’n fwy 
rheolaidd. Mae pobl hŷn yn dibynnu ar doiledau, ac mae llawer o bobl hŷn yn 
teimlo nad oes modd iddynt fanteisio ar amwynderau lleol os na allant fod yn 
hyderus bod toiledau ar gael. Mae Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru wedi tynnu 
sylw at yr angen i bobl hŷn gael mynediad i doiledau, ac wedi tynnu sylw at yr 
effaith y gall diffyg darpariaeth ei chael ar eu hiechyd8. 

 
2.6  Mae gan dros un filiwn ar ddeg o bobl ym Mhrydain Fawr salwch, nam neu 

anabledd hirdymor cyfyngus, ac mae anabledd yn mynd yn fwyfwy cyffredin 
wrth i bobl heneiddio9.  

 

                                                             
7 http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/documents/s57528/PHB%2038%20Crohns%20and%20Colitis%20UK.pdf  
8 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/news/news/14-03-
31/Commissioner_strongly_welcomes_proposals_to_improve_access_to_public_toilets_in_Wales.aspx  
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-facts-and-figures#fn:1 

Page 172



23 
 

2.7  Mae toiledau hygyrch safonol yn diwallu anghenion rhai pobl ag anableddau, 
ond nid pob un. Mae Consortiwm Changing Places10 yn ymgyrchu ar ran y sawl 
nad ydynt yn gallu defnyddio toiledau hygyrch safonol. Mae hynny’n cynnwys 
pobl ag anableddau dwys neu luosog a’u gofalwyr, yn ogystal â llawer o bobl 
ag anableddau eraill a phobl sydd â chyflyrau iechyd difrifol hirdymor. Mae 
arnyn nhw angen toiledau sy’n hygyrch i’r cyhoedd ac sydd â digon o le ac offer 
priodol megis teclyn codi, a mainc newid oedolyn y mae modd addasu ei 
huchder - dyma'n union yw toiled Changing Places. Nid yw'n orfodol cael toiled 
Changing Places i ddiwallu gofynion cynllunio ar hyn o bryd, ond ni ddylid 
diystyru'r angen am ddarparu cyfleusterau arbenigol fel hyn, oherwydd mae'r 
diffiniad o doiled yn y Ddeddf yn cynnwys mannau newid ar gyfer pobl anabl.   

 
2.8   Mae llawer o’r unedau sy'n cael eu harolygu bob blwyddyn gan Gymdeithas 

Toiledau Prydain ymhell o gyrraedd safonau presennol Deddf Cydraddoldeb 
2010. Mae defnyddwyr ostomi, pobl ag anawsterau symud a’r sawl sy’n 
defnyddio cadair olwyn yn aml yn ei chael yn anodd ymdopi â ffitiadau anghywir 
mewn toiledau hygyrch ac â diffyg darpariaeth benodol. 

 
2.9   Mae angen i blant, pobl ifanc a theuluoedd gael mynediad i gyfleusterau addas, 

gan gynnwys cyfleusterau newid babanod. Yn draddodiadol, efallai mai dim 
ond mewn toiledau i fenywod y darparwyd y cyfleusterau hyn, a byddai hyn yn 
broblem i ddynion sy'n gofalu am blant.   

 
2.10  Mae rhywedd yn fater i’w ystyried hefyd wrth ddarparu toiledau; er mai 

menywod yw dros hanner poblogaeth y DU a bod cyfran uwch o bobl hŷn yn 
fenywod, ceir mwy o ddarpariaeth i ddynion, yn bennaf oherwydd bod 
troethfeydd yn mynd â llai o le. Yn y gorffennol, nid yw'r gyfradd ddelfrydol o 1 
cyfleuster i wrywod i 2 gyfleuster i fenywod wedi ei bodloni, sy'n golygu na fu'r 
ddarpariaeth i fenywod yn ddigonol. Yn ogystal â hynny, yn ystod yr 
ymgynghoriad ar gyfer cynllun gweithredu Llywodraeth Cymru i wella 
cydraddoldeb ar gyfer pobl drawsryweddol, nododd y sawl yr ymgynghorwyd â 
nhw fod y ddarpariaeth o doiledau’n peri pryder i’r gymuned drawsryweddol.11 

 
2.11 Mae’r ffaith bod ‘economi’r nos’ wedi ehangu, a bod patrymau gweithio wedi 

newid, wedi arwain at ofyniad i sicrhau bod toiledau ar gael bob awr o bob 
dydd. Mae anghenion gweithwyr trafnidiaeth, gweithwyr sy'n cludo nwyddau a 
chynrychiolwyr y gwasanaethau brys ac eraill sy'n gweithio y tu allan neu sy'n 
teithio o fan i fan neu ar amseroedd afreolaidd hefyd yn cael eu diystyru'n aml 
wrth ddarparu toiledau. 

 
2.12  Er y gall fod gan rai grwpiau anghenion penodol, mae mynediad i doiledau yn 

fater trawsbynciol oherwydd bod pob grŵp yn y gymdeithas yn dibynnu ar 
ddarpariaeth ddigonol o doiledau er mwyn gallu byw o ddydd i ddydd.    

 

                                                             
10 http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 
11 https://llyw.cymru/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-cy.pdf  

Page 173



24 
 

2.13 Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol fod yn ofalus i gael cydbwysedd rhwng holl ofynion eu 
cymunedau i sicrhau nad yw grwpiau yn wynebu canlyniadau niweidiol 
anfwriadol yn sgil diwallu anghenion grŵp penodol arall.  

 
 

Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried angen eu poblogaeth yn fanwl er mwyn 
caniatáu i’w strategaethau toiledau lleol ddiwallu’r angen am doiledau 
hygyrch yn yr ardal yn y ffordd orau posibl. 
 

Page 174



25 
 

3. INTEGREIDDIO POLISÏAU  
 

DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL: gweithredu mewn modd 
integredig 
 

 
12 
 
3.1 Mae Ffyniant i Bawb: y strategaeth genedlaethol13 yn egluro sut y bydd 

Llywodraeth Cymru yn cyflawni er mwyn Cymru yn ystod tymor y Pumed 
Cynulliad presennol, ac mae’n gosod sylfeini hirdymor ar gyfer y dyfodol.  Mae’r 
strategaeth yn nodi nifer o ymrwymiadau allweddol (gan gynnwys rhai’n 
ymwneud ag iechyd a llesiant), mae’n gosod yr ymrwymiadau hynny mewn 
cyd-destun hirdymor ac yn egluro sut y maent yn cyd-fynd â’r gwaith y mae 
gwasanaeth cyhoeddus ehangach Cymru yn ei wneud i osod y sylfeini er mwyn 
sicrhau ffyniant i bawb. Mae’n cydnabod bod sut yr ydym yn mynd ati i gyflawni 
yr un mor bwysig â beth yr ydym yn ei gyflawni, ac er mwyn gwneud 
gwahaniaeth go iawn i fywydau pobl bod angen i ni wneud pethau’n wahanol a 
chynnwys pobl wrth fynd ati i lunio’r gwasanaethau y maent yn eu defnyddio 
bob dydd.   

 
3.2   Dylai penderfyniadau am y ddarpariaeth o doiledau fod yn rhan o waith 

cynllunio strategol pob awdurdod lleol, gan ystyried anghenion amrywiol ar lefel 
ranbarthol, ar lefel ardal ac ar lefel leol. Dylai cynlluniau datblygu sicrhau y 
rhoddir ystyriaeth i gyfleoedd i ddarparu cyfleusterau cyhoeddus yn yr hirdymor 
yn rhan o ddatblygiadau arfaethedig, ac y rhoddir ystyriaeth i’r galw am 
doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd sy’n gysylltiedig â’r datblygiadau hynny. Dylent 
hefyd sicrhau y rhoddir ystyriaeth i’r manteision hirdymor y gall darparu toiledau 
eu sicrhau ar gyfer pobl sy’n defnyddio datblygiadau arfaethedig ac yn ymweld 
â nhw. 

 
3.3   Yn aml bydd canol trefi, canolfannau trafnidiaeth a mannau poblogaidd o ran 

gweithgareddau hamdden a thwristiaeth yn ardaloedd â blaenoriaeth o 
safbwynt cael toiledau. Dylid hefyd ystyried yr angen am doiledau mewn 
ardaloedd a gaiff eu galw’n Ardaloedd Gwella Busnes14. 

 
3.4 Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol ddilyn gofynion Mesur y Gymraeg 2011 a'r rheoliadau 

cysylltiedig, eu polisïau iaith Gymraeg a'r hysbysiadau cydymffurfio, gan 
sicrhau nad yw'r Gymraeg yn cael ei thrin yn llai ffafriol na'r Saesneg wrth fynd 
ati â'r gweithgareddau i ymgysylltu, cyfathrebu, paratoi cyhoeddusrwydd a 
dosbarthu gwybodaeth a restrir yn y canllawiau hyn. Os oes gan awdurdodau 

                                                             
12 www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toilets_in_Britain 
13 http://llyw.cymru/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-cy.pdf 
14 https://llyw.cymru/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-improvement-
districts/?lang=cy  

“Mae angen i’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau gael ei phrif ffrydio mewn polisïau 
trefol strategol, polisïau trafnidiaeth ac ystyriaethau dylunio trefol”. 
 
Dr Clara Greed, A Code of Practice for Toilets in Britain, 2015 
 

Page 175



26 
 

lleol unrhyw amheuaeth a ydy unrhyw agwedd ar y Mesur a'r Rheoliadau yn 
gymwys i unrhyw weithgaredd arfaethedig, rhaid iddynt gael cyngor gan eu 
hadran gyfreithiol ac edrych ar ganllawiau a gyhoeddir gan Swyddfa 
Comisiynydd y Gymraeg15.  

 
3.5   Mae gan Lywodraeth Cymru ystod o bolisïau sy’n gofyn am strategaethau a 

chynlluniau ar lefel leol. Yr her yw adeiladu ar y rheini ac ychwanegu gwerth 
atynt, yn hytrach na’u tanseilio neu eu dyblygu. Mewn rhai achosion, bydd 
croesgyfeiriadau amlwg yn briodol. Dylai’r strategaethau toiledau lleol 
gydnabod hynny. 

 
3.6    Dyma’r prif bolisïau: 

• Asesiadau o'r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb ac Iechyd; 
• Cynlluniau Llesiant Lleol; 
• Asesiadau o Anghenion y Boblogaeth; 
• Cynlluniau Datblygu Lleol; 
• Cynlluniau Trafnidiaeth Lleol; 
• Llwybrau a mapiau Teithio Llesol; 
• Partneriaeth ar gyfer Twf. 

 
3.7   Mae Asesiadau o’r Effaith ar Iechyd yn cynnig dull systematig ond hyblyg o 

ystyried iechyd fel rhan o brosesau gwneud penderfyniadau a chynllunio. Wrth 
ddatblygu strategaeth, dylai awdurdodau lleol ddefnyddio proses Asesiad o’r 
Effaith ar Iechyd fel rhan annatod o'r broses asesu anghenion i hybu ystyriaeth 
eang i’r modd y bydd ystod o ffactorau sy’n gysylltiedig â cham gweithredu neu 
benderfyniad arfaethedig ynghylch y ddarpariaeth o doiledau lleol yn effeithio ar 
iechyd y boblogaeth yn lleol. Bydd yr asesiad yn ceisio sicrhau cynifer ag sy’n 
bosibl o effeithiau cadarnhaol ac yn helpu i ddileu neu liniaru effeithiau 
negyddol. Mae rhagor o wybodaeth, dulliau sgrinio ac adnoddau ynghylch 
Asesiadau o’r Effaith ar Iechyd ar gael ar wefan Uned Gymorth Asesu’r Effaith 
ar Iechyd Cymru16.  

 
3.8  At hynny, bydd canllawiau wedi’u diweddaru ar gael a fydd yn adlewyrchu'r 

rheoliadau newydd ynghylch defnydd cyrff cyhoeddus yng Nghymru o 
Asesiadau o’r Effaith ar Iechyd, a wneir dan y Ddeddf. 

  

                                                             
15 http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/Cymraeg/Pages/Hafan.aspx  
16 https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/cy/  
 

Page 176



27 
 

 
 

 
 
 
3.9 Mae Asesiadau o'r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb yn galluogi sefydliad i ystyried 

effeithiau ei benderfyniadau, polisïau neu wasanaethau ar wahanol 
gymunedau, unigolion neu grwpiau, yn arbennig mewn perthynas â'r rheini sy'n 
fwyaf agored i niwed mewn cymdeithas.  

 
3.10 Mae Asesiadau o'r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb yn darparu ffordd systematig o 

sicrhau bod y goblygiadau cyfreithiol yn cael eu bodloni a'u bod yn ffordd 

Astudiaeth Achos 

Fel ymateb i gynigion Llywodraeth Cymru y dylai awdurdodau lleol lunio strategaethau 
toiledau lleol, cynhaliodd Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Iechyd arfaethedig. 
Bwriadwyd treialu hyn drwy ystyried yr amgylchiadau penodol a geir yn Ynys Môn gan 
ddefnyddio Canllaw Ymarferol Uned Gymorth Asesu’r Effaith ar Iechyd Cymru (2012) 
(www.whiasu.wales.nhs.uk ).     
 

Ystyriodd yr Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Iechyd farn amrywiol arbenigwyr a rhanddeiliaid Iechyd 
y Cyhoedd drwy gyfathrebu'n uniongyrchol a thrwy gweithdy cyfranogol cyflym hanner 
diwrnod ar yr Asesiad (a oedd yn cynnwys cyfle i bobl hŷn, rhieni â phlant ifanc, twristiaid, 
y darparwr gwasanaeth a chynrychiolwyr y gymuned i gymryd rhan). Arweiniodd hyn at 
nodi amryw o effeithiau iechyd negyddol a chadarnhaol a chanolbwyntiwyd ar amrywiol 
faterion i'w hasesu ymhellach, gan gynnwys:  
 
• Y grwpiau agored i niwed, megis pobl hŷn, unigolion ar incwm isel, pobl ddigartref, 

pobl â chyflyrau meddygol penodol a thwristiaid. 
• effeithiau sy'n gysylltiedig â ffordd o fyw megis fod diffyg hylif mewn unigolion (yn 

arbennig ymhlith pobl hŷn a gyrrwyr) sy'n lleihau'r hylif y maent y ei yfed er mwyn 
osgoi gorfod aros ar hyd eu taith i fynd i'r toiled  

• materion cymdeithasol a chymunedol megis arwahanrwydd cymdeithasol ac 
unigrwydd ymhlith pobl hŷn, sy'n gyndyn o fynd allan oherwydd diffyg toiledau 
cyhoeddus i fodloni eu hanghenion. 

• materion amgylcheddol megis baeddu'r stryd, yn arbennig ar hyd yr A55(T). 
• Materion economaidd megis effeithiau ar twristiaid a gweithwyr peripatetig. 
• effeithiau ar wasanaethau fel lleihad mewn amwynderau, darpariaeth arall gan 

fusnesau preifat a'r defnydd o TG. 
 

Cafodd y materion hyn eu mireinio drwy trafodaethau pellach â thri grŵp ffocws ar wahân: 
gweithwyr post, cludo nwyddau a chwmnïau bysiau (sydd oll yn cyflogi gweithlu 
peripatetig), yn ogystal â chyfweliadau ar y ffôn â sefydliadau sy'n gyfrifol am gynnal yr 
A55(T) ac eraill sy'n gweithio ar ran pobl ddigartref. Pan ystyriwyd canlyniadau'r 
asesiadau hyn, o ran proffil y gymuned a'r dystiolaeth ddogfennol, cafwyd amryw o 
argymhellion. 
 
Nododd yr Asesiad o Effaith ar Iechyd y gallai canlyniadau anfwriadol godi p byddai 
awdurdod lleol yn cau toiledau cyhoeddus. Gall y rhain amrywio o effeithiau ar yr economi 
dwristiaeth (ee Cadw Gwobrau Glan Môr) i ddarparu gwasanaethau ar gyfer pobl 
ddigartref. Mae Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Iechyd yn sicrhau bod awdurdod lleol yn ystyried 
ffactorau eraill wrth wneud penderfyniadau ynglŷn â chau toiledau cyhoeddus, a phan fo 
penderfyniad i gau yn cael ei gymeradwyo, mae'n awgrymu dulliau o liniaru'r effeithiau 
neu eu negyddu'n llwyr.  

Page 177



28 
 

ymarferol o ymchwilio i bolisïau ac arferion newydd a phresennol er mwyn 
penderfynu pa effaith y gallent ei chael ar gydraddoldeb ar gyfer y rheini a 
effeithir gan y canlyniadau.   

 
3.11 Mae Asesiadau o'r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb yn galw am:   
 

• ragfynegi neu nodi canlyniadau'r gwaith hwn ar unigolion neu grwpiau o 
ddefnyddwyr gwasanaeth/cydweithwyr;  

• gwneud yn siŵr mai ychydig iawn o effaith negyddol a geir, neu ddim o gwbl   
• cynyddu i’r eithaf gyfleoedd i hyrwyddo effaith gadarnhaol.  

 
3.12 Mae pecyn Cymorth wedi cael ei ddatblygu17 i helpu sefydliadau i ystyried yr 

effeithiau y mae penderfyniadau, polisïau neu wasanaethau yn eu cael ar bobl 
sydd â nodwedd warchodedig. Mae asesu effaith ar drws ystod eang o 
nodweddion (nid y rheini y mae'n ofynnol yn ôl y gyfraith i'w hasesu yn unig), yn 
helpu sefydliadau/mudiadau i ymwreiddio ansawdd a hawliau dynol a'u helpu i 
gyflenwi eu gwasanaethau. Awgrymir, felly, y dylid cynnal asesiad ar 
ddechrau'r broses o asesu anghenion. 

 

3.13 Cynlluniau Llesiant Lleol: Rhaid i bob Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus 
asesu cyflwr llesiant economaidd, cymdeithasol, amgylcheddol a diwylliannol 
yn eu hardaloedd. Rhaid i’r asesiad ystyried cyflwr llesiant y bobl sydd yn yr 
ardal yn ogystal â’r cymunedau sydd yn yr ardal.  

3.14 Mae canllawiau Llywodraeth Cymru18ynghylch paratoi asesiad llesiant lleol a 
Chynllun Llesiant Lleol yn nodi fel a ganlyn: 

Gall fframweithiau polisi Llywodraeth Cymru megis y Strategaeth Tlodi Plant 
ddiwygiedig19 a'r Cynllun Gweithredu Trechu Tlodi20 helpu Byrddau i asesu 
anghenion plant mewn tlodi. Yn yr un modd, gallai Strategaeth y Gymraeg21 
helpu byrddau i asesu anghenion siaradwyr Cymraeg a chymunedau Cymraeg 
eu hiaith a gallai dangosyddion llesiant pobl hŷn22 helpu byrddau i nodi 
anghenion pobl hŷn eu cymunedau.  

 
3.15  Gallai’r asesiad o lesiant pobl ym mhob ardal fod yn ddefnyddiol wrth baratoi’r 

asesiad o angen am ddarpariaeth o doiledau. Gallai asesiadau’r awdurdod lleol 
o angen y gymuned am doiledau fod yn ddefnyddiol wedyn wrth baratoi 
asesiadau o lesiant lleol yn y dyfodol.  

 
3.16 Mae’n ofynnol i Fyrddau Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus, wedi hynny, baratoi a 

chyhoeddi Cynllun Llesiant Lleol, sy’n seiliedig ar eu hasesiad o lesiant lleol. 
Bydd y Cynllun Llesiant Lleol yn egluro sut y mae’r Bwrdd Gwasanaethau 

                                                             
17 http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
18 https://llyw.cymru/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-cy.pdf  
19 https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?skip=1&lang=cy   
20 https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-tackling-poverty-action-
plan/?skip=1&lang=cy  
21 https://llyw.cymru/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217cy.pdf  
22 http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs  – Cyhoeddwyd gan Gomisiynydd Pobl Hŷn 
Cymru.  Dogfen gynghori yw hon a allai fod o ddefnydd i Fyrddau Gwasanaethau Lleol.    

Page 178



29 
 

Cyhoeddus yn bwriadu cydweithio i wella llesiant economaidd, cymdeithasol, 
amgylcheddol a diwylliannol ei ardal, drwy bennu amcanion lleol a fydd yn 
sicrhau bod cyfraniad y bwrdd at gyflawni’r nodau llesiant mor helaeth ag sy’n 
bosibl. 

 
3.17 Asesiadau o Anghenion y Boblogaeth: Mae Asesiadau o Anghenion y 

Boblogaeth yn ofynnol dan Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant 
(Cymru) 2014. Rhaid i awdurdodau lleol a byrddau iechyd lleol gynnal asesiad 
o’r boblogaeth ar y cyd er mwyn darganfod beth yw’r anghenion o ran gofal a 
chymorth mewn ardal benodol. Rhaid i’r asesiad egluro hefyd ystod a lefel y 
gwasanaethau sy’n ofynnol er mwyn diwallu’r anghenion hynny23. Gallai’r 
wybodaeth yn yr asesiadau hyn fod yn ddefnyddiol wrth baratoi’r asesiad o 
angen am ddarpariaeth o doiledau. 

 
3.18 Cynlluniau Datblygu Lleol: Rhaid i bob awdurdod cynllunio lleol yng Nghymru 

baratoi Cynllun Datblygu Lleol ar gyfer ei ardal, ar sail Cynllun Gofodol 
Cymru24. Y Cynllun Datblygu Lleol yw’r cynllun datblygu ar gyfer pob cyngor sir 
neu gyngor fwrdeistref sirol a phob Parc Cenedlaethol, ac mae’n disodli’r 
Cynllun Datblygu Unedol neu unrhyw gynllun datblygu arall sy’n bodoli eisoes. 
Mae Cynlluniau Datblygu Lleol yn darparu’r cynigion a’r polisïau ar gyfer rheoli 
datblygiad yr ardal leol yn ystod y 15 mlynedd nesaf. Mae Polisi Cynllunio 
Cymru yn pwysleisio’r rhagdybiaeth o blaid datblygu cynaliadwy. Dylai 
Cynlluniau Datblygu Lleol fod yn seiliedig ar ddefnydd darbodus o adnoddau, 
dealltwriaeth glir o anghenion economaidd, cymdeithasol ac amgylcheddol yr 
ardal, ac unrhyw gyfyngiadau o ran diwallu’r anghenion hynny. Gallai’r broses o 
ddatblygu’r Cynllun Datblygu Lleol ddarparu dealltwriaeth, tystiolaeth ac atebion 
y gall awdurdodau lleol eu defnyddio wrth ddatblygu eu strategaethau. 

 
3.19 Cynlluniau Bro: Mae Deddf Cynllunio (Cymru) 2015 yn galluogi Awdurdodau 

Cynllunio Lleol yng Nghymru i weithio gyda chymunedau i lunio Cynlluniau 
Bro25. Dogfennau cynllunio yw'r rhain a baratoir ac a arweinir gan gymunedau i 
helpu trigolion i ddylanwadu ar y manylion o ran datblygiadau yn eu hardal leol 
nhw. Bydd angen i Gynlluniau Bro gydymffurfio â Chynllun Datblygu Lleol 
awdurdod lleol, a bydd yn dod yn ddogfen anstatudol i'w mabwysiadu gan y 
Cyngor fel Canllawiau Cynllunio Atodol. 

 
3.20 Cynllun Trafnidiaeth Lleol: Cyflwynodd Deddf Trafnidiaeth 2000, fel y’i 

diwygiwyd gan Ddeddf Trafnidiaeth (Cymru) 2006, ofyniad statudol i 
awdurdodau trafnidiaeth lleol lunio Cynllun Trafnidiaeth Lleol bob pum mlynedd 
a’i adolygu’n gyson. Mae’r cynlluniau diweddaraf yn disgrifio’r prif faterion 
trafnidiaeth sy’n berthnasol i’r awdurdod lleol ac yn egluro blaenoriaethau 
penodol sydd i’w cyflawni gan yr awdurdod lleol yn ystod y cyfnod o bum 
mlynedd o 2015 i 2020, ynghyd â dyheadau tymor canolig a thymor hwy hyd at 
2030. Dylai strategaethau’r awdurdod lleol ystyried y prif broblemau trafnidiaeth 
a nodwyd a’r blaenoriaethau sydd i’w cyflawni.  

                                                             
23 http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/?skip=1&lang=cy 
24 http://gov.wales/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial/plan/?lang=cy 
25 http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ - noddir gan Is-adran Gynllunio 
Llywodraeth Cymru  

Page 179



30 
 

 
3.21 Caiff gwybodaeth am dueddiadau trafnidiaeth ar hyn o bryd ac yn y dyfodol ei 

diweddaru’n rheolaidd a’i darparu gan dîm Ystadegau ac Ymchwil Llywodraeth 
Cymru, ac mae ar gael ar:  

http://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=cy.  

3.22  At hynny, dylai awdurdodau lleol roi sylw i adran 114 o Ddeddf Priffyrdd 1980, 
sy’n rhoi’r pŵer iddynt ddarparu cyfleusterau cyhoeddus i ddefnyddwyr ffyrdd 
mewn mannau addas a chyfleus ar dir sy’n ffinio â’r briffordd neu’r briffordd 
arfaethedig, dan dir o’r fath, neu yng nghyffiniau’r briffordd neu’r briffordd 
arfaethedig26.  

 
3.23 Deddf Teithio Llesol (Cymru) 2013 (Deddf 2013): Ystyrir mai Deddf 2013 

yw’r ddeddf gyntaf o’i math yn y byd, ac mae’n ei gwneud yn ofyniad cyfreithiol i 
awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru fapio llwybrau addas ar gyfer teithio’n llesol, 
cynllunio ar eu cyfer ac adeiladu a gwella eu hisadeiledd ar gyfer cerdded a 
beicio bob blwyddyn. Mae’n creu dyletswyddau newydd ar awdurdodau 
priffyrdd i ystyried anghenion cerddwyr a beicwyr a sicrhau darpariaeth well ar 
eu cyfer. Mae’n ei gwneud yn ofynnol i Lywodraeth Cymru ac awdurdodau lleol 
hyrwyddo cerdded a beicio fel dull o deithio. Mae adran 2(8) o Ddeddf 2013 yn 
diffinio ystod o nodweddion fel cyfleusterau cysylltiedig at ddibenion y Ddeddf, 
sy’n cynnwys toiledau cyhoeddus. Mae adran 8 y Canllawiau Dylunio statudol 
yn cynnwys mwy o fanylion ynghylch toiledau yn 8.4.27 Mae'r canllawiau yn 
darparu fel a ganlyn: 

 
“O dan y Ddeddf rhaid cynhyrchu dau fap, y map llwybrau presennol a’r map 
rhwydwaith integredig. Bydd y mapiau llwybrau presennol yn dangos y llwybrau 
o fewn yr ardaloedd dynodedig sy’n addas a phriodol ar gyfer siwrneiau teithio 
llesol. Gallai’r llwybrau hyn fod ar y ffordd, wedi eu rhannu, yn rhai ar wahân 
neu’n ddi-draffig. Gallent fod i gerddwyr neu feicwyr, neu i’r ddau grŵp. Byddant 
hefyd yn dangos y pwyntiau croesi a’r cyfleusterau ar gyfer hwyluso teithio 
llesol ar y llwybrau hyn, gan gynnwys llochesi a lle i storio a pharcio beics a 
thoiledau cyhoeddus.  

Rhaid i unrhyw gyfleusterau a ddangosir ar y map llwybrau presennol fod ar 
gael i’r cyhoedd, er nad oes raid iddynt fod yn “ddi-dâl” (e.e. toiledau sy’n agor 
gyda darnau o arian). Ni ddylid cynnwys cyfleusterau sydd ond ar gael i 
grwpiau penodol, fel toiledau mewn campfa i aelodau’n unig.” 

3.24  Mae’r canllawiau statudol ar gael ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru28. 

3.25  Bydd y gwaith a wnaed eisoes gan awdurdodau lleol mewn perthynas â Deddf 
2013 yn werthfawr o safbwynt cynorthwyo’r broses o ddatblygu strategaethau 
awdurdodau lleol.  

 
3.26 Strategaeth Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer twristiaeth hyd at 2020 yw 

Partneriaeth ar gyfer Twf. Un o’r prif elfennau y mae’r ddogfen hon yn 
                                                             
26 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/welsh 
27https://beta.gov.wales/active-travel-design-guidance 
28 https://beta.llyw.cymru/teithio-llesol-canllawiau-statudol-ar-gyfer-awdurdodau-lleol  

Page 180



31 
 

canolbwyntio arni yw ‘meithrin lle’, oherwydd mae’n cydnabod mai cyrchfannau 
twristiaeth sy’n darparu amgylchedd o safon i’r ymwelydd yw’r rhai mwyaf 
llwyddiannus.  Mae hefyd yn cydnabod bod modd i gyfleusterau a ddarperir ar 
gyfer ymwelwyr gael eu defnyddio hefyd gan y cymunedau lle mae’r 
cyfleusterau, ac y gallant helpu i greu incwm a swyddi lleol. Mae Partneriaeth 
ar gyfer Twf yn nodi fel a ganlyn: 

 
“Bydd yn bwysig gwella apêl cyrchfannau ymwelwyr ledled Cymru. Mae Rheoli 
Cyrchfannau yn gysyniad syml, sy’n golygu cydweithio i reoli lleoedd. Yn aml, 
dim ond pan fyddant yn anfoddhaol y bydd pobl yn sylwi ar seilwaith twristiaeth 
fel cyfeirbwyntiau, arwyddion, meysydd parcio, cyflwr traethau, tai bach, 
gwybodaeth i ymwelwyr a sbwriel, ond gallant wneud y gwahaniaeth rhwng 
ymwelydd bodlon ac un anhapus.” 

 
3.27 Efallai yr hoffai awdurdodau lleol nodi bod gwybodaeth am brofiad twristiaid 

(ymwelwyr diwrnod, ymwelwyr o’r DU ac ymwelwyr tramor) yn cael ei 
diweddaru’n rheolaidd ac yn cael ei darparu gan dîm Ystadegau ac Ymchwil 
Llywodraeth Cymru.29 

 
3.28 Mae rhan o Arolwg Ymwelwyr Diwrnod 2016 Llywodraeth Cymru yn dangos 

mor bwysig i’r maes hwn yw sicrhau bod toiledau cyhoeddus ar gael: 
 

“Er bod ymwelwyr diwrnod o'r DU yn rhoi sgôr uchel iawn i Gymru fel lle i 
ymweld ag ef, mae'r astudiaeth yn nodi rhai meysydd lle y gellid gwella'r profiad 
a gwahaniaethau barn ymwelwyr rhwng gwahanol rannau o'r wlad. Rhoddwyd 
sgorau islaw wyth allan o 10 i ansawdd ac argaeledd trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus, a 
glendid ac argaeledd toiledau cyhoeddus, siopa a pha mor hygyrch oedd 
Cymru ar gyfer pobl ag anabledd, sy'n awgrymu bod lle i wella ar bob un o'r 
agweddau hyn.”  

 
3.29 Gall awdurdodau lleol ddefnyddio Cynlluniau Rheoli Cyrchfan30 i gael golwg 

strategol ar sut y maent yn denu ymwelwyr i gyrchfannau a sicrhau eu bod yn 
mwynhau eu hymweliad. Nid oes gan bob awdurdod lleol Gynllun Rheoli 
Cyrchfan ar hyn o bryd, ond dylai awdurdodau lleol sydd wrthi'n llunio eu 
strategaeth toiledau lleol gysylltu â'i tîm twristiaeth lleol i drafod.  

 
3.30 Mae gwaith ar y gweill i lunio canllawiau ar ddull cydweithredol o reoli cyrchfan 

a gellir eu gweld ar wefan Busnes Cymru31.  
 
3.31 Mae cyllid Cymorth Buddsoddi Mewn Amwynderau Twristiaeth yn targedu 

prosiectau amwynderau yn y sector twristiaeth yng Nghymru. Mae cyllid ar gael 
i'r sectorau cyhoeddus, y trydydd sector a sefydliadau dielw32 a'r nod yw 
datblygu cyfleusterau twristiaeth cynaliadwy o safon, a fydd yn ychwanegu 
gwerth i brofiad yr ymwelydd ac a fydd hefyd o safon, yn arloesol ac yn rhoi 
synnwyr o le.    

 
                                                             
29 Ar gael yn: http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/topic=Tourism&lang=cy  
30 https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/cy/ 
31 https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/cy/gweithio-gyda-croeso-cymru  
32  https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/finance#guides-tabs--4 

Page 181



32 
 

 
 

 

Astudiaeth Achos: Cymorth Buddsoddi Mewn Amwynderau Twristiaeth 

Cyngor Bro Morgannwg – ailwampio'r maes parcio a'r toiledau ym Mae 
Dwnrhefn 

 
Mae Cynllun Cyrchfan Cyngor Bro Morgannwg ar gyfer Bae Dwnrhefn yn 
cynnwys datblygu economi ymwelwyr ffyniannus. Mae'r prif faes parcio ar gyfer y 
traeth a'r maes parcio ar gyfer Canolfan yr Arfordir Treftadaeth mewn cyflwr 
gwael, felly mae'r awdurdod lleol wedi cynnig ystod o waith i uwchraddio seilwaith 
sylfaenol yr ardal i helpu i gynyddu'r apêl i ymwelwyr.     
    
Mae'r gwaith yn cynnwys rhoi arwyneb newydd yn y meysydd parcio ar gyfer y 
prif draeth ac wrth ochr y Ganolfan Dreftadaeth a rhoi arwyneb newydd yn y 
blaengwrt cyhoeddus sydd o flaen Canolfan yr Arfordir Treftadaeth, ac 
ailwampio'r bloc toiledau allanol a'r ystafell gawod/wlyb. 
  
Bydd y gwaith yn sicrhau bod cymaint o le parcio â phosibl a bod digon o le ar 
gyfer cael mynediad/parcio i bobl anabl. Bydd llif y traffig yn cael ei wella a 
llwybrau diogel yn cael eu paratoi i gerddwyr, a bydd mynediad gwell a llwybr 
uniongyrchol i Lwybr Arfordir Cymru.    
  
Bydd y gwaith ailwampio'r bloc toiledau allanol yng Nghanolfan yr Arfordir 
Treftadaeth yn cynnwys gosod sychwyr dwylo sy'n arbed ynni a systemau golau 
sy'n arbed ynni. Bydd y gwaith i'r ystafell gawod/wlyb yn sicrhau ei bod yn 
cydymffurfio â rheoliadau mynediad i'r anabl a'i bod yn addas i bawb ei defnyddio. 
 
Bydd yr ardal newid wlyb newydd hon yn galluogi grwpiau cymunedol a 
sefydliadau masnachol trydydd parti ddatblygu'r cynnyrch a gynigir ganddynt a 
bydd o gymorth i ddatblygu'r safle fel canolbwynt ar gyfer gweithgareddau dŵr 
awyr agored.  
 
 

Page 182



33 
 

4.	 CYNNWYS POBL	

 
DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL: cynnwys amrywiaeth o’r 
boblogaeth yn y penderfyniadau sy’n effeithio arnynt 
 
4.1   Mae’r boblogaeth leol a rhanddeiliaid allweddol yn fwy tebygol o deimlo bod eu 

hanghenion wedi’u hystyried yn ddigonol os byddant wedi bod yn rhan o’r 
broses, a bydd gwneud hynny yn cynyddu eu hymdeimlad o berchnogaeth ar y 
strategaeth. Mae’n arbennig o bwysig pan fydd awdurdodau lleol yn ystyried yr 
asesiad o angen.    

 
 
RHEOLI DISGWYLIADAU 
 
4.2 Bydd angen i awdurdodau lleol reoli'r negeseuon am yr hyn y maen nhw eisiau 

ei gyflawni o ddechrau'r broses. Bydd angen i awdurdodau lleol bwysleisio mai 
megis dechrau ar broses hirdymor yw hyn, a bydd angen iddynt fod yn glir am 
yr hyn y gallant ac na allant ei wneud mewn perthynas â darparu toiledau'n 
uniongyrchol. Dylid pwysleisio mai prif nod y strategaeth yw gwella mynediad 
pawb at doiledau yn eu bywydau o ddydd i ddydd drwy wneud defnydd gwell o'r 
adnoddau sydd ar gael yn barod.  

 
4.3 Dylid hefyd bwysleisio nad oes angen i bob cyfleuster toiledau barhau, yn 

arbennig os oes opsiynau eraill sy'n well ac na fydd modd darparu mynediad i'r 
cyhoedd i bob cyfleuster posibl mewn adeiladau. Bydd defnyddio'r adnoddau 
sydd ar gael eisoes yn golygu nad yw pob toiled a fydd ar gael i'r cyhoedd yn 
debygol o fod yn gwbl hygyrch i bawb, gan ddibynnu ar gyfyngiadau cynllun yr 
adeilad a'r hyn y mae'n gymesur ei newid i wneud y toiled yn gwbl hygyrch ond 
bydd cael ystod llawer ehangach o doiledau o fudd i bawb. 

 
 
Dylai cymunedau lleol gael eu cynnwys o’r cychwyn cyntaf yn y broses o 
ddatblygu strategaethau. Ni ddylai awdurdodau lleol aros nes bod y 
strategaethau’n bodoli ar ffurf drafft cyn gofyn am fewnbwn gan eu 
cymunedau.  
 
4.4   Dylai awdurdodau lleol lunio eu strategaethau drwy ymgysylltu â’r canlynol: 
 

• partneriaid cyflenwi allweddol fel Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned;  
 
• y trydydd sector a chynghorau gwirfoddol cymunedol a ffora, mentrau 

cymdeithasol a chymdeithasau tai;   
 
• busnesau lleol a thirfeddianwyr preifat; 
 
• unigolion sy’n dibynnu ar y ddarpariaeth o gyfleusterau toiledau at ddefnydd 

y cyhoedd, gan gynnwys plant a’u rhieni, pobl hŷn, pobl ag anableddau, 

Page 183



34 
 

gofalwyr a gweithwyr gofal, pobl sy’n cysgu allan, a phobl sy’n teithio i 
weithio yn yr ardal; 

 
• grwpiau cynrychiadol, gan gynnwys er enghraifft Cymdeithas Toiledau 

Prydain, Age Cymru, Crohn’s & Colitis UK, y Gymdeithas Alzheimer’s ac 
Anabledd Cymru ymhlith eraill; 

 
• Comisiynydd Plant a Chomisiynydd Pobl Hŷn Cymru; 
 
• partneriaid yn y sector cyhoeddus, gan gynnwys yr heddlu a’r gwasanaeth 

ambiwlans; darparwyr y GIG a chyrff megis Cynghorau Iechyd Cymuned a 
grwpiau cleifion a darparwyr Gofal Cymdeithasol;  

 
• yr Ymddiriedolaeth Genedlaethol ac Awdurdodau Parciau Cenedlaethol;  
 
• Croeso Cymru a chyrff twristiaeth lleol; 

 
• Undebau Llafur lleol. 

 
 

 
ASESIAD O ANGEN – YMGYSYLLTU Â RHANDDEILIAID 
 
4.5  Un elfen allweddol o’r broses o ddatblygu strategaeth awdurdod lleol yw’r 

‘asesiad o angen’ y mae’n rhaid i bob awdurdod lleol ei gynnal. Mae hynny’n 
golygu cynnal adolygiad o’r ddarpariaeth bresennol, nodi'r bylchau a dod o hyd 
i gyfleoedd i gynyddu’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau yn yr ardal leol.  

 
4.6  Ni ddylai awdurdodau lleol gynnal yr asesiad hwn o angen ar wahân i bawb 

arall. Mae cynnwys y gymuned leol a rhanddeiliaid allweddol (a nodir uchod) yn 
gynnar yn yr asesiad yn hanfodol i lwyddiant pob strategaeth yn y pen draw. 
Mae hynny’n arbennig o wir pan fo awdurdod lleol yn ceisio cael perchnogion 
busnesau i gynnig eu cyfleusterau toiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd yn 
ehangach. 

 
4.7  Dylai awdurdodau lleol ymgysylltu â’u cymunedau er mwyn sicrhau bod yr 

asesiad o angen yn adlewyrchu ymddygiad ac anghenion y boblogaeth leol ac 
ymwelwyr yn gywir. Dylid gwneud hyn drwy ystod o ddulliau ac amryw o 
bosibiliadau fe y'u nodir isod: 

 
• Grwpiau llywio/grwpiau ffocws; 
• Adborth a dderbyniwyd gan y cyhoedd; 
• Gweithdai; 
• Digwyddiadau; 
• Arddangosfeydd; 
• Cyfarfodydd cyhoeddus; 
• Cyfryngau cymdeithasol; 
• Deunydd ar-lein a negeseuon e-bost; 
• Cylchlythyrau; 

Page 184



35 
 

• Papurau newydd lleol;  
• Arolygon a holiaduron. 

 
4.8 Nid yw’r rhestr uchod o enghreifftiau’n rhestr gyflawn: Dylai awdurdodau lleol 

ddefnyddio'r dulli(au) ymgysylltu a fydd yn cael y trosolwg gorau o'r boblogaeth, 
a chadw mewn cof hefyd y gellid bod angen defnyddio gwahanol ddulliau ar 
gyfer gwahanol grwpiau, e.e. efallai na fydd arolygon ar-lein yn hygyrch i bob 
grŵp o'r boblogaeth, a gellid cael gwahanol ganlyniadau ar wahanol adegau o'r 
dydd ac mewn gwahanol leoliadau. Fodd bynnag, dylai awdurdodau lleol 
wneud eu gorau glas hefyd i ymgysylltu â’r bobl yn eu poblogaeth sy’n fwy 
tebygol o ddibynnu ar fynediad i doiledau, megis pobl sy’n cysgu allan, pobl 
sydd â chyflyrau iechyd hirdymor, pobl sy’n mynychu grwpiau cymorth lleol 
(megis pobl ag anableddau neu bobl sydd â chyflyrau meddygol penodol), pobl 
hŷn, rhieni a gofalwyr plant ifanc, a’r sawl sy’n gofalu am bobl ag anghenion 
ychwanegol. Gallai grwpiau trydydd sector yn arbennig fod o gymorth i'r perwyl 
hwn.   

 
4.9 Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried hefyd ymgysylltu â chlybiau a grwpiau 

cymdeithasol y gallai fod angen iddynt gael mynediad i doiledau.  
 

ASESIAD O ANGEN – FFACTORAU I’W HYSTYRIED 
 

 
 
4.10  Wrth lunio’r asesiad o angen dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried ystod o ffactorau, 

gan gynnwys yr hyn a ganlyn: 
 

• asesiad o’r boblogaeth leol, gan gynnwys oedran, rhywedd ac anghenion 
ychwanegol y boblogaeth o ran iechyd; 

• asesiad o gydbwysedd y ddarpariaeth bresennol o ran rhywedd; 
• asesiad o leoliadau, gan gynnwys cyrchfannau poblogaidd a’r pellter rhwng 

cyfleusterau; 
• asesiad o argaeledd a hygyrchedd, oriau agor, ffioedd am ddefnyddio 

cyfleusterau, mynediad i bobl ag anableddau, cyfleusterau Changing Places 
a chyfleusterau newid babanod; 

• asesiad o gyflwr y cyfleusterau presennol; 
• ystyriaeth i amrywiadau tymhorol, gan gynnwys digwyddiadau lleol a thwf 

tymhorol yn y boblogaeth; 
• ystyriaeth i ffactorau cymdeithasol megis a yw cyfleusterau’n darged ar gyfer 

camddefnydd ac ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol neu a fernir eu bod mewn lle 
peryglus; 

• ystyriaeth i ofynion yn y dyfodol, gan gynnwys cynlluniau datblygu lleol; 

Mae'n ofynnol yn unol ag adran 113(8)(a) o'r Ddeddf i'r canllawiau hyn 
wneud darpariaeth ynghylch yr asesiad o’r angen i doiledau fod ar gael i’w 
defnyddio yng nghyffiniau safleoedd ac mewn cysylltiad â digwyddiadau 
sydd o bwys penodol neu o ddiddordeb diwylliannol, o ddiddordeb o ran 
chwaraeon neu o ddiddordeb hanesyddol, poblogaidd neu genedlaethol. 
 

Page 185



36 
 

• ystyriaeth i ystadegau mewn perthynas ag ystadegau'r boblogaeth33; 
mesurau amddifadedd34 ac amcanestyniadau ar gyfer y ddemograffeg35 
megis pobl hŷn, plant, hawlwyr budd-daliadau36 etc. 

• dadansoddiad o ddefnydd presennol, gan gynnwys amseroedd poblogaidd, 
asesiad o’r boblogaeth, ac ymwelwyr dros dro megis gyrwyr faniau a lorïau 
neu’r sawl sy’n teithio ar fysiau; 

• dadansoddiad o’r rhesymeg dros ddefnydd neu ddiffyg defnydd, gan 
gynnwys ystyried unrhyw adborth; 

• dadansoddiad o gostau rhedeg cyfleusterau, gan gynnwys costau rheoli a 
chynnal a chadw;  

• dadansoddiad o gyfyngiadau, gan gynnwys oriau agor a chost; 
• y seilwaith rhanbarthol/cenedlaethol a’r cefnffyrdd, gan weithio gydag 

awdurdodau lleol eraill i sicrhau y ceir darpariaeth addas o doiledau ar hyd y 
llwybrau hynny. 

 
4.11 Nid yw’r rhestr uchod o enghreifftiau’n rhestr gyflawn: Dylai awdurdodau lleol 

ystyried unrhyw ffactorau ychwanegol sydd, yn eu barn nhw, yn berthnasol i’w 
hasesiad o anghenion eu cymuned. Dylai awdurdodau lleol hefyd ystyried 
unrhyw gynlluniau a strategaethau a luniwyd ganddynt eisoes, megis 
Cynlluniau Heneiddio'n Dda. 

 
4.12 At hynny, dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried unrhyw ddeddfwriaeth a safonau 

perthnasol megis Deddf Cydraddoldeb 201037, safonau busnes BS 6465 y BSI 
(BS 6465-4:2010 Sanitary installations. Code of practice for the provision of 
public toilets) sy’n cynnwys argymhellion a chanllawiau a fwriedir ar gyfer y 
sawl sy’n gyfrifol am arolygu, asesu, cynllunio, comisiynu, dylunio, rheoli a 
defnyddio toiledau cyhoeddus38 a Safon BS 8300 ar gyfer darparu toiledau 
hygyrch. 

 
 
 
MEINI PRAWF AR GYFER PENNU LLWYBRAU TRAFNIDIAETH A SAFLEOEDD 
SYDD O BWYS PENODOL 
 

 
 
                                                             
33 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population 
34 http://wimd.wales.gov.uk/?lang=cy 
35 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections 
36 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-Indicator-

Analysis 
 
37 www.legislation.gov.uk/cy/anaw/2010/15/contents 
38 http://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030177389 

‘Dyma’r diffiniad o “sydd o bwys penodol” ar gyfer y canllawiau hyn: 
llwybrau trafnidiaeth sydd o bwys, megis cefnffyrdd a thraffyrdd, a mannau 
eraill lle ceir llawer o bobl, megis digwyddiadau diwylliannol a 
digwyddiadau chwaraeon, yn ogystal â safleoedd o bwys hanesyddol neu 
genedlaethol. 

 

Page 186



37 
 

4.13  Gallai’r rhain fod yn lleoedd y mae llawer o bobl yn eu defnyddio, yn ymweld â 
nhw neu’n pasio drwyddynt yn rheolaidd neu’n dymhorol neu er mwyn mynd i 
ddigwyddiadau arbennig. Gallai hefyd gynnwys pob math o wahanol leoedd, o 
gyrchfannau twristiaeth sy’n cael eu cydnabod yn rhyngwladol i leoedd bach 
sydd o bwys yn eu hardal leol. Mae’r lleoedd canlynol yn enghreifftiau a 
awgrymir o lwybrau a safleoedd o bwys, ond nid yw’n rhestr gyflawn: 

 
• Gorsafoedd bysiau a threnau, llwybrau teithio llesol, meysydd awyr a 

therfynfeydd eraill; 
• Arosfannau bysiau, ardaloedd parcio ceir a beiciau, a mannau aros eraill ar 

lwybrau traws gwlad; 
• Cyrchfannau siopa (trefol a gwledig); 
• Adeiladau a strwythurau eraill o bwys, er enghraifft rhai sydd o bwys 

hanesyddol; 
• Trefi neu dirweddau; 
• Parciau Cenedlaethol, Parciau Gwledig, eiddo’r Ymddiriedolaeth 

Genedlaethol; gerddi a mannau agored eraill; 
• Mannau sydd o bwys diwylliannol – megis eisteddfodau, meysydd sioeau 

amaethyddol, amgueddfeydd a lleoedd sy’n gysylltiedig â ffigurau 
hanesyddol a diwylliannol; 

• Gwyliau cerddorol a chelfyddydol, gwyliau blynyddol eraill a digwyddiadau 
chwaraeon; 

• Stadia a meysydd chwaraeon, lleoliadau sy’n gysylltiedig â champau awyr 
agored a champau dan do; 

• Parciau thema, parciau anifeiliaid a chyrchfannau hamdden eraill; 
• Traethau, trefi arfordirol ac ardaloedd megis llwybrau’r arfordir. 

 
4.14  Os bydd strategaeth awdurdod lleol yn cynnig darparu toiledau ar dir sy’n ffinio 

â phriffordd neu briffordd arfaethedig, dan dir o’r fath, neu yng nghyffiniau 
priffordd neu briffordd arfaethedig (gan gynnwys pontydd a thwneli), rhaid i’r 
awdurdod priffyrdd perthnasol gydsynio â’r ddarpariaeth o doiledau. Os yr 
awdurdod lleol yw’r awdurdod priffyrdd perthnasol, nid oes angen cydsyniad.  

 
4.15  Awdurdodau lleol sydd yn y sefyllfa orau i farnu pa lwybrau ac ardaloedd yr 

ystyrir eu bod o bwys penodol yn eu hardal nhw, ar sail barhaol a thymhorol ac 
yn ystod digwyddiadau tymor byr. Gall Grŵp Cynghori Diogelwch 
Digwyddiadau Awdurdod Lleol hefyd wneud argymhellion i drefnwyr 
digwyddiadau mewn perthynas â darparu toiledau. 

 
4.16 Wrth bennu’r angen am doiledau, a phennu lleoliad a nifer y toiledau y gallai fod 

eu hangen yn y gwahanol fathau o safleoedd a restrir uchod, dylid ystyried y 
meini prawf a ganlyn:   

 
 

Lleoliad y gyrchfan 
  

• A yw’n lleoliad trefol neu wledig? 
• A oes cyfleusterau toiledau yn y lleoliad eisoes? 
• A yw’r cyfleusterau yn ddigonol i fodloni’r galw a ragwelir? 

Page 187



38 
 

• A yw’n debygol y bydd ymwelwyr wedi teithio ymhell (ac y bydd angen 
cyfleusterau toiledau arnynt ar ôl cyrraedd, felly)? 

 
 

Y math o leoliad/cyrchfan 
 

• A oes cyfleusterau toiledau yn y gyrchfan eisoes? 
• A yw’r cyfleusterau yn ddigonol i fodloni’r galw a ragwelir? 
• A oes angen cyfleusterau ychwanegol ar gyfer digwyddiadau penodol? 
• Ym mhle y mae’r toiledau yn y gyrchfan, o gymharu â’r maes parcio a’r 

lleoliad ei hun? 
• A oes angen toiledau mewn mwy nag un man yn y gyrchfan os yw’n safle 

mawr ac os bydd ymwelwyr yn symud o gwmpas? 
 
 

Hyd y digwyddiad/maint y galw yn y lleoliad 
 

• A yw’n ddigwyddiad a gynhelir unwaith yn unig, neu a oes galw cyson? 
• Faint o bobl sy’n ymweld â’r gyrchfan ar gyfartaledd bob dydd yn ystod y 

tymor/y tu allan i’r tymor (os yw’r nifer yn wahanol)? 
• Ar ba adegau y mae pobl yn debygol o ymweld?  A yw’r galw yn newid dros 

gyfnod o 24 awr neu yn ystod yr wythnos – neu’r ddau? 
 
 

Nodweddion demograffig yr ymwelwyr 
 

• A yw’r ymwelwyr yn gyffredinol yn boblogaeth gymysg (hy cymysg o ran 
rhywedd, oedran etc)? 

• A yw’n debygol y bydd pobl â nodweddion demograffig penodol yn cael eu 
denu i’r gyrchfan (e.e. pobl â babanod/plant bach; plant hŷn; pobl hŷn; pobl 
ag anableddau)? 

 
 

Y mathau o gyfleusterau toiledau y bydd eu hangen 
 

• A fydd angen cyfleusterau parhaol neu dros dro? 
• Beth fyddai’r gymhareb briodol o ran toiledau i ddynion/toiledau i fenywod 

(argymhellir 1 toiled i ddynion: 2 doiled i fenywod) neu doiledau sy’n niwtral o 
ran rhywedd? 

• A fydd angen cyfleusterau newid babanod (yn ddelfrydol bydd angen y rhain 
mewn toiledau i ddynion a thoiledau i fenywod os na chaiff toiledau sy’n 
niwtral o ran rhywedd eu darparu)?  

• A fydd angen iddynt fod yn hygyrch i bobl ag anableddau? 
• A fydd angen cyfleuster Changing Places? 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 188



39 
 

A ddarperir bwyd a/neu ddiod yn y lleoliad 
 

• Faint o fwyd a/neu ddiod y rhagwelir y bydd pobl yn eu bwyta a/neu’n eu 
hyfed, ar sail y niferoedd uchaf o bobl a ragwelir? 

 
 

Mynediad i wasanaethau 
 

• A all y systemau carthffosiaeth a dŵr ymdopi â’r lefel uchaf o ddefnydd? 
• I ba raddau y bydd angen gwasanaethu/glanhau’r cyfleusterau toiledau, ar 

sail y defnydd a ragwelir? 
• Faint o bellter sydd rhwng y toiledau a’r mannau parcio? 

 
 

A fydd ymwelwyr yn gallu aros am gyfnodau estynedig 
 

• A fydd ymwelwyr yn aros am gyfnodau estynedig (hy mwy nag ychydig 
oriau)? 

• A fydd ymwelwyr yn gallu gwersylla neu barcio carafán ac aros dros nos? 
 

 
4.17 Efallai y bydd gwahanol ofynion yn berthnasol i ddigwyddiadau a gynhelir 

unwaith yn unig, o’u cymharu â’r gofynion ar gyfer cyrchfannau penodol, yn 
unol â’r holl feini prawf uchod. 

 
4.18  Dylid cymryd bod “digwyddiadau” yn golygu “cyrchfannau” hefyd’. 
 

PENDERFYNU FAINT O DOILEDAU SYDD EU HANGEN 

4.19 Mae tablau cyfraddau ar gyfer darparu cyfleusterau toiled mewn amrywiol 
leoliadau i'w cael mewn canllawiau fel y Canllaw Porffor i Iechyd, Diogelwch a 
Llesiant mewn Digwyddiadau Cerddoriaeth ac Eraill39 a BS6465: Parts 1-4 
Codes of Practice for Sanitary Installations. 

 
4.20  Diben y ddogfen BS6465 - Part 4:2010 – the Code of practice for the provision 

of public toilets yw cynnig canllawiau i awdurdodau lleol ynghylch darparu 
toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol. Fodd bynnag, mae’r ddogfen yn cynnwys 
gwybodaeth werthfawr am asesu angen y boblogaeth am ddarpariaeth o 
doiledau ac asesu ble y dylid lleoli toiledau, ac mae’n egluro sut y dylid paratoi 
strategaeth doiledau.  Mae’r ddogfen hefyd yn cynnwys gwybodaeth dechnegol 
ddefnyddiol y gellir ei defnyddio i asesu nifer y bobl mewn ardal, pellter, a nifer 
y toiledau y mae angen eu darparu, a gwybodaeth am ddyluniad a manyleb 
technegol cyfleusterau o bob math. 

 
4.21  Ni cheir unrhyw gymarebau penodol ar gyfer nifer y toiledau y dylid eu darparu 

ar gyfer pobl ag anableddau. Mae dogfen y BSI, BS6465-4:2010 Code of 

                                                             
39 https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 

Page 189



40 
 

practice for the Installation of Public Toilets40, yn awgrymu bod gan oddeutu 
18% o’r boblogaeth anableddau. Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd yn awgrymu’r 
canlynol ar gyfer toiledau newydd: 

 
• Os darperir un toiled yn unig, dylai fod yn giwbicl niwtral o ran rhywedd, 

hygyrch a mawr; 
• Mewn blociau toiledau, dylid darparu o leiaf un ciwbicl niwtral o ran rhywedd, 

hygyrch a mawr, ac yn ogystal â hynny, dylid darparu o leiaf un ciwbicl toiled 
mawr mewn darpariaeth ar wahân ar gyfer y rhywiau;  

• Os ceir pedwar neu ragor o giwbiclau mewn darpariaeth ar wahân ar gyfer y 
rhywiau, dylid darparu o leiaf un ciwbicl mawr; 

• Mewn ardaloedd lle gwneir defnydd helaeth o’r toiledau, dylid darparu 
cyfleuster Changing Places ychwanegol. 

 
4.22 Dylid nodi y gallai fod amryw o resymau pam mae pobl nad oes ganddynt 

anableddau yn ffafrio defnyddio ciwbiclau mawr, y'u bwriadwyd ar gyfer pobl ag 
anableddau. Mae'r lle ychwanegol sydd yn y ciwbiclau hyn yn caniatáu i 
oedolion helpu plant, ac mae hefyd yn golygu ei bod hi'n haws symud ynddynt 
nac mewn ciwbiclau safonol. Gallai pobl trawsryweddol hefyd ddymuno 
defnyddio'r ciwbiclau mawr oherwydd eu bod yn cynnig mwy o breifatrwydd.  
Dylid ystyried felly ddarparu rhagor o giwbiclau mawr os yw hynny'n ymarferol.   

 
4.23 Mae'r Consortiwm Changing Places yn rhoi arweiniad ar ble y dylid lleoli 

cyfleusterau Changing Places a beth yn union sydd ei angen.41 
  

                                                             
40 https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030177389 
41 http://www.changing-places.org//install_a_toilet.aspx 
 

Page 190



41 
 

5. CYDWEITHIO 

 
DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU’R DYFODOL: cydweithio ag eraill er mwyn 
dod o hyd i atebion cynaliadwy cyffredin 
 
5.1   Er mwyn i strategaethau fod yn effeithiol, rhaid i awdurdodau lleol gydweithio â 

phartneriaid mewnol ac allanol wrth gynllunio. Os na fydd yr holl adrannau 
mewn awdurdodau lleol yn perchenogi proses y strategaeth yn rhannol, mae’n 
llai tebygol o fod yn llwyddiannus.  

 
5.2   Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried cyfleoedd i weithio gyda chynghorau cymuned a 

thref, awdurdodau lleol eraill, cyrff cyhoeddus, sefydliadau'r trydydd sector ac 
endidau masnachol a phreifat wrth gynnal asesiad o angen, er mwyn nodi 
cyfleusterau toiledau y gallai’r cyhoedd eu defnyddio.  

 
5.3 Mae cydweithio ag eraill hefyd yn berthnasol wrth ystyried y ddarpariaeth o 

doiledau ar hyd llwybrau sy’n croesi ffiniau, megis llwybrau’r arfordir, llwybrau 
cerdded, llwybrau teithio llesol ac ardaloedd mawr o gefn gwlad sy’n denu 
ymwelwyr.  

 
 
GWEITHIO AR LEFEL RANBARTHOL 
 
5.4   Er ei bod yn ofynnol i bob awdurdod lleol ddatblygu a mabwysiadu ei 

strategaeth ei hun, gallai fod yn ddymunol mewn rhai amgylchiadau i 
awdurdodau lleol gydweithio ar lefel ranbarthol yn hytrach na weithio'n unigol, 
pryd bynnag y bydd hynny’n gwneud synnwyr. Dylai gweithio'n rhanbarthol 
olygu bod modd canolbwyntio’n fwy ar atal dirywiad yn y ddarpariaeth o 
doiledau, a gwella safonau toiledau, a helpu i sicrhau canlyniadau gwell i bobl a 
chymunedau yn y tymor byr a’r tymor hir. Mae’n cynnig manteision ymarferol o 
ran sicrhau arbedion maint, lleihau achosion o ddyblygu, lleihau cymhlethdod, 
symleiddio gweithgarwch, sicrhau cysondeb a meithrin cydnerthedd y gweithlu 
mewn maes polisi sy’n aml yn dibynnu’n ormodol ar nifer fach o staff i gyflawni’r 
hyn sy’n ofynnol. Dylai hefyd helpu i sylwi'n gynnar ar unrhyw sefyllfaoedd lle 
gallai penderfyniadau ynghylch defnydd tir neu drafnidiaeth mewn un awdurdod 
lleol gael effaith andwyol ar y ddarpariaeth mewn awdurdod lleol cyfagos, a 
helpu i chwilio am atebion trawsffiniol i broblemau cyffredin, gan gynnwys 
cynaliadwyedd. 

 
5.5   Gallai fod yn ddymunol mewn rhai amgylchiadau i awdurdodau lleol weithio 

gydag Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol os ceir buddiant cyffredin yn y 
ddarpariaeth o doiledau’n ymwneud ag atyniadau penodol neu seilwaith sydd 
yn eu hardal neu sy’n croesi o’r naill ardal awdurdod lleol i’r llall (er enghraifft, 
llwybrau teithio llesol). Fodd bynnag, dylid nodi mai dim ond i Gymru y mae 
gofynion y Ddeddf yn berthnasol, ac nid ydynt yn ymestyn i Loegr. 

 
 
 
 

Page 191



42 
 

GWEITHIO GYDA CHYNGHORAU CYMUNED A THREF 
 
5.6   Dylid ystyried cynghorau cymuned a thref fel partneriaid cyflenwi allweddol 

oherwydd eu bod mewn sefyllfa unigryw i helpu i adfywio a meithrin 
cydnerthedd mewn ardaloedd drwy ddeall cryfderau ac asedau cymunedau, ac 
i gynnwys pobl leol a busnesau lleol er mwyn helpu i adnabod a bodloni 
uchelgeisiau ac anghenion lleol. Efallai eu bod nhw eisoes yn rheoli toiledau ar 
ran awdurdodau lleol, neu wedi ymgymryd â gweithgarwch trosglwyddo 
asedau. Dylai awdurdodau lleol weithio gyda chynghorau cymuned a thref er 
mwyn defnyddio eu gwybodaeth am anghenion eu cymunedau, yn ogystal ag 
ystyried asedau cymunedol megis cyfleusterau cyhoeddus.  

 
5.7   Os gwnaed cais am gyllid ar gyfer adnewyddu adeiladau cymunedol, megis 

cyllid y Loteri neu grantiau eraill, dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried yn ystod y cam 
cynllunio a yw’n briodol darparu toiledau mewn cais cynllunio newydd. At 
hynny, dylai grwpiau cymunedol a grwpiau eraill gael eu hannog i ystyried 
cynnwys toiledau hygyrch at ddefnydd y cyhoedd yn eu cynigion pan fyddant yn 
gwneud cais am gyllid o’r fath. 

 
5.8 Gallai trosglwyddiadau asedau cymunedol mewn perthynas ag adeiladau sy'n 

bodoli eisoes (toiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol a godwyd yn bwrpasol neu 
adeiladau eraill y gellid eu defnyddio'n fwy eang) fod yn fencanwaith priodol i 
rai cymunedau, a dylid ystyried hyn yn ofalus gydag unrhyw gyngor cymuned, 
grŵp cymunedol neu sefydliad trydydd sector sy'n mynegi diddordeb. Mae 
Llywodraeth Cymru yn darparu canllawiau ar ei gwefan ar sut y gellid 
trosglwyddo asedau, sy'n cynnwys 'Trosglwyddo Asedau Cymunedol yng 
Nghymru – Canllawiau Arferion Gorau'.42   

 
5.9 Wrth ystyried trosglwyddiadau o'r fath, fodd bynnag, rhaid diogelu'r trefniadau 

at y dyfodol er mwyn sicrhau na all perchnogion newydd gau'r toiledau, newid 
defnydd yr adeilad neu roi'r gorau i gynnig mynediad i'r toiledau, fel y cytunwyd 
iddo. Mae hyn yn arbennig o bwysig os yw'r ased dan sylw yn bloc toiledau 
cyhoeddus sydd wedi'i adeiladu'n bwrpasol.  

  

                                                             
42 https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-
transfer/?skip=1&lang=cy 
 

Page 192



43 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
GWEITHIO GYDAG ADRANNAU ERAILL AWDURDODAU LLEOL, CYRFF 
CYHOEDDUS A’R SECTOR PREIFAT  
 
5.10 Wrth ystyried toiledau yn eu hardal, dylai awdurdodau lleol gynnwys y toiledau 

sydd mewn mangreoedd y mae awdurdodau cyhoeddus yn berchen arnynt, yn 
eu meddiannu neu’n eu cyllido. Gallai'r mangreoedd hynny gynnwys 
amgueddfeydd, safleoedd hanesyddol, canolfannau hamdden, gorsafoedd 
trafnidiaeth, parciau cenedlaethol ac adeiladau llywodraeth diogelwch isel. 
Dylai awdurdodau lleol hefyd ystyried creu cysylltiadau ag ysbytai, canolfannau 

 
Astudiaeth Achos – Toiledau Pentref Llansannan, y Gogledd 

 
Yn 2009, cynhaliodd cyngor cymuned pentref Llansannan arfarniad ar gyfer y 
gymuned gyfan i ddeall anghenion, dymuniadau a dyheadau y trigolion. Daeth i'r 
amlwg mai'r mater yr oedd llawer o bobl yn poeni fwyaf amdano oedd y 
bygythiad i gau toiledau cyhoeddus y pentref.  
 
I geisio roi terfyn ar hyn, dechreuodd y pentref negodi â Chyngor Bwrdeistref 
Sirol Conwy i gymryd perchenogaeth o'r cyfleusterau toiled. Fodd bynnag, roedd 
amryw o orbenion y byddai'n rhaid i'r cyngor cymuned gymryd cyfrifoldeb 
drostynt - yn bennaf, codi'r adnodd i dalu'r cyfraddau blynyddol (£1800). Felly 
penderfynodd y pentref gofrestru fel cwmni cyfyngedig gyda statws elusennol, 
'Menter Bro Aled', a fyddai'n golygu y byddent yn gymwys i gael grantiau ac am 
ddisgownt ar y cyfraddau. Gwnaethant gais llwyddiannus am ad-daliad cyfradd 
100% a negodwyd £4000 gan yr awdurdod lleol tuag at adnewyddu'r 
cyfleusterau toiled at safon weithio, arwydd o gefnogaeth Cyngor Conwy ar gyfer 
y fenter leol hon.  
 
Darparodd ymgyrchwyr o'r pentref a chanddynt gysylltiadau â'r byd adeiladu 
lawer o'r sgiliau angenrheidiol ar gyfer adfer yr adeilad, a chafodd gwaith ei 
wneud yn wirfoddol. Mae landlord y dafarn leol yn glanhau'r toiledau yn wirfoddol 
hefyd.  
 
Mae'r toiledau wedi bod dan berchenogaeth leol ers blwyddyn bellach ac ni 
chafwyd unrhyw ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol, er gwaetha'r pryderon ynglŷn â 
graffiti. Mae'r toiledau'n cael defnydd helaeth yn arbennig gan yrrwyr 
gwasanaethau a gyrrwyr sy'n cyflenwi nwyddau, yn ogystal â cherddwyr a 
thwristiaid eraill sy'n teithio drwy'r ardal. Mae'r gair wedi mynd ar led ynglŷn â'r 
toiledau ac maen nhw'n cael eu hystyried yn 'doiledau gwerth eu gweld'. Ystyrir 
bod y toiledau'n elfen bwysig i ddenu ymwelwyr i'r siopau a'r gwasanaethau lleol.  
 
Yn sgil y profiad hwn o gymryd cyfrifoldeb dros y toiledau, mae Menter Bro Aled 
yn awr yn chwilio am fentrau cymunedol eraill.  

Page 193



44 
 

iechyd a meddygfeydd.  Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried yr adeiladau sy'n eiddo 
iddynt, ac sy'n cael eu meddiannu ganddynt hwy eu hunain neu eu prydlesu i 
eraill, yn gyntaf, i weld a oes toiledau y gallai'r cyhoedd eu defnyddio yn 
ehangach, er enghraifft mewn swyddfeydd cyngor (yn arbennig y rheini y mae'r 
cyhoedd yn ymweld â hwy ar gyfer trafodiadu â'r cyngor), canolfannau 
hamdden, llyfrgelloedd a mangreoedd tebyg eraill. Pan fo cynghorau yn 
berchen ar adeiladau ond yn eu prydlesu i eraill, dylid ystyried cynnwys 
mynediad i'r cyhoedd i'r toiledau fel amod y brydles pan fo hynny'n briodol.   

 
 ENGHRAIFFT: mae'r awdurdod lleol yn berchen ar borthdy nad yw'n cael ei 

ddefnyddio mewn parc. Bwriedir ei ailwampio a'i brydlesu fel caffi. Ychwanegir 
cymal i'r brydles bod rhaid i'r lesddeiliaid ganiatáu i aelodau o'r cyhoedd ar 
wahân i gwsmeriaid ddefnyddio'r toiledau yn y caffi yn ddigyfyngiad pan fo'r 
caffi ar agor. Mae'r trefniant hwn yn golygu bod gan y parc gyfleusterau toiled 
unwaith yn rhagor, ac mae'n golygu bod modd 'goruchwylio'r' toiledau'n 
effeithiol yn ystod oriau agor.   

 
 

 
 
5.11 Os yw mangreoedd hygyrch i’r cyhoedd yn eiddo i rywrai ar wahân i 

awdurdodau lleol (er enghraifft swyddfeydd llywodraeth, canolfannau 
masnachol, prifysgolion a cholegau, mangreoedd sy’n cael eu rhedeg gan 
sefydliadau’r trydydd sector), mae’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol ymgynghori â 
pherchnogion/deiliaid y mangreoedd perthnasol, a chael eu caniatâd, cyn y 
gallant gynnwys toiledau’r adeiladau hynny yn eu strategaeth. 

 
5.12 Dylid cadw mewn cof hefyd y gallai sefydliadau'r trydydd sector, er eu bod yn 

barod i roi help llaw, fod yn ddibynnol ar weithwyr gwirfoddol, neu gallai'r hyn y 
bydd modd iddynt ei ddarparu fod yn gyfyngedig mewn rhyw ffordd arall. Caiff 
awdurdodau lleol eu hannog i weithio gyda pherchnogion y mangreoedd hynny 
er mwyn ceisio cael eu cytundeb i agor eu cyfleusterau toiledau i’r cyhoedd yn 
ehangach.  

 

Astudiaeth Achos: Ailwampio bloc toiledau yn Sir Benfro 
 
Yn Sir Benfro, mae'r cyngor wedi nodi amryw o gyfleusterau lle byddai 
cyfleusterau digonol yn cael eu darparu pe byddai'r ddarpariaeth yn cael ei 
lleihau, ac ni fyddai gwneud hynny yn cael effaith niweidiol ar aelodau'r  
cyhoedd. Mewn amgylchiadau o'r fath, cafodd rhai blociau toiledau eu gwneud 
yn llai o faint drwy gau toiledau i fenywod a thoiledau i ddynion ar wahân a 
chadw un cyfleuster niwtral o ran rhywedd gyda mynediad i bobl ag anableddau.  
Cafodd y gost o redeg y cyfleusterau hyn ei throsglwyddo i gynghorau cymuned 
gyda thaliad parasiwt cychwynnol. Mae'r gwagle a grëwyd drwy leihau'r 
cyfleuster toiledau wedi cael ei gynnig i'r cynghorau cymuned i gynhyrchu 
incwm, megis eu prydlesu fel siop. Mae hyn wedi digwydd mewn amryw o 
leoliadau ac mae'n cyfrannu at gostau rhedeg  y toiled niwtral o ran rhywedd 
sy'ndal i fod ar gael. Mae'r model hwn yn sicrhau bod gwasanaeth cynaliadwy 
yn cael ei gynnig ac mae'n golygu bod pobl leol yn cymryd mwy o rôl a 
chyfrifoldeb. 
 

Page 194



45 
 

 
 
TROSGLWYDDO ASEDAU CYMUNEDOL 
 
5.13  Rydym yn gwybod bod gwasanaethau traddodiadol megis bysiau cyhoeddus, 

toiledau, llyfrgelloedd a chanolfannau cymunedol/dydd yn cael eu herio fwyfwy 
oherwydd y toriadau i gyllidebau gwasanaethau rheng flaen. Fodd bynnag, 
mae arferion da yn bodoli eisoes ar draws Cymru, lle manteisir ar ddulliau 
gweithredu newydd megis trosglwyddo asedau cymunedol, sy’n grymuso 
cynghorau cymuned/tref a mentrau cymdeithasol i gymryd cyfrifoldeb am reoli 
adeiladau/cyfleusterau.  

 
5.14  Mae canllawiau gan Lywodraeth Cymru43 wedi’u llunio i hybu newid sylweddol 

er mwyn galluogi cymunedau i chwarae rhan fwy gweithredol yn y gwaith o 
ddylunio a darparu gwasanaethau. Mae’n helpu sefydliadau i fod mewn sefyllfa 
well i ymgymryd ag achosion o drosglwyddo asedau cymunedol gan ddatblygu 
defnydd hirdymor llewyrchus a chynaliadwy ar gyfer asedau eiddo a 
gwasanaethau mewn cymunedau ar draws Cymru. Fodd bynnag, rhaid i 
drosglwyddiadau o’r fath gael eu hystyried yn ofalus er mwyn sicrhau bod 
unrhyw gynnig yn gynaliadwy yn yr hirdymor. 

 
Mae’n hollbwysig bod arferion da yn cael eu rhannu a bod modelau clyfar, 
arloesol a chost-effeithiol yn cael eu mabwysiadu. Mae ystod o arferion da, gan 
gynnwys ymarfer da yn ymwneud â thoiledau cyhoeddus, i’w weld ar y wefan 
Arfer Da Cymru44. 

 
 
GWEITHIO GYDA'R SECTOR PREIFAT  
 
5.16 Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried ymestyn cynlluniau toiledau cymunedol mewn 

mannau lle maent yn dal i redeg, neu adfywio cynlluniau o’r fath mewn mannau 
lle maent wedi dod i ben. Mae canllawiau ynghylch rheoli cynllun toiledau 
cymunedol i’w gweld mewn adran arall o'r canllawiau hyn, o dan y pennawd 
'Arferion Da a Chanllawiau’.  

 
5.17 Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried y cyfyngiadau a ododwyd ar ddefnyddio 

toiledau yn y sector preifat, a allai gynnwys mynediad cyfyngedig o ganlyniad i 
strwythur yr adeilad ac oriau agor y busnes.  

 
5.18  Mae gan awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru y rhyddid i ddefnyddio arian sydd 

wedi’i neilltuo yn y Grant Cynnal Refeniw, ar ôl i gyllid y Cynllun Grant 
Cyfleusterau Cyhoeddus gael ei drosglwyddo. Yn ogystal â hynny, efallai y 
bydd llawer o fangreoedd a busnesau preifat yn barod i ganiatáu i’r cyhoedd yn 
ehangach ddefnyddio eu cyfleusterau toiledau, a dylai’r awdurdod lleol 
ymchwilio i’r posibilrwydd hwnnw. Dylid sicrhau awdurdodau lleol ei bod yn 
ymarfer da enwi a rhoi cyhoeddusrwydd i oriau agor y mangreoedd y'u nodwyd 

                                                             
43 https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-transfer/best-
practice-guide/?skip=1&lang=cy  
44 http://www.goodpractice.wales/home http://www.arferda.cymru/home  

Page 195



46 
 

(a'r toiledau a geir ynddynt felly) fel rhan o'r cynllun yn gyffredinol.  Unig ddiben 
gwneud hynny yw rhoi gwybod i'r cyhoedd pa gyfleusterau sydd ar gael iddynt, 
felly ni ddylid dehongli hyn fel "rhoi cyhoeddusrwydd" neu "ddangos ffafriaeth". 
Ni all busnesau ddisgwyl, fodd bynnag, y bydd awdurdodau lleol yn hyrwyddo 
eu cyfleusterau nhw mewn unrhyw gyd-destun arall neu cyn unrhyw fangre 
anfasnachol fel "gwobr" am gymryd rhan yn y cynllun neu fel amod ar gyfer 
sicrhau eu bod yn cymryd rhan.    

 

Cynlluniau Toiledau Cymunedol – Canllaw Ymarfer Da  

5.19 Yn Lloegr cyhoeddodd yr Adran Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol ei chanllaw 
strategol, Improving Public Access to Better Quality Toilets45, ar 6 Mawrth 
2008. Roedd y canllaw’n tynnu sylw, ymysg pethau eraill, at rai o’r dulliau 
gweithredu arloesol y mae awdurdodau lleol wedi’u defnyddio i ddarparu 
toiledau cyhoeddus, ond nid oedd yn nodi pa ddulliau gweithredu y dylent eu 
defnyddio. Awdurdodau lleol sydd yn y sefyllfa orau i benderfynu ynghylch y 
cyfuniad o ddulliau gweithredu sydd fwyaf addas ar gyfer eu hardal nhw, a 
diben y canllawiau hyn yw eu cynorthwyo i wneud y penderfyniad hwnnw. 

5.20 Mae’r canllawiau hyn wedi’u targedu’n bennaf at awdurdodau lleol a 
phartneriaethau sy’n dymuno archwilio’r posibilrwydd o sefydlu Cynllun 
Toiledau Cymunedol. Mae’n darparu trosolwg o’r Cynllun Toiledau Cymunedol 
a ddatblygwyd gan Fwrdeistref Richmond-upon-Thames yn Llundain, yn 
ogystal â chanllaw cam wrth gam ynghylch sut i sefydlu cynllun tebyg. 

5.21 Mae’r pecyn cymorth yn cynnwys astudiaeth achos o’r gwasanaeth negeseuon 
testun ‘SatLav’ y mae Cyngor Dinas Westminster yn ei weithredu, sy’n 
defnyddio technoleg ffonau symudol i helpu’r cyhoedd i ddod o hyd i’r toiledau 
cyhoeddus hygyrch agosaf.   

5.22 Argymhellir bod awdurdodau lleol yn ystyried y canllaw hwn wrth geisio dod o 
hyd i bartneriaid cyflawni mewn busnesau lleol a sefydliadau eraill, oherwydd 
mae’n cynnwys gwybodaeth ymarferol am sefydlu a chynnal Cynllun Toiledau 
Cymunedol llwyddiannus.   

5.23 Rhaid i unrhyw drafodaethau gyda phartneriaid cyflawni posibl gynnwys pob 
agwedd ar reoli toiledau, gan gynnwys delio ag ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol, 
ac agweddau iechyd a diogelwch ar reoli gwastraff o ddefnyddio cyffuriau neu 
ymddygiad rhywiol. Mae canllaw ar leihau problemau ar gael gan Gymdeithas 
Doiledau Prydain ar fynd i'r afael â'r mathau hyn o faterion46. Dylid ystyried 
gwaith cynnal a chadw'r dyfodol wrth ddod i unrhyw gytundeb. 

5.24. Mae'n ymarfer da (er nad yw'n ofynnol o dan y cynigion ehangach yn y ddogfen 
hon) i awdurdodau lleol arolygu cyfleusterau unrhyw bartneriaid cyflawni 
cynllun toiledau cymunedol arfaethedig, ac i gynnal gwiriadau ar hap yn achos 

                                                             
45http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/localgovernment/gu
idancetoiletschemes_20120919231747 
 
46 http://www.btaloos.co.uk/?page_id=307 

Page 196



47 
 

y rheini nad ydynt wedi ymuno. Mae'r gwiriadau hynny yn arbennig o bwysig os 
yw rhywun wedi talu i gymryd rhan, er mwyn sicrhau eu bod yn parhau i gynnig 
mynediad i'r cyfleusterau y maen nhw wedi cytuno i'w darparu. 

 
POB MATH O FANGRE  
 
5.25  Nid oes unrhyw fathau penodol o fangreoedd wedi’u heithrio ar wyneb y Ddeddf 

rhag cael eu hystyried. Fodd bynnag, gallai amgylchiadau lleol ac elfennau 
sensitif sy’n berthnasol i fangre benodol olygu bod yn rhaid iddi beidio â chael 
ei chynnwys yn y strategaeth. Ni ddylid disgwyl i berchnogion adeiladau roi 
mynediad i'r toiledau yn eu mangreoedd y tu allan i'w horiau agor arferol oni bai 
bod cytundeb penodol yn cael ei wneud.  

 
 

 
 
 
Y CYNLLUN ALLWEDD RADAR CENEDLAETHOL 
 
5.26 Mae'r Royal Association for Disability and Rehabilitation (RADAR) yn 

gweithredu Cynllun Allwedd Cenedlaethol47sy'n golygu y gellir cadw toiledau 
sydd wedi'u cynllunio ar gyfer pobl ag anableddau dan glo er mwyn osgoi difrod 
ac mae'r allweddi a ddarperir i bobl ag anableddau yn golygu bod modd iddynt 
gael mynediad i'r cyfleusterau. Mae'r cynllun yn cael ei weithredu ledled y DU, 
a gofynnir i berchnogion toiledau ymuno â'r Cynllun Allwedd Cenedlaethol i 
ddarparu cloeon safonol ac allweddi i ddefnyddwyr.  

 
5.27 Mae ystod o awdurdodau lleol, a sefydliadau eraill y sector cyhoeddus, yn 

ogystal â'r trydydd sector, a chwmnïau masnachol yn aelodau o'r cynllun, a 
gellir dod o hyd i gyfleusterau toiled mewn amrywiol leoedd o bob math. Mae 
RADAR wedi cyhoeddi dogfen ganllaw i'r cynllun, sydd ar gael ganddynt i'w 

                                                             
47 https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/page.aspx?pageid=10&tab=National+Key+Scheme&level=2 

Diogelwch: Nid yw’n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol ystyried cyfeirio at doiledau 
mewn adeiladau na ddylent, yn eu barn nhw, fod ar gael at ddefnydd y 
cyhoedd am resymau diogelwch. Er enghraifft, nid yw’n ofynnol i 
awdurdodau lleol ystyried darparu mynediad i’r cyhoedd i doiledau mewn 
carchardai neu mewn adeiladau lle mae angen lefel uchel o ddiogelwch, 
megis adeiladau llywodraeth. 
 
Diogelu plant ac oedolion agored i niwed: Nid yw’n ofynnol i awdurdodau 
lleol ystyried darparu mynediad i’r cyhoedd i doiledau mewn ysgolion neu 
mewn adeiladau eraill megis lleoliadau preswyl i blant neu oedolion agored 
i niwed. Fodd bynnag, gallai amgylchiadau lleol olygu bod modd defnyddio 
toiledau yn y mathau hyn o fangreoedd. Er enghraifft adeilad ysgol sydd 
hefyd ar agor ar gyfer gweithgareddau’r gymuned ehangach neu y gellir ei 
agor yn ystod gwyliau’r ysgol.  
 
Dylid ystyried unrhyw ddefnydd arfaethedig o’r fath fesul achos. 

Page 197



48 
 

phrynu. Mae rhestr o doiledau sy'n derbyn allweddi RADAR hefyd yn cael ei 
chyhoeddi fesul ardal.48 

 
5.28 Dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried y ddarpariaeth hon wrth ddatblygu eu 

strategaeth toiledau lleol. 
 
5.29 Awgrymiadau ar gyfer gwella mynediad y cyhoedd i doiledau yw'r atebion a 

gynigir yn y canllawiau hyn. Dylid nodi mai awgrymiadau o'r trywydd y dylai 
awdurdodau lleol ei ddilyn, ac ymchwilio ymhellach iddo, er mwyn cynyddu'r 
cyfleusterau toiled a gynigir yw'r opsiynau a nodir yn y ddogfen hon. Bydd y 
rheini y gall awdurdodau lleol eu rhoi ar waith yn amrywio fesul awdurdod lleol 
yn y pen draw, ac yn ddibynnol ar yr amgylchiadau lleol.  Nis awgrymir ei bod 
yn ymarferol darparu pob un o'r atebion hyn ym mhob awdurdod lleol, ond dylid 
eu hystyried.  

 
 
  

                                                             
48https://nks.directenquiries.com/nks/search.aspx?st=nks&tab=RADAR+Accessible+Toilets&where=wales&lev
el=1 
 

Page 198



49 
 

6. CYHOEDDI A DOSBARTHU 

 
6.1   Un o ddibenion y strategaeth yw helpu i atal y mathau o broblemau iechyd a 

llesiant a drafodir mewn rhannau eraill o’r ddogfen hon. Er mwyn helpu i 
gyflawni’r diben hwnnw, ac er mwyn i strategaeth fod yn llwyddiannus ac i’w 
bwriad o ran atal gael ei gyflawni’n effeithiol, mae’n hanfodol bod y strategaeth 
yn cael cyhoeddusrwydd a bod y ddarpariaeth o doiledau at ddefnydd y 
cyhoedd yn hysbys i gynifer o aelodau’r cyhoedd ag sy’n bosibl. Er mwyn i'r 
strategaeth lwyddo, rhaid bod aelodau'r cyhoedd a pherchnogion toiledau yn 
deall egwyddorion y cynllun yn llawn ac yn adnabod yr arwyddion ac yn 
gyfarwydd â'r deunyddiau cyhoeddusrwydd.  

 
6.2   Dylai awdurdodau lleol gyhoeddi eu strategaeth gyntaf a rhoi cyhoeddusrwydd 

iddi erbyn 31 Mai 2019 fan bellaf. Nid yw'n ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol gyflwyno 
eu strategaethau cyhoeddedig i Lywodraeth Cymru. Mae awdurdodau lleol yn 
atebol i'w cynghorwyr a'u dinasyddion ar gyfer cyhoeddi eu strategaeth, 
cwblhau'r camau a nodwyd a'r datganiadau interim fydd yn deillio o hynny. 

 
6.3  Wrth gyhoeddi’r strategaeth dylai awdurdodau lleol ystyried ymgysylltu unwaith 

yn rhagor â’r bobl y buont yn cydweithio â nhw i ddatblygu’r asesiad o angen, 
er mwyn lledaenu'r strategaeth. Gellid gwneud hynny drwy ofyn i’r unigolion 
neu’r grwpiau dan sylw rannu’r strategaeth ymhellach ag unrhyw rwydweithiau 
neu unrhyw gysylltiadau y gallent fod yn ymwneud â nhw. Dylid annog 
sefydliadau'r trydydd sector ac eraill i hyrwyddo'r neges ynglŷn â thoiledau sydd 
ar gael i'w defnyddio ac i fynd i'r afael ag unrhyw anfodlonrwydd i gael 
mynediad i doiledau nad ydynt yn doiledau cyhoeddus traddodiadol. Gall pob 
un sy'n cymryd rhan yn yr asesiad o angen hwn a chynlluniau cyflenwi gymryd 
rhan yn y broses hon o newid diwylliant. 

 
6.4  Dylai awdurdodau lleol hefyd ystyried sut y gellid sicrhau bod y cyhoedd yn 

ehangach yn ymwybodol o’r strategaeth, a dylid defnyddio dulliau tebyg i’r rhai 
a ddefnyddiwyd i ymgysylltu â chymunedau. Dylai’r strategaeth o leiaf gael ei 
chyhoeddi mewn man amlwg ar wefan pob awdurdod lleol unigol, a dylai gael 
cyhoeddusrwydd mewn unrhyw gylchlythyrau perthnasol sydd gan yr awdurdod 
lleol. Dylid hefyd ystyried dulliau ychwanegol o roi cyhoeddusrwydd i’r 
strategaeth, er mwyn sicrhau bod yr wybodaeth yn cyrraedd cynifer o bobl ag 
sy’n bosibl, boed yn breswylwyr neu’n ymwelwyr.   

 
6.5 Gwefan yw Dewis Cymru (www.dewis.cymru) sy'n dod â gwybodaeth leol am 

wasanaethau cymdeithasol, iechyd a gwasanaethau lesiant at ei gilydd mewn 
un man. Mae amryw o awdurdodau lleol eisoes yn rhoi eu gwybodaeth ar y 
wefan hon. Sir Fôn, Gwynedd, Conwy, Sir Ddinbych, Sir y Fflint, Wrecsam, 
Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, Bro Morgannwg, Caerdydd, Rhondda Cynon Taf, Merthyr 
Tudful, Blaenau Gwent, Caerffili, Torfaen, Sir Fynwy a Chasnewydd yw'r rhain.  
Mae'n cael ei chyflwyno mewn rhannau eraill o Gymru hefyd. Dylai awdurdodau 
lleol roi gwybodaeth am eu toiledau ar y wefan hon yn ogystal â'u gwefan eu 
hun. 

 
 

Page 199



50 
 

DEUNYDDIAU CYHOEDDUSRWYDD 
 
6.6 Dylai unrhyw ddeunyddiau cyhoeddusrwydd fod ar gael mewn fformat wedi’i 

argraffu ac mewn fformat y gellir ei lawrlwytho, er mwyn sicrhau bod yr 
wybodaeth yn cyrraedd cynifer o bobl ag sy’n bosibl, boed yn breswylwyr neu’n 
ymwelwyr. Dylai unrhyw ddeunyddiau a lunnir gael eu cyhoeddi yn Gymraeg ac 
yn Saesneg, a dylent fod ar gael mewn fformatau eraill (megis Braille) os 
gofynnir amdanynt. Dylid cyhoeddi gwybodaeth mewn lle amlwg ar wefan pob 
awdurdod lleol. Gellid dosbarthu fersiynau wedi’u hargraffu drwy ganolfannau 
ymwelwyr, llyfrgelloedd a lleoliadau eraill y mae llawer o bobl yn ymweld â nhw. 
Dylid hefyd ystyried yr angen am arwyddion angenrheidiol ar strydoedd. 

 
6.7  Er mwyn cynorthwyo awdurdodau lleol i roi cyhoeddusrwydd i wybodaeth am 

leoliad toiledau, ac er mwyn helpu’r cyhoedd i adnabod y ddarpariaeth o 
doiledau sydd at ddefnydd y cyhoedd, yn lleol ac yn genedlaethol, mae cyfres o 
adnoddau wedi’u datblygu.  

 
 
DATBLYGU MAP TOILEDAU 
 
6.8   Bydd datblygu map toiledau cenedlaethol i Gymru yn sicrhau bod y cyhoedd, yn 

lleol ac yn genedlaethol, yn cael adnodd y gallant ei ddefnyddio i weld pa 
doiledau sydd ar gael mewn ardal y maent yn bwriadu ymweld â hi. Caiff y map 
hwn ei ddatblygu gan ddefnyddio’r data a ddarperir gan awdurdodau lleol i 
Lywodraeth Cymru, mewn adnoddau mapio sy’n bodoli eisoes. Caiff y map, 
sy’n defnyddio’r data, ei gyflwyno yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg ar wefan mapio 
data Llywodraeth Cymru, sef Lle49. Bydd y data a gaiff eu casglu ar gael hefyd i 
drydydd partïon a fydd yn gallu eu defnyddio i ddatblygu eu mapiau a’u apiau 
eu hunain. Nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu datblygu ei ap ei hun, 
oherwydd ystyrir bod datblygwyr trydydd parti mewn sefyllfa well i wneud hynny 
gan ddefnyddio data Llywodraeth Cymru ac mae apiau o'r fath yn cael eu 
defnyddio eisoes. 

 
6.9   Er mwyn cyflawni hynny, dan adran 141 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972, dylai 

awdurdodau lleol sicrhau bod set ddata agored ar gael i Lywodraeth Cymru, 
sy’n cynnwys gwybodaeth am leoliad a nodweddion penodol y toiledau a nodir 
ganddynt yn eu strategaethau toiledau lleol. Caiff manylion llawn ynghylch pa 
ddata sy’n ofynnol a sut y cânt eu casglu eu darparu mewn dogfen canllawiau 
technegol ar wahân.   

 
6.10 Gofynnir i awdurdodau lleol roi manylion eu toiledau i wefan Dewis Cymru, a 

gobeithir y bydd y data a gesglir ar gyfer mapio data Lle yn gallu cael eu 
croesgyfeirio yn y pen draw â gwefan Dewis Cymru. Mae hyn yn dal i gael ei 
ddatblygu ar hyd a bydd mwy o gyngor yn cael ei roi wedi i'r broses fapio 
ddechrau.  

 
 

                                                             
49 http://lle.gov.wales/home?lang=cy  
 

Page 200



51 
 

LOGO CENEDLAETHOL 
 
6.11 Rydym yn gwybod bod llawer o fanteision yn perthyn i gynllun a gaiff ei 

gydnabod yn genedlaethol, felly ystyrir y byddai’n ddymunol hysbysebu’r 
ddarpariaeth o doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd mewn modd cyson. Gellir 
defnyddio logo fel arwydd, a gaiff ei arddangos er enghraifft mewn ffenestri 
mangreoedd sydd wedi rhoi caniatâd i’w cyfleusterau toiledau gael eu 
defnyddio gan y cyhoedd. Gall y logo gael ei gynnwys hefyd mewn deunyddiau 
print er mwyn adnabod y mangreoedd hynny.  

 
6.12 Mae logo wedi cael ei gynllunio ar gyfer y diben hwn a chaiff ei ryddhau i'w 

ddefnyddio maes o law. Byddai’n ddefnyddiol pe bai awdurdodau lleol yn ei 
fabwysiadu ac yn rhoi cyhoeddusrwydd iddo er mwyn i breswylwyr ac 
ymwelwyr allu ei adnabod yn hawdd ble bynnag y maent yng Nghymru. Er nad 
yw’n ofynnol i ddefnyddio'r logo yn ôl y Ddeddf, rydym yn argymell bod 
awdurdodau lleol yn ymgorffori’r logo yn rhan o’r gwaith a wnânt i godi 
ymwybyddiaeth o doiledau sydd at ddefnydd y cyhoedd.  

 
6.13  Bydd manylion llawn y logo ac awgrymiadau ynghylch sut y gellid ei ddefnyddio 

i’w gweld yn Atodiad B. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 201



52 
 

ATODIAD A  
DARPARIAETHAU CYFREITHIOL 

 
Mae adrannau 113 i 115 o'r Ddeddf wedi cael sylw ym mhrif gorff y canllawiau hyn.   
 
Mae’r atodiad hwn yn ymdrin ag adrannau 116 i 118 o'r Ddeddf, sy’n ailddatgan 
neu’n disodli amryw o bwerau cyfreithiol sydd gan awdurdodau lleol eisoes. Mae’r 
atodiad hwn hefyd yn ymdrin â deddfwriaeth arall sy’n berthnasol i’r ddarpariaeth o 
doiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd.   
 
Mae adran 116(1) yn datgan y caiff awdurdod lleol ddarparu toiledau yn ei ardal i’r 
cyhoedd eu defnyddio. Mae’r adran hon yn ailddatgan y pŵer a oedd gan 
awdurdodau lleol yn flaenorol o dan adran 87 o Ddeddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd 1936. Yn 
ei hanfod, mae adran 116(1) yn golygu y darperir a chynhelir toiledau mewn mannau 
cyhoeddus yn unol â disgresiwn awdurdodau lleol sydd â’r pŵer i ddarparu 
cyfleusterau cyhoeddus, ond nid oes arnynt ddyletswydd i wneud hynny. 
 
Mae adran 116(2) yn datgan bod yn rhaid i awdurdodau lleol roi sylw i’w strategaeth 
eu hunain wrth benderfynu arfer eu pŵer disgresiwn i ddarparu toiledau ac wrth 
benderfynu pa fathau o doiledau i’w darparu. Mae adran 116(3) yn darparu 
diffiniadau sy’n berthnasol i adran 116(2). 
 
Mae adran 116(4) yn datgan na chaiff awdurdod lleol ddarparu toiledau ar dir sy’n 
ffinio â phriffordd neu briffordd arfaethedig, neu dan dir o’r fath, neu yng nghyffiniau 
priffordd neu briffordd arfaethedig, oni bai mai’r awdurdod lleol yw’r awdurdod 
priffyrdd, neu fod yr awdurdod lleol wedi cael cydsyniad yr awdurdod priffyrdd. Mae 
adran 116(6) yn darparu diffiniadau sy’n berthnasol i adran 116(4). 
 
Mae adran 116(5) yn darparu y caiff awdurdod lleol godi ffi ar bobl am gael 
defnyddio unrhyw doiledau y gallai fod yn eu darparu. 
 
Mae adran 117(1) yn rhoi’r pŵer i awdurdodau lleol sy’n darparu toiledau wneud is-
ddeddfau o ran ymddygiad pobl sy’n eu defnyddio neu sy’n mynd i mewn iddynt. 
 
Mae adran 117(2) yn cadw hawl cyngor cymuned i wneud is-ddeddfau mewn 
cysylltiad â thoiledau a ddarperir ganddo, ac os felly mae is-ddeddfau’r cyngor 
cymuned yn cael blaenoriaeth ar unrhyw is-ddeddfau y mae’r cyngor sir neu’r cyngor 
bwrdeistref sirol wedi’u gwneud dan adran 2 o Ddeddf Is-ddeddfau Llywodraeth Leol 
(Cymru) 2012.  
 
Mae adran 118 ac Atodlen 4 y Ddeddf yn ymdrin â diwygiadau canlyniadol i Ddeddf 
Iechyd y Cyhoedd 1936; Deddf Priffyrdd 1980 a Deddf Is-ddeddfau Llywodraeth Leol 
(Cymru) 2012. 
 
Mae’r ddeddfwriaeth ganlynol hefyd yn berthnasol wrth ystyried datblygu’r 
strategaethau toiledau lleol. 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



53 
 

Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972, adran 123 
 
Gall awdurdod lleol waredu ei eiddo ym mha ffordd bynnag y mae’n dymuno. Mewn 
amgylchiadau lle mae eiddo awdurdod lleol yn cael ei osod ar brydles i barti preifat 
er mwyn iddo gael ei ddefnyddio fel caffi, er enghraifft, gall yr awdurdod lleol arfer ei 
bŵer dan adran 123 i fewnosod amod yng nghytundeb y brydles, sy’n golygu y 
byddai’n ofynnol i ddeiliad/deiliaid newydd y fangre sicrhau bod y cyfleusterau 
toiledau ar gael at ddefnydd y cyhoedd. 
 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol (Darpariaethau Amrywiol) 1976, adran 20 
 
Mae gan awdurdod lleol bŵer, dan adran 20 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 
(Darpariaethau Amrywiol) 1976, i'w gwneud yn ofynnol i doiledau gael eu darparu a’u 
cynnal at ddefnydd y cyhoedd mewn unrhyw fannau lle darperir adloniant, lle ceir 
arddangosfeydd, lle cynhelir digwyddiadau chwaraeon a lle caiff bwyd a diod eu 
gweini a fydd yn cael eu bwyta a’u hyfed yn y fangre. 
 
Deddf Priffyrdd 1980, adran 114 
 
Os yr awdurdod lleol yw’r awdurdod sy’n gyfrifol am briffordd, gall ddarparu 
cyfleusterau glanweithiol cyhoeddus (gan gynnwys toiledau) mewn mannau priodol a 
chyfleus, a gall reoli cyfleusterau o’r fath. 
 
Deddf Cynllunio Gwlad a Thref 1990, Adran 106 
 
Mewn amgylchiadau cyfyngedig, gall awdurdod lleol yn ei rôl fel awdurdod cynllunio 
lleol, ddefnyddio pwerau o dan adran 106 o Ddeddf Cynllunio Gwlad a Thref 1990 i 
lunio cytundeb â datblygwr ar gyfer darparu toiledau at ddefnydd y cyhoedd yn rhan 
o ddatblygiad a gaiff ei gymeradwyo. 
 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, adran 2 
 
Gall awdurdod lleol wneud unrhyw beth y mae’n ystyried ei fod yn debygol o hybu 
neu wella llesiant ei ardal. Gall hynny gynnwys ymrwymo i gytundebau grant â 
gweithredwyr mangreoedd masnachol er mwyn ei gwneud yn ofynnol bod 
gweithredwyr o’r fath yn caniatáu i’r cyhoedd gael mynediad i gyfleusterau toiledau 
yn y fangre. 
 
Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
 
Mae Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 yn ymdrin ag ystod eang o ddyletswyddau a 
chyfrifoldebau y dylai awdurdodau lleol roi sylw iddynt yng nghyswllt pobl sydd â 
nodweddion gwarchodedig ac yng nghyswllt darparu gwasanaethau a chyfleusterau.   
 
 
Pwerau eraill  
 
Gall Swyddogion Iechyd yr Amgylchedd awdurdodau lleol adolygu cynlluniau a 
cheisiadau am drwyddedau, a gwrthwynebu cais nad yw’n bodloni gofynion y 
Safonau Prydeinig perthnasol ynghylch cyfleusterau glanweithiol. 

Page 203



54 
 

 
 

Adnoddau eraill  

Gellir defnyddio Safon Brydeinig BS6465-1:2006 Code of practice for the design of 
sanitary facilities and scales of provision of sanitary and associated appliances er 
mwyn sicrhau lefel briodol o ddarpariaeth, ansawdd y dylunio, a hygyrchedd yng 
nghyswllt toiledau mewn adeiladau newydd ac mewn adeiladau sy’n cael eu 
hadnewyddu’n sylweddol. 
 
Safon Brydeinig BS 8300:2009+A1:2010 Design of buildings and their approaches 
to meet the needs of disabled people – Code of practice. 
 
Gall amodau prydlesu fod yn ddefnyddiol hefyd i ddarparu mynediad i doiledau 
ychwanegol at ddefnydd y cyhoedd. Wrth osod eiddo’r cyngor, dylai awdurdodau 
lleol ystyried cynnwys cymalau yn y brydles er mwyn caniatáu i’r cyhoedd gael 
mynediad i doiledau yn y fangre pan fo hynny’n briodol. 
  

Page 204



55 
 

 

ATODIAD B 

LOGO CENEDLAETHOL AR GYFER TOILEDAU  

 
I’w ddarparu. 
 
  

Page 205



56 
 

ATODIAD C 
 

CYFEIRIADAU DEFNYDDIOL 
 
 
Adnoddau Asesu 
 
 
Asesiadau o Lesiant Lleol – Set ddata gyffredin 
 
http://www.dataunitwales.gov.uk/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=30&mid=64&fi
leid=95 
 
 
Mynegai Amddifadedd Lluosog Cymru 
 
https://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/welsh-index-multiple-
deprivation/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Data Cyfrifiad Cymru  
 
https://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/census-population/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Adroddiad Tueddiadau’r Dyfodol 
 
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/homelessness/?lang=cy 
 
Asesiadau poblogaeth 
 
https://statscymru.llyw.cymru/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority 
 
Tueddiadau Trafnidiaeth 
 
http://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/?topic=Transport&lang=cy 
 
Ffigurau Anableddau 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disability-facts-and-figures/disability-
facts-and-figures#fn:1 
 
Ystadegau Twristiaeth 
 
https://llyw.cymru/statistics-and-research/?topic=Tourism&skip=1&lang=cy 
 
Comisiynydd y Gymraeg – Gwybodaeth i Sefydliadau 
 
http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/Cymraeg/Sefydliadau/Pages/GwybodaethI
Sefydliadau.aspx 
 

Page 206



57 
 

Uned Gymorth Asesu’r Effaith ar Iechyd Cymru 
 
https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/cy/  
 
 
Pecyn Cymorth Asesu’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb 
 
http://www.equalityhumanrights.wales.nhs.uk/equality-impact-assessment-toolkit 
 
Asesiad o Anghenion y Boblogaeth 
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/health/socialcare/act/population/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Cynllun Gofodol Cymru 
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/planning/development-plans/wales-spatial-
plan/?skip=1&lang=cy   
 
Cynlluniau Bro 
 
http://www.planningaidwales.org.uk/place-plans-from-concept-to-reality/ 
 
Cynlluniau Rheoli Cyrchfan 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/dmwales/cy 
 
Tudalennau Twristiaeth Busnes Cymru 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/cy/gweithio-gyda-croeso-cymru     
 
Cymorth Buddsoddi Mewn Amwynderau Twristiaeth 
 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/tourism/cy/cyllid 
 
Canllawiau polisi 
 
Ffyniant i bawb 
 
https://llyw.cymru/docs/strategies/170919-prosperity-for-all-cy.pdf  
 
Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol a Phecyn Cymorth   
 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-
act/?skip=1&lang=cy 
 
Y Strategaeth ar gyfer Pobl Hŷn yng Nghymru 
 
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130521complaintscy.pdf 
 
Pwysigrwydd ac Effaith Gwasanaethau Cymunedol yng Nghymru – Adroddiad 
y Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn 2014 

Page 207



58 
 

 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/Publications/pub-story/14-02-
25/The_Importance_and_Impact_of_Community_Services_within_Wales.aspx 
 
Canllawiau Asesiadau Effaith Cydraddoldeb a Hawliau Dynol – Y Comisiynydd 
Pobl Hŷn  
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/Publications/pub-story/16-02-
16/Section_12_Guidance_Equality_and_Human_Rights_Impact_Assessments_Scru
tiny.aspx  
 
Paratoi Cynlluniau Llesiant Lleol: Canllawiau i Fyrddau Gwasanaethau 
Cyhoeddus – Y Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/Publications/pub-story/16-10-
05/Preparing_Local_Wellbeing_Plans_Guidance_for_Public_Services_Boards.aspx  
 
Ymgysylltu ac ymgynghori â phobl hŷn – Canllawiau’r Comisiynydd Pobl Hŷn 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/Publications/pub-story/14-07-
01/Best_Practice_Guidance_for_Engagement_and_Consultation_with_Older_Peopl
e_on_Changes_to_Community_Services_in_Wales.aspx  
 
Dangosyddion Llesiant ar gyfer Pobl Hŷn 
 
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/wl/news/news/15-03-
19/Wellbeing_Indicators_for_Older_People.aspx#.VYgVr9JFDcs 
 
Cynllun Gweithredu ar gyfer Pobl Trawsryweddol 
 
https://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/equality/160314-transgender-action-plan-
cy.pdf  
 
Cynlluniau Llesiant Lleol 
 
https://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/161111-spsf-3-collective-role-cy.pdf  
 
Strategaeth Tlodi Plant 
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-
people/child-poverty/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Cynllun Gweithredu Trechu Tlodi  
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/tackling-poverty/taking-forward-
tackling-poverty-action-plan/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Strategaeth y Gymraeg 
 
https://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/122902wls201217cy.pdf  

Page 208



59 
 

Deddf Teithio Llesol (Cymru) 2013, Canllawiau Statudol a Dylunio  
 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1980/66/section/welsh 
 
https://beta.llyw.cymru/teithio-llesol-canllawiau-dylunio  
 
https://beta.llyw.cymru/teithio-llesol-canllawiau-statudol-ar-gyfer-awdurdodau-lleol  
 
Canllawiau ymarferol 
 
Gwybodaeth a chanllawiau gan Changing Places 
 
http://www.changing-places.org/ 
 
Cynllun y Faner Las (mae’n cynnwys meini prawf ar gyfer darparu toiledau) 
 
https://www.keepwalestidy.cymru/blue-flag 
 
Uned Gymorth Asesu’r Effaith ar Iechyd Cymru 
 
https://whiasu.publichealthnetwork.cymru/cy/  
 
Canllawiau ar Drosglwyddo Asedau Cymunedol ac adnoddau 
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/people-and-communities/communities/community-asset-
transfer/best-practice-guide/?skip=1&lang=cy 
 
Canllawiau ynghylch Cynlluniau Toiledau Cymunedol  
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/http://www.communities.gov.uk/publicati
ons/localgovernment/guidancetoiletschemes_20120919231747 
 
 
The Purple Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and Other Events 
 
https://www.thepurpleguide.co.uk/ 
 
The Green Guide (Safety at Sports Grounds) 
 
http://www.safetyatsportsgrounds.org.uk/publications/green-guide 
 
Adnoddau’r Awdurdod Gweithredol Iechyd a Diogelwch – Diogelwch mewn 
Digwyddiadau 
 
www.hse.gov.uk/event-safety/index.htm 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 209



60 
 

Gwybodaeth ychwanegol 
 
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/1794/overcoming-barriers-and-identifying-
opportunities-for-everyday-walking-for-disabled-people.pdf 
 
The London Plan: Social Infrastructure Section S6 on Public Toilets 
 
Ardaloedd Gwella Busnes 
 
https://llyw.cymru/topics/housing-and-regeneration/grants-and-funding/business-
improvement-districts/?skip=1&lang=cy  
 
Cod Ymarfer ar gyfer Toiledau Cyhoeddus ym Mhrydain  
 
www.researchgate.net/publication/228916130_A_Code_of_Practice_for_Public_Toil
ets_in_Britain 
 
Cynllun cerdyn Just Can’t Wait 
 
https://www.bladderandbowel.org/help-information/just-cant-wait-card/ 
 
Cyfleusterau toiled symudol i bobl ag anableddau  
 
https://www.mobiloo.org.uk/ 
 
 

Page 210



CANLLAWIAU TECHNEGOL 

Map cenedlaethol o’r toiledau a nodwyd mewn strategaethau toiledau 

lleol  

Y data mapio sy’n ofynnol gan awdurdodau lleol  

 

Cefndir  

Un o’r ymrwymiadau a wnaed yng nghyswllt strategaethau toiledau lleol, wrth 

i Ddeddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017 fynd drwy Gynulliad Cenedlaethol 

Cymru, oedd ymrwymiad i weithio i lunio map toiledau cenedlaethol. Bydd y 

map yn cael ei lunio o fewn seilwaith mapio presennol Llywodraeth Cymru, 

drwy’r wefan Lle. Mae’r wefan yn darparu porth-daear a ddatblygwyd mewn 

partneriaeth rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru. Mae Lle yn 

ganolfan ar gyfer data a gwybodaeth sy’n ymdrin ag ystod eang o bynciau, 

ond sy’n ymdrin â’r amgylchedd yn bennaf. Mae enghreifftiau o’r data a 

ddangosir ar y mapiau ar-lein yn cynnwys llwybrau dynodedig Teithio Llesol; 

ardaloedd rheoli ansawdd aer; mapiau sŵn amgylcheddol; ffiniau Parciau 

Cenedlaethol ac awdurdodau lleol; ardaloedd rhybuddion llifogydd; data 

arolygu cynefinoedd; ac ystod o wybodaeth amgylcheddol arall. 

Bydd y wefan yn creu mapiau o Gymru gyfan ar sail y setiau data a ddarperir 

gan awdurdodau lleol, y gellir eu ffurfweddu er mwyn canolbwyntio ar y darlun 

cenedlaethol neu ar ardaloedd mwy lleol. Bydd y data a fydd wedi’i gynnwys 

ar y map Lle ar gael ar ffurf gwasanaeth data agored a fydd yn hygyrch i 

bawb. Dyma’r ddolen gyswllt â Lle: 

http://lle.gov.wales/home?lang=cy  

Nid yw Llywodraeth Cymru wedi datblygu ap, oherwydd nid yw llawer o bobl 

yn gallu defnyddio ffôn clyfar am nifer o resymau. Mae’n fwy priodol 

canolbwyntio ar sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar gael ar-lein drwy ystod eang o 

wefannau a thrwy ddulliau traddodiadol nad ydynt ar-lein. Rydym o’r farn mai 

datblygwyr proffesiynol yw’r bobl orau i ddatblygu ap, oherwydd byddant yn 

gallu cael gafael ar y data o’r wefan Lle.   

 

Gofynion 

Pan fydd awdurdodau lleol wedi nodi’r toiledau a fydd yn cael eu hysbysebu 

fel toiledau sydd ar gael i’w defnyddio gan y cyhoedd, bydd yn ofynnol iddynt 

baratoi set ddata’n unol â manyleb benodol (ceir rhagor o fanylion yn nes 

ymlaen yn y ddogfen hon) a sicrhau bod y set ddata ar gael ar eu gwefan ar 

ffurf data agored. Bydd y set ddata’n cynnwys gwybodaeth am leoliad a 

Page 211

http://lle.gov.wales/home?lang=cy


nodweddion penodol y toiledau sydd wedi’u nodi gan yr awdurdodau lleol yn 

eu strategaethau, a bydd y data dan sylw’n cael ei lyncu gan system 

Llywodraeth Cymru a’i gyfuno â setiau data awdurdodau lleol eraill er mwyn 

llunio’r set ddata genedlaethol ar gyfer y map Lle.   

Er mwyn i ddata gael ei ystyried yn ddata agored, mae angen iddo fod ar gael 

dan drwydded agored. Yn y sector cyhoeddus gellir sicrhau hynny drwy 

gyhoeddi data dan y Drwydded Llywodraeth Agored.  

Bydd y data a ddarperir gan awdurdodau lleol ar gael ar ffurf data agored, 

felly bydd ar gael i’w ailddefnyddio gan drydydd partïon, naill ai’n uniongyrchol 

o wefan yr awdurdod lleol ei hun neu drwy’r set ddata gyfun y tu ôl i’r map Lle. 

Gallai’r trydydd partïon hynny gynnwys gwasanaethau mapiau ar-lein eraill, 

datblygwyr apiau neu endidau masnachol, a bydd y data hefyd ar gael i’w 

ailddefnyddio gan sefydliadau eraill yn y sector cyhoeddus.   

Bydd y set ddata ar gael yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg. Bydd y cyhoedd yn 

gallu gweld a chwilio’r data fel y mae’n ymddangos ar y wefan Lle, er mwyn 

gweld Cymru gyfan neu edrych ar ardaloedd penodol.   

Bydd awdurdodau lleol yn gallu creu eu mapiau eu hunain o’r ffrydiau data 

agored hyn, neu gallant ddewis ffurfweddu’r map cenedlaethol a gyhoeddir ar 

Lle er mwyn canolbwyntio ar eu hardal eu hunain, gyda’r posibilrwydd o 

gynnwys y map a ffurfweddwyd yn lleol ar eu gwefan eu hunain. Yn ogystal, 

gofynnir i awdurdodau lleol ddangos dolen gyswllt â’r map Lle yn ei 

gyfanrwydd er mwyn cynorthwyo pobl i chwilio’r data ynghylch ardaloedd eraill 

y gallent fod yn ymweld â nhw. 

Bydd Llywodraeth Cymru hefyd yn ceisio annog gwefannau eraill yn y sector 

cyhoeddus i gysylltu â’r mapiau. 

 

Sail gyfreithiol  

Mae adran 141 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 yn darparu’r sail ar gyfer 

casglu’r data sy’n ofynnol. Mae’r adran dan sylw wedi’i hatgynhyrchu 

isod:- 

“(1)[F1The council of a non-metropolitan county] may conduct, or assist in the 

conducting of, investigations into, and the collection of information relating to, 

any matters concerning the county or any part of the county and may make, 

or assist in the making of, arrangements whereby any such information and 

the results of any such investigation are made available to any other local 

authority in the county, any government department or the public. 

Page 212

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/141#commentary-c15110211


(2)The appropriate Minister with respect to any matter may require the council 

of a county to provide him with any information with respect to that matter 

which is in the possession of, or available to, that council or any other local 

authority in the county in consequence of the exercise of any power conferred 

by or under any enactment; and where such requirement is made in respect 

of any information which is in the possession of, or available to, any other 

local authority in the county, but not the county council, the county council 

may require that other authority to furnish them with that information. 

[F2(3)This section shall have effect in relation to Wales— 

(a)as if any reference to a council were a reference to a principal council; and 

(b)as if any reference to a county were a reference to a principal area.]” 

 

NODER: dylai pob perchennog toiledau fod yn ymwybodol y bydd y data 

a gesglir dan y strategaeth hon yn ddata agored. Mae hynny’n unol ag 

ymrwymiad Llywodraeth Cymru i ddata agored, a amlinellir yng 

Nghynllun Data Agored Llywodraeth Cymru. 

 
 
 
Gofynion technegol 
 
Er mwyn i’r broses hon weithio, mae’n hanfodol bod pob awdurdod lleol yn 
glynu wrth strwythur data cyson wrth ddarparu eu data ar ffurf data agored. 
Caiff y set ddata y dylid ei chasglu ar gyfer pob cyfleuster toiledau a nodwyd 
ei hegluro yn y tabl isod. Dylech nodi nad yw’r sylwadau yn rhan o’r set ddata 
a’u bod wedi’u cynnwys at ddibenion esboniadol yn unig.  
 
Dylech nodi bod yn RHAID i’r testun ar gyfer pob maes sy’n cynnwys 
disgrifiad gael ei ddarparu yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg fel meysydd ar wahân. 
Y rheswm am hynny yw bod cyfleuster mapio Lle yn creu fersiwn Gymraeg a 
fersiwn Saesneg ar wahân o’r mapiau.  
  
Rhaid i’r set ddata gyflawn gael ei chyhoeddi o leiaf mewn fformat CSV, ond 
gellir defnyddio fformatau eraill megis KML neu JSON hefyd ochr yn ochr â 
CSV. Dylai’r fformat CSV (ac unrhyw fformatau eraill) fod ar gael ar wefan yr 
awdurdod lleol, y tu ôl i ddolen gyswllt URL ar wahân a hysbysebir gan yr 
awdurdod. Bydd hynny’n galluogi systemau mapio Llywodraeth Cymru i 
lyncu’r set ddata yn awtomatig o bob awdurdod lleol. Dylai pob awdurdod lleol 
ddiweddaru’n gyson y setiau data sydd y tu ôl i’r dolenni cyswllt URL hyn fel 
bod camau rheolaidd gan Lywodraeth Cymru i ddiweddaru data’n gallu elwa o 
unrhyw ddiweddariadau. Yn ddelfrydol ni ddylai’r dolenni cyswllt URL newid ar 
ôl i ddata gael ei osod y tu ôl iddynt. Fodd bynnag, os bydd yn angenrheidiol 
eu newid, dylid rhoi gwybod i Lywodraeth Cymru ar unwaith. 

Page 213

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/141#commentary-c15110231
http://gov.wales/docs/decisions/General/160331OpenDataPlan.pdf


 
Nodiadau ynghylch y set ddata  
 

 Os yw rhesi wedi’u lliwio yn llwyd, nid oes yn rhaid darparu’r data. 
 

 Dylid cwblhau un cofnod ar gyfer pob cyfeirnod lleoliad. Bydd llenwi pob 
maes yn gywir yn sicrhau bod yr holl wahanol fathau o gyfleusterau sydd 
ar gael dan bob cyfeirnod lleoliad yn cael eu cofnodi.    

 

 Mae’r tabl canlynol yn dangos y data sy’n ofynnol. Ni ddylai’r data gael ei 

fapio gan ddefnyddio’r tabl hwn fel templed. Yn hytrach, dylai gael ei osod 
mewn fformat CSV neu Excel gan ddefnyddio enwau’r meysydd data fel 
penawdau ar gyfer y colofnau. Felly, dylai’r data ar gyfer pob lleoliad gael 
ei gofnodi ar ffurf un llinell ar gyfer pob mangre (gweler yr adran 
enghreifftiol isod). 

 

 Bydd y templed CSV sy’n cynnwys y penawdau ar gael gan fapwyr data 
Llywodraeth Cymru, o ofyn amdano.  

 
StrategaethToiledauLleol@llyw.cymru 

  

Cyfeirnod yr 
awdurdod lleol 

Enw’r lleoliad 
– yn Saesneg 

Enw’r lleoliad 
– yn Gymraeg 

Cyfeirnod 
UPRN  

Lleoliad yn ôl 
Grid 
Cenedlaethol 
Prydain – 
cyfesuryn x  

W060000XX High Street, 
Town 

Y Stryd Fawr, Y 
Dre 

xxx xxx 

Page 214



Y set ddata sydd i’w chasglu ar gyfer lleoliad pob toiled a nodwyd  
 

Enw’r maes data  Y fformat gofynnol  Sylw 

Cyfeirnod yr 

awdurdod lleol 

W060000XX Gweler y rhestr ar wahân.  

Enw’r lleoliad – yn 

Saesneg 

 Os yw’r cyfleuster y tu mewn i siop, 

er enghraifft. 

Enw’r lleoliad – yn 

Gymraeg  

 

Cyfeirnod UPRN   Dyma gyfeirnod unigryw a bennir ar 

gyfer pob mangre. Bydd ar gael gan 

Geidwad Rhestr Tir ac Eiddo Lleol 

eich awdurdod lleol. 

Lleoliad yn ôl Grid 

Cenedlaethol Prydain 

– cyfesuryn x  

 I’r metr agosaf  

Gellir dod o hyd i’r wybodaeth hon 

drwy Systemau Gwybodaeth 

Ddaearyddol mewnol neu drwy 

fapiau papur yr Arolwg Ordnans. 

Nid oes angen y wybodaeth hon os 

gellir darparu’r cyfeirnod UPRN.   

Lleoliad yn ôl Grid 

Cenedlaethol Prydain 

– cyfesuryn y  

 I’r metr agosaf  

Nid oes angen y wybodaeth hon os 

gellir darparu’r cyfeirnod UPRN.   

Cod post  Dylid ei ddarparu er mwyn 

cynorthwyo’r cyhoedd i ddod o hyd 

i safle’r toiledau. 

Nodiadau ynghylch 

mynediad – yn 

Saesneg  

Testun: dim mwy 

na 255 o nodau 

Dylent gynnwys unrhyw wybodaeth 

am fynediad y gallai fod ei hangen 

ar ddefnyddiwr – ee “ar y llawr 

cyntaf”; “cyfleusterau tanddaear, 

grisiau er mwyn cael mynediad, 

cyfleuster i bobl anabl ar wyneb y 

ddaear, gofynnwch am allwedd yn y 

caffi”. 

Rhaid darparu gwybodaeth yn y 

ddwy iaith, mewn meysydd ar 

wahân.  

Nodiadau ynghylch 

mynediad – yn 

Gymraeg 

Testun: dim mwy 

na 255 o nodau 

Tâl mynediad   Os oes tâl mynediad, cofnodwch y 

swm yn unig yn y gell. 

Amseroedd agor Dylid defnyddio 

fformat cloc 24 awr 

–  

00.00 

Os yw’r amseroedd agor yr un fath o 

ddydd Llun i ddydd Gwener, dim 

ond ar gyfer dydd Llun y mae angen 

darparu’r wybodaeth. 

 
Dydd Llun – agor 00.00 

Page 215



Dydd Llun – cau  00.00  

 

 

 

Dydd Mawrth – agor  00.00 

Dydd Mawrth – cau  00.00 

Dydd Mercher – agor  00.00 

Dydd Mercher – cau  00.00 

Dydd Iau – agor  00.00 

Dydd Iau – cau  00.00 

Dydd Gwener – agor  00.00 

Dydd Gwener – cau  00.00 

Dydd Sadwrn – agor  00.00 

Dydd Sadwrn – cau  00.00 

Dydd Sul – agor  00.00 

Dydd Sul – cau  00.00 

Ar gau yn ystod 

tymhorau tawel a 

gwyliau cyhoeddus? 

 = 1 

 = 0 

Mae’r cwestiynau ynghylch 

tymhorau tawel yn golygu bod 

modd cofnodi amrywiadau tymhorol 

mewn amseroedd agor. Dylid 

cofnodi cyn lleied ag sy’n bosibl o 

destun i ddiffinio’r tymor tawel, ee 

“Medi-Mai’; “ar gau yn ystod 

tymhorau ysgol”. 

 

Rhaid darparu testun yn y ddwy 

iaith ar gyfer pob maes testun a 

lenwir. 

 

Caiff yr holl wyliau cyhoeddus eu 

rhestru ar wahân er mwyn cael ateb 

cadarnhaol ()/negyddol () fel bod 

modd cofnodi amrywiadau tymhorol 

a phatrwm amseroedd agor 

gwahanol fathau o fangreoedd. Er 

mwyn sicrhau cysondeb rhwng y 

fersiwn Gymraeg a’r fersiwn 

Saesneg o’r map Lle, dylid cofnodi 1 

ar gyfer ateb cadarnhaol a 0 ar gyfer 

ateb negyddol.  

 

Rhaid nodi 1 neu 0 ar gyfer pob 

maes. Peidiwch â gadael unrhyw 

feysydd yn wag. 

A oes llai o 

wasanaethau ar gael 

yn ystod tymhorau 

tawel? 

1/0 

Beth yw tymor tawel 

(yn Saesneg)? 

Testun: dim mwy 

na 255 o nodau 

Beth yw tymor tawel 

(yn Gymraeg)?  

Testun: dim mwy 

na 255 o nodau 

Ar gau ar ddydd 

Nadolig  

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ŵyl San 

Steffan  

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ddydd 

Calan 

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ŵyl Banc 

Calan Mai  

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ddydd 

Gwener y Groglith 

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ddydd Sul y 

Pasg 

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ddydd Llun 

y Pasg  

1/0 

Ar gau ar Ŵyl Banc y 

Gwanwyn  

1/0 

Page 216



Ar gau ar Ŵyl Banc 

Mis Awst  

1/0 

Cyfleusterau ar gael   = 1 

 = 0 

Atebion cadarnhaol/negyddol fel o’r 

blaen. Rhaid nodi 1 neu 0 ar gyfer 

pob maes. Peidiwch â gadael 

unrhyw feysydd yn wag. 

Dynion yn unig 1/0 Hy at ddefnydd y rhyw ddynodedig 

yn unig. Felly, byddai pâr 

traddodiadol o gyfleusterau addas i 

ddynion/addas i fenywod yn cael ei 

gofnodi fel Dynion yn unig a 

Menywod yn unig dan yr un 

cyfeirnod. 

Menywod yn unig 1/0 

Addas i bawb 1/0 Hy ddim yn doiledau a farciwyd i’w 

defnyddio gan ddynion yn unig neu 

gan fenywod yn unig. 

Cyfleuster newid ar 

gyfer babanod – 

mewn toiled i ddynion 

yn unig  

1/0 Mae’n nodi ble mae’r cyfleuster 

newid ar gyfer babanod – hy mewn 

toiled i fenywod yn unig; mewn 

ystafell ar wahân; yn y cyfleuster i 

bobl anabl. 
Cyfleuster newid ar 

gyfer babanod – 

mewn toiled i 

fenywod yn unig  

1/0 

Cyfleuster newid ar 

gyfer babanod – 

mewn toiled addas i 

bawb 

1/0 

Cyfleuster newid ar 

gyfer babanod – 

mewn ystafell ar 

wahân i’r toiledau 

1/0 

Cyfleuster newid ar 

gyfer babanod – 

mewn toiled i bobl 

anabl 

1/0 

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

mynediad agored – 

dynion yn unig 

1/0 Hy nid oes yn rhaid i’r defnyddiwr 

gael allwedd RADAR.  

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

mynediad agored – 

menywod yn unig 

1/0 

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

mynediad agored – 

addas i bawb 

1/0 

Page 217



 
  

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

RADAR – dynion yn 

unig 

1/0 Hy deiliaid allwedd RADAR yn unig. 

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

RADAR – menywod 

yn unig 

1/0 

Toiled i bobl anabl – 

RADAR – addas i 

bawb 

1/0 

Man newid 1/0 Toiledau yw’r rhain sy’n cynnwys 

cyfleusterau newid ar gyfer 

oedolion, teclynnau codi ac ati. 

Maent at ddefnydd pobl sydd ag 

anableddau dwys, a’u gofalwyr.  

Page 218



Rhestr o godau cyfeirnodau’r awdurdodau lleol  
 

Code Saesneg Cymraeg 

W06000001 Isle of Anglesey Ynys Môn 

W06000002 Gwynedd Gwynedd 

W06000003 Conwy Conwy 

W06000004 Denbighshire Sir Ddinbych 

W06000005 Flintshire Sir y Fflint 

W06000006 Wrexham Wrecsam 

W06000008 Ceredigion Ceredigion 

W06000009 Pembrokeshire Sir Benfro 

W06000010 Carmarthenshire Sir Gaerfyrddin 

W06000011 Swansea Abertawe 

W06000012 Neath Port Talbot Castell-nedd Port Talbot 

W06000013 Bridgend Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 

W06000014 Vale of Glamorgan Bro Morgannwg 

W06000015 Cardiff Caerdydd 

W06000016 Rhondda Cynon Taf Rhondda Cynon Taf 

W06000018 Caerphilly Caerffili 

W06000019 Blaenau Gwent Blaenau Gwent 

W06000020 Torfaen Tor-faen 

W06000021 Monmouthshire Sir Fynwy 

W06000022 Newport Casnewydd 

W06000023 Powys Powys 

W06000024 Merthyr Tydfil Merthyr Tudful 

 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 220


	Agenda
	3 I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:-
	5 Adolygiad o'r Rhaglen Digwyddiadau Cyrchfannau.  Paul Hudson
	6 Diweddariad ar Gynllun Lles Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Caerffili.  Kath Peters
	7 Strategaeth Ddrafft Chwaraeon a Hamdden Egnïol 2019-29.  Jared Lougher
	Draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29
	regeneration and environment scrutiny committee –
	26TH june 2018
	SUBJECT: Draft SPORT & active recreation STraTEGY 2019-29
	REPORT BY: Interim Corporate Director - Communities
	1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
	2. SUMMARY
	3. LINKS TO STRATEGY
	4. THE REPORT
	5. WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS
	6. EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
	7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	8. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	9. CONSULTATION
	10. RECOMMENDATIONS
	11. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12. STATUTORY POWER

	Draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 App 1
	Draft Sport and Active Recreation Strategy 2019-29 App 2

	8 Dad-droseddu Parcio - Adroddiad Cam 2.
	9 Deddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017.
	Local Toilets Strategies -  technical guidance - mapping data
	Darparu Toiledau yng Nghymru - Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol  Canllawiau St...
	Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol - canllaw technegol - y data mapio




